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AGENDA 
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Type 
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Classifi-
cation 

1   Chair's Welcome and 
Introduction 
 

    

2   Appointment of New 
Board Members 
 

Martyn 
Sargeant – 
Executive 
Director of 
Customer 
Service 
Transformation 
and Business 
Support 

   

3   Apologies for Absence 
 

    

4   Declarations of Interest 
 

    

5   Minutes of the meeting 
held on 3 May 2022 
 

    

6   Action Log 
 

    

7   Chief Executive's Update 
 

Fiona Hughes – 
Chief Executive 

   

8   Building Safety Plan 
 

Mike Brymer – 
Interim 
Executive 
Director of 
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Asset 
Management 
and 
Development 

9   Annual Governance 
Review 
 

Sam Gilbert – 
Chief Financial 
Officer 
Mary Moroney – 
Company 
Secretary 

   

10   Quarter 1 2022/23 
Financial Monitoring 
 

Sam Gilbert – 
Chief Financial 
Officer 

   

11   Quarter 1 2022/23 
Health and Safety Report 
 

Mark Wills – 
Health, Safety 
and Risk 
Manager 

   

12   Quarter 1 2022/23 
Performance Exception 
Report 
 

Martyn 
Sargeant – 
Executive 
Director of 
Customer 
Service 
Transformation 
and Business 
Support 

   

13   Chair's Report from 
Housing Operations 
Committee Meeting held 
on 23 May 2022 
 

Chris Williams – 
Chair of 
Housing 
Operations 
Committee 

   

14   Chair's Report from Audit 
and Risk Committee 
Meeting held on 27 June 
2022 
 

Nigel Page – 
Chair of Audit 
and Risk 
Committee 

   

15   Chair's Report from 
Human Resources, 
Equalities and 
Remuneration 
Committee Meeting held 
on 11 July 2022 
 

Jenny Fletcher 
– Chair of 
Human 
Resources, 
Equalities and 
Remuneration 
Committee 

   

16   Asset Management 
Strategy 
 

Mike Brymer – 
Interim 
Executive 
Director of 
Customer 
Service 
Transformation 

   



                                                       
 

 

and Business 
Support 

17   SMBC Housing Strategy 
 

Fiona Hughes – 
Chief Executive 

   

18   Quarter 4 2021/22 
Financial Monitoring 
 

Sam Gilbert – 
Chief Financial 
Officer 

   

19   Forward Plan 
 

    

20   Any Other Business 
 

    

21   Review of Meeting 
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING 

BOARD MEETING 25 JULY 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICE 
TRANSFORMATION & BUSINESS SUPPORT 

 

Changes to the Board 
 

1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To update the Board on changes to membership and seek confirmation of the 

appointment of four new Board members. 
 
2. Recommendation – Items for Noting / Approval 
 
2.1 The Board is recommended to: 
 

(i) NOTE its appreciation of the service and commitment of David Bell 
and Chris Williams during their terms of office as SCH Board 
members, which will come to an end after this meeting. 

(ii) APPROVE the appointment of: 
(a) Bernadette Donnelly and Gail Sleigh as Board members 

nominated by Solihull Council. 
(b) Phil Hardy and Mark Thrasher as independent Board 

members. 
(iii) NOTE that Dave Pinwell continues his term of office as a Council-

nominated Board member. 
(iv) NOTE that Jenny Fletcher will stand down as a Board member with 

effect 30 September 2022 and a recruitment campaign has been 
initiated to fill the resulting tenant Board member vacancy. 

(v) NOTE that, following Chris Williams’ term of office coming to an end, 
the position of Chair of the Housing Operations Committee is vacant 
and the Chair of the Board will bring forward proposals to replace 
him in due course. 

     
3. Changes to Board membership 
 
3.1 Although the preferred term of office for a Board member is three years, the 

Council is entitled to change its nominations on an annual basis. Following its 
recent decision that its nominees should be serving councillors, the Council 
has advised that its nominations for 2022/23 will include two new councillors 
(Bernadette Donnelly and Gail Sleigh), whilst Dave Pinwell will continue for a 
second year. 
 

3.2 The Board has carried two vacancies for independent members for a period of 
time. The recent recruitment campaign resulted in the selection of two new 
Board members, which the Board needs to formally agree so the 
appointments can be notified to Companies House. 
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3.3 Tenant Board member, Jenny Fletcher, has advised that she will stand down 
from her role at the end of September, as this will be the end of six years in 
office. The process to recruit a new tenant Board member has been initiated, 
with a view to being able to make an appointment by the annual meeting in 
the autumn. 

 
4. Financial Implications 

 
4.1 Since April 2022, appointees to the Board are remunerated. These costs are 

met from existing governance budgets. 
 

5. Equality and Diversity Implications 
 

5.1 SCH seeks to ensure that its Board is broadly representative of its customers 
and has a level of diversity appropriate for a small group. For the independent 
member recruitment, specialist housing consultancy, Campbell Tickell, was 
retained in order to reach the widest possible audience through advertising 
and executive search. Recruitment for a new tenant Board member will be 
advertised through a variety of channels, including tenant communications 
and through local partners and networks. 
 

6. Risk Management Implications 
 

6.1 The appointment of a full complement of Board members helps mitigate the 
risk of weak governance and provides further resilience for the governance 
arrangements. 

 
7. Value for Money and Efficiency Considerations/Implications 

 
7.1 In deciding to remunerate Board members, SCH was mindful of the need to 

attract quality non-executive directors, who can bring relevant knowledge and 
professional expertise to ensure the company is operated in an efficient 
manner that provides value for money to tenants and other customers. 

 
8. Tenant Involvement/Consultation 

 
8.1 A tenant Board member was involved in the appointment process for the 

independent Board member recruitment. 
 
9. Consistent with Strategic Vision 

 
9.1 Effective governance arrangements will ensure SCH’s activities and 

performance are consistent with the strategic vision and delivery plan 
objectives. 

 
 
REPORT AUTHOR:  Martyn Sargeant 

Executive Director – Customer Service, Transformation 
and Business Support 

       0121 704 8667 
           martynsargeant@solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk  
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING BOARD MEETING – 03 MAY 2022 

 

MINUTES 
 
 
Present: Richard Hyde (Chair), David Bell, Jenny Fletcher, Nigel Page, 

Chris Williams, April Halpin, Louise Tubbs 
 

Officers: Fiona Hughes, Surjit Balu, Martyn Sargeant, Samantha Gilbert, Mary 
Morrissey, Mike Brymer, Mary Moroney, Mark Wills 
 
  

  
1. CHAIR'S WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION  

 
The Chair opened the meeting which was held at Endeavour House and 
advised members of the sudden death of a long-standing member of staff from 
the Home Options Team.  A moment’s silence was observed as a mark of 
respect. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Dave Pinwell  
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no new declarations of interest.  
 

4. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD 14 FEBRUARY 2022  
 
The minutes were approved as a true and accurate record. 
 
DECISION THE BOARD  
 

(i) APPROVED the minutes of the meeting held on 14 February 2022 
 

5. ACTION LOG  
 
The Action log was noted.   
   

DECISION  

(i) NOTED the action log 

 
6. CHIEF EXCUTIVE’S UPDATE 

 
Work is progressing to review the structure of teams and functions delivered to 
ensure better synergy and financial stability. Whilst the outcome of the review is 
pending the fixed term contract of Martyn Sargeant as Executive Director of       
Customer Service Transformation and Business Support has been extended 
until the end of this year and Mike Brymer has been appointed as Interim 
Executive Director of Asset Management and Development. 
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING BOARD MEETING – 03 MAY 2022 

 

Building safety remains a high priority and the governance framework sets out 
the separation of occupational health and safety from building and resident 
safety.  A workshop was held on 29 April 2022, facilitated by Housemark on the 
subject of Building Safety and developing an implementation plan which will 
include accountabilities and will be reported to a future Board meeting. The 
Board training session arranged for 7 June 2022 will focus on Building Safety 
and Environmental Sustainability. 
 
Board were pleased to note that SCH had scored highly in the recent TPAS 
accreditation with particular commendation for engagement work around 
building safety.   
 
The closing date for applications for two new independent Board members is 4 
May 2022 and there has been a good response.  Interviews are planned for 
mid-June. 
 
The Council have agreed that all future Council nominations to the SCH Board 
will be serving Councillors and appointments are expected to be made at full 
Council on 17 May 2022.  There may be transitional arrangements as two of 
our current Council members are not serving Councillors. 
 
Following a discussion on the SMBC approval of the Delivery Plan it was 
proposed to have a detailed feedback session at Housing Operations 
Committee. 
 
DECISION 
 
(i) NOTED  the contents of the report 

7. ASSET MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2022 -2032  

 
The intention of the revised Asset Management Strategy is to be led by sound 
intelligence about our stock and we now have stock condition surveys on 40% 
of properties, providing a good baseline for investment planning over the next 
10 years.   
 
The Board were assured that the strategy had been informed by a workshop 
facilitated by an external consultant and produced in collaboration with SMBC 
colleagues and the Stock Investment Group with useful feedback from 
residents via the SCHape Panel. 
 
Following a question about the long-term viability of high-rise stock it was noted 
that the reason for separating high rise buildings from general stock in the 
strategy was in recognition of the different investment needs and 
acknowledging that we do not have sufficient data yet to make a 
recommendation on long term viability. 
 
DECISION 
 

(i) NOTED        the feedback on the strategy and agreed to provide any  
      additional commentary by 6 June 2022 
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING BOARD MEETING – 03 MAY 2022 

 

(ii) ENDORSED the eight strategic objectives of the strategy set out on  
                           page 12 

 
               

8. 8.   GREENHILL WAY OPTIONS APPRAISAL REPORT  

9. This report is confidential - a record of discussions/decisions will appear in the 
confidential minutes.  

9.      HIGH RISE BLOCKS – STRUCTURAL SURVEY REPORT  

This report is confidential - a record of discussions/decisions will appear in the 
confidential minutes. 

10. RELOCATION OF HOUSING OPTIONS OFFICE ACCOMMODATION 

This report is confidential - a record of discussions/decisions will appear in the 
confidential minutes. 

11. HEALTH AND SAFETY REPORT – QUARTER 4 JANUARY – MARCH 2022  
 
The report covered both occupational and building and resident health and safety 
issues.  The revised governance arrangements came into effect from April 2022 
and the Strategic Health and Safety Leadership Group will oversee work around 
both occupational and building and resident safety. 
 
The Building Safety Bill received Royal Assent and is now an act of parliament 
with a period of implementation of up to 18 months.  The Health and Safety 
Executive will be the regulator for building safety. 
 
The Building Safety Group held a workshop on 29 April 2022 with external 
facilitation and is developing an implementation plan to comply with the new 
building safety regulations. 
 
The quarterly accident statistics were noted. 
 
 

DECISION 

(i) NOTED   the contents of this report. 
(ii) NOTED  Appendix 1 – Governance arrangements for health 

and safety. 
(iii) NOTED  Appendix 2 - Report on SCH Compliance with the 

Home Standard Duty.  
(iv) NOTED  Appendix 3 - Accident/Incident Reporting Analysis 

Q4 2021/22. 
 
 

12. PERFORMANCE EXCEPTION REPORT  
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING BOARD MEETING – 03 MAY 2022 

 

 
The Exception report was reviewed, noting the eight red targets which were as 
expected given performance earlier in the year.  Customer satisfaction levels are 
stable. 
 
It was noted that future quarterly reports will be changed to reflect the previous 
decisions of the Board around having high level business critical indicators giving 
assurance around performance levels across the business. 

 
DECISION 
 

(i) NOTED  The overall performance outturn and the  
commentary, listed in Appendix A, on those KPIs 
where targets have not been met. 

 
 

13.  CHAIR’S REPORT FROM HOUSING OPERATIONS COMMITTEE HELD 21 
FEBRUARY 2022 

Chris Williams gave a verbal report on the meeting that covered a review of the 
Asset Management Strategy, property acquisitions from Bromford, 
Performance, Customer Engagement and in particular a review of outcomes for 
customers because of engagement activities.  The Committee had also 
reviewed homelessness and allocations and noted the diversity of temporary 
accommodation.  The Committee have asked for more detail on carbon 
reduction from business operations for a future meeting. 

DECISION 

(i) NOTED  the actions taken by the Committee 
 

14.  AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE CHAIR’S REPORT FROM 7 MARCH 2022.  

Nigel Page highlighted that there was a need to engage an external organisation 
to provide a technical assessment to monitor performance against the building 
safety action plan as the Internal Audit Team would not be able to provide this 
specialist technical expertise.  

DECISION 
 

(i) NOTED  the actions taken by the Committee 
 
 

15.  HUMAN RESOURCES, EQUALITIES AND REMUNERATION COMMMITEE 
CHAIR’S REPORT FROM MEETING HELD 4 APRIL 2022 

Jenny Fletcher highlighted that it would be helpful if Council nominees to the 
Board could be appointed for a three year term of office although it is recognised 
that this may not always be possible and is at the discretion of the Council. 
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING BOARD MEETING – 03 MAY 2022 

 

  

DECISION 
 
(i) NOTED that proposals to remunerate Board members from 1  

                     April 2022 have now been approved by the Cabinet and  

                     allowances will be linked to the annual cost of living  

                     increase for employees. 

(ii) NOTED  that the rate of remuneration for the Chair of the Board  

                     has increased in accordance with proposals submitted  

                     to the Cabinet 

(iii) NOTED the proposals for Board succession planning. 

(iv) NOTED the publication of the annual Public Sector Equality Duty  

                      and Gender Pay Gap reports. 

(v) NOTED the matters considered by the Committee. 

 

16.        DOMESTIC SMOKE AND CARBON MONOXIDE ALARMS – REGULATORY 

            REQUIREMENTS  

 

           Report for noting without discussion. 

DECISION 

(i) NOTED the actions planned in response to the announcement 

17.        BOARD FORWARD PLAN 

Noted without discussion. 

18.        ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

19.        REVIEW OF MEETING 

Board members felt there was a good level of discussion and that the meeting 
had been focussed.  

The chair asked for future Committee reports to full Board to be written rather 
than a verbal update. 

20.          NEXT MEETING DATE 

The next meeting will take place at Endeavour House on 25 July 2022. 
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING BOARD MEETING – 03 MAY 2022 

 

The meeting ended at 7.40 pm 
 
 

Signed by chair: ……………………………………………. 
 
Date: …………………………………………………………. 
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Solihull Community Housing Board Action Log 

 

Green = completed and will be removed from next log and a record is kept by the Governance Team 

Amber = in progress due to be completed by due date 

Red = not completed or unlikely to be completed by due date 

 

1. Actions outstanding / pending / in progress  

Ref Action Responsible 
Person 

Due Date Comments Status 

0921-1 Board requested 
Accident / Incident 
Benchmarking Data for 
Comparison Purposes 

Mike 
Brymer/Mark 
Wills 

July 2022 
 
 

It is recommended that this data is obtained after year end to 
allow for a comparison of the whole year. National working 
groups to be approached, e.g. NFA as well as other 
local/regional networking groups, e.g. West Midlands Social 
Housing Group Meeting. Revised target of July 2022 therefore 
proposed. Benchmarking included as appendix to Health & 
Safety Report. 
 

 

0921-2 Board Training on 
responsibilities in relation 
to Building Safety to be 
arranged 

Fiona 
Hughes 

November 
2022 

Training postponed until all new board members recruited in the 
Autumn 

 

0921-3 Board asked the 
Executive to consider 
how the Home Options 
Service can be supported 
when the Flexible 
Homeless Service Grant 
(FHSG) ends in 
September 2022 

Surjit Balu September 
2022 

  

P
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0222-1 Consider investment 
required to improve 
technology to allow 
meetings to 
accommodate a mixture 
of virtual and in person 
attendance 

Martyn 
Sargeant 

September 
2022 

SCH is part of a council-coordinated procurement exercise to 
install improved meeting facilitation technology. The timeline is 
for installation from summer 2022. In the meantime, existing 
equipment is being utilised to support hybrid meetings. 

 

0222-2 Block advocates to be 
involved in targeted 
cleaning inspections due 
to increased number of   
slips /trips  

Surjit Balu July 2022 Procuring the new cleaning contract has taken longer than 
anticipated – and will now commence on 1 August.   
We would therefore anticipate that by September we will have 
advocates in many blocks so that targeted cleaning inspections 
can commence. 
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING 
 

BOARD MEETING: MONDAY 25 JULY 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

Chief Executive’s Update 

 

1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 This report sets out key areas of progress delivered through the Chief 

Executive since the last Board meeting and provides an update to the Board. 
 
2. Recommendation – Item for Noting  
 
2.1 The Board is recommended to: 
 

(i) NOTE  the content of the report. 
 
3. Corporate Business 
 
3.1 Organisational Structures   
 

In response to sector and organisational challenges and as reported to the 
last Board meeting, the executive team have been working through the detail 
of our current organisational structure and identifying where changes may 
optimise service delivery more effectively.  This work is ongoing including 
detailed work on budgetary implications and will be discussed further with 
Board as proposals become clear.   
 

3.2 As part of the above, as chief executive, I have been giving some 
consideration to the shape of our executive team to ensure that we are putting 
in place appropriate arrangements to meet the challenges ahead as well as 
align with our organisational structure and the changes being considered.  In 
headline terms this means that the executive team will be reshaped with an 
increased number of heads of service and fewer executive directors.  The 
detail is still being considered but, in the course of these discussions, Surjit 
has taken time to think this through and has decided that he would like to 
move on to explore other avenues and therefore he will be leaving SCH at the 
end of the month.  I will of course be working with the executive team and 
Carol as head of service to ensure we have transitional arrangements in place 
to support all the teams delivering our vital services through housing and 
neighbourhoods.  Appendix 1 is a communication out to staff bringing them up 
to date with this and sent out on 15 July.  

Both Board chair and chair of HR E and R have been kept informed as this 
has progressed and this is the first Board meeting at which it has been 
appropriate to report this formally to full Board.    
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3.3 Organisational Planning 
 

Looking ahead to our next financial year, we are beginning discussions 
around delivery planning and there will be a number of key opportunities for 
engagement across the SCH Board, executive and staff teams.   The 
executive and senior leadership team will be holding an away day in late 
September to consider our delivery plan for next year.  During the summer, 
our managers will be working with their teams to generate proposed priorities 
for inclusion.  During October and early November there will be a number of 
sessions arranged with mixed groups of staff to enable further engagement in 
proposed priorities.  In early October, the Board and executive away day will 
also take place and this will enable discussion around strategic priorities 
which will also flow through staff sessions.  In addition to consideration of 
proposed priorities, there will be a thread of discussion throughout the above 
on financial challenges as these become clearer and as key variables such as 
the rent increase take shape.   

 
3.4 In addition to the opportunities set out for staff engagement, we will be 

working with our established customer engagement networks to understand 
key priorities for residents.  It is also planned to hold a tenant conference in 
October which will allow further opportunity to influence.   

  
Award Nominations 

 
3.5 SCH were nominated and shortlisted for two Housing Heroes awards.  Emma 

Cornfield, engagement apprentice, was shortlisted for outstanding 
achievement by an apprentice award and Stuart Baxter, Localities Programme 
Manager, for inspirational colleague of the year award.    Unfortunately, we did 
not come back with the trophies on this occasion but we are immensely proud 
of Emma and Stuart for being finalists in such strong categories. 

 
 Void Performance 
 
3.6 In light of the persistent challenges around voids performance, the end-to-end 

review scheduled in the delivery plan for later in the year has been 
accelerated. The Executive Director for Customer Services, Transformation 
and Business Support is leading a review group to identify key obstacles in 
the voids process and recommend potential changes and it is proposed that 
this will report to Housing Operations Committee in September 2022. 

 
The working group have produced a summary of the current position, which, 
in headline terms shows: 

 
- We have had an increased level of voids received in late 2020/21 as 

we emerged from the pandemic but our performance in terms of 
turnaround time pre-pandemic has not been able to keep pace and has 
not returned to its pre-pandemic levels. 

- Board agreed a resource of £180,000 to provide additional 
subcontractor support for an additional 60 void properties that were 
received during Q1 of 2021/22. This assisted with maintaining the 
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number of overall voids requiring works but SCH Board will recall that 
there have been persistent high levels of absence in our own SCH 
voids workforce and this has unfortunately, meant that volumes could 
not be maintained and some of the positive impact  delivered through 
the additional resource has therefore been eroded.  

- We have a reduced level of management capacity relating to voids 
management as at today compared to 5 years ago  

- Of the voids which are ready to let (circa 74), 47 (circa 63%) are difficult 
to let and of that, half (23) are supported accommodation – some of 
which is subject to option appraisal as low viability stock (Greenhill Way 
– see section 4.4 below) 

- Of the total rent loss %, circa one fifth relates to unlettable stock 
earmarked for demolition  

 
The working group will be focussing in particular on: 

 
- Process mapping to improve turnaround time  
- Alternative letting plans for difficult to let stock  
- Consideration of increased void works capacity if the budget allows 
- Planning a realistic trajectory to an improved position  

 
A summary of the voids position is included in appendix 2. 

  

3.7 SMBC Housing Strategy 
 
A draft Housing Strategy has been prepared by SMBC with input from SCH.  
This sets out a strategy for housing across the borough including all tenures 
and the draft strategy is included as item 17 for information.  There will be a 
formal consultation period for the strategy and SCH Board members will be 
included and a revised draft will be circulated to Board members ahead of the 
consultation along with information around how to respond.   

4. Asset Management Strategy 
 
4.1 Board will recall that a draft copy of the Asset Management Strategy was 

presented at its last meeting on 3 May 2022. The Strategy continues to evolve 
and a first draft of the 3 year Investment Plan has been produced. An updated 
version of the Strategy is included at item 16 on the agenda for information.    
A further workshop is to be arranged focussing on the 3 year Investment Plan 
during October. The Council are currently drafting their overall Housing 
Strategy (see agenda item 17) for the Borough and it is now the intention for 
the Asset Management Strategy to be reported through council processes 
alongside the Housing Strategy as there are clear synergies between the 
objectives of both documents. This will include a presentation of both 
documents to Scrutiny Committee in November prior to presentation to the 
Council’s Cabinet in December 2022. 
 

4.2 Structural Surveys  
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The Board agreed to the funding of the Structural Surveys for the 37 High 
Rise Blocks at its last meeting. Officers are currently working to finalise 
procurement arrangements as agreed. It is likely that the mobilisation of the 
surveys will take place during September / October 2022. The project is likely 
to be for a duration of 18 months. A timetable for the mobilisation is currently 
being finalised and it is intended for the works to be co-ordinated with the 
Building Safety Projects. This will allow for continuity with the overall approach 
to the resident engagement strategy. 

 
4.3 Co2 / smoke alarms 

 
A report on the requirement to fit carbon monoxide detectors and smoke 
alarms was presented to the Board for information at its last meeting. Since 
then the Council’s Strategic Housing Board agreed the battery operated 
installation methodology on 27 May 2022. Known vulnerable residents will 
have, where appropriate, hard-wired smoke alarms along with a battery 
carbon monoxide alarm. The upgrading of all smoke alarms will be carried out 
as part of the cyclical 5-year period through the electrical improvement works 
programme or when the property becomes void.  The programme has 
mobilised during July with the intention of completing the majority of 
properties by October 2022. 

 
4.4 Green Hill Way Development  

 
Members will recall that we carried out a strategic options appraisal of this 
supported housing facility, the outcome of which was to propose complete 
redevelopment of the site with new housing.  The options appraisal has been 
presented to relevant council cabinet members and it has been agreed to 
progress a feasibility for redevelopment on the basis that the scheme will 
contain all residential units. We will shortly be appointing an architect to 
prepare a suitable scheme to submit for Planning approval and this process 
will include consideration of the comments made both by SCH Board and 
appropriate Council cabinet members set alongside housing need in the 
borough.  We will also be commissioning key survey work including the 
topographic survey, ecology study and tree protection. 
 
As a separate piece of work SCH will support SMBC in considering the 
availability of community facilities as a part of a wider review that the Council 
are carrying out on community provision and the level of demand that exists 
across the Borough. The feasibility works can be adjusted if the outcome for 
more community need is established. The outcomes of this work will be 
reported in January 2023. 

 
5. OneSCH - Workflow 
 
5.1 Staff were invited to share names for the rebrand of the programme that will 

deliver Workflow. For simplicity, we were keen to move away from the name 
‘Workflow’ as this was potentially misleading. Staff voted to call the 
programme ‘OneSCH’.  

 

Page 22



 
5.2 OneSCH Programme Board 

The programme board had its initial meeting in June, with representatives 
from each directorate as well as key stakeholders, including Audit, 
Procurement and ICT. There are several projects identified as the key 
components of the programme: 
• Data Integrity 
• SCH Systems & Development 
• SCH Processes 
• Procurement and Implementation 
• Digital Skills. 

The programme will be managed using the Managing Successful  
Programmes methodology.  This approach provides a framework for  
coordinating and optimising project activity to ensure the right work is done at 
the right time to satisfy the priorities of business as usual whilst delivering the 
programme outcomes. 
 

5.3 SCH Processes 
A task and finish group, with representation from across all directorates, is 
currently working on identifying the high impact high volume processes. These 
will be prioritised for mapping. The group will create an agreed business 
template for consistency/uniformity.  Specialist software will be employed to 
provide intuitive process modelling and support continuous improvement. 
 

 5.4 SCH Systems & Development  
All SCH systems and software have now been identified, with SCH staff 
assigned as leads for each component. The next step is to review each 
component which makes up the technical infrastructure, decommission 
systems no longer used by SCH, review each Capita (Open Housing) module, 
and identify modules that are not being used to understand the capability they 
offer along with costs/viability of getting them operational. This work will 
support the SCH ICT strategy. 

 
5.5 Digital Skills  

We are currently undertaking an exercise to understand the digital skill levels 
of SCH staff. This will be supported by the Staff Engagement Group, and the 
outcome will support the Digital Skills framework and training offer to ensure 
SCH staff have the right digital skills to support changes to ways of working.  
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5.6 Members of the programme team, together with representatives from the 

Board (Richard Hyde and Dave Pinwell), met with two housing organisations 
that had been on a similar ‘workflow journey’ to what is proposed for SCH. 
This was helpful in terms of providing reassurance and understanding the 
lessons learned from those experiences. 

 
5.7 Tpas      

 
In May I was delighted to inform Board that SCH have gained Tpas 
accreditation (subject to final checks and validation). 
 
This has now been officially confirmed and SCH have been accredited by 
Tpas for the next 3 years.   Tpas stated that SCH gained an overall 
assessment score of 89%.  This is an excellent achievement for the 
organisation. A standout, trailblazing organisation for engagement and a 
collaborative culture across all teams. 
 
As we reported in May strong scores were achieved across all seven 
standards, but particular note was made of: 
• The strong link between engagement and the Delivery Plan 
• Our approach to resident engagement in building safety 
• The Engagement Toolkit 
• How engagement is valued across the organisation by staff and Board  
• The resources to support engagement 
• Our wider community investment through locality working   
 

 In light of the good practice highlighted by Tpas, SCH hosted a Tpas member 
event at Endeavour House where we showcased our engagement framework 
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and our building safety engagement activities to 30 organisations from across 
the Midlands.    SCH have also been invited to host a national webinar on our 
building safety engagement work and run a workshop at the upcoming Tpas 
residents conference. 
 

 In order to formally receive our accreditation Tpas will be joining us at the 
SCH tenants conference in October to present us with the accreditation and 
provide a key note speech to residents on the importance of resident 
engagement in the current housing environment. 

 
5.8 People Strategy 

The People Strategy was developed in 2021 to provide a framework for 
SCH’s ambitions to develop and enhance its offer to its employees. Due to a 
lack of resourcing, SCH has struggled to make significant progress against 
the seven overarching objectives. Based on the discussions of the Passion in 
People group, this paper sets out some potential priorities for the coming 
year, drawing on recent sources of intelligence, such as the staff survey. 

 
The priorities for this year recognise current resource constraints and are 
therefore more focused than in the original strategy to ensure deliverability. 
The People Strategy priorities for 2022/23 are attached at appendix 3. 

 
5.9 Policy Update: 
 

Government announced measures on driving up improvements in social 
housing included: 

The formation of a Resident Panel. The panel will consist of 250 social 
housing tenants, who will discuss the measures Government is taking to 
ensure social landlords provide their residents with a high-quality service. 
- Naming and shaming social housing landlords who fail to meet the 

standards  
- Publishing a factsheet to explain the role of the Housing Ombudsman 

Service and the Regulator. The factsheet will outline the support on 
offer to residents, how landlords are held to account, and the changes 
being made to improve the services provided by the Housing 
Ombudsman Service and the Regulator of Social Housing. 

 
The Home Office has published a policy paper outlining its approach to 
tackling domestic abuse. 
The Building Safety Act became law on 28 April. 
The Queen’s Speech, announced on 10 May 2022, included: 

 
The Social Housing (Regulation) Bill, which has since been introduced 
into the House of Lords and reached Committee Stage. 
 
The Renters Reform Bill, the main elements of which are: 
Abolishing ‘no fault’ evictions by removing Section 21 of the Housing Act 
1988 
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- Reforming possession grounds for landlords, introducing new 
and stronger grounds for repeated incidences of rent arrears 
and reducing notice periods for anti-social behaviour 

- Applying the Decent Homes Standard in the Private Rented 
Sector  

- Introduce a new Ombudsman for private landlords 
- Introducing a new property portal to help landlords understand 

their obligations, give tenants performance information to hold 
their landlord to account as well as aiding local authorities 
 

The Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill, which is designed to: 
- Place a duty on the Government to set Levelling Up 

missions and produce an annual report updating on delivery 
of these missions 

- Create a new model of combined authority: the ‘County 
Deal’ to provide local leaders with powers to enhance local 
accountability, join up services and provide transparent 
decision making 

- Unlock new powers for local authorities to bring empty 
premises back into use and instigate rental auctions of 
vacant commercial properties in town centres and on high 
streets 

- Strengthen neighbourhood planning and digitalising the 
system to make local plans easier to find, understand and 
engage with 

 
On 9 June, the Prime Minister gave a speech setting out proposals to increase 
home ownership. This included reference to extending the Right to Buy to 
housing association tenants, housing benefit recipients being able to use that 
income to apply for a mortgage, boosting leaseholders’ ability to buy their own 
freehold and plans to use more publicly owned brownfield land to increase 
housebuilding. 
The DLUHC has published its ‘Fairer Private Rented Sector’ white paper setting 
out plans to fundamentally reform the Private Rented Sector and level up housing 
quality (including the measures set out in the Renters Reform Bill). 
New regulations were laid before parliament which will amend the Smoke and 
Carbon Monoxide Regulations 2015 (2015/1693). From October housing 
associations and local authority landlords will be subject to the amended 2015 
regulations concerning the installation and upkeep of smoke and carbon 
monoxide detectors in rental accommodation. 
Following the commencement of the Fire Safety Act 2021, it is intended that the 
Fire Safety (England) Regulations 2022 will come into force on 23 January 2023. 
These regulations will implement recommendations arising from the first phase of 
the Independent Grenfell Tower Inquiry which required a change in the law. 

 
Social Housing Bill  
 
As Board will know and as referenced above, this is now progressing through 
legislative processes.  As previously circulated to Board, a publication has been 
issued through the National Federation of ALMO’s and Councils with ALMO’s which 
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sets out the particular landscape and implications for ALMO’s.  In addition a 
summary of this document has now been published for tenants.  A link to both 
documents is included here.  https://www.almos.org.uk/publications/sector-
publications/excellence-in-management-and-partnership-how-councils-can-put-the-
almo-advantage-to-work-in-the-new-regulatory-environment/ 
 
It will be critical that SCH and SMBC continue to work together to put in place robust 
arrangements to ensure that we are ready for this increased level of regulation – 
particularly in terms of governance, performance, risk, culture, quality and listening to 
tenants.   
 
6. Cost of Living Impact 

6.1 Board members will recognise that our response to the cost of living crisis and 
our support to customers in this respect is paramount for SCH.  We have 
summarised below key headlines in terms of our response to date and have 
also prepared a presentation attached in appendix 4 providing further 
information on our response.  The Head of Housing and Neighbourhoods and 
our money advice team leader will be attending the Board meeting to respond 
to Board questions and facilitate a Board discussion to consider our response.   

 
6.2 Britain is facing the highest rates of inflation since the early 1980’s, with 
 households suffering the biggest hit to their incomes since modern records 
 began.  Energy bills are soaring, as is the cost of petrol.  Food inflation is at a 
 13-year high, running at 8.3%.  For SCH this could lead to financial 
 consequences for the business with tenants choosing food over rent.  Our 
 approach to supporting customers is therefore more prevalent than ever 
 before. 
 
 Money Advice Team 
 
6.3 Increasing numbers of customers are being impacted by the cost-of-living 

increases. In 2021/2022, the Money Advice Team (MAT) received 1,159 
referrals into the service and of these, interviewed 733 customers in 
connection with specialist support and advice. This represents an increase of 
42.88% when compared to 2015/16 figures where the service saw 513.  

 
6.4 In 2021/22, the MAT secured over £1.1m in welfare benefits for customers. In 

the same year, 31% of the cases worked with by the team were in fuel 
poverty.  

 
6.5 SCH’s Money Advice Team provide a range of services to SCH tenants and 

leaseholders who are struggling financially.  This includes access to financial 
support/grants, benefit calculations, budgeting skills, negotiation with 
creditors, insolvency options such as debt relief orders and bankruptcy, 
applications for Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP), energy bill support, 
council tax rebates, applications to charitable funds for essential goods or 
food, and operation of the SCH Hardship Fund which has been considerably 
boosted by the government Household Support Fund. 
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6.6 The Money Advice Team are also pivotal in supporting customers at threat of 
homelessness, including those at risk of eviction. 

 
6.7 Mobysoft RentSense Analytics - Targeted work is being done to monitor 

reducing credit balances and accounts with debts of less than £100. This 
provides additional insight/data highlighting people that may be experiencing 
financial difficulties for the first time. Enabling the Income team to engage 
such customers at the earliest opportunity. 

 
 Wider Customer Support 
 
6.8 The number of people impacted is set to further increase during the course of 

the year as the cost-of-living crisis deepens. In an effort to mitigate some of 
the challenges, there are a number of support measures in place to support 
customers. 

 
6.9 SCH also use a range of other support services for signposting and referrals 

which include holiday vouchers, discretionary crisis fund, Act On Energy 
Advice, food support and Helping Hands who are able to provide emergency 
food parcel deliveries. 

 
6.10 SCH has a dedicated Employment & Skills Officer (duties currently being 

covered by team due to maternity leave). Embedding strong partner 
relationships ensures that we continue to offer a comprehensive service to our 
customers who need support.  

 
6.11 The employment and skills section of our website has information on all 

current vacancies, training opportunities and qualifications, with signposting 
for self-referral. An internal process for customers identified by our front-line 
teams to receive one to one support is in place.  

 
Examples of Employment projects includes:  

 
 The CAB’s volunteering into work aimed at new Universal Credit claimants  
 Care worker strategy including a specific programme for SCH customers 

to receive driving lessons to support sustainable employment in the Care 
Sector  

 New Pinnacle cleaning contract recruitment support to target SCH 
customers  

 Kick-Start Digital inclusion Agents employed to develop the on-line 
accessibility of our support offer to customers and upskill those who need 
more confidence to use our on-line portal. 

 
6.12 Kick-Start Programme - SCH delivery of the Kick-Start programme is aimed at  

local young people from within our customer base. The 6 months paid 
opportunities develop the work skills, confidence and qualifications for the 
placements and we aim to progress each one into a positive move-on at the 
end of their time with us. One placement has successfully been recruited into 
a permanent position within our Neighbourhood Services Team. 
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6.13 Apprenticeship Recruitment - We are in the process of confirming the 6 job    
roles for the 2022 apprentice cohort recruitment which will again focus on    
providing opportunities for young people in our tenancies. 

 
6.14 Furniture Recycling Project - Our furniture project continues to ensure that  

decent unwanted furniture no longer goes to landfill and is utilised by residents 
in need. This is delivered in collaboration with existing organisations who have 
the infrastructure to provide a full service. However, we now maintain a good 
stock of furniture to use as a direct intervention for SCH customers most at 
need. This is supported by the recent agreement for the Customer 
Engagement Team to have access to SCH vans when not in use to enable 
transport of much needed items of furniture.  

 
6.15 Uniform Swop Shop - Other wider support for cost of living includes SCH 

again delivering the back-to-school uniform swop shop which was so 
successful last year. 

 
6.16 Here to Help and Holiday Activity Fund - We will provide a distribution and    

communications plan to all customers for:  
 The SMBC here to help booklet; this provides a range of information and 

advice on keeping warm, staying well, staying safe, financial help and help 
for carers 

 The summer holidays activity and food programme (HAF)  
 
6.17 Winter Warmth Campaign - We will be starting the planning for the Winter 

warmth campaign earlier this year with a wider scope and partner 
interventions for fuel and food poverty. 

 
 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR:    Fiona Hughes  

Chief Executive 
    fionahughes@solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk 
    Tel: 0121 779 8812 
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Email message sent to all SCH staff on Friday 15 July 2022 Appendix 1 
 

Hello SCH 

As you will all know we are facing significant change in the housing sector, in particular around our 

responsibilities on building safety and an increased level of legislative regulation around the way 

that we deliver our services to customers.  This has meant that, as chief executive, I have been giving 

some consideration to the shape of our executive team to ensure that we are putting in place 

appropriate arrangements to meet the challenges ahead. 

 

In headline terms this means that the executive team will be reshaped with an increased number of 

heads of service and fewer executive directors.  The detail is still being considered and of course I 

will be keeping you updated as we move forward.  However, in the course of these discussions, Surjit 

has taken time to think this through and has decided that he would like to move on to explore other 

avenues and therefore he will be leaving SCH at the end of the month.   

 

I will of course be working with the executive team and Carol as head of service to ensure we have 

transitional arrangements in place to support all the teams delivering our vital services through 

housing and neighbourhoods.  I know that when an executive team member leaves it can be 

unsettling and can raise questions – as an organisation SCH remains in a strong position and indeed, 

as you know, we have recently recruited to our board member vacancies which will only serve to 

strengthen us further.  We also continue to enjoy a close partnership with SMBC as our key 

stakeholder who recognise the important contribution we make to Solihull.   

 

Surjit has been a very valued member of the executive team at SCH and has played an important 

part in the development and progress we have made as an organisation.  I am personally very sorry 

to see Surjit move on and would like to thank him for his hard work and contribution to SCH and 

wish him all the best for the future.  Housing is a small world and it’s always good to network and I 

am sure we will stay in touch.    

 

Fiona  

 

Hi SCH 

So – following on from Fiona’s update, I would like to say it is with a heavy heart that I will be leaving 

SCH. There are challenges ahead for SCH and re-shaping the senior team will help SCH meet these. 

With regards to my journey, it is time for me to explore other options and see what the future holds 

for me. I joined SCH in 2018 and over the years I have worked with some great people. I do wish you 

all the very best of luck at work and, in your personal lives.  

Finally, I would like to say a special thank you to my executive colleagues and support team, my 

teams new and old, you’re all amazing! Until the next time, bye.  

 

Surjit    
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Title: Supplementary detail on voids performance 
  

Author: Steve Abrahams, Performance Improvement Officer 
  

Date: 18 June 2022 

 
 
Void rent loss (VL13) stood at 1.85% at the end of the first quarter 2022/23. This continues 
a trend of small increases month on month, and remains well adrift of the target of 0.90% 
The definition for voids includes properties being held for disposal whilst they remain within 
the HRA (for SCH, this is primarily at the Kingshurst and Lakeside redevelopment sites). 
 
The table below summarises the position in more detail, breaking down the voids by type: 
 

Void type April May June 

Lettable:    

  - General need 24 34 17 

  - Adapted 11 11 10 

  - Difficult to let (general) 20 25 24 

  - Difficult to let (supported housing) 25 24 23 

SUBTOTAL: 80 94 74 

Not available to let:    

  - Awaiting/under repair 53 32 47 

  - Structural 3 3 3 

  - Buy back 2 1 2 

SUBTOTAL: 58 36 52 

Unlettable:    

  - Demolition/development/sale 38 37 40 

  
TOTALS: 

 
176 

 
167 

 
166 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Briefing note 
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A key element of reducing void rent loss is shortening the period that it takes to prepare a 
property for occupation (including both remedial works and the relet process). The graph 
below shows the average time taken: 
 

 
 
Graph 2 shows the number of voids occurring in each month and the number being relet 
during the same period. In order to improve the rent loss position, for a period of time it is 
necessary to let more properties each month than become available: 
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Potential People Strategy priorities for 2022/23 

 

Objective Potential priority Comment Budgetary implications Timeframe Lead 

Workforce engagement Empowering senior 

employees to lead and 

manage 

Despite investment in recent years, there appear to be cultural constraints 

preventing managers from embracing the freedom and authority they have. 

Likely to be significant to deliver 

properly (c£30-50,000). 

Likely to extend 

beyond 2022/23. 

 

Q2 

Martyn Sargeant 

Changing the narrative SCH has a strong focus on performance, process and governance and runs the 

risk of a culture that suggests this is more important than managing people well 

and outcomes. We need to change the narrative to help managers understand 

that managing people is their number one priority and that good performance 

flows out of this.  

Could come out of the above plus 

some comms to reinforce 

(<£5,000). 

Review approach to 

employee communications 

Reconsider the available channels and approach to messaging. Largely within existing budgets. 2022/23  Q2 Becci Youlden/ 

Paul Castles 

Reinvigorate Staff 

Engagement Group 

Redevelop SEG to give it a new lease of life and enable it to play an impactful 

role in SCH. Ensure stronger involvement from within Asset Management. 

Might be spend associated with 

particular workstreams. 

2022/23 

 

Ongoing 

Martyn Sargeant 

Diverse, progressive, 

innovative, 

collaborative and 

healthy organisation 

Rollout new approach to 

FTAs 

Understanding and application of equality and diversity principles across SCH 

could be improved. 

Within existing budgets. 2022/23   Q2 Martyn Sargeant/ 

Niku Mawby 

Develop potential future 

leaders 

Reverse mentoring programme to support upcoming leaders and enhance 

communication within SCH. 

Within existing budgets. 2022/23   Q2 Martyn Sargeant 

Support development of 

existing managers/leaders 

Develop use of 360 feedback as a development tool. Within existing budgets. 2022/23   Q4 Emma Birch 

Sustainable workforce Workforce/succession 

planning 

SCH faces some challenges in securing its workforce for the longer term (e.g. 

disproportionate number of older employees, retention, skills gaps, etc.).  

Within existing budgets. Initial work in 

2022/23 but any 

actions arising 

likely to extend into 

2023/24.   Q3 

Emma Birch 

Recruitment 

communication/promotion 

Developing resources that promote SCH as an employer of choice. Potentially working with an 

external partner but could be 

managed inhouse (<£10,000). 

2022/23   Q2 Emma Birch/Paul 

Castles 

Recognition and reward SEG work on recognition SEG is looking at a variety of options in this area. It would be good to consult with 

FLMs on any proposals.  

Some individual projects will have 

budgetary requirements. 

Initial work in 

2022/23 but any 

actions arising 

likely to extend into 

2023/24. Q2 

Martyn Sargeant 

(through SEG) 

Volunteering Develop a volunteering offer. Primarily a time commitment, 

therefore an opportunity cost of 

releasing staff. 

2022/23   Q3 Martyn Sargeant 

(through SEG) 

Personal development Mandatory training Initial reporting suggests there is significant ground to be made up against 

mandatory courses, so this needs to be a priority. 

Within existing budgets. 2022/23   tbc Martyn Sargeant 

Organisational training plan Build on work undertaken in 2021 to further develop an SCH-wide plan. Within existing budgets. 2022/23   Q2 Martyn Sargeant/ 

Emma Birch 

Managers’ induction Develop a managers’ induction programme to facilitate easier transition into 

managerial roles. 

Will depend what can be secured 

from SMBC. 
2022/23   tbc  

Employee induction Develop an employee induction programme to facilitate effective onboarding 

arrangements. 
2022/23   tbc  
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Objective Potential priority Comment Budgetary implications Timeframe Lead 

Performance and 

progression 

Management mentors Link with first proposal? A way of providing support within the business to help 

managers with specific elements of their role (e.g. SMEs for recruitment, 

disciplinary, absence, etc.). 

Within existing budgets. Likely to extend 

beyond 2022/23. 

 

Q4 

Martyn Sargeant 

Coaching offer Again, potential link with first proposal. Developing a coaching offer for the 

business. 

£5-10,000. Likely to extend 

beyond 2022/23.  

Q3 

Emma Birch 

Health and wellbeing Health and wellbeing action 

plan 

Work underway already to develop a series of initiatives that address health and 

wellbeing needs across the organisation. 

Some individual projects will have 

budgetary requirements. 

Initial work in 

2022/23 but any 

actions arising 

likely to extend into 

2023/24.   Q2 

Martyn Sargeant 

(through SEG) 

Statement of intent Provide clarity and direction about SCH’s approach to health and wellbeing at 

work. Not just replicating the council. 

Within existing budgets. 2022/23   Q1 Martyn Sargeant 
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Money Advice 
Team 
Jane Foster 

Money Advice Team Leader
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The Money Advice Team

SCH’s Money Advice Team help tenants 

and leaseholders with their money 

issues and to help them manage their 

tenancies. 

Primarily we are here to help tenants to 

keep a ‘roof over their head’, and to 

keep them safe and warm in their 

tenancies.
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Money Advice carry out a number of functions to 
advise customers on a range of issues including:

o We try to increase income by carrying out benefit calculations 

(checks), advising about benefit entitlement, checking tax codes, 

banking and financial inclusion

o Assist tenants with budgeting skills on how to manage income and 

expenditure

o We operate an appointment system where casework is conducted  

where we try to help our customers deal with their debts, negotiate 

with their creditors and make arrangements for affordable 

repayments

o We will progress insolvency options such as applications for Debt 

Relief Orders and Bankruptcies where debts have reached 

unmanageable proportions 

o In some cases we apply for charitable funds to help our tenants to 

clear debts or reduce bills

o We operate a hardship fund which helps those in financial crisis 

with food vouchers, fuel top ups and essential goods.  The 

Household Support Fund has boosted the funding considerably 

enabling Money Advice to help more customers in need  
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What else do we offer to 
support our tenants?
• Referrals to the SCH Employment and Skills Officer

• Furniture Recycling Project

• Mental Health support

• Eviction Prevention Panel

• Preventing homelessness

• Supporting/signposting to council initiatives such as Here to Help 
which provides a range of help on:

• Keeping warm / staying well / staying safe / financial help / help for carers

• Holiday vouchers for families with children in receipt of free school meals
• Holiday Activity Fund

• Discretionary Crisis Fund

• Age UK Winter Warmth Campaign – free advice on reducing fuel bills
• Act On Energy advice and support

• Food support – food bank referrals

• Helping Hands – emergency food parcel delivery service
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Meet The Team 

Jane Foster
Team Leader

Jackie 
Martin-
Flaven

Caseworker

Tracey Nash
Caseworker

Serena Smith
Casework 
Trainee 

(Fixed Term)

Neil Donovan
Caseworker
(Fixed Term)

Nicola Priest
Caseworker 
(seconded)

Kamila 
Klejnowska

Money 
Advice 

Assistant
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Team Skills 

Four of the team have money advice qualifications 

(Certificate in Money Advice Practice) and the others 

are gaining skills and working towards theirs.

We are rigorously audited every two years to ensure 

quality of the service is maintained, and improved 

upon, where we have been awarded the Advice 

Quality Standard (AQS) quality mark.

The Advice Quality Standard is the only sector-

owned, independently audited standard that focuses 

on advice. It is awarded to organisations that give 

advice to the public on legal issues.
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Growth of Money Advice Service 

The number of clients interviewed by the Money Advice Team has steadily 

increased in recent years. In the previous financial year ending March 

2022, the team interviewed 733 clients which is a 42.88% increase 

compared to 2015-16 when the team interviewed 513 customers.  This 

has been a steady increase ‘year on year’. 

A number of emerging factors includes the increased demands on 

homelessness, high levels of tenants migrating to universal credit full 

service which started during 2017-18, and more recently covid and the 

current economic downturn meaning referrals into the team are still high. 

Clearly SCH has supported the need for additional resources to cope with 

demand. 

Whilst we continue to support more customers working with the Council 

falling into financial poverty, this inevitably creates extra work for the team 

helping in a variety of ways including food, fuel and essential white goods.     
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Highlights from 2021 – 2022 & Profiling 

data

1,159 referrals into the service of which 733 cases 

resulted in a successful money advice appointments.

The Team secured £1,110,861 in Welfare Benefits 

over the course of the year. 

We exceeded our corporate reduction in arrears 

target (WR3) achieving £659k. 

Our biggest referrer has been Housing Options as a 

result of homelessness, making up 42% of our cases 

in Temporary Accommodation who required help with 

Housing Benefit applications.

31% of our cases were in Fuel Poverty and required 

help with fuel top ups.

57% of the people we saw were unemployed

46% were between the ages of 18 and 35

86% were single people 

59% of our cases were females and 27% males
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Strategic work with the Council

o Household Support Funding – All Councils are allocated funds 

from Central Government to help families and vulnerable 

tenants with food, fuel and essential white goods. HSF started in 

October 21 and we helped to support 545 SCH customers by 

the end of March 22, awarding £30k.

o We also work collaboratively with the Council on Discretionary 

Housing Payments (DHP). Last year we accessed £173k and 

the year before £242k as Councils received additional funding to 

help with issues resulting from covid

o We are members of the Council’s Financial Inclusion Group 

which covers the topics mentioned above and includes the 

Council’s Discretionary Grants Team, Age UK, DWP, CAB, 

Advance Credit Union and Public Health  
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Cost of living support 2022

Payment Amount Eligibility

Council Tax Rebate £150 per household Council Tax Bands 

A-D

Cost of Living 

Payment

£650 payable in 2 

instalments of £325

Households are 

means tested

Pensioner Cost of 

Living payment

£300 per household Must be a pensioner 

66 plus

Disability cost of living 

payment

£150 per claimant Must be receiving 

Disability Benefits

Energy Bills support 

scheme

£400 per household Must have a domestic 

electricity meter

Household Support 

Fund

Grants are 

discretionary

All of our tenants can 

apply
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Current challenges facing Money Advice

o Recruitment and retention of top quality experienced staff, staff 

training

o Increasing numbers of referrals from Housing Options for 

Temporary Accommodation (Homeless cases).

o Household Support Fund and the immediate demand from 

claimants who need help in a crisis situation.

o Increasing complexity of cases, which in turn are more time 

consuming than they used to be due to mental health, housing 

related issues and some tenants who live chaotic life styles. 

o More clients presenting with deficit budgets who cannot make 

ends meet

o Concerns about late emergency cases where assistance cannot 

be given on that day. 
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What do 
we see on 
the 
horizon?

• DWP are now moving disabled and legacy cases 
onto Universal Credit – we expect that this will create 
more work in terms of welfare benefit advice and 
challenges to payments, as well as gaps in income 
during the changeover period.

• Significant numbers are expected to apply for fuel 
top ups in the colder months when fuel bills rise again.

• We expect there will be more people having to make 
choices about food as prices rise and we expect to 
see requests for food vouchers and food parcels 
increasing.

• We have concerns that some of our tenants may 
start to use their rent money/housing costs to pay for 
food and heating rather than paying their rent.

• We also know from research that those who go 
without food and adequate heating may suffer ill health 
including mental health issues. 
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING 
 

BOARD MEETING: 25 JULY 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE INTERIM EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF ASSET MANAGEMENT 
AND DEVELOPMENT 

 

Building Safety Implementation Plan 
 

 
1.  Introduction 

 
1.1 This report sets out the current position in relation to SCH’s progress with 

Building Safety arrangements in response to both the Building Safety Act and 
the Fire Safety Act.  
 

1.2 The report also includes the draft Building Safety implementation plan which 
includes an overview of actions required and a detailed delivery spreadsheet. 

2.  Recommendation  
 
2.1 The Board is recommended to: 
 
 (i) NOTE  the draft Building Safety Implementation Plan  
 (ii) APPROVE  the Terms of Reference for the Building Safety Task and                                             

Finish Group  
 
3.  Background 

 
3.1 The SCH Board received a further progress (six month) report by HouseMark 

regarding the implementation of the Service Improvement Plan in relation to 
compliance Safety at its meeting on 14 February 2022. The Service 
Improvement Plan (SIP) has been used to guide the team through the 
improvements made. The progress report identified that good progress had 
been made in relation to the SIP which included 42 actions identified by the 
original HouseMark report.  
 

3.2 A summary of the progress made is provided below:    

 A comprehensive training plan for staff; 

 A £500K increase in the overall staffing establishment budget over the 
next two years 

 Drafting, consultation and approval of policies and procedures in relation 
to key compliance areas; 

 A system health check conducted by Capita and the identification of two 
new systems to improve automation and visibility of service delivery;  

 An improvement in building safety reporting capability;  

 Fire Risk Assessments in our high rise have been undertaken by external 
experts to ensure quality assurance; and  
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 More robust Officer and Board Governance had been developed to 
oversee building safety and provide oversight.  

 
4.  Building Safety Implementation Plan  

4.1 At the meeting on 14 February 2022, the Board noted that the outstanding 
actions from the Improvement Plan would be carried forward into a Building 
Safety Implementation Plan.  This report includes the draft Building Safety 
Plan. It is based on 9 themes: 7 from our earlier improvement plan and two 
additional.  

 

 Data quality  

 Policy and procedures  

 Procurement and Contract Management  

 Reporting and assurance  

 Staffing and delivery structure  

 Systems and processes 

 Training and competence  

Alongside the original seven key themes, the following further themes have 
been added: 
 

 Communication and Engagement – Communication and engagement are 
identified as key requirements within the Building Safety Act. They are also 
fundamental building blocks for SCH’s overall approach to Building Safety 
and it is right to recognise this level of important activity within the Plan; 
and 
 

 Projects – The inclusion of projects is to recognise the significant amount 
of investment that is additionally being implemented to keep residents 
safe, such as the installation of sprinkler systems, works planned on the 
replacement of the spandrel panels and conducting structural surveys.   

 
4.2 A copy of the draft Building Safety Implementation Plan is attached at 

Appendix 1. The Implementation Plan, along with holding the current 
improvements actions from the previous Building Safety Improvement Plan 
also includes priority areas that have been identified through the joint SCH / 
SMBC corporate workshop along with requirements identified from recent 
government guidance documents in response to both the Building Safety Act 
and the Fire Safety Act.  
 

5.  Governance and Oversight  

5.1 The approved arrangements relating to health and building safety governance 
at SCH along with the Terms of Reference for the Board Task and Finish 
Group is set out in Appendix 2.  

 
5.2 These arrangements supplement the wider reporting that is already in place 

with SMBC that includes monthly reporting to the Building Safety Board, 
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regular updates from SCH Chief Executive to Director of Economy & 
Infrastructure and Briefing to Cabinet member – Councillor Grinsell.  

 
6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 SCH has recognised the importance of ensuring Asset Management is 

appropriately resourced to meet the challenges of the new legislative 
requirements with regard to building safety and compliance. Additional 
funding of up to £207,000 was approved by SCH Board on 27 September 
2021 for 2021/22, actual spend of £128,000 was incurred as shown in the 
table below, funded in full from SCH’s Budget Strategy Reserves. 

 

 £’000s 

Funded from Reserves:-  

Support implementation of HouseMark recommendations 17 

Fire Protection – monthly servicing 20 

Fire Risk Assessor & Fire Co-ordinator (2021/22 part-year 
impact) 

12 

Sub Total 49 

Fire Risk Assessments – High Rise Residential Buildings 19 

Additional Stock Condition Surveys 60 

Total 128 

 
6.2 On 29 November 2021, SCH Board considered the 2022/23 budget proposals 

and approved additional budget funding for a new building safety staffing 
structure forecast to be implemented incrementally between 2022/23 and 
2024/25 at a final estimated total cost of £505,000 per year. The additional 
budget provides for a team of 9 and consists of a Head of Building Safety, 2 x 
Building Safety Co-ordinators, 4 x Building Safety Managers plus full year 
funding for the two posts introduced in 2021/22 - a Fire Risk Assessor and 
Fire Co-ordinator. 

 
7. Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
7.1 Equality and diversity are routinely considered by SCH when dealing with 

health and safety issues, in particular the Fire Safety Act has already detailed 
guidance on requirements for providing assistance to individuals as part of 
Emergency Evacuation requirements in high rise buildings. A fair treatment 
assessment will be conducted as part of finalising the Building Safety 
Implementation Plan.  

 
8. Risk Management Implications 
 
8.1 The overarching themes of the Building Safety Implementation Plan are 

reflected within the SCH corporate risk register: 
 

 SCH0203 – Failure to ensure Building Safety in line with current and in 
preparation for future legislation  

 SCH0202 – Failure to ensure health and safety of customers, employees 
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and contractors. 

 SCH0205 - Failure to have robust systems and process for data 
management 

 SCH0199 - Failure to optimise capital investment. 
 

SMBC and SCH are reviewing joint risks on a rolling annual basis through the 
Strategic Housing Board and this includes building safety related risks. 

 
9. Tenant Involvement/Consultation 
 
9.1 Resident engagement is a key part of the Building Safety Implementation Plan 

as well as the Building Safety Act.  A series of roadshows are being organised 
during the summer to engage residents on shaping the overall Building Safety 
Engagement Strategy as well as individual Building Safety Plans for each of 
the High Rise Blocks. Building Safety is also planned to be a Workshop at the 
Resident Engagement Day that is being planned and prepared.   

 
 
 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Mike Brymer 

Interim Executive Director of Asset Management and 
Development 

   michaelbrymer@solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk
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Draft Building Safety Implementation Plan  
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Background  
 
SCH commissioned an external review of the SCH asset management function. The 
external review identified that there was a requirement for improvements particularly in 
relation to building safety covering the overarching themes of Data quality, policy and 
procedures, procurement and contract management, reporting and assurance, staffing 
and delivery structure, systems and processes and training and competence.  External 
reviews on progress were carried out at both the three and six month for assurance 
purposes. The six month concluded that sufficient and appropriate progress had been 
achieved. The themes and longer term improvement areas that are still active have 
been retained and are included in this Implementation Plan. 
 
Improvements carried out have included:  
 

 A comprehensive training plan for staff; 
 A £500K increase in the overall staffing establishment budget over the next two 

years; 
 Drafting, consultation and approval of policies and procedures in relation to key 

compliance areas; 
 A system health check conducted by Capita and the identification of two new 

systems to improve automation and visibility of service delivery;  
 An improvement in building safety reporting capability;  
 Fire Risk Assessments in our high rise have been undertaken by external 

experts to ensure quality assurance; and  
 More robust Officer and Board Governance had been developed to oversee 

building safety and provide oversight. 

 
Introduction  
 
The SCH Building Safety Implementation Plan is a direct response to the following 
legislative requirements:  
 

 The Building Safety Act as of 28th April 2022 - In summary, the new Building 
Safety Act will bring in a number of measures intended to make buildings and 
residents safer. They include the formation of a new Building Safety Regulator 
within HSE, whose role is to enforce a more stringent regulatory regime for 
buildings of 18m and over, as well as overseeing safety and standards in 
buildings of all heights. 
  

 Fire Safety Act 2021 - Requires that fire risk assessments of buildings with two 
or more sets of domestic premises take into account the building structure, 
external walls and doors.  

 

 Fire Safety Regulations 2022 – introduce new duties under the Fire Safety Order 
for building owners or managers (responsible persons) to share fire safety 
information with residents, complete fire door checks and provide building 

Page 56



Appendix 1  

 

information for the Fire and Rescue Service and SCH Building Safety 
improvement Plan.   

 
The changes to the regulatory framework for Building Safety have taken place in direct 
response to the Grenfell Inquiry and represent the most fundamental changes to the 
safety requirements expected of the Housing Sector in a generation. The main areas of 
safety compliance are asbestos management, electrical safety, fire safety, gas safety, 
lift safety and water supply safety.  
 
Building Safety Implementation Plan  
 
The Building Safety Implementation Plan has been created as a single plan to focus 
and drive the key building safety activities that SCH needs to implement in order to 
meet the regulatory framework for Building and Fire Safety and more importantly 
ensuring that we keep our residents, staff and visitors safe. The Implementation Plan 
is overseen by the SCH Building and Resident Safety Group which reviews progress 
against the Plan on a monthly basis. 

 
The Key Headline Achievements resulting from implementing this plan will be:  
 

 A Data Strategy that produces high quality and reliable information on safety 
activities  

 Building Safety Cases for all high risk buildings 
 Complaint building safety arrangements and considerations within all new 

contracts  
 Easily accessible and transparent safety information being available to all 

stakeholders 
 Capable, competent and motivated staff performing our building and fire safety 

functions 
 Integrated, coherent and synchronised information systems to store and record 

safety information 
 Engaged and informed residents that feel safe in their homes  
 High risk buildings that have additional safety systems such as sprinklers to 

keep residents safe. 
 

 
The plan includes 9 key themes: 
  
1. Data quality  

In order to know our current position with building safety, we need to generate and input 
high quality data which ensures that assurance can be provided in the building safety 
activities that are carried out. We must ensure that:  
 

 Our data is created from conducting a safety inspection eg. a gas safety check 
provides results that are credible and in keeping with industry expectations; and  
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 Our data has resulted from carrying out such an activity is inputted in an 
accurate, clear and timely.  

 
 

2. Policy and procedures  

In order to deliver Building Safety, it is essential to have a comprehensive suite of 
policies and procedures.    
 
The overarching position that is taken to carry out a building safety activity eg. the Fire 
Safety Policy stipulates that in the event of a fire residents in a high rise block should 
‘stay put’ and stay safe until they are requested to do otherwise. The policy will also 
determine the activities that we carry out and to which frequency i.e. we carry out 
reviews to the fire risk assessments on low rise blocks every three years.  
 
The supporting procedure will identify the operational methodology that SCH will carry 
out regarding a particular activity eg. if we are trying to gain access to a property to 
complete a Landlord Gas Safety Inspection, a formal procedure for access is followed 
to ensure that the SCH practice is in accordance with the Gas Safety Regulation.  

Actions – Data Quality  

 Agree mandatory fields for recording and reporting on “known unknowns” and 

“positive negative” asset data to build a comprehensive set of asset component 

data for all SCH properties.  

 Develop a specific asset strategy for high rise buildings.   

 Implement and evaluate the Open Housing Compliance and workflow modules 

and sense check to ensure that they continue to meet SCH’s needs in accordance 

with the corporate data quality strategy. 

 Complete the design and implementation of the corporate data quality strategy.     

 Ensure there is appropriate gatekeeping of data within the corporate data 

strategy.    

 Complete the stock condition survey programme and ensure that this is used to 

update master data. (See first bullet point) 

 Complete the implementation of the compliance module, Workflow module and 

Total Mobile. 
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3. Procurement and Contract Management  

Procurement arrangements assist with providing our governance assurance for the 
building and fire safety practices that we carry out. We procure expertise to assist with 
carrying out safety activities for the key responsibility compliance areas of asbestos 
management, electrical safety, fire safety, gas safety, lift safety and water supply safety.  
 
As well as ensuring that we have capable and competent people / providers carrying 
out inspections, assessments and completing remedial works, there is also a role for 
SCH as the ‘Client’ in ensuring that the contracts are being administered effectively and 
in accordance with the regulatory requirements. 

Action – Policy and Procedures 

 Complete the preparation of the Lift Safety Policy and procedure and obtain 

governance sign off.  

 Asbestos, Fire Safety Management, Gas and Legionella are all in place and will be 

subject to regular timed review. 

 Complete the preparation of the Electrical Safety policy and procedure and obtain 

governance sign off. 

 Complete the preparation of the Hot Works policy and procedure and obtain 

governance sign off. 

 Policy and procedure for structural condition surveys in HRRB's and other relevant 

buildings to be prepared. 

 Produce policy and procedure crib sheets for key building safety and compliance 

areas. Fire Safety, Lift Safety, Legionella, Electrical, Asbestos 

 Finalise the Ten Year Joint Asset Management Strategy, ensuring that it covers all 

elements identified. 

 Ensure reporting, quality assurance, external audit and record keeping is in place. 

Verify this with third party assurance appropriate to the subject or discipline. 

 Design a Building Safety Case Policy & Procedure that forms a set of standard 

operating procedures both for any new in scope buildings and maintaining existing 

information. 

 Design an overarching Building Safety Strategy that sets out a coherent consistent 

approach. Review this annually. 

 Complete planning for the delivery of Building Safety Cases. Initially agree a template 

and approach to delivery utilising HSE guidance notes and other identified best 

practice. 

 Register HRRBs in line with Legislation. 
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4. Reporting and Assurance   
 
A governance arrangement is in place for reporting the compliance position of SCH for 
each of the asbestos management, electrical safety, fire safety, gas safety, lift safety 
and water supply safety. The information is reported as follows: 
 

 Monthly reports are received and reviewed by the SCH Building and Resident 
Safety Group and by exception to the SCH Executive Leadership Team and the 
SMBC Building Safety Group 
 

 Quarterly Home Standard Dashboard reports are reviewed by the SCH 
Executive Leadership Team, SCH Safety Leadership Group, SCH Board and the 
SMBC Quarterly Monitoring Board 

 
In addition, external assurance is provided by qualified independent organisations. 
 
 

Action – Procurement and Contract Management 

 Embed the SCH approach to contract management across the business. 

 Update Procurement requirements to ensure that this meets the requirements of the 

Building Safety Act 2022. 

 Where possible, make the electronic recording and provision of information by 

contractors a contract requirement. 

 Complete the procurement of M&E tender. 

 Automate systems and ensure that you do not breach Data Protection Regulations. 
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5. Staffing and Delivery Structure  

It is essential that sufficient capable and competent people are employed by SCH to 
carry out the Building Safety role of the Management Organisation on behalf of SMBC. 
New positions have been added to the SCH staffing establishment for a Head of 
Building Safety during 2022/23 and four Building Safety Managers will be funded over 
the financial years of 2022/23 and 2023/24. The Head of Building Safety will take lead 
responsibility for Building Safety within SCH and each of the four Building Safety 
Managers will be responsible for specific high rise buildings as well as leading on a 
particular compliance discipline(s).  
 

 

Action – Reporting and Assurance  

 Complete the implementation of third party assurance measures for the "big six" as 

well as other disciplines where required. 

 Implement new suite of BI and dashboard reports as an output of the compliance 

and workflow module implementation. 

 Ensure compliance with CDM and building regulations. 

 Monitor new Governance arrangements to ensure that they function well and that 

referrals and information exchange between SMBC and SCH is useful and 

appropriate.  (See Governance Diagram).  

 Ensure that wherever possible, issues requiring a joint view are shared with all 

relevant stakeholders at an appropriate position with the hierarchy.  

 Ensure that there is clarity between SMBC and SCH as to what issues are referred 

for information and which require decision making input.  

 Monitor that oversight is working as intended and meeting it's core purpose of 

protecting resident safety. 

 Complete the implementation of the compliance module, Workflow module and 

Total Mobile. 
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 6.  Systems and Processes 

 
The main housing management system for SCH is Open Housing. The data and 
information that is collected for Building Safety is required to be held in a suitably 
accessible and safe place. The aim is for SCH to hold all of the building and fire safety 
information in one single system (Open Housing) so that the information all links 
together as a ‘golden thread’. The information contained within the management system 
will form and inform the building safety case that SCH will need to produce and provide 
to the Building Safety Regulator. The Building Safety Regulator will use this information 
to make a judgement on how effectively safety is being managed.  

Action – Staffing and Delivery Structure 

 Implement New Governance Arrangements. 

 Consider the potential to increase staff resourcing earlier than originally planned to 

"pump prime" the department to allow compliance with known Building Safety Act 

requirements as well as existing SIP actions. 

 Review adequacy of budget in accordance with the requirements of the Building 

Safety and Fire Safety Acts. 

 Consider and plan for attracting and retaining the right people as part of the wider 

people strategy. 

 Ensure that the staff engagement strategy is effective and reaches all staff. 

 Managers have specific objectives around Building Safety built into objectives. 

 Consider whether appropriate resourcing is in place across SCH to facilitate all 

safety related activity. For example, estate inspections, progressing hard to access 

claims and court action, etc. 

 Finalise the JD's for new Building Safety Manager roles and complete recruitment. 

 Place a standing Agenda item on the Resident & Building Safety Group Agenda. 

RBSG (Horizon Scanning). 

 As part of the SCH people strategy, consider how existing staff across the business 

could be developed and upskilled to allow SCH to deliver more safety related 

assurance using existing resource.   
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Action – Systems and Processes 

 Complete the implementation of the Compliance and Workflow modules and ensure 

that appropriate BI is available to track progress and risk. 

 Consider staff presence and CCTV provision in the context of the wider HRRB 

strategy, building risk and Legislative requirements. 

 Consider whether existing practices can be modernised as part of the customer 

workflow strategy, the customer engagement strategy and wider legislative and 

service requirements.  

 This work should consider any and all processes and measures but could include a 

variety of measures including strategies to address hard to access dwellings and 

communal areas as well as protecting access to electrical gas and other services to 

prevent accidental or deliberate tampering. 

 Prepare Building Safety Cases in line with Legislative requirements 

 Plan the approach to delivering the golden thread in tandem with the Building Safety 

Case. 

 Implement plan to deliver the golden thread.  

 Implement processes in the new build development team that meet the requirements 

of the Building Safety Act, ensuring that these form an intrinsic part of the Golden 

Thread. 

 Ensure that the handover process for new build, acquisitions and disposals aligns with 

the corporate data strategy, and is fully compliant with Legislation. 

 Ensure this is addressed as part of the Asset Management and Net Zero strategies 

 Utilise SHE Assure or similar system to allow defect and concern reporting including 

appropriate workflow, oversight and reporting. 

 Ensure that the corporate IT strategy is aligned to current and future operational 

needs. And that appropriate in house or third party expertise is available. 

 Ensure that there is a clear strategy that addresses issues around change control, 

functional and user acceptance testing. 

 To be determined - Systems, process, Document management, cross function 

working. 

 Complete the implementation of the compliance module, Workflow module and Total 

Mobile. 

 Where possible, make the electronic recording and provision of information by 

contractors a contract requirement. 
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7. Training and Competence  

A learning and development plan has been created for staff who are responsible for 
carrying out specific safety duties for SCH. This learning and development plan will 
form part of a continual professional development approach. There is national guidance 
being prepared and finalised in connection with specific qualifications and 
competencies that are required to carry out Building and Fire Safety activities and the 
learning and development plan will updated to reflect the evolving requirements.  

 
8. Communication and Engagement  

Communication and engagement are identified as key requirements within the Building 
Safety Act. They are also fundamental building blocks for SCHs overall approach to 
Building Safety. There is a requirement to have an overall Building Safety Engagement 
Strategy for SCH as well as individual Engagement Plans for each of the 37 High Risk 
Buildings within the Solihull Residential Portfolio.   

 
 
 

Action – Training and Competence 

 Ensure that the people strategy considers and incorporates commitments to invest 

in training and competence in the long term. 

 This is in place for managers and should be cascaded to all staff objectives. These 

should be tailored by job role and supplied centrally to line managers 

 Complete the current training plan. 

 Develop and implement a formal skills and competency register for all perm, temp 

and interim staff. (Learning Pool) 

 Ensure corporate oversight via ELT and RBSG that all mandatory training and CPD 

is being completed. 

 Ensure all training records and certification is logged and accessible through a 

central digital database. 

 

Action – Communication and Engagement 

 Finalise resident engagement strategy and plan commencement of delivery 

 Develop a suite of engagement plans tailored for each of SCHs HRRBs. 

 Satisfaction: Seek residents views on whether they feel safe in their homes via 

monthly "Acuity Surveys" 

 Include specific safety related satisfaction measures as part of investment projects. 

 Link the work already in place on the "Inclusive Services Register" is joined up with 

emerging requirements for PCFRAs to enable easy reporting and communicating of 

information with SCH. https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/emergency-

evacuation-information-sharing. 
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9.   Projects  

In addition to the cyclical building and fire safety work that we carry out on behalf of 
SMBC to the Solihull Residential Housing Stock. There are also a number of larger 
planned projects that are currently being carried out. These projects have been agreed 
to further enhance the arrangements that are in place to keep our residents safe.  

 
 

 

Action - Projects 

 Continue to implement the sprinkler project to agreed timescales, along with regular 
communication and engagement with residents 

 Complete the capital programme to replace non-compliant panels systems in the 16 
blocks identified 

 Procure contract to deliver a programme of structural surveys to all high rise blocks 
 Undertake a programme of work to replace existing notional fire doors in high risk 

buildings, based on risk and priority of building 
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Example Summary Template 
 
 

Period Jun-22  

Theme 
Completed 

Actions 
Open and 
in target 

Open and 
out of target  

RAG 
Rating  Headline Update 

Data Quality 0 1 0 Example   Verification of   

Policies & Procedures 4 2 0  Example  Gas Safety Policy has been reviewed and approved   

Procurement & Contract Management     Example    

Reporting & Assurance    

  
 Further details of progress with Fire Safety Remedial 

Actions are reported and considered by the Building 
and Resident Safety Group 

Staffing & Delivery Structure    
  

 Head of Building Safety has been appointed 

   

Systems and Processes    
  

 Capita have held two implementation workshops with 
staff regarding the Open Housing Compliance Module  

Technology         

Training & Competence    
  

 Asbestos Awareness Training has taken place with 
appropriate staff  

Communication & Engagement 1 2 1 

  
 Engagement Sessions on Building Safety Engagement 

Plans have been organised for July and August 2022 

  

Projects    
  

 SCH Board has approved the funding for Structural 
Surveys to the 37 High Rise Blocks    

Total 5 5 1     
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Context and accountability 
 

The Building Safety Task and Finish Group (BSTFG) forms part of the wider health and 

safety governance arrangements for Solihull Community Housing (SCH). The focus of 

BSTFG is both internal and external, seeking assurance of the systems and procedures in 

place to ensure the health and safety of our residents, buildings, employees, contractors 

and visitors in relation to the Solihull residential and community purpose social housing 

portfolio.  

 
BSTFG is accountable to SCH Board (see governance structure diagram at appendix 1). 
 
 

Functions 

 

The primary focus of the group is to ensure oversight and compliance with current and 

future legislation/regulation.   

 

Its main functions are: 

 Oversight of the Building Safety Implementation Plan.   

 To monitor whether resident and building safety cases are being effectively 

managed, including risk control measures, disseminating key measures to 

residents as part of the Resident Engagement Strategy. 

 To receive reports on compliance performance information, strategic resident 

and building safety matters and projects, with a view to noting progress made, 

identifying learning points and making recommendations as appropriate.   

 To receive by exception:  

a. Matters found during Fire Risk Assessments (FRA) inspections  

b. Reports and findings from the Asbestos Management Group 

c. Any significant incident report with actual or potential safety implications to 

SCH managed Assets.  

 To receive information from the Building Safety Regulator (BSR) or other 

enforcing bodies, to consider the implications of investigations, enforcement, 

statutory notices, prosecutions, etc. 

 To receive information relating to changes in legislation, regulation and guidance 

and make recommendations where appropriate to ensure compliance.   

 To receive information relating to new and/or revised resident and building 

safety policies, and to determine whether to comply with these or adopt a 

specific SCH version as determined by the SCH Policy Tracker.  

 
 
 

Building Safety Task and Finish Group 

Terms of Reference (May 2022) 
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Membership 

BSTFG will be led and chaired by the SCH Board Chair or a senior member of the Board.  

 

Where representatives cannot attend a meeting, they are responsible for arranging a 

suitable deputy at an appropriate level who must be fully informed and briefed beforehand.  

 

Specialists may be co-opted for meetings when there is discussion on subjects where their 

expertise is required. 

 

Membership of the Building Safety Task and Finish Group will comprise: 

 

 Chair of SCH Board  

 Chair of Audit & Risk Committee 

 Chair of Housing Operations   

 Tenant Board Member   

 Councillor Board Member  

 

Meetings 

BSTFG will meet quarterly. 

 

Additional meetings may be called by the Chair as necessary; at least seven days’ notice 

must be given when calling a meeting. 

 

The duration of meetings will be no more than two hours. 

 

Meetings may be held virtually or in person. Where possible, facilities will be made 

available to allow members to attend face-to-face meetings virtually. 

 

The management support to the Chair will be responsible for the administration of BSTFG. 

 

Issues for discussion must be raised in advance as agenda items. 

 

Agendas and any supporting papers will be distributed at least seven days prior to the next 

meeting where possible.  

 

These terms of reference and membership list will be reviewed on an annual basis or 

sooner if circumstances change. 
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Key 

 H&S Leadership level Governance – has oversight of 
both Occupational H&S and Building & Resident Safety 
 

 Occupational Health & Safety Governance 
 

 Building and Resident Safety Governance (residential 
properties, high and low rise) 

Occupational Health & Safety and Building & Resident Safety Governance (SCH) 

SCH Board 

Safety Leadership 

Group 

Occupational  

Health & Safety Group 

 (Employee & 

Workplace Safety, to 

include consultation 

with TU’s) 

Building and Resident 

Safety Group 

Building Safety 

Implementation Plan  

Including progress with 

implementing new building 

and fire legislation 

framework 

Occupational  

Health & Safety Plans 

(Divisional level) 
replacing plans on a page 

Asbestos 

Management 

Group 

Other Task & Finish 

Based Groups 

Occupational 

Health & Safety 

Action Plans 

(Service level) 

Nominated Board Member 

for Safety 

ELT / HoS 

Quarterly 

Quarterly (review frequency) 

Monthly 

Occupational Health & Safety Checklist for Services   

(used to identify gaps and forms part of a wider plan for managers 

to self-assess their compliance) 

Building Safety 

Capital Projects 

Occupational  

Health & Safety Action 

Plan (Corporate level) 
replacing issues log 

Building Safety Task & Finish 

Group (Board) 
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING 
 

BOARD MEETING 25 JULY 2022 
 

REPORT OF COMPANY SECRETARY  

Annual Governance Review 

 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek approval to the revision of SCH Standing Orders and review 

Committee membership. 
 
2. Recommendation – Item for Decision 
 
2.1 The Board is recommended to 
 

(i) APPROVE the adoption of the revised Standing Orders for SCH with 
immediate effect 

(ii) Approve the membership of Committees 
(iii) Appoint  the new chair of Audit & Risk Committee  
(iv) Appoint  the new chair of Housing Operations Committee 
(v) Appoint  the new chair of Human Resources, Equalities &   

     Remuneration Committee 
(vi) Appoint  Board Member Champions for Health & Safety and Customer 
                          Engagement 
(vii) NOTE     the Board attendance and expenses claimed for 2021/22 

 
3. Standing Orders 

3.1 The last annual review of the Standing Orders was in June 2021 when there 
were minor changes to the Standing Orders.   

3.2 The Standing Orders incorporate the Rules for Contract and Financial 
Regulations.   

3.3 The revised Standing Orders are attached at appendix A. There are no 
proposed amendments either to the Governance Section or Financial 
Regulations but there are some amendments to the rules of contract which 
are in the main updates to thresholds set for public sector contracts and 
adherence to the new Contract Management Policy 2022.  Amendments to 
the Rules for Contract are highlighted in appendix A. 

3.4 The changes to the Standing Orders are:  

 
 P20 the word “national” has been inserted into the sentence regarding 

standards. 
 P26 the requirement that two Executive Directors signing contracts 

MUST be in attendance has been deleted 
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 P27 thresholds applicable for public sector contracts for works, services 
and goods have been raised (annual uplift) 

 P32 words “case by case basis” inserted into sentence regarding 
reviewing the need for a bond or parent company Guarantee  

 P34 Contract Management Policy 2022 replaces guidance not Contract 
Management 

 Paragraphs have been renumbered in the Rules for Contract Section 
which starts on page 18, from paragraph 7.1 onwards                    

4. Committee Membership 

4.1 The Board currently has three Committees and has proposed setting up a 
Task and Finish Group:    

 
 Housing Operations 
 Human Resources, Equalities and Remuneration 
 Audit and Risk 
 Building Safety Task and Finish Group 

4.2 The Board has previously agreed to have Board members taking on a specific 
role to champion Health & Safety and Customer Engagement.  

4.3 The membership of the Committees and Board Champion roles are currently 
as follows (taking account of the members who are standing down from the 
Board at end of July and end of September 2022) and new membership: 

 

Committee Current Membership  Proposed Membership  

Housing 
Operations 

 April Halpin 

 Louise Tubbs 

 Dave Pinwell 

(Terms of Reference state 
minimum of 4 members) 

 Phil Hardy (Chair) 

 April Halpin 

 Gail Sleigh 

 Louise Tubbs 
 

Human Resources, 
Equalities and 
Remuneration  

 Richard Hyde 

 Louise Tubbs 

 Nigel Page 

(Terms of Reference state 
minimum of 4 members 
including two independents) 

 Louise Tubbs (Chair) 

 Richard Hyde 

 Chair of Audit & Risk or 
senior member of Audit & 
Risk 

 Chair of Housing 
Operations or senior 
member of Housing 
Operations 
 

 

Audit and Risk 
Committee 

 Nigel Page 

(Terms of Reference state 
minimum of 3 members 
including ideally two with 
recent and relevant financial 

 Mark Thrasher (Chair) 

 Bernie Donnelly 

 Nigel Page 

 Dave Pinwell 
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experience and competence in 
accounting and auditing) 

 

Building Safety 
Task and Finish 
Group 

(new group being 
established 
therefore 
membership 
requires approval) 

 Richard Hyde 

 Chair of Audit & Risk 
Committee 

 Chair of Housing 
Operations   

 Tenant Board Member   

 Councillor Board 
Member 

 Richard Hyde (Chair) 

 Mark Thrasher (as Chair 
of Audit & Risk) 

 Phil Hardy (as Chair of 
Housing Operations)   

 Tenant Board Member   

 Councillor Board   
Member 

Health & Safety 
Board Champion 

 Richard Hyde   TBA 

Customer 
Engagement 

 Louise Tubbs  Louise Tubbs 

4.4 The Board are asked to review the current membership of Committees and 
propose any changes required.  In particular, the Board are asked to note that 
there are four new Board members joining the Board at the end of July and 
recruitment of a new tenant member to replace Jenny Fletcher who steps 
down at the end of September 2022 is currently underway.   The new tenant 
member will be expected to join at least one Committee when appointed. 

4.5 Terms of Reference for each Committee state that the membership should be 
agreed in consultation with the Chair of the Committee and the Chair of the 
Board and approved by full Board.  The appointment of the Chair for each 
Committee is a matter reserved for the Board in consultation with the Chair of 
the Board. 

4.6 The proposed Terms of Reference, which set out proposals for membership, 
for the Building Safety Task & Finish Group is attached at appendix 2 to item 
7 on the agenda. 

4.7 The Board are asked to confirm the membership of Committees and Board 
Champion roles, taking account of preferences and skills of the Board 
membership. 

5. Board Attendance / Expenses 

5.1 Appendix B to this report sets out a formal summary of attendance, a 
statement in relation to declarations of interest and expenses claimed during 
2021/22.  During the last year all meetings have started to return to face to 
face meetings with limited attendance virtually.  

5.2 The Board member expenses policy was last formally reviewed in 2011 and 
the current mileage rate of 45p (for the first 10,000 miles of business use) is 
still in line with the maximum rate permissible by HMRC before there are tax 
implications for individuals.  As previously, this matches the rate that is paid to 
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staff.  Therefore, there is no proposal to change the mileage rates at this time. 
 

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There are no direct cost implications attached to the adoption of the revised
 Standing Orders. 
 
7. Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
7.1 None specifically arising from the report. 
 
8. Risk Management Implications 
 
8.1 Standing Orders are one of the ways in which SCH manages its exposure to 

risk and the protection of assets, by setting out the broad ground rules for 
corporate governance, how we commit to expenditure and how we manage 
ourselves financially.   

 
8.2 The Rules for Contract elements of the document in particular set out the 

basis on which SCH enters and manages its exposure to financial 
commitments.  In this context, it is particularly important that the Rules for 
Contract are well drafted to ensure that potential risk areas are covered, that 
proper procedures are followed and that authority is delegated to the 
appropriate level. 

 
9. Value for Money and Efficiency Considerations/Implications 
 
9.1 Any changes to the Rules for Contracts are designed to further improve 

SCH’s procurement processes and ensure tighter compliance with legislation 
and SCH’s rules by making them clearer and more comprehensive.   

 
9.2 The improvements should also ensure that SCH continues to achieve better 

value for money through improved contract specifications, more transparent 
and effective tendering processes and better contract management. 

 
10. Tenant Involvement/Consultation 
 
10.1 None specifically. 
 

 
REPORT AUTHORS:  Samantha Gilbert                 

           Chief Financial Officer 
           Tel: 0121 704 6278 
          sgilbert@solihull.gov.uk 

 
          

 Mary Moroney   
Company Secretary  

  Tel: 0121 779 8870 
  mmoroney@solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk 
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9. Petty cash and purchase cards 
10. Salaries and pensions 
11. Treasury Management 
12. Risk Management 
13. Insurance 
14. Audit 
15. Fraud and Corruption 
16. Computer Services 
17. Employment Termination Costs 
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Section 1 Standing Orders 
 
1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1. Solihull Community Housing is an Arm’s Length Management Organisation. It runs 

the housing service on behalf of Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council. The 
relationship between the two organisations is defined in the Management 
Agreement and an annual Delivery Plan is agreed and published.  

 
1.2. These Standing Orders and accompanying Financial Regulations and Rules for 

Contracts set out the functions and responsibilities of the Board and its 
Committees. They should be read in conjunction with the Memorandum & Articles 
of Association of Solihull Community Housing (SCH), the Management Agreement 
with Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council (SMBC), and the Terms of Reference 
of its Committees. These Standing Orders outline how SCH will be controlled and 
run. 

 
2.        PURPOSE OF STANDING ORDERS 
 
2.1. These Standing Orders are not intended to replace or alter the SCH Articles and 

the Management Agreement with SMBC, rather they are intended to:  
 
• Identify those parts of the Articles relating to Membership and convening and 

conduct of meetings. 
• Outline the responsibilities and level of authority of the Board, its Committees, and 

the Chief Executive. 
• Provide a sound and clear basis for the conduct of business in terms of procedure 

of meetings, letting of contracts and financial regulation. 
 
2.2. Nothing shall override instructions or conditions imposed by the Government, the 

Accounting Standards Board or through Statute. 
 
2.3. Nothing in any other procedures manuals or guides will override the principles 

embodied in this document. The Board may alter, rescind or add to any part or 
element of these Standing Orders by a simple majority vote of those present.  The 
Company Secretary should periodically consider and review Standing Orders and 
seek approval from the Board for any amendments. 

 
2.4. The approved document should be made available to Board Members, all staff 

and published on the website. 
 
2.5      References to the male gender apply equally to the female gender. 
 
2.6. In the event of a dispute as to the meaning or application of Standing Orders, the 

ruling of the Chair of the Board shall be final. 

 
3.       THE ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD 
 

3.1.    The Board has a strategic role to play in directing the affairs of SCH. It has 
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overall responsibility for the affairs of SCH but delegates the day to day running of 
the organisation to the Chief Executive.  

 
3.2.    The core responsibilities of the Board are to:  
 

• set and ensure compliance with the values, vision, mission and strategic 
objectives of SCH, ensuring its long–term successes; 

• set a positive culture, with strong customer focus; 
• ensure that the organisation operates effectively, efficiently and economically; 
• provide oversight, direction and constructive challenge to the organisation’s 

Chief Executive;  
• satisfy itself as to the integrity of financial information, approving each year’s 

budget, delivery plan and annual accounts prior to publication; 
• establish, oversee and review annually a framework of delegation and systems 

of internal control; and  
• establish and oversee a company-wide risk management framework to 

safeguard the assets of the organisation. 
 
3.3. The Board will agree the matters reserved for decision by the Board, Annex 1 to 

these standing orders. All other matters are delegated to a Committee or the Chief 
Executive.  

 
3.4. The Board should also ensure that appropriate advice is taken on these reserved 

matters and on related matters of legal compliance and financial viability.  
 
3.5.     The Board will also agree Terms of Reference for its Committees.   
 
3.6.     Once the Board has made its decisions on overall strategy, the implementation 

and monitoring may be delegated to a Committee, or the Chief Executive. The  
Board's role thereafter will be to receive periodic reports and other forms of 
assurance (as it decides) on, or to otherwise monitor as it sees fit, the delivery of 
the strategy. 

 
3.7.     As set out in the Articles of Association (paragraph 25): The number of Board  

Members (excluding co-optees) shall be 10, comprising 3 Council Board   
Members, 3 Tenant Board Members and 3 Independent Board Members and the 
Chair.  If the number of Board Members shall fall below that number, the 
remaining Board Members may continue to act.   

 
3.8.     In the case of a vacancy for a Board Member the Board will use all reasonable  
           endeavours to find replacements. 
 
3.9.     Each Board Member will be given a Role Profile and Person Specification that will  
           describe the obligations of a Board Member together with the essential and  
          desirable qualities. The Role Profile and Person Specification will be agreed by the  
          Board from time to time. 
 
3.10.   All Board Members are required to up hold the Code of Conduct which is regularly   
           updated and approved by the Board from time to time. 

 
3.11. A Board Member may cease to act, be disqualified from acting or be removed 
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from office as set out in the Articles.  
 
3.12. Board members shall serve a term of office of three years and may serve for up to 

a maximum of nine consecutive years (three terms of three years) without a break 
in service equivalent to a minimum of one full term of office.  

 
4.       COMMITTEES AND WORKING GROUPS 
 
4.1. The Board may establish Committees to assist in the conduct of its business. The 

Board may delegate authority to the Committees in connection with the specific 
areas of responsibility. The membership responsibilities and delegated authority of 
each Committee will be agreed by the Board and set out in the Terms of 
Reference of each Committee. The Committees will meet as often as is required 
to fulfil the responsibilities delegated by the Board, but not less than once in each 
financial year.  

 
4.2.     Board currently has three Committees: 
 

• Housing Operations 
• Audit and Risk 
• Human Resources and Remuneration 

 
4.3. Each of these Committees has a set of Terms of Reference approved by the 

Board.  
 
4.4.    The SCH Board shall appoint a Chair to each Committee. 
 
4.5. The membership of each Committee will be determined by the Board in 

consultation with the Chair of each Committee. 
 
4.6. The Chair of each Committee will present a report to the following Board meeting 

setting out the activity of the Committee and decisions taken at each meeting. This 
will be in addition to the Board members receiving the minutes of all Committee 
meetings. 

 
4.7. The Board may, from time to time, establish working groups comprising both 

Board and Committee Members, tenants/leaseholders, employees and other 
individuals, to undertake specific responsibilities delegated by the Board. The 
Terms of Reference of each working group will be agreed by the Board.  

 
4.8. The Board will review the structure, composition and Terms of Reference of 

Committees and working groups at least every two years. Committee structures 
should be clear and streamlined, adding value to scrutiny and decisions without 
duplication of effort. 

 
4.9. In the case of dispute, the Board’s decision will override that of a Committee.   
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6.        COMPANY SECRETARY 
  
6.1. The Company Secretary, referred to as the Secretary, is an employee of SCH but 

also acts as an advisor to the Board on all matters relating to governance of the 
Company. 

 
7.        BOARD MEETINGS 
 
7.1. The Board will meet at least four times a year at times and in places that they 

have agreed. In advance of the start of each year the Secretary will prepare an 
annual calendar of Board and Committee meetings setting out the proposed 
schedule of business. This shall be deemed to be notice of the meetings. 

 
7.2. Special meetings of the Board can be called by the Secretary and can be called if 

he receives notice in writing from either the Chair of the Board or two Members.  
Whenever possible seven clear days’ notice of the date and place of such 
meetings will be given in writing to every member of the Board by the Secretary. 

 
7.3. The Agenda for Board meetings will be agreed with the Chair and the Secretary to 

meet the needs of the business. 
 
7.4. Special Board Meetings may only deal with the business indicated in the Notice of 

Meeting.  
 
8.       CHAIR 
 
8.1. If the Chair is not present or cannot chair a meeting, then the Board Members 

present may appoint one of their number to chair the meeting.  
 
8.2. If the post of Chair is vacant the Board must request SMBC to fill the vacancy. If 

the Council member has failed within one month of a written request to appoint a 
Chair pursuant to Article 57.1 of the Articles of Association, the Board may appoint 
one of their number to chair the Board until the vacancy is filled by the Council 
member. 

  
9.       BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 
 
9.1. The Chief Executive of SCH may attend Board unless requested not to do so by 

the Chair. He does not have any voting rights.  
 
9.2. The Board determines the membership of its Committees. It reviews the 

membership of each Committee annually.  
 
10.     QUORUM AND NON-ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS 
 
 
 
 
 
10.1.  The quorum for each type of meeting of SCH is as follows: - 
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Meeting Number of members in 
attendance to establish a Quorum 

General Meetings 7 (including a representative on 
behalf of the Council) 

Board Meetings 6 

Committee Meetings 3 

 
10.2. No decisions may be made at any meeting of the Board unless there is a quorum 

of members present at the start of the meeting.   
 
10.3. Where the meeting has been convened at the request of a Member, if no quorum 

of Members is present thirty minutes after the start time notified, the meeting 
should be terminated.  

 
10.4. If a member, without approval from the Chair, fails to attend, three consecutive 

Board meetings or any Board meeting for a period of three months (whichever is 
the longer period), a majority of the Board may determine that he shall be 
removed from the Board. The Chair may give prior approval, at his discretion, in 
appropriate circumstances, such as extended sick leave or parental leave.   

 
10.5. Members unable to attend a meeting should advise the Chair through the 

Secretary that they are unable to attend.  If there are any points a non-attending 
member wishes to have raised at the meeting, he should submit his comments or 
questions in writing to the Chair of the Board/Committee and to the Company 
Secretary, who will ensure that they are formally recorded at the meeting.   

 
11.     MINUTES  
  
11.1. The Minutes of any general meeting of SCH or Board meeting are to be formally 

ratified at the next meeting by those Members present and signed by the Chair of 
the meeting. 

 
11.2. The Secretary will maintain a record of all Minutes once they have been ratified so 

that their accuracy can be easily verified. 
 
12.      ADMISSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 
12.1.  The public may be present at general meetings and Board meetings, except for: 
 

• discussions of matters deemed to be confidential because their 
content is of a personal nature relating to staff or tenants, applicants 
for housing, services or employment,  

• when it is commercially confidential.  
 
12.2. Such items shall normally be arranged to be placed on agendas to be discussed 

at the beginning or the end of the meeting for the convenience of members of the 
public who shall be asked to leave the meeting prior to these items being 
discussed. 
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13.      CONDUCT OF MEETINGS 
 
13.1. The Board will review the forward plan setting out future agendas at each Board 

Meeting.  Agendas will allow items of strategic relevance to be considered at the 
beginning of the meeting and will clearly separate and identify confidential and 
non-confidential items.  Any change to the agenda must be approved by a majority 
of members present at the meeting. 

 
13.2. Papers will clearly indicate whether a decision is to be made and what that 

decision is or whether the paper is for information only. Papers will be sent to 
members at least 4 days in advance of each meeting.   

 
13.3. Members may request that items are added to the agenda for consideration by 

giving written notice to the Chair and Secretary at least 14 days before a meeting 
of the Board.  Such items should be within the remit of SCH either to make 
decisions or which relate to the general area within which SCH operates. 

 
13.4. All meetings will be conducted in accordance with the Memorandum & Articles of 

Association and these Standing Orders.  
 
13.5. Where necessary, resolutions will be decided by a majority of votes.  Members are 

entitled to one vote each, with the Chair having the casting vote. 
 
13.6. Board members are expected to prepare for meetings by reading the papers and 

raising questions and points for clarification with officers in advance. Issues of 
significance should be notified to the Chair and Chief Executive in advance of the 
meeting.  

 
13.7. The role of officers is to support Board Members and assist in the decision-making 

process by presenting papers, providing information and advice, and responding 
to queries. Introductory remarks to papers by officers should be brief. Such 
presentations are an opportunity to clarify points raised in advance, highlight key 
issues and ensure the Board has been alerted to any areas of concern. 
Presentations and papers should be jargon free and of reasonable length.     

 
13.8. The Chair should identify the decision that has been reached after each item on 

the agenda. 
 
14.     URGENT DECISIONS 
 
14.1. Business can only be considered “urgent” if there is an immediate threat to health 

or safety of employees or the public or to the property or to the financial viability of 
SCH or where a decision cannot wait until the next appropriate meeting because 
to do so would incur financial loss or impact on operational efficiency. 

 
14.2. Where the Chief Executive (or in his absence a member of the Executive 

Leadership Team (ELT)) considers that such a matter is urgent and that a 
decision cannot wait until the next meeting of the Board or appropriate Committee, 
he may ask the Chair to call an additional meeting of the Board, either in person or 
by phone to determine this single issue.  

 

Page 85



10 
 

14.3. If this is not feasible the Chief Executive (or in his absence a member of ELT) 
shall have authority, after due consultation with the Chair of the Board or Chair of 
the appropriate Committee) to determine the matter on behalf of SCH provided 
that: 

 
• A record of the consultation shall be kept, and the decision shall be 

reported to the next meeting of the Board or Committee; and 
• If the Chair so requires the question shall instead be referred for 

decision to a meeting of the Board or appropriate Committee. 
• In the above circumstances the Chief Executive in consultation with 

the Chair may waive these standing orders either wholly or in part. 
 
14.4.  Any such action is to be reported to the next Board Meeting for ratification. 
 
15.      BOARD MEMBERS’ INTERESTS 
 
15.1. Any Member who is personally interested (or has a close relative who is 

interested) in any way whatsoever in a contract or other transaction, which is to be 
discussed by the Board or Committee, shall immediately disclose such an interest.  
That Member will not be allowed to vote on the issue or remain during its 
discussion unless requested to do so by the other members present.  Any 
declarations shall be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting. 

 
15.2. The Code of Conduct defines the circumstances in which a conflict of interest may 

occur and the steps that should be taken when a member declares an interest in a 
matter to be discussed.   

 
15.3. When a member declares an interest, the Chair (in consultation with officers) will 

rule on whether a conflict of interest exists, whether it is significant and whether 
the Member must retire for that item.  If it is the Chair who declares a conflict of 
interest the remaining Board members in consultation with officers will rule on 
whether a conflict exists and whether the Chair must retire from the discussion of 
the item. 

 
15.4. No Member, by virtue of office or employment, may accept any fee or reward for 

work undertaken on behalf of Solihull Community Housing. The exception to this 
being the Chair who is specifically remunerated for undertaking his role. 

 
15.5. The Secretary will maintain a Register of any interests declared by Members.  

Members should notify the Secretary of any interests that may relate to any 
contract or other transaction that could be discussed by the Board or Committees 
as soon as they become aware of its existence.  The Register will be reviewed 
annually and be open to inspection by the Members at any time. 

 
16.     EMPLOYEES’ INTERESTS  
 
16.1. The rules regarding conflicts of interest apply equally to employees and the 

Secretary will also maintain a record of all declarations of interests by employees.  
This record will be available at all reasonable times for inspection by any Member.  
Any interest in a contract or the like by an employee will also be declared to the 
Board before the acceptance of any tender or quotation. 
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16.2. Any candidate for employment with SCH who canvasses Members directly or 

indirectly will be disqualified. No Member may recommend anyone for 
appointment or promotion. However, if requested, a written reference can be 
given. 

 
16.3. Candidates for employment with SCH must disclose details of a relationship 

/friendship with any Member or senior officer of SCH on their application.  Any 
candidate who fails to make such a disclosure will be disqualified and, if already 
appointed, will be dismissed. 

 
16.4. Members and senior officers of SCH on their application are also required to 

communicate to the Selection Panel details of any relationship /friendship with a 
candidate for appointment.  

 
17.     DELEGATIONS TO THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
17.1. The Chief Executive is ultimately responsible for the operational management of 

SCH’s affairs.  He must assist the Board in determining its strategic objectives and 
ensure the achievement of such objectives through the effective deployment of 
SCH’s resources and productive relationships with external agencies. 

 
17.2. Subject to Standing Orders, and in accordance with policies and decisions made 

by the Board or Committees, the Chief Executive should: 
 

• Ensure the efficient and effective management and administration of  
  SCH’s activities. 
 

• Report regularly on the performance of SCH on the full range of its  
  activities. 
 

• Manage properly the finances of SCH and ensure that regular 
management reports are submitted to the Board and Committees in  
respect of budgets and the financial performance of SCH and other  
related issues. 
 

• Manage the organisation of SCH and ensure staffing resources are  
deployed in accordance with conditions of employment to maximise  
their contribution to SCH’s objectives. Significant changes to the 
structure of SCH executive should be shared with the Board. 
 

• Inform the Chair (and where appropriate the Board) of any misconduct  
  allegations of the Executive Management Team. 

 
17.3. All matters not reserved to the Board, or delegated to the Committees of the 

Board, are delegated to the Chief Executive.  
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Section 1 Annexes to Standing Orders 
Annex 1 - Matters Reserved for the Board 
 
1. Strategic 
• Setting the values, vision, mission and strategic objectives of SCH 
• Any extension or restriction in the scope of SCH’s activities or functions 
• Major matters with regard to relationships with central government, the 
 Council, other statutory bodies and other registered social landlords 
• Compliance with any legal duties and responsibilities placed on the Board 

as managers of the business 
• Recommendation of a 3-year budget strategy to the Council 
• Approval of the Annual Delivery Plan 
• Approval of new or significant and novel strategies and policies  
• Approval of any new policies relating to new and/or significant changes in 
 direction for business 
• Approval of major development schemes within the scope of SCH’s 

authority 
• Approval of the framework of delegation and all contracts valued in excess 

of £2.5m or of more than five years duration (subject to SMBC approval) 
• Approval of any applications to the Council for Prudential Borrowing 
• Recommendation of the Asset Management Strategy for Council approval 
• Approval of Business Plan 
• Approval of Risk Management Strategy 
• Approval of key strategies and policies impacting on staff  
• Approval of any plans or reports related to Safeguarding (as required by 

SMBC and legislation)  
• Recommendation for the use of SCH reserves   
 
2. Governance 
 
• Approval of Standing Orders, Rules for Contracts and Financial 

Regulations 
• Any item referred to it by a General Meeting 
 
3. Finance and Control  
  
• Approval of the SCH annual budget 
• Approval of the annual statutory accounts (including the Board’s  
 Statement on Governance) 
• Approval of SCH’s business plans, budgets and accounts 
 
4. Human Resources 
 
• The appointment of the Chief Executive (this is a shared responsibility with 

SMBC following the agreed protocol for such appointments) 
• Approval of matters relating to the pay and grading of the Chief Executive 
• Approval of any significant changes to the staff pay and grading structure 
• Approval of the Health and Safety Policy 
• Misconduct investigations involving the Chief Executive 
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5. Regulation and best practice  
 
• Recommendations for significant changes arising from reviews of efficiency 

and effectiveness of SCH’s work and the standard and level of the services 
provided.   
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Annex 2 - Specific delegations from SMBC to the Board 
 
1. To allocate and let Council dwellings, hostels and other miscellaneous properties 

(including those managed by SCH other than under Part II of the Housing Act 
1985) in accordance with the Council’s policy. 

 
2. To authorise the transfer and exchange of tenancies involving Council and other 

housing accommodation. 
 
3.        To allocate garages, to provide and allocate parking spaces. 
 
4. To determine requests to waiver the eligibility criteria of the Allocations Scheme to 

enable applicants with special needs to join the Housing Register. 
 
5. To approve charges in respect of hostels, guest rooms in sheltered schemes and 

other licences and services. 
 
6. To determine applications to erect covered ways, verandas, conservatories, 

garages and other out-buildings and undertake other alterations to Council 
houses. 

 
7. To authorise routine repair and maintenance work to be carried out in accordance 

with the approved estimates and subject to the requirements of the Rules for 
Contracts and Financial Regulations.  

 
8. To approve schemes for the adaptation of Council houses under the Chronically 

Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970, costing up to £30,000  
 
9. To consider representations made in respect of Notices served under Section 264 

of the Housing Act 1985 (Closing and Demolition Orders).  
 
10. To authorise appropriate action to enforce the conditions of tenancy at Council 

dwellings. 
 
11. To determine applications to vary the conditions of tenancy at Council dwellings.  
 
12. To issue Notices of Seeking Possession on tenants and Notices to Quit on non-

secure tenants and to instigate proceedings to repossess dwellings.  
 
13.      To instigate proceedings to recover rent arrears.  
 
14.      To instruct Bailiffs to enforce warrants for eviction. 
 
15. To authorise the use of injunctions to prevent anti-social behaviour, noise 

nuisance and vandalism by tenants.  
 
16. To determine applications for ex-gratia payments up to £1,000 from   tenants in 

respect of loss of garden, garages or parking spaces constructed, or central 
heating installed in Council premises and other miscellaneous matters. 
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17.      To determine the level of decorating allowance payable to tenants.  
 
18. To negotiate the settlement of valid claims against SCH to a value of £15,000 in 

cases where it would not be viable to continue legal action. 
 
19. To authorise legal action or, where sound economic or operational reasons exist, 

make an offer to settle claims (up to £15,000) against the Council/SCH under 
Section 82 of the Environmental Protection Act, 1990 (summary proceedings by 
persons aggrieved by statutory nuisances). 

 
20. To waive rechargeable repairs costs in cases of doubt about responsibility for 

damage or in cases of financial hardship. 
 
21. To submit applications for planning permission to the Council for change of use 

from amenity land to private gardens in order to effect a solution to an estate 
management problem, subject to consultation with appropriate local residents. 

 
22. To determine applications to purchase or license small areas of land adjoining 

Council dwellings.  
 
23. To appropriate land to the General Fund to provide parking areas on housing 

estates.  
 
24. To determine offers to sell back to the Council former Council houses in 

accordance with the terms of the pre-emption clause. 
 
25. To serve notices seeking possession under Ground 10 of the Housing Act 1985 

and, in consultation with the Council’s legal team, to issue possession 
proceedings where they are necessary to facilitate delivery of land required as 
part of an approved scheme relating to the North Solihull Regeneration 
programme. 

  
This list is extracted from the Management Agreement with SMBC. The source document 
may be updated from time to time, and will take precedence over this extract.  
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Annex 3 -   
     
Process for Appointment of Chief Executive 
 
1. SCH Board to grant approval to seek to appoint a Chief Executive (resolution 

recorded in company minutes).   
 
2. Approval of SMBC’s Chief Executive to be sought before proceeding with 

arrangements to recruit a Chief Executive of Solihull Community Housing 
including agreement on the method of advertising and selection and the 
constitution of a selection panel.  

 
3. The Head of Human Resources at SMBC will make arrangements to tender for a 

Recruitment Agency to facilitate the recruitment process.  The Chair of the SCH 
Board and the Cabinet Member for Environment and Housing will select the 
agency to be used for the recruitment in accordance with the approved tender 
process. 

 
4. The Chair of the SCH Board and the Cabinet Member responsible for SCH will set 

out the scope and brief for the recruitment agency including agreeing the Job 
Description and Person Specification. 

 
5. The recruitment agency will advertise the vacancy and head hunt if appropriate 

and produce a long list of suitable candidates for consideration.  This list will be 
approved by the Chair of the SCH Board and the Cabinet Member responsible for 
SCH.  

 
6. The recruitment agency will then interview the candidates on the long list and 

produce a shortlist of suitable candidates for approval by the Chair of the SCH 
Board and the Cabinet Member responsible for SCH.  

 
7. The candidates on the approved shortlist will be invited to an Assessment Centre, 

which will include interviews with panels consisting of Board members, partners 
and the Council’s Corporate Leadership Team.   

 
8. The final stage will be a formal interview with a panel made up of the Chair of the 

SCH Board; the Cabinet Member responsible for SCH, Solihull Council Chief 
Executive and a representative from the recruitment agency and a senior officer 
from the Council’s Human Resources Team.  The formal interview panel will make 
a recommendation for appointment of a suitable candidate. 

 
9. References to be sought by the Head of Human Resources at SMBC before 

making any appointment which will also need to be ratified by full Board and 
approved by SMBC’s Chief Executive and the Cabinet Member responsible for 
SCH. 
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Annex 4 - Process for managing allegations of misconduct against the SCH Chief 
Executive 
 
1. It is the responsibility of the SCH Chief Executive and Head of Human Resources 

at SMBC to ensure that allegations of misconduct are managed in line with 
approved policies in relation to members of the Executive Leadership Team. 

 
2. In the event of any allegation of misconduct against the Chief Executive, the 

Company Secretary will notify the Chair of the Board and will also notify the Head 
of Human Resources at SMBC. 

 
3. The Head of Human Resources will advise the Chair of the SCH Board in relation 

to following the Code of Conduct for Employees and the Disciplinary Policy (the 
procedure, in general terms, will follow the ACAS procedure); the appointment of 
an independent Investigating Officer and whether in the circumstances it is 
appropriate to suspend the employee. 

 
4. The Chair of the SCH Board will decide, having taken advice from SMBC’s  Chief 

Executive and Head of Human Resources, whether to: 
 

• appoint the Head of Audit (SMBC) or alternative independent external 
consultant or advisor to conduct an investigation to establish the facts of 
the case 

 
• suspend the Chief Executive from duty on full pay (depending on 

circumstances and risk assessment) 
 
5.       The Investigating Officer will investigate all the circumstances and produce a  
           report on the findings for the Chair of the SCH Board.    
 
6. The Chair of the SCH Board and the Head of Human Resources will consider 

based on the findings of the report if there is a case to answer.   A disciplinary 
hearing will be convened with the Chief Executive where there is a case to 
answer.   

 
7. The case will be heard by a panel consisting of two SCH Board Members and a 

representative from Human Resources, all of whom will have had no previous 
involvement in the case.   

 
8. The Council’s Chief Executive and Head of Human Resources will be consulted 

before any action is taken arising from the investigation. 
 
9. The Chief Executive will have the right of appeal against the outcome of the 

hearing.  The appeal will be submitted in writing to the Human Resources 
Business Manager.  

 
10. The appeal will be heard by a panel consisting of two SCH Board Members and a 

representative from Human Resources, all of whom will have had no previous 
involvement in the case. 
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Section 2  Rules for Contracts 
 
1  OBJECTIVES 
 
1.1 These Rules for Contracts exist to complement UK national legislation and to control 

the way in which SCH procures goods, services and works in support of its activities. 
Their purpose is to ensure that: 

 
 There are clear rules governing the procurement of contracts. 
 Board Members, officers and consultants understand how to undertake the 

contracting process that they are required to follow at all times. 
 The interests of SCH Board Members, individual officers and consultants are 

protected when entering into contracts, and 
 SCH obtains value for money in all procurement activities and is able to 

demonstrate public accountability. 
   
1.2  These Rules for Contracts shall apply to all contracts for the provision of services, 

goods or works to SCH including any person or body, including consultant 
architects, engineers, surveyors, lawyers and others not being Officers of SCH. 

 
2 OFFICER RESPONSIBILITY 
 

2.1 Officers must be able to demonstrate that they have followed these Rules (and all 
supporting guidance and procedures) at all times, or have obtained the necessary 
delegated authority for not doing so. 

 
2.2 Officers must ensure that the relevant budget holder has been consulted and there 

is an approved non-committed budget available before placing a contract or order.  
 

2.3 Officers MUST be able to demonstrate that all reasonable efforts have been made 
to ensure that any purchase or contract provides Value for Money (VFM).  VFM is 
a judgement based on the best combination of the cost of a product or service, 
spread over its whole lifetime, and the products or services ability to meet, but not 
necessarily exceed the end-users’ requirements. 
 

2.4 Officers must establish a Project Team to assist in the tender process for 
procurement of goods and services that exceed £50k in value and/or will be utilised 
by multiple departments within SCH.  The Project Team for a tender process will 
oversee the tender process from defining the need, the establishment of the 
procurement route and requirement/specification, through to the evaluation, award 
and signing of the contract.   
 

2.5 The Project Team should include those with relevant technical knowledge of the 
work/services required and responsibility for or experience of delivering them as 
well as those with expertise in procuring works/services.  The membership of the 
Project Team should include a member of the procurement team, where 
appropriate, and should reflect all interested parties to the procurement and, where 
appropriate, should include external stakeholders such as tenants and 
leaseholders. Consideration should be given for the Project team to include advice 
from Finance, Legal, Customer Services and ICT. 
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2.6 These Rules for Contracts require the scrutiny and approval to award of all proposed 
contracts with a total value of over £250,000 and/or other smaller more complex or 
sensitive contracts, by an internal ELT Procurement Board  comprising of the 
members of the Executive Leadership Team 
 

2.7 Officers must ensure that suitable and appropriate records are maintained of each 
and every purchase made, or decision made to enter into a contract, to support the 
decision-making process, and to demonstrate that the relevant procedures have 
been complied with.  All sealed contract documents and contracts executed as 
deeds should be retained for a minimum of 12 years from contract end (or as set 
out in the SCH Document Retention Policy) and stored securely. All other 
documents should be retained or disposed of in accordance with the SCH 
Document Retention Policy. If grant money is being spent on projects, then there 
may be grant conditions relating to document retention that must be adhered to. 
 

2.8 Any Officer, Board member or former Board member in the previous 12 months 
involved in letting a contract who has any material or personal interest in the contract 
or sub-contract should declare that interest in accordance with these Standing 
Orders and SCH’s Code of Conduct.  No payment can be made, or benefit granted 
to a business trading for profit of which an Officer or former Board member is a 
manager or owner. The SCH declaration of interests’ summaries, held by the 
Company Secretary, should be checked by the budget holder leading the 
procurement prior to its commencement.  
 

2.9 SCH should ensure that all staff involved in procurement receives formal training in 
SCH’s procurement policies and procedures before undertaking any procurement 
exercise.  Any member of staff  who, having received formal training, ignores and/or 
deliberately breaches these Rules for Contracts and SCH Standing Orders 
generally may be subject to appropriate disciplinary action.  
 

2.10 All Officers and Board Members are required to conduct business in accordance 
with SCH’s Codes of Conduct.  Every purchasing agreement or written contract 
shall contain a clause empowering SCH to cancel the purchasing agreement or the 
contract if the contractor offers any inducement or reward of an illegal or corrupt 
nature in relation to the contract. 

 
3  DELEGATIONS 
 
3.1 Officers of SCH have no authority in their own right to enter into any contract on 

behalf of the Organisation.  They may only enter into a contract if authority is 
delegated to them under the scheme of delegations shown below or by a specific 
decision by the Board. 

 
3.2 For the purposes of these Rules for Contracts the delegations and exceptions 

approval route are set out below in Section 6.    
 

3.3 In extreme urgency a decision to enter into a contract under which the total 
consideration payable is in excess of £500,000 may be obtained in writing from the 
Chair of the Board.  Any such decision must be reported to the next Board or 
Committee meeting as appropriate for formal approval. 
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3.4 Managers and Officers below the level of Head of Service are not authorised to 
enter into any contracts on behalf of SCH, however, they may raise orders against 
an approved contract or raise small value ‘de-minimis’ one-off purchases as set out 
in clause 3.2.   

4 SCOPE OF THE RULES FOR CONTRACTS 
 
4.1 All purchases and contracts made by or on behalf of SCH must comply with these 

Rules for Contracts and no exception shall be made unless approved by the Board 
or an Officer with sufficient delegated powers. This includes contracts for the buying 
of all goods and services, including the procurement of goods using purchase cards, 
any works being carried out and the acquisition of land. 

  
4.2 Any arrangement where SCH pays or receives money or equivalent value, other 

than a contract to employ staff, must comply with these Rules for Contracts and all 
other published guidance. 

 

5 JUSTIFICATION OF NEED 
 

5.1 Before any purchase is made or any procurement exercise commenced, an 
evaluation of whether or not there is a “real” need should first be carried out.  If there 
is clearly a need, then this should be supported by a business case and/or a cost 
benefit analysis.   
 

5.2 Before commencing any procurement, it is essential to establish a clear concise 
scope or specification of the works, supply or services to identify what is required 
by the end user.  
 

5.3 All works, goods and services shall be specified by reference to national standards 
as appropriate and in accordance with the UK procurement rules.  As far as 
possible, the specification should use functionality and performance requirements 
to describe what materials should be used.  It can require the contractor to propose 
suppliers and products for SCH’s approval.  This allows SCH to vet the contractor’s 
proposed materials to see whether they are appropriate (in terms of compatibility 
and performance).  Approval should only be withheld if the products do not meet 
the SCH’s specified requirements. 
 

5.4  Specifications should incorporate measurable outputs, and so far as is possible 
objective quality and performance criteria to enable the contract to be monitored 
effectively. 
 

5.5 All Justification of Need forms will need approval by a procurement officer and a 
finance team member. 

 
 

6 THE PROCUREMENT PROCESS 
 

6.1 The procurement approval process for contracts between £500k and £2,500k can 
be seen in the flow chart below. 
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6.2 The procurement approval process for contracts which are part of the UK 

Procurement can be seen in the table below. 
6.3 Both flow-charts assume that where cabinet approval is required (contracts over 

£2,500k and / or longer than five years) this has been obtained as part of the Budget 
Setting report to the appropriate Cabinet member prior to the start of the financial 
year.  However, if approval has not been received then separate approval will need 
to be obtained before any contract commences. 
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UK Procurement Process 

Value Procurement 
Route 

Recommendation Approval Route – Individuals 
(Authorise entering into contracts and the outcome of negotiations 

up to specified limit) 

  

All contracts 
longer than 5 
years or over 
£2.5m 

See Below See Below The appointed Cabinet 
Member of Solihull 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council 

 

     

     

Spot 
purchases up  
to £10,000 

Demonstrate value 
for money. 
Minimum of three 
quotes should be 
obtained and 
evidenced in writing 
or by email. 

Purchasing Officer Heads of Service & 
Executive Director of 
Customer Service 
Transformation & 
Business Support 

Head of Asset Management  
Head of Neighbourhood Services  
Executive Director of Assets & Development 
Executive Director of Customer Service 
Transformation & Business Support 
Executive Director of Housing & Communities 

£10,001 to 
£50,000 with a 
duration of 
less than five 
years 

Minimum of three 
written quotes 
should be obtained 

Purchasing Officer Heads of Service & 
Executive Director of 
Customer Service 
Transformation & 
Business Support 

Head of Asset Management  
Head of Neighbourhood Services 
Executive Director of Assets & Development 
Executive Director of Customer Service 
Transformation & Business Support 
Executive Director of Housing & Communities 

£50,001 - 
£249,999 with 
a duration of 
less than five 
years 

At least 3 formal 
tenders should be 
obtained 

Purchasing Officer Head of Service and 
Executive Director 

Head of Asset Management 
Head of Neighbourhood Services 
Executive Director of Customer Service 
Transformation & Business Support 
Executive Director of Assets & Development 
Executive Director of Housing & Communities 

£250,000 - 
£499,999 
 
 
 
 
 

At least 3 formal 
tenders should be 
obtained 

Purchasing Officer ELT Procurement 
Board 

Executive Leadership Team 

Value Procurement Route Recommendation Approval Route – Individuals 
(Authorise entering into contracts and the outcome of negotiations up to 
specified limit) 

£500,000 - 
£2,499,999 

At least 3 formal 
tenders to be 
obtained or in the 
case of a restricted 
tender at least 5 

ELT Procurement 
Board 

ELT Procurement Board Executive Leadership Team 

£2,500,000+ At least 3 formal 
tenders 

Cabinet Member SCH Board The appointed Board of Solihull 
Community Housing 
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Exceptions to Rules for Contract  

 

Value 
Procurement 

Route 
Recommendation 

Approval Route – Individuals 
(Authorise entering into contracts and the outcome of 

negotiations up to specified limit) 

Exceptions to 
the Rules of 
Contract – up to 
£50,000 

Not applicable Purchasing Officer Executive Directors Executive Director of Assets & 
Development 
Executive Director of Customer Service 
Transformation & Business Support 
Executive Director of Housing & 
Communities 

Exceptions to 
the Rules of 
Contract - 
£50,001 - 
£249,999 

Not applicable Purchasing Officer Two Executive Directors Executive Director of Assets & 
Development 
Executive Director of Customer Service 
Transformation & Business Support 
Executive Director of Housing & 
Communities 

Exceptions to 
the Rules of 
Contract - 
£250,000 - 
£499,999 

Not applicable Purchasing Officer ELT Procurement Board  Executive Leadership Team 

Exceptions to 
the Rules of 
Contract - 
£500,000 - 
£2,499,999 

Not applicable ELT Procurement 
Board 

 The appointed members of the Audit and 
Risk Committee 

Exceptions to 
the Rules of 
Contract - 
£2,500,000+ 

Not applicable Audit and Risk  
Committee 

Cabinet Member The appointed Cabinet Member of Solihull 
Metropolitan Borough Council 

7 EXCEPTIONS TO RULES FOR CONTRACT 
 
7.1 A request to let a contract without complying with one or more of the Rules for 

Contracts, may be granted as an “Exception to the Rules for Contracts” only if there 
is a cogent reason, and where it can be demonstrated that the price obtained is not 
in excess of the market price, and that the contract represents the best Value for 
Money.  Further details on what constitutes a “cogent reason” are contained within 
the guidance note “Exceptions to the Rules for Contracts”.  The approval process 
for Exceptions is listed above.  
 

7.2 A lack of time caused by inadequate forward planning is not a cogent reason and 
will not permit an exception to the Rules for Contracts. 
 

7.3 A breach of the UK procurement rules is not a cogent reason and will not permit an 
exception to the Rules for Contracts except where, in exceptional circumstances 
and after considering legal advice, the Board is prepared to accept the breach. 
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7.4 Any decision taken in line with paragraphs 7.1 and 7.3 should be formally 
documented and a copy retained with the relevant contract files.  The Procurement 
Team will keep a register of all approved exceptions to the Rules for Contracts, 
which will be available for inspection by members of the Board. 
 

7.5 The following circumstances do not constitute an exception to the Rules for 
Contracts – they do still require formal approval using the standard paperwork 
covering justification of need and the formal award of the contract: 
 
 The placing of an order under an existing contract or framework agreement 

(whether entered into by SCH or via a buying consortium of which SCH is a 
member or an affiliate) 

 The letting of a contract in accordance with any specific requirements placed on 
SCH as a condition of awarding a grant  
 

7.6 Any decision to place an order or let a contract under paragraph 7.5 should only be 
taken if the contract or framework agreement under which the order is being placed 
is listed in the Contracts Register and the contract is placed in accordance with the 
procedure under the relevant contract or framework agreement. 
 

7.7 The extension of an existing contract (where there is provision to do so within the 
terms and conditions) does not constitute an exception to the Rules for Contracts.  
However, approval must be obtained from the appropriate person with the correct 
authority level, and the contract manager should demonstrate that contractor 
performance is good and VFM is being achieved.  
 

7.8 Any decision to extend a contract under paragraph 7.7 should only be taken if the 
contract has been confirmed by the Procurement Team as complying with the UK 
procurement rules and the contract is extended in accordance with the contract 
terms and conditions. Financial approval is also required to confirm sufficient 
funding is available within budget. 
 
 
 

8 UK PROCUREMENT REGULATIONS  
 
8.1 SCH, as a public sector organisation, is required to comply with the Public Contract 

Regulations 2015 (PCR’s) which are the UK law  
 

8.2 The Directives require organisations to follow detailed procedures for all purchases 
above financial threshold levels that are specified within the Directives and adjusted 
every two years. The current thresholds for the public sector are as follows (the 
latest thresholds will be published on the Procurement pages on the Intranet):  

 

Directive Threshold 

Works £5,336,937 

Services £213,477 

Goods £213,477 

  
8.3  All Directives require purchasers to follow basic rules that incorporate the principles 

of:  
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 Non-Discrimination on the grounds of nationality  
 Equal treatment of all suppliers 
 Fair Competition 
 Transparency  
 Proportionality  

 
8.4 All SCH procurement must comply with the PCR’s except where the value of goods, 

works or services is below the applicable UK tendering threshold.  Below this the 
principles behind the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 must still be considered. 
Establishing and validating Value for Money remain a requirement in all cases. 

 
8.5 All UK Procurement processes will be led by a Procurement Officer and further 

information and guidance on UK Procurement, including any updates on threshold 
values, are published in the Procurement Pages on the Intranet.  

 
9  FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS  
 
9.1 Framework Agreements are agreements between a purchasing consortia and 

suppliers(s) for the provision of goods, services and works that have already been 
pre-tendered in compliance with the UK Procurement Rules and are available to be 
accessed by other organisations such as SCH. Before using any framework, 
Procurement must validate that SCH are able to use the framework. 
 

9.2 Procuring Officers should investigate the availability of suitable framework contracts 
for their requirements as they comply with UK procurement rules and also could 
shorten the procurement process, offer benefits of bulk buying, improved service 
and reduced administration costs over the period of the arrangement. 
 

9.3 Further details regarding Framework Agreements and their use are contained      
within the guidance note on “Framework Agreements”.  
 

 
 
10  CHOICE OF PROCUREMENT ROUTE 
 
10.1 Contracts must not be deliberately split-up into smaller bundles in an attempt to 

avoid exceeding a tender threshold. 
 

10.2 Dependent upon the estimated value of the entire contract, the appropriate 
procurement route must be observed. The various procurement routes are set out 
below: 

 

Total Estimated Value of 
Contract 

Procurement Route to be Followed 

  

Spot purchases up to 
£10,000 

Demonstrate value for money. Minimum of 
three quotes should be obtained and evidenced 
in writing or by email. Where this is not 
available,  benchmarking may be applied. 
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£10,000-£50,000 A minimum of 3 written quotes should be 
obtained 

£50,001 + At least 3 formal tenders should be obtained  

Above UK tendering 
threshold – different for 
supply of “goods or services” 
or “works”.   

In the case of the restricted procedure, a 
minimum of 5 candidates must be invited to 
tender   
Guidance must be sought from the 
Procurement Team throughout the process – 
the minimum timescales and strict rules 
regarding the UK process means that any 
tender will take at least 6 months to complete 
and good planning is therefore essential 

 
10.3 The number of tenders to be evaluated set out in paragraph 10.2 is a       “minimum” 

– tenders should be sought from more than this to ensure that the minimum number 
of tenders is actually achieved.   
 

10.4 The selection and identification of potential tenderers should be undertaken in 
accordance with published SCH guidance and decisions taken should be 
documented formally using the appropriate form which will include evidence of 
authorisation at the appropriate level for the expected size of contract. 
 

10.5 If a Project Team wishes to take a partnering approach to a particular project or 
group of projects, the approval of the ELT Procurement Board must be obtained 
PRIOR to any further action. 
 

10.6 Where SCH proposes to make a contract on behalf of and mainly at the expense of 
another public authority (including under any statutory agency) the SCH Code and 
Rules for Contract must be followed. 

 
11 TUPE 
 
11.1 The Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2014 

(“TUPE”) protects employment rights and preserves employees’ contracts of 
employment under certain conditions when a new contract is awarded and can 
apply to subcontractors.  
 

11.2 If the Procuring Officer is not sure whether TUPE could apply to a contract to be 
procured, the officer should consult with Human Resources before commencing a 
Procurement Process.  
 

11.3 Further details on TUPE application and implication are contained within the 
guidance note “TUPE”.  

   
12 FORMAL LEASEHOLDER AND TENANT CONSULTATION 
 
12.1 Procuring Officers should make arrangements to consult leaseholders and tenants 

on any contracts for services and works that directly impact or interface with them. 
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12.2 Under Section 20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985, (as amended by the 
Common and Leasehold Reform Act 2002) leaseholders must be consulted formally 
where SCH procures:  

 
 a “qualifying long-term agreement” (QLTA) for which any leaseholder will be 

charged more than £100 in service charges in a 12-month period; and/or 
 “qualifying works” for which any leaseholder will be charged over £250 in service 

charges in a 12 month period. 
 
 
13 FORMS OF CONTRACT 
 
13.1 Choosing the form of contract is a key element of the procurement process, the form 

chosen must be suitable for the nature, value and type of the contract works or 
services.  

 
13.2 Further details on Forms of Contract and choosing the correct one, are contained 

within the guidance note “Forms of Contract”.  
 
14 PRE-QUALIFICATION AND SELECTION PROCEDURES 
 
14.1 Before a tender is sought it is necessary to ensure that any potential 

contractor/supplier has a minimum level of financial stability, organisational 
proficiency and technical competency and that the tenderer meets SCH’s selection 
criteria. Responsibility for assessing the minimum level of proficiency, competency 
and selection criteria lies with the Officer leading the Project Team supported by the 
Procurement Team. 
 

14.2 Further details on the application of Pre-Qualification and Selection Procedures are 
contained within the guidance note “Pre-Qualification and Selection”.  

 
 
15 INVITATION TO PROVIDE QUOTATIONS OR TENDERS  
 
15.1 The undertaking of the invitation to quote / tender process is a key element to deliver 

a successful procurement procedure. 
 

15.2 The Invitation to Tender is a formal document asking tenderers to submit a 
quote/tender, which should be compiled from SCH’s suite of standard invitation to 
quote/tender document templates.  Further details on the process are contained 
within the guidance note "Invitation to Quote/Tender, Award Criteria and Evaluating 
Bids”. 
 

15.3 All quotations and tenders are to be returned in accordance with the process 
contained with the guidance note for “Procedure for despatch, return and opening 
of tenders and quotations”.  

 
16 AWARD CRITERIA AND EVALUATING BIDS  
 
16.1 If an FTS notice is being placed, evaluation criteria must be contained in the notice. 

Prior to Invitation to Tender documents being issued, the award criteria and a 
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suitable marking system must have been agreed by the evaluation panel and 
approved by the Audit and Risk Committee and Project Review Board.  Further 
detail on the process is contained within the guidance note "Invitation to Tender, 
Award Criteria and Evaluating Bids”. 
 

16.2 The evaluation of bids must be strictly undertaken in accordance with the 
procedures stated in the Invitation to Tender Documents and at all times be a fair, 
clear and auditable process.  
 

16.3 All contractors will be financially evaluated to ensure they meet expectations on 
financial stability. Where there is a cause for concern on a company’s financial 
stability the contractor may not be considered further. 
 

16.4  A contract may be awarded on the basis of lowest price or the basis of ‘the most 
economically advantageous tender’ (known as MEAT).  Most award criteria involve 
a combination of price and quality and guidelines for indicative ratios are contained 
within the guidance note “Invitation to Quote/Tender, Award Criteria and Evaluating 
Bids”.  

 
17 POST TENDER NEGOTIATION 
 
17.1 Post Tender Negotiation (PTN) where appropriate, is undertaken after the receipt 

of formal tenders, and before the letting of a contract.  PTN should not be confused 
with "tender" or "Tender clarification".  Tender Clarification is purely for the purpose 
of clarifying aspects of the tender, which are perhaps ambiguous or anomalous.  
PTN, on the other hand, is a tool to develop aspects of the tender to improve or 
enhance Value for Money (VFM). 
 

17.2 PTN should not be conducted in a way that is unfair or discriminatory, puts any 
tenderers at a disadvantage, distorts competition or adversely affects trust in the 
competitive tendering process.  In particular, PTN must not become any form of 
"Dutch Auction".   
 

17.3 PTN should not be used automatically on all procurements and SCH’s approach to 
it is set out in a formal published guidance note.  For contracts procured under the 
UK procurement rules, PTN is not permitted under the open or restricted procedure 
and is only available under the negotiated procedure, competitive procedure with 
negotiation, competitive dialogue and innovation partnerships. 
 

17.4 Before engaging in PTN, the following criteria must be met: 
 

 there must be a considered and soundly based prospect of improving value 
for money; 

 it must be possible to justify the resource costs; 
 it must receive prior approval from the relevant Head of Service; 
 Procurement Team staff must conduct negotiations; 
 Negotiations must be fully documented, with a clear audit trail. 
 

18 NEGOTIATION 
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18.1 There will be occasions where competitive tendering is not used: for example, where 
the costs involved in tendering, in comparison with the value of the purchase would 
not justify the process (in which cases alternative means of testing the market for 
competitive sources of supply should be used) or, exceptionally, where only one 
contractor/supplier is available for a procurement not subject to the UK procurement 
rules.  In these circumstances it is perfectly acceptable to negotiate with the supplier 
concerned, in order to reach a mutually acceptable agreement which provides value 
for money.   
 

18.2 In relation to contracts following UK procurement rules, the negotiation can be used 
only in specific circumstances.  Some of these differ depending on whether the 
contract is for works, services or supplies. Officers should seek advice from the 
Procurement Team.  
 

18.3 Any such negotiation must be supported by justifiable reasons, which are fully 
documented in line with paragraph 7.1, Exceptions to the Rules for Contracts. 
 

18.4 Negotiations must be undertaken in line with the published guidance note.  All 
communications with the supplier/contractor should be properly recorded in writing 
so that a clear audit trail is maintained. 

 
19 AWARDING CONTRACTS, STANDSTILL PROCEDURES AND AUDIT TRAILS 
 
19.1 An Authorised Officer awarding a contract must ensure that clear details of the 

quotation/tender process from evaluation through to the award of the contract are 
appropriately recorded on the approved forms located on the Procurement intranet 
pages. The contract file should also contain sufficient evidence to support the 
decision that has been made; this can be in electronic or hard-copy format as 
appropriate.  
 

19.2 A contract must only be awarded by a person with the authority to do so, who must 
ensure that the appropriate budget holder has the funds in place to sustain the 
contract prior to making the award. Confirmation of available future budgets should 
be obtained from the Finance Team.  
 

19.3 Brief details of all contracts awarded must be passed to the Procurement Team to 
ensure accurate contract records are maintained.  
 

 
19.4 For all contracts tendered under the UK procurement rules, a 15 day ‘standstill 

period’ must be observed between the date the award decision (as approved at the 
appropriate level) is communicated by post and contract conclusion (the point at 
which the Contract is signed).  The ‘standstill period’ can be reduced to 10 days if 
the award decision is communicated electronically.  
 

19.5 The standstill period is a legal obligation that SCH operates for all UK and 
appropriate non-UK tenders and provides an opportunity for tenderers to review the 
procurement process and award, and potentially challenge any perceived rule-
adherence issues before any contract is signed.  
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19.6 In the eventuality of a challenge the procurement process is automatically 
suspended, and the contract cannot be awarded until either a court terminates the 
suspension, or the challenge proceedings are brought to an end by agreement by 
both SCH and the tenderer who has brought a challenge.  
 

19.7 A contract is at risk of being set aside (i.e., cancelled) on a challenge if SCH: 
 

 does not follow the contract award procedure properly; or 
 signs the contract before the end of the standstill period. 
 

19.8 Once the decision to award a contract is made, each tenderer must be notified in 
writing of the outcome of the tender process as required by the Regulations.   

 
20 BONDS AND PARENT COMPANY GUARANTEES 
 
20.1 The purpose of a Bond or Parent Company Guarantee is to provide an insurance 

to recover costs for SCH should any contractor/supplier default on a contract for 
reasons of insolvency.  
 

20.2 The need for a Bond or Parent Company Guarantee should be viewed on a case-
by-case basis and agreed with the ELT Procurement Board and the Procurement 
Manager.  Guidance Note “Guarantee Bonds” sets out the factors to be considered 
when determining the need for a bond. 

 
20.3 Where it is determined that a Bond is required, the value of the bond (usually 10% 

of the contract value) should be assessed to determine whether the amount is 
sufficient to cover all potential losses or specific losses (such as re-tendering costs 
and costs of getting a new contractor/supplier to complete the work). 
 

20.4 In such cases, the tenderers should be requested to detail the cost of arranging the 
Bond (together with the surety (usually a bank or insurance company) on the Form 
of Tender, separate to the Contract sum. 

 
21 EXECUTION OF CONTRACTS 
 
21.1 Following the award of a contract it will be necessary to formally execute the 

contract.  There are essentially two types of contracts used: 
 

 simple contract 
 contract executed “under deed” 

 
21.2 Simple contracts include all contracts, which are not deeds and that are concluded 

by exchange of documents or letters. They may be made orally, in writing, or by 
implication from conduct, but must possess the essential elements for formation of 
a valid contract (offer, acceptance and consideration). 

 
21.3 Simple contracts through the exchange of letters are acceptable for straightforward, 

low risk and low value contracts. The letter should list by reference, all documents 
which are to be incorporated into the agreement and which form the basis of the 
acceptance, e.g., exchanges of correspondence prior to award. It is essential that 
any correspondence or references to negotiations on fees or alteration to the 
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services, which have been agreed with the tenderer, be referred to in the letter of 
acceptance. 
 

21.4 More complex contracts and those up to the value of £1,000,000 must be executed 
through the completion of a set of contract documents signed by Authorised 
Signatories for both parties. 
 

21.5 For all contracts the Procurement Team should retain the SCH original copy of the 
agreement and issue a copy to the contractor or supplier. 
 

21.6 Contracts with a value in excess of £1,000,000 must be executed as “a deed”. In 
addition to this requirement, by law certain types of contracts must also be executed 
by deed regardless of value, such as those that convey land. 
 

21.7 For a contract to be executed as a deed, it should clearly state that it “is a deed” 
and the SCH Company Seal should be affixed in the presence of the Company 
Secretary and authorised Head of Service or the Chief Executive. 
 

21.8 The right of action arising out of a contract signed or executed as a deed continues 
for twelve years rather than the six-year period that applies to simple contracts. 
 

21.9 For all types of contract, it is essential that the contract documents are signed by 
both parties before commencement of any work by the contractor. 
 

21.10 For all contracts for works to existing buildings with a value greater than £5m a Joint 
Names Insurance Policy shall be required.  In such instances the Joint Names shall 
be “the Council” in one part and “the Contractor” in the other part.  

 
22 ASSIGNMENT AND SUB-LETTING 

 
22.1 All contracts made by or for any part of SCH must include a clause enabling its 

assignment to the Council at such time that the ALMO might come to an end. 
 

22.2 A contractor shall not transfer, assign or sub-let a contract or any portion thereof 
without the written permission of SCH.  Consent shall not be unreasonably delayed 
or withheld. 
 

 
 
23 CONTRACT MANAGEMENT 
 
23.1 Each project or contract should have a suitably experienced, trained and competent 

Administrator or Project Manager appointed who will be responsible for ensuring 
that the project or contract delivers what it was designed to deliver to the agreed 
standard and specification.  
 

23.2 Further details on the contract management process are contained within the  
“Contract Management Policy 2022” 
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Section 3 Financial Regulations 
 
1.   GENERAL 
 
1.1    All staff have a general responsibility for taking reasonable action to provide for the 

security of the assets of the company under their control and for avoiding loss.  They 
are expected to exercise due economy and efficiency in the use of resources, in the 
execution of approved plans, and in the running of services.  The Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO) will ensure that appropriate Financial Regulations are in place for SCH.  
The Assistant Director of Finance & Property Services for the Council will carry out 
the role of the Chief Financial Officer. 

 
1.2    The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for maintaining the accounts of the 

Company.  The accounting system in use shall be as laid down by the Chief Financial 
Officer and agreed with the Board and the Council. 

 
1.3 The Chief Financial Officer may report any case of non-compliance with these 

regulations and any case of non-compliance with the authorised accounting system 
to the Audit & Risk Committee after consultation with the Chief Executive. The 
Company may take disciplinary or other action against anyone to whom these 
Regulations apply but who fails to comply with them. 

 
1.4 The Chief Financial Officer may issue such instructions, give such advice or establish 

such procedures as are in his opinion necessary to ensure the proper administration 
of the Company’s financial affairs.  Any such instructions, advice or procedures 
termed “Accounting Instructions” by the Chief Financial Officer shall be applied as 
though they were part of these regulations. 

 
1.5   Members of the Executive Leadership Team are responsible for the maintenance of 

adequate levels of internal control.  The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for 
ensuring that financial controls operated by ELT / Heads of Service are adequate by 
ensuring that detailed financial procedures and systems are prepared, documented 
and maintained, incorporating the principles of internal control. 

 
1.6  Members of the Executive Leadership Team must establish appropriate organisation 

structures to ensure: 
 

• Work is organised to maximise efficiency in the use of resources, 
eliminate duplication of effort, achieve objectives and plans and maintain 
a disciplined control environment; 

• Adequate resources are deployed at all levels to meet objectives and 
plans; 

• Appropriate communication takes place; and 
• A framework of staff development which fosters commitment to the 

organisation, its objectives and plans and its control environment. 
 
1.7  ELT members are responsible for ensuring that the following rules in relation to 
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segregation of duties are observed: 
 

• Areas of activity involving risk are separated (e.g. the duty of providing, 
calculating, checking and recording sums due to or from the Company 
shall be separated from the duty of collecting or disbursing these sums); 

• Clear lines of authority are established; 
• All areas of work are either independently supervised, validated or 

reconciled; and 
• Competence and accountability are promoted. 

 
1.8  Unintentional errors have a high chance of being detected through independent 

supervisory checks.  By following these rules, the risk of intentional errors or abuse 
and the opportunity for collusion are also reduced. 

 
1.9 ELT members are responsible for making adequate arrangements for the custody and 

control of the stocks and stores in their respective departments and for keeping such 
records and inventories as the Chief Financial Officer may require.  They shall ensure 
that appropriate safeguards are established to: 

 
• Limit access to assets, systems and records; 
• Protect personnel; 
• Establish clear control of the use of assets and custodial responsibility for 

them; and  
• Enable records to be reconstituted in the event of system failure. 

 
1.10  ELT members are responsible for ensuring that appropriate authorisation and 

approval procedures are established to ensure: 
 

• Management policies and plans are adhered to; 
• Only legitimate activities are performed; 
• The integrity of systems through the validation of data; 
• The use of assets and systems are controlled; and  
• The operation of authority is documented and a clear management (or 

audit) trail is maintained 
 

 
2.  REVENUE BUDGETS 
 
2.1  Annual revenue budgets will be prepared by the Executive Leadership Team taking 

into account any general directions that may be given to them by the Board and the 
Council.  As part of this process, each Executive Director, where appropriate, will 
discuss the general level of capital funding available for the year with the Chief 
Financial Officer before finalising their proposals. 

 
2.2  The Chief Financial Officer will present this budget to the Board for approval before 

31 March in each year. The documents presented will include such summaries, 
statements and reports as are considered necessary to enable proper consideration 
of the budget. 

 
2.3  A schedule of fees and charges to be levied by SCH will be approved by the Board as 

part of approving the revenue budget.  Once approved these fees and charges cannot 
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be amended without the approval of the SCH Board and the Council’s Cabinet where 
appropriate. 

 
2.4   No Directorate should exceed its approved budget without prior approval and should 

execute and manage its functions so as to maintain their costs within its approved 
budget. 

 
2.5  Subject to the provisions of Clause 4.6 below concerning virement, a department may 

reallocate their overall budget during the year provided that no future financial 
commitment arises as a result and expected service standards are maintained. 

 
2.6  If all or part of a budget becomes surplus to need, for whatever reason, the team 

should report this, in the first instance, to the Finance Manager via the relevant 
Executive Director, Head of Service or Senior Manager for onward reporting to ELT, 
who will determine in the first instance how such savings should be best used. 

 
2.7  Where there is the potential to apply for grant funding, the application needs to be 

approved in advance by the Chief Financial Officer, ELT and where necessary the 
Board.  

 
2.8  Where an activity is to be funded by an external grant, no liability should be incurred 

until formal notification of the grant has been received.  
 
2.9  No expenditure should be made, or loss of income incurred other than in accordance 

with these regulations except in cases of extreme urgency or where the Company is 
obliged to proceed.  In such cases the action should be reported to ELT (and the Board 
where appropriate) at the first possible opportunity.  It is the responsibility of the 
relevant Executive Director to ensure that a record of all terms and conditions 
associated with grant funding is maintained for the duration that the terms and 
conditions apply. 

 
 
3.   CAPITAL PROGRAMME BUDGETS 
 
3.1  Annual capital budgets will be prepared taking into account any general directions that 

may be given to them by the Board and the Council.  As part of this process, each 
Executive Director, where appropriate, will discuss the general level of capital funding 
available for the year with the Chief Financial Officer before finalising its proposals. 

 
3.2 The Chief Financial Officer will present this budget to the Board for approval before 

31 March in each year.  The documents presented will include such summaries, 
statements and reports as are considered necessary to enable proper consideration 
of the budget. 

 
3.3 The draft Capital Programme will also be presented to the appropriate approval body 

within the Council for approval and ratification before 31 March in each year.  
 
3.4 No member of staff may enter into an arrangement for credit, such as a leasing 

agreement, without first obtaining the consent of the Chief Financial Officer in addition 
to obtaining the appropriate authorisation for the expenditure.  Any agreements must 
be signed by the Chief Executive and an Executive Director.   
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3.5  The Company Secretary will keep a record of all leases and similar agreements 

entered into by the Company.  It is the responsibility of each Executive Director to 
ensure that copies of leases entered into during the year are provided to the Company 
Secretary for this purpose. 

  
 
4.   CONTROL OF EXPENDITURE 
 
4.1 The Chief Financial Officer will establish and maintain an appropriate and effective 

system of budgetary control.  This will ensure that: 
 
All officers within directorates who are specified as budget holders (responsible for 
engaging staff or otherwise incurring expenditure) comply with the requirements of that 
system; 

• Every cost centre budget is administered by one named budget holder, 
determined by the appropriate Executive Director; 

• Budget holders are only responsible for expenditure which they can influence; 
• Officers entering into financial commitments ensure that they are recorded and 

reported using any process set down by the Chief Financial Officer as soon as 
the terms have been agreed in order that any decisions made are based on the 
most complete information available;  

• Significant variances from approved budgets are investigated on a regular basis 
by budget holders;  

 
4.2  Members of ELT and Officers must make arrangements to ensure that effective 

monitoring of expenditure and income takes place throughout the year to ensure that 
the Company manages its operations within available funds. 

 
4.3 The Chief Financial Officer will ensure that line managers (or appropriate officers 

within their teams) have access to a monthly variance analysis report to consider and 
to enable them to determine and implement appropriate actions in respect of 
significant variances from budgets.  ELT will receive a monthly report summarising the 
financial position against budget for the whole company and will discuss and agree 
any proposed changes or remedial actions. 

 
4.4 The Chief Financial Officer will periodically inform ELT (and the Board where 

appropriate) of the financial and economic impact of changes in policy, pay awards 
and other events and trends on budgets and any risks to future plans and projects. 

 
4.5  All Heads of Service and Senior Managers should ensure that prior approval is sought 

from ELT (or the Board as appropriate) before the Company is committed to 
expenditure for which no specific provision has been made within revenue budgets, 
where this cannot be managed in accordance with paragraph 2.5 above. 

 
4.6 Virement is the transfer of funding allocated to one budget heading to another budget 

heading.  Virements should be requested only where there is a genuine change in the 
financial plans of SCH and not used to mask minor under / overspends.   The minimum 
virement level will be £1,000 and for the capital programme virements will only be 
processed once they have been approved by the relevant Cabinet Member at the 
Council as part of budget setting or the mid-year review.  All requests to transfer 
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funding must comply with the following basic rules which have significantly changed 
from 2020/21: 

  

 Within a cost 
centre 

Within a 
Directorate 

Between 
Directorates 

Up to £50k Budget Manager Head of Service Executive Directors 

£50k - £100k Head of Service Executive Director ELT 

Over £100k ELT & Ratified by 
Board 

ELT & Ratified by 
Board 

ELT & Ratified by 
Board 

 
Transfers between Capital and Revenue are NOT allowed.  Transfers to/from Ring-fenced 
activities must be approved by the Board.  In circumstances where the Budget Manager is 
also the Head of Service or Executive Director approval would be required from the level 
above. 
 

4.7  Current examples of Ring-Fenced activities include but are not limited to: 
 

• Private Sector Leasing  
• Syrian Families properties  
• Wellbeing service funded by Handyperson Grant 
• Any specific budget lines funded from Reserves (e.g. Feasibility works)  
• Budget lines relating to Service Level Agreements (e.g. Legal services) 
• Private Sector Adaptations  

 
4.8  Line managers must ensure the accurate financial coding of expenditure and income 

and the correct treatment of VAT.  Only codes as set out in the annual budget, and 
shown on the monthly monitoring reports, should be used unless approved by the 
Chief Financial Officer. Any expenditure for which there is no budget should be dealt 
with as set out in paragraphs 4.5 and 4.6 above. 

 
 
5.   FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
5.1  The Chief Financial Officer will arrange for the preparation of monthly statements of 

income and expenditure against budget (taking into account any amendments to 
budget) and report them to the Board on a quarterly basis.  In addition, statements will 
also be discussed at ELT meetings on a monthly basis following financial monitoring 
meetings.  

 
5.2  In the event of a significant variance between budget and cost for a major project for 

which Board (or Committee) approval was obtained, the outturn and an explanation 
should be reported to the appropriate Committee as well as the Board.  

 
5.3  The Chief Financial Officer will ensure that appropriate procedures are put in place to 

enable the accurate reporting of costs in respect of any specific area of operation 
requested by any of the Executive Directors. 

 
6.   INCOME 
 
6.1 The Chief Financial Officer will ensure that safe and efficient arrangements are in 

place for the receipt and issue of monies. 
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6.2  The procedures for the receipt, handling, banking and recording of cash receipts shall 

be in accordance with the Council’s Cash Handling Instructions. This covers all sums 
received by staff of the Company in respect of rents, council tax and any other related 
payments due to either the Council or to the Company. 

 
6.3  All documents used to officially acknowledge, or record amounts received, or 

receivable must be approved by the Chief Financial Officer. Where pre-printed, such 
stationery shall be ordered and controlled and subject to the same safeguards as 
cash. 

 
6.4  Every sum of money (in whatever form) received by any authorised officer of the 

Company must be immediately acknowledged by the issue of an official receipt unless 
any special arrangements have been approved by the Chief Financial Officer.  The 
receipt must still be recorded in the normal form, for office use only and marked 
accordingly even if the payee does not request one.   

 
6.5  Every transfer of monies from one officer to another must be documented and signed 

for at the time of transfer using the agreed log. 
 
6.6  All monies received must be banked in accordance with arrangements set out by the 

Chief Financial Officer. Banking should be daily (weekly where the weekly receipts do 
not exceed £250), except as otherwise agreed.  All cheques, postal or money orders 
received in any department shall be crossed specially.  

 
6.7  In accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 1983, when making a banking 

the paying-in-slip (and duplicate) must detail for every cheque the debt reference and 
whether it represents either full or part payment of the debt. 

 
6.8 Officers should supply the Chief Financial Officer (through the Financial Operations  

team) with all relevant information to enable Sundry Debtor invoices to be raised in 
accordance with agreed procedures.  In the event of queries, originating teams are 
expected to provide any necessary support to the Financial Operations team to enable 
prompt resolution. 

 
6.9 The Chief Financial Officer shall ensure that all irrecoverable sums are recorded 

appropriately. 
 
 
7.   PAYMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 
7.1  All payments must be made by BACS transfer or cheque in accordance with the bank 

mandate in force, except where otherwise requested by the payee or otherwise 
ordered by the Chief Financial Officer. 

  
7.2  The Chief Financial Officer may withhold payment of any sums where the 

requirements of Standing Orders have not been met.  Payment can be held up until 
the requirements have been met or, for whatever reason, the requirements have been 
waived. 

 
7.3  Invoices received should be sent in the first instance to the Financial Operations Team 
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in accordance with instructions to be specified on the order. 
 
7.4  All invoices, once approved by the relevant authorising officer, and all approved 

certificates for payments under contracts should be submitted to the Finance Team 
for payment in a timely manner to ensure that credit terms and invoice payment targets 
are met. 

 
7.5 The certification of an invoice by an authorised officer (except where otherwise agreed 

with the Chief Financial Officer) means: 
 

• The order was placed after following the appropriate procurement process in 
accordance with Rules for Contracts and in advance of the goods being 
received, 

• That the goods received have been examined and approved as in accordance 
with the specification, or the services have been satisfactorily carried out using 
materials of the requisite standard, 

• That prices (including all elements of the total charge) are in accordance with 
the contract or order, 

• That the order record (electronic or manual) has been updated to reflect the 
approved payment being processed and that no duplicate payments have been 
made; and 

• That all such accounts are arithmetically correct. 
 

7.6  Payments in advance of the receipt of goods and / or services should not be made 
unless they appear on the table, below for which the Chief Financial Officer has given 
approval, or specific approval is sought. 

 
 Up to £1,000 approved by the relevant member of ELT 
 Above £1,000 approved by Chief Financial Officer – see table below for pre-existing 

approvals  
 
 
Type of agreement Approval Given 

Leasing No more than three months in advance and in 
accordance with leasing agreement 

Private Sector Leasing Rents No more than 12 months in advance and in 
accordance with rental agreement 

Office Rents No more than three months in advance and in 
accordance with leasing agreement 

Software Licences No more than 12 months in advance and in 
accordance with the relevant contract/ 
agreement 

Services provided by the Council No more than 12 months in advance and in 
accordance with the SLA or with the 
agreement of the Chief Executive 

 
7.7  The Chief Financial Officer will maintain a Schedule of Delegations.  This shall set out 

the delegated levels of authority for all members of staff who have been given authority 
to make payments or incur liabilities on behalf of the Company.  This schedule should 
be updated to reflect changes in staff and responsibilities as they occur and should be 
reviewed annually. 
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7.8  The table below details the approved levels of delegations:  
 
Group Individuals £ 

Chief Executive & Chief 
Financial Officer 

Chief Executive & Chief 
Financial Officer 
 

2,000,000 

Executive Directors Executive Director of Assets 
& Development 
Executive Director of Housing 
& Communities 
Executive Director of 
Customer Service 
Transformation & Business 
Support 
 

1,000,000 

Heads of Service Head of Asset Management  
 
Head of Neighbourhood 
Services 
 
 

500,000 
 
250,000 

Budget Holders 
 

All Others (Revenue) 50,000 

 
 
 
7.9  In addition to the scheme of delegations detailed above SCH operates the Open 

Contractor repair system, which has a range of delegation levels in-built to allow the 
repairs service to function.   The delegation levels within the Open Contractor system 
should be reviewed annually and levels agreed by the Head of Asset Management 
and the Chief Financial Officer.   The table below details the approved levels within 
the system to which users must be linked.  No changes should be made to this list 
without approval from the Head of Asset Management and the Chief Financial Officer. 

  
 
 
Description Contract Job Completion 

Value 
Job Logging 
Value 

Job Variation 
Value 

Level 1 – 
Executive 
Director of 
Assets & 
Development 

All 1,000,000 1,000,000 100,000 

Level 2 – Senior 
Managers 

All 100,000 100,000 30,000 

Level 3 – 
Operations level 
Manager / Senior 
Surveyor 

All 50,000 50,000 20,000 

Level 4 – Project 
Manager 

All 15,000 15,000 10,000 

Level 5 – 
Contract 
Manager / Team 

All 5,000 5,000 2,500 
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Leader / Clerk of 
Works 

Level 6 – Admin / 
Scheduler 

All 0 500 0 

Level 6 – Admin / 
Scheduler 

DTDDIR 0 1,000 2,500 

Level 6 – Admin / 
Scheduler 

FIREINTG 0 1,000 2,500 

Level 6 – Admin / 
Scheduler 

VOIDDIR 0 1,000 2,500 

Level 6 – Admin / 
Scheduler 

ADAPWRK 0 1,000 2,500 

Level 7 – View 
ONLY 

All 0 0 0 

Level 8 – 
Payments Team 
ONLY 

All 0 0 0 

Level 9 – 
Systems Support 
ONLY 

All 0 0 500 

Level 9 – 
Systems Support 
ONLY 

MECHELEX 250 0 10 

 
 
8. VALUE ADDED TAX (VAT) AND CONSTRUCTION INDUSTRY SCHEME (CIS) 
 
8.1  Each authorising officer and Executive Director must ensure that the correct VAT 

liability is attached to ALL income and that VAT recoverable on purchases complies 
with HM Revenue & Customs regulations. 

 
8.2 Each member of ELT must ensure that where construction and maintenance works 

are undertaken, the contractor fulfils the necessary CIS criteria and that the Financial 
Operations Team is advised of their CIS status, who will then complete the validation 
of contractors using the on-line HM Revenue & Customs system. 

 
8.3 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for ensuring the timely submission of all 

appropriate returns to HM Revenue & Customs. 
 
 
9.   PETTY CASH AND PURCHASE CARDS 
 
9.1  The Chief Financial Officer may make advances to authorised persons to meet 

appropriate minor cash expenses.  The amount of any individual payment should not 
exceed any limit prescribed by the Chief Financial Officer. 

 
9.2  The provision of services by a third party should be paid for by BACS transfer or 

cheques and not petty cash. 
 
9.3  Petty cash should not be used as “prize money” under any circumstances. 
 
9.4  The Float holder is required to sign a receipt in respect of each advance and will be 

required to account for expenditure made out of the advance on a regular basis 
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(usually monthly).  Floats will be topped up to the float level on receipt of these returns 
(which should include receipts) in accordance with guidance issued by the Chief 
Financial Officer. 

 
9.5 The Chief Financial Officer may make purchase cards available to authorised persons 

to enable them to meet appropriate minor purchases. The overall card limit and 
individual payment limits should not exceed any limit prescribed by the Chief Financial 
Officer. 

 
9.6  The Card holder is required to sign to confirm receipt of the card and that they will 

abide by the conditions for use of the card.  They will be required to account for 
expenditure made on the card on a monthly basis; this includes on-line reconciliation 
as well as the presentation of a summary of expenditure together with receipts for 
signature by the nominated authorising officer. 

 
9.7 Unannounced spot checks may be carried out by the Financial Operations team or 

Internal Audit to ensure that appropriate records of transactions are being maintained 
at all times and that the cash float and/or card is being held securely. 

 
 
10.  SALARIES AND PENSIONS 
 
10.1  Each Executive Director, Head of Service or their delegated managers (as regards 

employees in his department) shall notify the Head of Human Resources in writing 
of all staff changes, absences, or any other circumstances affecting the remuneration 
of these employees in accordance with the arrangements put in place by the 
Company.  In signing such notifications, the officer concerned confirms the validity 
of the amendment and certifies that all relevant authorisations have been received. 

 
10.2 The Head of Human Resources at the Council is responsible for the general control 

and payment of all salaries, wages and pensions and shall prescribe the procedures 
for the certification of timesheets and for the payment of salaries.  The Head of 
Service is responsible for the notification of the cost code to which the salary of 
employees in any of their teams is to be charged. 

 
10.3  Payment of salaries and wages in advance shall not normally be made without the 

prior approval of the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
10.4  Write-off of overpayment of salaries will only occur in exceptional circumstances with 

the approval of the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
 
11.  TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
 
11.1  The Chief Financial Officer shall arrange the borrowings and investment of the 

Company in order to comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management and the Approved Treasury Policy Statement and will work with the 
Council’s Treasury Management Team in order to do so. 

 
11.2  The Chief Financial Officer shall report periodically to the Board on the activities of 

the Treasury Management function where relevant. 
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12.  RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
12.1 The Chief Executive is responsible for ensuring that the Company has appropriate 

arrangements in place to ensure the effective management of risk.  This is set out in 
the Risk Management Policy and Procedure, which is approved by the Board. 

 
12.2  The arrangements include provision for the regular review of risks at a Board, 

Committee, corporate and operational level using a standard methodology as set out 
in the Risk Management Policy and Procedure. The Chief Financial Officer will carry 
out periodic checks to ensure that reviews of financial risks take place as required 
by the policy. 

 
12.3  Reviews of any risk register are expected to give due consideration to the following: 
 

• Identification of any new risks and how they will be managed (mitigating 
actions). 

• Assessment of the continuing effectiveness of mitigating actions to 
manage identified risks. 

• Assessment of the impact and likelihood of identified risks and any 
changes since the last review. 

• Confirming that identified risks are still valid and if not should they be 
closed 

• Consider whether any identified risks need to be escalated 
 
 

13.  INSURANCE 
 
13.1  The Chief Financial Officer will arrange all insurances and keep appropriate records; 

in particular, they will arrange for Trustee Indemnity cover from a suitable supplier 
with reasonable terms where this is possible in the general insurance market and 
fidelity guarantee insurance for the due performance of the duties of any Officer 
charged with the receipt, custody and/or disbursement of monies and property.  

 
13.2  Officers will ensure compliance of the Insurance Act 2015 and the Duty of Fair 

Presentation in respect of any request or alteration of insurance cover or assessment 
of exposure to risk for any service provision or asset during any period of insurance 
cover or at the request by the Chief Financial Officer upon renewal or alteration to 
insurance cover that may be required. 

 
13.3  Officers will ensure that any disclosure of risk is made in a manner which is 

reasonably clear and accessible and cooperate with any reasonable request for 
information that may be required by the Council’s/SCH Insurer(s). 

 
13.4  Officers will notify the Chief Financial Officer of new risks that the organisation will 

be undertaking by way of new activities or service provision or any alterations 
affecting existing risks, potential liabilities or insurance. 

 
13.5  Officers will notify the Chief Financial Officer of any new assets such as property, 

vehicles or other valuable items regardless of whether insurance cover is anticipated 
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to ensure that appropriate arrangements can be assessed and put in place as 
determined.  Asset and major risks should be notified in advance of cover being 
required. 

 
13.6 Officers will immediately notify the Chief Financial Officer of any loss, liability or 

damage that may give rise to a claim against SCH or the Council, together with any 
information or explanation required by the Chief Financial Officer or the Council’s 
insurers. 

 
13.7 Officers will consult the Chief Financial Officer on the terms of any indemnity that SCH  

may be required to give to another party and will consult the Chief Financial Officer 
on any partnership or agreement for the provision of services that may be considered 
to ensure that any terms on indemnity, liability or insurance are appropriate. 

 
13.8 Officers will ensure that employees, or anyone covered by the insurance 

arrangements do not admit liability or make any offer to pay compensation that may 
prejudice the assessment of liability in respect of any insurance claim. 

 
13.9 Officers will ensure that employees, or anyone connected with the delivery of services 

covered by the insurance arrangements, do nothing that breaches the terms and 
conditions of these policies and would lead to the voiding of the cover. 

 
13.10  Officers will fully cooperate and ensure accessibility is provided upon the 

reasonable  request of the Chief Financial Officer or the Council’s Insurer(s) 
regarding a service provision or assessment of an asset which may include physical 
surveys and / or discussion with the Insurer. 

 
13.11  Officers will ensure compliance of any policy terms, conditions or warranties of any 

policy of insurance that may be in force including any terms or requirements 
following additional review or survey by the Council’s Insurer(s). 

 
 
14.  AUDIT 
 
14.1  The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the Company to undertake an 

adequate and effective internal audit of its accounting records and control systems.  
This duty has been delegated to the Council’s Head of Audit Services and he must 
report promptly any significant discrepancies that come to light (other than those 
caused by purely technical errors).  The work of internal audit shall be based upon 
the principles and practices required in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
(PSIAS). 

 
14.2  The Companies Act 2006 requires the Company to submit to an annual external 

audit of its accounting records and control systems.  The Chief Financial Officer will 
assist the Board in the appointment of a suitable firm of auditors qualified to carry out 
such work. 

 
14.3  The Chief Financial Officer is required to make the necessary arrangements for the 

audit to be carried out and is legally obliged to give the appointed auditor every 
assistance in the execution and completion of their work. 
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14.4  Authorised staff of the appointed internal and external auditors are entitled without 
necessarily giving prior notice, to require and receive: 

• Access to all assets, records, documents, correspondence and control 
systems, including documents of a confidential nature; 

• Access to any premises or land occupied by the Company for the purpose of 
the Company’s business at all reasonable times; 

• The production or identification by any employee of any cash, stores, assets 
or other property belonging to the Company, under the employee’s control; 
and 

• Any information and explanations considered necessary concerning any 
matter under consideration or investigation. 

 
14.5  The Head of Audit Services will submit an annual internal audit report to the Audit & 

Risk Committee stating the extent of audit work carried out together with a summary 
of the conclusions drawn.  Internal Audit will also provide the Committee with an 
independent assessment of the Internal Control environment in place, which will be 
used to support the Statement on Internal Control within the Company’s annual report 
and accounts. 

 
14.6 The Chief Financial Officer will submit the annual report and accounts to the Audit 

and Risk Committee for review and approval following the completion of the external 
audit.  The external auditor will also provide the Committee with the findings from their 
audit together with any recommendations with regard to internal processes and 
controls.    

 
14.7 The approved annual report and accounts will then be tabled at the next Annual 

General Meeting of the Company in accordance with regulations laid down within the 
Companies Acts and the Memorandum & Articles of Association of the Company. 

 
 
15.  FRAUD AND CORRUPTION 
 
15.1  Responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with all officers and to 

fulfil this responsibility, a system of internal control must be maintained. 
 
15.2  The Head of Audit Services must be informed immediately by the appropriate Head 

of Service or authorised officer of any disciplinary matter, any actual or suspected 
loss or financial irregularity, or of any circumstances which suggest the possibility of 
losses or irregularities, including those affecting cash, stores or other property of the 
Company. 

 
15.3  Internal audit has a responsibility embodied in the PSIAS (as set out in 14.1) to 

review, appraise and report upon the extent to which the Company’s assets and 
interests are accounted for and safeguarded from loss of all kind arising from: 

 
• Fraud and other offences; and 
• Waste, extravagance and inefficient administration, poor value for money 

or other  cause. 
 
15.4  Internal audit has the responsibility to investigate fraud committed by staff and fraud 

related offences regarding the misuse of property.  
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15.5  The Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 2013, Section 3 requires the Council 

through its Internal Audit function to investigate tenancy fraud, authorises the request 
for information from organisations and where appropriate prosecute. 

  
15.6  In order to satisfy this, internal audit look to identify any serious weaknesses in 

systems of internal control which might lead to fraud.  Where weaknesses are 
identified, tests will be carried out to establish if any fraud or irregularity has taken 
place. Internal audit is also responsible for making recommendations to strengthen 
control systems where weaknesses have been identified. 

 
15.7 The Head of Audit Services is responsible for ensuring an investigation of any 

circumstances as outlined in 15.2 so that he can decide on the appropriate action.  
Where appropriate, the Head of Audit Services will inform the Police of suspected 
fraud or corruption and will liaise with them on the handling of any investigations. 

 
 
16.   COMPUTER SERVICES 
 
16.1  The Council’s Head of ICT is responsible for the provision and maintenance of central 

computer services and will ensure that any necessary procedures are put in place to 
protect the Company and other persons from inappropriate use or misuse of any 
financial or other information held on central computer files.  The term “Central 
Computer Services” encompasses any activity carried out on computer applications, 
systems and associated networks used by the Company. 

 
16.2  The Head of ICT will ensure that arrangements are in place: 
 

• For the implementation of adequate controls both centrally and by users to 
provide for the security of applications and systems 

• Offer advice regarding the security and operation of non-financial systems, 
and on the Data Protection Act 

• Advise and support the company/ with the purchase and implementation of 
any new system/equipment 

 
16.3  Members of the EMT/ Heads of Service shall maintain appropriate procedures to 

ensure the integrity, accuracy and security of data within their areas of responsibility 
at all times.  The Chief Financial Officer will ensure the adequacy of controls over the 
financial accounting system and data feeding into it. 

 
16.4 The basic requirements to protect both the computer assets and the data held on all 

computers of the Company are defined in the Computer Security Policy, which forms 
part of these Regulations. 

 
17.   EMPLOYMENT TERMINATION COSTS 
 
17.1  Expenditure associated with termination of employment (Redundancy, Pay in lieu of 

notice and compromise agreements) must be approved before any offer can be 
discussed and / or agreed with the employee and the relevant “Early Leaver” form 
should be completed and authorised by the relevant Line Manager, Head of Service 
and the Chief Financial Officer.  The approval route is as per the table below. 
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Up to £100k Chief Executive & Chief Financial Officer 

Over £100k Chief Executive & Chief Financial Officer make recommendation 
to HR, Equalities and Remuneration Committee 
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Annual Governance Review 2021 
 
1. Member Attendance at Meetings from April 2021 – March 2022 
 
 

 Full Board 

 

Audit & 

Risk 

Housing 

Operations 

Human 

Resources & 

Remuneration 

Strategic 

Workshop  

Overall % 95 85 89 93 63 

Tenant % 100 100 88 100 67 

Council % 93 75 92 100 33 

Independent 

% 

92 75    N/A as no 

independent 

members on 

Committee 

83 100 

No. achieving 

100% 

7 

 

2 

(out of 3 

members) 

3 

(out of 5 

members) 

4 

(out of 5 

members) 

5 

No. in breach 

of Attendance 

rules 

None N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 

Board 
Member 

Full Board 
 
 
Percentage 
attendance 
 

Audit & 
Risk 
 
Percentage  
attendance 
 

Housing 
Operations 
 
Percentage 
Attendance 
 

Human  
Resources & 
Remuneration 
Percentage 
attendance 

All meetings 

Richard Hyde 100% N/A N/A 100% 100% 

David Bell 
 

100% 75% 100% N/A 92% 

Jenny Fletcher 100% 100% N/A 100% 100% 

April Halpin 100% N/A 100% N/A 100% 

Nigel Page 
 

100% 100%  67% 92% 

Dave Pinwell 
(appointed 
June 2021) 

80% N/A 67% N/A 87.5% 

Louise Tubbs 100% N/A 75% 100% 92% 

Chris Williams 100% N/A 100% 100% 100% 
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Full Board – overall attendance has remained stable with 7 members achieving 100% 
attendance and all members attending 4 out of 5 full Board meetings.  Meetings returned to 
face to face in September 2021 although we have retained the facility to permit virtual 
attendance when required.  Attendance at full Board meetings improved significantly during 
2020/21 when meetings were held virtually and are still higher than the last year before the 
pandemic (85% attendance for 2019/20).    
 
Audit & Risk Committee – attendance has decreased slightly from 90% to 85% 
with two members missing one meeting during the year, and two members achieving 
full attendance. 
 
Housing Operations Committee – the attendance has reduced from 100% to 89% 
with 2 members missing one meeting.  There was full attendance for 3 out of 4  
meetings.  

 
Human Resources & Remuneration Committee - attendance remained stable at 
93% with only one apology during the year and 4 out of 5 members achieving 100% 
attendance. 

 
2. Declarations of Interest 
 
2.1 The Annual Declarations of Interest for the year ended 31 March 2021 have 

been completed by 7 out 8 members.  No declarations of hospitality were 
received by the Company Secretary during 2020/21. 

 
3. Expenses paid to members 
  
3.1 During 2021/22, expenses claimed by members or expended on behalf of 

members by SCH totalled £252.76 compared to £304.61 in 2020/21 and 
£2,571.20 in 2019/20. 

 

 £ 

Loss of earnings 45.13 

Mileage, taxis, public transport and parking 207.63 

Total  252.76 

    
3.2 In the last year two members out of a potential five eligible claimed expenses, 

with the largest individual claim amounting to £162.18 for the year.   
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING 

BOARD MEETING: 25 JULY 2022 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

 

REVENUE & CAPITAL FINANCIAL MONITORING AND 
FORECAST 2022/23 – JUNE 2022 (QUARTER 1) 

 

1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To update the SCH Board on the forecast financial performance as at 

the 3 months to 30 June 2022 (Quarter 1). 
 
2. Recommendation – Items for Noting and Approving 
 
2.1 The Board is requested to: 
 

(i) NOTE the revenue and capital forecast to the year end for the 
current financial year 2022/23. 
 

(ii) APPROVE the new charge for supply of a GPS Tracker by the 
Wellbeing Service. 

 
(iii) APPROVE the increases to the Biomass fuel charges. 

 
(iv) NOTE the current and forecast reserves position. 

 
 
3. Financial Performance 2022/23 - General 
 
3.1 This report summarises the Revenue and Capital forecast financial 

performance based on the three-month period to 30 June 2022. The 
Financial Dashboard is attached at Appendix A. 
 

3.2 The Financial Dashboard also includes an update on rent collected and 
an update on the expected SCH and HRA Reserves outturn position. 
 

3.3 The revenue position shows a forecast outturn position of a 
£1.127million overspend (5.6%). 
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Table 1 

  Annual 
Budget 

Forecast 
Variance 

£’000s £’000s 

Chief Executive 2,640  (244) 

Housing & Communities 4,937  661  

Asset Management  9,269  686  

Procurement 113  0  

Customer Experience & Business Support 3,304  24  

Total Revenue Spend 20,263  1,127  

Base Revenue Management Fee (19,732) 0  

Net revenue surplus to reserves budgeted (175) 0  

Approved use of HRA Reserves (266) 0  

Approved use of Budget Strategy Reserve (90) 0  

Net Position 0  1,127  

 
 
3.4 Following the net capital carry forwards of £1.993million from 2021/22 

approved by Full Cabinet on 16 June 2022 the revised capital budget of 
£39.301million is currently forecast to outturn to budget. 
 

3.5 Outstanding SCH Accounts Receivable debt features on the revised 
dashboard and includes the previous quarter end information for 
comparison. There are no issues of concern with this position as at 
Quarter 1. 

 
4. Commentary on Revenue Financial Performance 2022/23 
 
4.1 As at 30 June 2022, the Executive Directors are forecasting an 

overspend of +£1.127million by the end of the financial year with 
+£1.002million attributable to unavoidable inflationary and contractual 
cost pressures.  As this is the first forecast of the new financial year, the 
Executive Directors will continue to review the position and where 
possible identify mitigations to be reported back to this Board as part of 
the Quarter 2 financial report. In the event there continues to be an 
overspend, Board approval will be sought to agree the use of SCH 
reserves to fund the gap. 
  

4.2 The paragraphs below give further details of the current overspend 
forecasts. 
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Pay Increases, Inflationary and Contractual Cost Pressures 
 

4.3 At the time of setting the SCH budget, pay increases have been included 
at 2.0% for 2022/23 and are likely to be higher. Negotiations are currently 
on-going and until a final settlement is agreed, no additional pressure is 
included in this forecast. 
 

4.4 A pressure of +£543k is included within the forecast overspend position 
reflecting the full year effect of an average 60% increase on electricity 
and gas supplies to buildings.  Where the increased costs incur within 
communal areas, full cost recovery will form part of the review of service 
charges for 2023/24 as part of the delegated SCH fees and charges. 
 

4.5 Similarly, the forecast Asset Management overspend position includes 
+£139k additional materials costs as early indicators suggest average 
increases of around 10% are expected. Likewise, an overspend on 
vehicle fuel costs of +£60k is forecast based on the prevailing market 
conditions. 
 

4.6 A forecast pressure of +£189k on the cost of wood pellets used in 
biomass plants is again as also a result of market conditions within the 
supply chain.  

 
4.7 Further ‘unavoidable’ cost pressures have resulted from the 

implementation of the new cleaning contract due to commence on 1 
August 2022 of +£46k and on the CCTV monitoring contract as a result 
of the contractor’s staff cost increase to the national living wage of 
+£25k. 

 
Other variances by Directorate 

 
4.8 Asset Management – £255k overspend.  Includes an estimated +£190k 

for the costs of complaints compensation and associated legal charges 
by the end of the year.  Costs totaled £160k last year for the settlement 
and part-payment of 40 disrepair claims.  There are 43 outstanding 
claims carried forward from previous years and claims continue to be 
received.  Attempts to reach an agreeable settlement before legal costs 
escalate should lead to a reduced average amount per claim. A task and 
finish group to review issues with damp and mould which form the 
majority of successful claims is also working through improved practices. 
These costs are currently unbudgeted for and will be considered as part 
of the 2023/24 budget setting process.  
 

4.9 Other forecast pressures include waste disposal pressures associated 
with higher voids of +£60k and the Biomass service (excluding pressures 
in 4.3 and 4.6 above) - predominantly due to reduced income 
expectations (£55k) are part-offset by increased recharges to capital for 
the Minor Adaptations service based on a full cost recovery model 
(£73k).  Other minor net overspends total +£23k. 
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4.10 Housing & Communities – +£117k overspend. Continuing pressures are 
being experienced within the Homelessness service: the cost of furniture 
within temporary accommodation units is expected to be in line with last 
year’s outturn position of an additional +£34k; the cost of tenant 
medicals, where we have commissioned 177 in the first quarter of the 
financial year, again is broadly in line with 2021/22 activity levels 
resulting in a +£18k forecast.  We are also forecasting for the continuing 
requirement to use budget hotels – we currently have bookings for 27 
hotel rooms compared to 14 at the same point last year resulting in a 
+£26k forecast. 

 
4.11 A further £36k forecast pressure is for SCH owned properties and the 

additional costs of depreciation following property revaluations. Other 
minor net pressures total +£3k.  
 

4.12 Customer Service Transformation and Business Support – (£3k) net 
underspend.  The introduction of Board member remuneration results in 
+£39k and an overspend on corporate subscriptions of +£27k are mostly 
offset by net staffing underspends of (£24k) and other building costs 
(£38k).  Other minor net underspends total (£7k). 
 

4.13 Chief Executive – (£244k) underspend.  Within this directorate a one-off 
budget of £334k was allocated to meet unexpected pressures. To date 
£90k of this has been allocated for the refurbishment works at both office 
locations; the forecast assumes no further use of this budget allowing 
the part-mitigation of underlying pressures outlined above. 

 
5. Approval of Fees and Charges 
 
5.1 On 29 November 2021 the Board approved the schedule of fees and 

charges to be levied by SCH during the financial year 2022/23.  Any 
further charges proposed during the year must therefore also be 
approved by the Board. 
 
GPS Tracker SIM cards 
 

5.2 The SCH Telecare service has recently been approached by Adult Care 
and Support colleagues within the Council to supply GPS Tracker 
enabled SIM cards, which would support vulnerable clients to maintain 
their independence.  The Board is requested to approve a charge of 
£7.00 per month (full cost recovery) for the supply of the GPS enabled 
SIM card. 
 
Biomass Tariff Charges 
 

5.3 In May 2021, Board considered the funding gap of Biomass heating 
and approved a phased approach to tariff increases over a 3-year 
period to achieve full cost recovery. This was based on the comparable 
energy cost to gas tariffs and disadvantaging tenants who are in high-
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rise residential buildings having no choice on their energy prices. Since 
then, unforeseen external factors have impacted on this strategy. 
 

5.4 The first biomass price increase took place with effect from 1 January 
2022 and a further increase will be due in January 2023, hence the 
need for a decision. Appendix B shows the tariff comparable costs as 
reported to Housing Operations last year. The increase required for the 
second year suggested a new rate of £0.1365p per kwh an increase 
from £0.1181p per kwh charged from January 2022. 
 

5.5 Initial work has now been undertaken to revisit the current position and 
the impact from price increases experienced in the 2021/22 accounts 
show the continuation of last year’s plan would result in a funding gap. 
Any funding gap would require to be met by SCH and the HRA 
resulting in all rent payers contributing towards subsidising the energy 
prices for biomass customers. 
 

5.6 The national energy price increases that have taken place earlier this 
year and are due to take place later this year also have a significant 
impact on the comparable energy costs of biomass. It is recommended 
that Board agree to revise the cost recovery plans and a full cost 
recovery at a rate of £0.2418p per kwh would see an increase of 
104.7%. Board members may consider such an increase does no 
longer disadvantage biomass customers and may wish to approve a 
full cost recovery rate with effect from January 2023. This increase 
would need time to prepare for implementation and be supported by a 
customer communication plan.  
 

5.7 Board may wish to consider alternatives to this proposal and have a 
little time to do this. An example of a phased approach over a further 3-
years is also attached at Appendix B.  

 
6. Impact on SCH Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
 
6.1 The consequences of all these issues will be considered as part of the 

preparation for the SCH MTFS as will the variations within the detailed 
monitoring.  
 

6.2 In addition, the HRA budget assumptions will be reviewed as part of the 
2023/24 budget preparation including those for:- 

 Rent increases 

 Cost inflation 

 Debt impairment 

 Void levels 

 Disrepair compensation claims 
 
6.3 There are also a number of projects that are continuing or have recently 

commenced that are likely to impact on the current or future budgets. 
These include: - 
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 The investment in specialist software to support improvements in 
rent collection and targeted financial support to vulnerable 
tenants; funded for the initial 3 years from the Council’s Welfare 
Reform Reserve to the end of 2023/24 and will require SCH 
funding from 2024/25. 

 The continued investment into Building Safety to address new 
legislative requirements for the Council have been included within 
the SCH budgets from 2022/23 onwards. 

 The outcome of the One SCH project may lead to the need for 
further investment in future transformational work.  

 Intelligence from the Asset Management reviews on strategy and 
investment in carbon-saving programmes may likely to result in 
additional investment. 

 The introduction of the office accommodation pilot to replace the 
Home Options office base in Chelmsley Wood. 

 Money Advice posts currently funded from the Welfare Reform 
Reserves with staggered ends to the funding during 2023/24 for 
the 3 posts. 

 Employment skills coordinator post funded from the Welfare 
Reform Reserve with funding due to end in 2023/24. 
 

6.4 The 2023/24 outline HRA Budget proposal will be presented at the Board 
Away Day on 3 October 2022 and a report to SCH Board on 8 November 
2022. 

 
7. Commentary on Capital Financial Performance 2022/23 

 
7.1 At the Full Cabinet meeting on 10 February 2022 the base capital budget 

of £33.868million was approved for 2022/23.   
 

7.2 The capital budget has subsequently been increased by £3.640million 
for the acquisition of properties on 4 April 2022 from Bromford Housing 
as approved by Cabinet on 21 November 2021, and a further 
£1.993million rephasing of net underspends from the 2021/22 outturn 
position as approved by Cabinet on 16 June 2022. 
 

7.3 At this early stage of the financial year, no variances from the revised 
approved budget of £39.301million are forecast.  
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8. SCH and HRA Reserves Position 
 
8.1 The SCH Reserves as at 1 April 2022 were a net negative balance of 

£4.708million, due to the negative Pensions Reserve balance of 
£14.087million.  This is not included on the Reserves schedule within the 
Financial Dashboard as it is not considered repayable in the foreseeable 
future and the Council provides its continuing support to fund the 
pension’s deficit on an annual basis.   
 

8.2 The remaining positive reserves of £9.379million, includes the Budget 
Strategy Reserve of £1.919million, of which £923k is earmarked for 
restructure costs, £280k for the continued funding of the Digital 
Transformation team and £90k for the apprenticeship scheme. 
 

8.3 Within the General Reserve balance of £5.960million, allocations have 
been earmarked for structural surveys within high rise blocks 
(£1.392million), relocation of the Home Options office (£335k) and the 
funding of the Workflow system (£1.506million subject to further 
approvals).  The remaining forecast movement of (£131k) is the 
budgeted net HRA surplus position over the next 3 years. 

 
8.4 The HRA Reserves as at 1 April 2022 were £27.956million made up of 

£9.884million revenue reserves and £18.072million capital reserves. 
 
8.5 The HRA Revenue Reserves are forecast to decrease by £2.479million 

in 2022/23, due mainly to £1.270million funding of the property 
acquisition programme (including match funding the use of 1-4-1 
receipts), £1.000million for the DIY Shared Ownership scheme, £534k 
further HRA revenue contribution to the Sprinkler project and £444k 
approved use of the Welfare Reform Reserves. There is also a budgeted 
contribution to the future capital investment reserve of (£1.000million) 
and net HRA deficit of £231k in the HRA 30-year. 

 
8.6 The HRA Capital Reserves are forecast to decrease by a net 

£10.881million in 2022/23, due primarily to the use of retained RTB 
receipts in order to fund the acquisition of homes from Bromford Housing 
£3.600million and the housing elements of the redevelopment at 
Kingshurst Village Centre £4.700millon; in addition to the use of 
previously earmarked reserves to continue the installation of sprinklers 
within Solihull’s high rise buildings £5.746millon. 

 
9. HRA Rent Collection and Debt Impairment (Information Items) 
 
9.1 Rent collection and Debt Impairment tables are also included within the 

dashboard for information, although rental income is paid into the 
Council’s HRA account. Any change to rental income ultimately affects 
HRA funds available for future years’ SCH management fee.  The 
dashboard shows that for both HRA owned properties and SCH owned 
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properties the percentage of rent collected in relation to rent due is 
exceeding the 98% targeted. 
 

9.2 The Debt Impairment is what was previously known as the ‘Bad Debts 
Provision’.  The Board will be aware from previous years budget reports 
that this figure can be difficult to estimate for the HRA properties.  This 
provision is allocated from within HRA resources and therefore any over-
estimate results in a reduction in money available within the SCH 
Management fee.  With the rollout of Universal Credit in recent years we 
have introduced more risk in the budget setting process and reduced the 
HRA debt impairment. This risk is mitigated by earmarking funds within 
the Welfare Reform Reserve in case this approach is proven too 
ambitious.  The dashboard shows that for Quarter 1 we have a 
requirement to provide for an additional £486k of HRA debt impairment 
compared to an annual budget of £809k.  This will continue to be 
monitored throughout the year and changes to the provision for future 
years will feature in the budget report to the Board in November. 
 

9.3 Debt impairment for the SCH owned developments is currently showing 
a minor reduction compared to the annual budget of £10k. 

 
10. Financial Implications  
 
10.1 The financial implications are included within the content of this report.  

 
11. Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
11.1 None specifically arising.  
 
12. Risk Management Implications 
 
12.1 Financial risks are addressed in the main body of the report and 

significant financial risks are included within the relevant risk registers.   
 

13. Value for Money and Efficiency Considerations/Implications 
 
13.1 None specifically – this report is a monitoring report detailing the usage 

of available funds across the organisation. 
 
14. Tenant Involvement/Consultation 
 
14.1 None required. 

 
 
 
REPORT AUTHORS: Samantha Gilbert  Tel: 0121 704 6278 

SCH Chief Financial Officer 
sgilbert@solihull.gov.uk 
 
Karen Cranley  Tel: 0121 704 6421 
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     SCH Finance Manager 
     Karen.Cranley@solihull.gov.uk 
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Appendix A

Financial Dashboard as at Jun-22 - Period 3

Part 1: Revenue Position - Current Forecast

Annual Budget £000
Forecast Outturn 

£000

Forecast Variance 

£000

Previous Period 

Forecast Variance 

£000

Movement from 

previous period 

£000

2,640 2,396 (244) 0 (244)

4,937 5,598 661 0 661 

9,269 9,955 686 0 686 

113 113 0 0 0 

3,304 3,328 24 0 24 

20,263 21,390 1,127 0 1,127

Part 2. Capital Expenditure

Annual Budget

£000

Forecast Outturn 

£000

Forecast Variance 

£000

Previous Period 

Forecast Variance 

£000

Movement from 

previous period 

£000

17,433 17,433 0 0 0 

2,310 2,310 0 0 0 

1,317 1,317 0 0 0 

213 213 0 0 0 

209 209 0 0 0 

1,450 1,450 0 0 0 

1,743 1,743 0 0 0 

13,291 13,291 0 0 0 

1,335 1,335 0 0 0 

0 0 0 0 0 

39,301 39,301 0 0 0 Approved net carry forwards from 2021/22 included of £1.993m.

New Build Cabinet Approval 16-Jun-22: Carry forwards for residual costs of small homes schemes (£203k), less early spend for Property 

acquisitions +£187k and Lakeside +£16k.

Adaptations Cabinet Approval 16-Jun-22: Overspend of £315k requires reduction to the Approval requested carry forward.

Solihull Independent Living

Crime and Security

Cyclical Capital Maintenance Cabinet Approval 16-Jun-22: Further carry forward to for Sheltered Schemes (£40k).

Programme Management and 

ICT

Cabinet Approval 16-Jun-22: Further carry forward for ICT Capital (£115k).

Climate and Energy Cabinet Approval 16-Jun-22: Carry forwards for Low Rise Overcladding (£214k), Boiler Installations (£165k) and Biomass Plant 

replacement (£31k).

Capital Maintenance and 

Improvements

Cabinet Approval 16-Jun-22: Carry forward for Flat Roofs (£25k).

Environment and Estates Cabinet Approval 16-Jun-22: Carry forward for Tarmac & resurfacing (£83k).

Revenue Total

Capital Classification Explanation of forecast variance / Explanation for movement in variance from previous quarter

Health, Safety and Legal 

Obligations

Cabinet Approval 16-Jun-22: Carry forwards for Spandrel replacement (£1.257m), High Rise Sprinklers project (£337k), 

Electrical sub-mains (£27k) and Structural works (£14k).

Asset Management Forecast 

Overspends due to inflationary pressures for energy costs prices +£74k, costs of Biomass pellets +£189k, materials price 

pressure +£139k and vehicle fuel costs +£60k.

Complaints compensation & legal costs +£190k, Safer Homes SIM Cards +£14k, Biomass related overspend (excluding 

pellets&energy) +£55k and vehicle lease costs +£38k ; part offset by a net payroll variance of (£34k), Standby costs recharge to 

Wellbeing (to Housing & Communities) (£31k) and other net variance of +(£8k).

Procurement Forecast

nil variance

Customer Transformation & 

Business Support

Forecast

Overspend due to inflationary pressures for energy costs prices +£27k.

Further overspends due to Board remuneration +£39k and corporate subscriptions +£27k are mostly offset by general pay 

underspend (£24k) and other building costs (£30k).

Other minor net variances of (£7k).

Service Area Explanation of forecast variance / Explanation for movement in variance from previous period

Chief Executive Forecast

(£244k) underspend due to (one-off) unallocated budget held by Chief Executive.

Housing & Communities Forecast

Overspends due to inflationary/ contractual pressures for energy costs prices +£442k, new cleaning contract inplementation 

+£46k and CCTV contract additional cost +£25k.

There are further variances expected due to depreciation costs for SCH-owned developments +£36k, furniture within 

temporary accommodation +£34k, pressure from continuing use of budget hotels +£26k, continuing demand for tenant 

medicals +£18k.  

Standby costs recharge to Wellbeing +£31k is offset within Asset Management.

Other net variances of +£3k.
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Appendix A

Financial Dashboard as at Jun-22 - Period 3

Part 3. 1-4-1 Receipts

Cumulative 

Required Spend

Cumulative Actual 

Spend to date
Spend Required

Cumulative 

Purchases

Match Funding 

Required
Received To be spent by £ £ £ Required ¹ £

2016/17 2021/22 368,516 1,078,000
2017/18 2022/23 516,503
2018/19 2023/24 1,143,429 65,429 2 98,144 

2019/20

Part 4. Reserves

Balance 01/04/2022

£000

Forecast use 

2022/23

£000

Forecast use 

2023/24 

£000

Forecast use 

2024/25 

£000

Forecast Balance 

31/03/2025

£000

(1,500) 0 0 0 (1,500)

(996) 240 130 0 (626)

(923) 0 0 0 (923)

(5,960) 1,726 1,253 385 (2,596)

(9,379) 1,966 1,383 385 (5,645)

Balance

01/04/2022

£000

Forecast use 

2022/23

£000

Forecast use 

2023/24 

£000

Forecast use 

2024/25 

£000

Forecast Balance 

31/03/2025

£000

(5,362) 231 (536) (502) (6,169)

(1,407) 444 300 185 (478)

(212) 0 0 0 (212)

(2,369) 1,270 (271) (271) (1,641)

(534) 534 0 0 0 

(9,884) 2,479 (507) (588) (8,500)
(2,545) 1,510 214 26 (795)

(2,587) 2,587 0 0 0 

(12,885) 6,781 (1,897) (1,897) (9,898)

(55) 3 0 0 (52)

(18,072) 10,881 (1,683) (1,871) (10,745)
(27,956) 13,360 (2,190) (2,459) (19,245)

`

Part 5. Age of Outstanding Accounts Receivable Debts

Current Quarter      Previous Quarter

Part 6: Rent Collection

£11,557,985

£11,400,747

£11,196,574

98.64%

101.82%

Part 7. Debt Impairment

Total HRA Debt £
Impairment 

Required £
SCH Arrears

3,578,643 2,732,831 31-Mar-22

4,184,786 3,219,279 27-May-22

486,448
0

486,448
809,000Budget available for contribution to Debt Impairment Budget available for contribution to Debt Impairment 10,000 

Add: Net Write offs YTD Add: Net Write offs YTD 0 

TOTAL CHARGE TO DEBT IMPAIRMENT  TOTAL CHARGE TO DEBT IMPAIRMENT (5,787)

27-May-22 161,343 142,274 

Increase/ (Decrease) Increase/ (Decrease) (5,787)

Percentage rent collected of rent due

Percentage rent collected of rent due excl. arrears b/fwd

HRA Arrears Total SCH Debt £
 Impairment Required 

£ 
31-Mar-22 160,897 148,061 

HRA Income SCH income of  rent due £47,360

Rent Roll SCH Collection percentage 98.71%

TOTAL HRA RESERVES

HRA Income SCH Income
Overall Income Due SCH Rents collectable @ Jun-22 £47,980

RTB Receipts Reserves Forecast use includes £3.6m Bromford Phase 2 acquisition,£4.700m towards KHVC redevelopment - 

housing element and £312k RSAP match funding.

Capital Receipts Unapplied

sub-total HRA Capital Reserves

sub-total HRA Revenue Reserves
Major Repairs Reserve Spend includes £5.351m allocated to increased cost of High Rise Sprinklers retrofit.

High Rise Sprinklers Reserve

Earmarked: Regeneration

Earmarked: Capital investment Top-up annually through HRA budget (£2.000m), forecast use for acquisitions funding £1.728m and 

DIY Shared Ownership Scheme £1.000m

High Rise Sprinklers Reserve

Housing Revenue Account Reserves  

(held by SMBC)
Comments

Working Balances (minimum £2m) Overall HRA (Surplus)/ Deficit

Welfare Reform / HRA Balances Forecast use (3 years) includes £535k towards HRA Debt Impairment, further £226k for Mobysoft 

system, further £153k for agreed temporary WRR-funded posts.

BSR: Restructure costs 21/22 use: £160k Pay Award, £12k Fire Safety Posts , £13k Voids, £70k Early Leaver.

General Reserve Forecast use includes High Rise structural surveys £1.392m, Workflow project £1.004m, Home Options 

Office further £290k, 

TOTAL SCH RESERVES

Solihull Community Housing Reserves Comments

Minimum Working Balance

Budget Strategy Reserve (BSR) Forecast use includes £180k Digital Transformation, £90k Apprenticeships.

Cumulative 1-4-1 Receipts

No RTB receipts from 2019/20 onwards have been identified as required for use as 1-4-1 spend.

¹ Based on average purchase price of £146,000

From April 2021 the Pooling regulations changed to allow 5 years to spend the 1-4-1 receipts and to increase proportion of receipts that can fund 

properties from 30% to 40%. These changes have been reflected in the above Dashboard.
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Appendix B 

 

Table 1 - extracted from 17 May 2021 Housing Operations Committee   

 Current 
position 

£ 

2021/22 

£ 

2022/23 

£ 

2023/24 

£ 

Net Tariff Charge 
(kwh) 

£0.0950 £0.1125 £0.1300 £0.1475 

Tariff including VAT 
(kwh) 

£0.0998 £0.1181 £0.1365 £0.1549 

     

Annual cost per flat 
including VAT 

246.43 291.83 337.22 382.62 

Increase from Current 
Rate 

- + 45.40 + 90.79 + 136.19 

Weekly Cost 4.74 5.61 6.49 7.36 

Increase from current 
rate 

- + 0.87 + 1.75+ + 2.62 

 

Table 2 – Comparison of energy  
 
 

  

Current 

position 
2023 2024 2025 

£ £ £ £ 

Costs quoted including VAT per flat per year     

Average cost of Biomass per flat £301.19  £337.22  £448.89  £597.37  

Storage Heaters £923.40  £1,424.32  £1,481.22  £1,504.32  

Biomass cheaper than storage 

heaters by: 
(£622.21) (£1,087.10) (£1,032.33) (£906.95) 

          

Average cost of Biomass per flat £301.19  £337.22  £448.89  £597.37  

*Gas £292.92  £451.81  £469.99  £477.47  

Biomass more expensive/ 

(cheaper) than gas by: 
£8.27  (£114.58) (£21.10) £119.90  

*Increases based on 60% cap wef 1 October 2022  
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Table 3  - Phased approach to increasing cost to customer over a 3-year period 
by equal percentage each year (33.1%) 
 
 
Biomass Year 1 - 

Approved 
Tariff 

Inflation Year 2 Inflation Year 3 
 

  2023   2024   2025 
 

Net Tariff Charge (kwh) £0.1300 33.1% £0.1730 33.1% £0.2303 
 

Tariff including VAT (kwh) £0.1365 33.1% £0.1817 33.1% £0.2418 
 

            
 

Fuel costs for the Biomass 
System (Excl VAT) 

          
 

Gas £51,744  4.0% £53,814  1.5% £54,621  
 

Electricity £72,558  4.0% £75,461  1.5% £76,593  
 

Biomass Pellets £469,155  4.0% £487,921  1.5% £495,240  
 

Total Tariff Income (excl VAT) (£353,925) 33.1% (£470,993) 33.1% (£626,992) 
 

Net Cost to SCH £239,532  
 

£146,203  
 

(£538) 
 

TOTAL kWh Usage 2,722,501  
 

2,722,501  
 

2,722,501  
 

Number of Flats 1,102  
 

1,102  
 

1,102  
 

Average kWh per flat 2,471  
 

2,471  
 

2,471  
 

Average cost per flat £337.22 
 

£448.89 
 

£597.37 
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING 
 

FULL BOARD MEETING: 25 JULY 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE HEALTH, SAFETY & RISK SERVICE SMBC 

Health and Safety Quarterly Report 

April - June 2022 (Quarter 1) 

1. Purpose of Report / Introduction 

 The purpose of this report is to provide SCH ELT and Board with an update on 

legislative changes and guidance, corporate health and safety activity, any areas of 

specific concern and recommendations for improvement. 

 The SCH Board, Chief Executive and Executive Leadership Team (ELT) have overall 

accountability and responsibility for ensuring the effective management of health and 

safety within SCH. The success of the Health and Safety Management System in 

place relies on the commitment, engagement and support from all levels of managers 

and employees in the organisation. 

 The SMBC Health, Safety & Risk Service (HSRS) role is to provide health and safety 

competent assistance, advice and guidance to help the SCH Leadership Team to fulfil 

their health and safety responsibilities. 

2. Recommendation  

 The Board is recommended to: 

(i) NOTE the contents of this report. 

(ii) NOTE Appendix 1 - Barbour Legislation Update – Building Safety. 

(iii) NOTE Appendix 2 - Barbour update Reforming Fire Safety. 

(iv) NOTE Appendix 3 - Report on SCH Compliance with the Home Standard Duty. 

(v) NOTE Appendix 4 - Accident/Incident Reporting Analysis Q1 2022/23. 

(vi) NOTE AND AGREE Appendix 5 – Social Housing Accident Benchmarking 

data. Occupational Health and Safety and Building and Resident Safety Groups 

to analyse the data further and make recommendations as appropriate. 
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3. Regulatory Interventions 

 There were no Health and Safety Executive (HSE) visits made to SCH at the time of 

writing this report or any regulatory interventions this quarter. 

4. Legislative / Guidance Updates 

 The Personal Protective Equipment at Work (Amendment) Regulations 2022 (PPER 

2022) came into force on 6th April 2022. The PPER 2022 amend the current 

Regulations to extend employers’ and employees’ duties in respect of PPE to a wider 

group of workers. Further information can be found on the HSE website.  

 The HSE has issued a safety alert relating to ear loop 

masks/respirators. The HSE does not recommend using 

ear loop masks/respirators as tight-fitting RPE at work. 

New HSE research has revealed that respirators/masks 

which rely on ear loops to hold the respirator/mask in 

place, do not protect people adequately when used as 

tight-fitting RPE. For full details and further guidance 

view the safety alert. The SCH Stores Manager has been contacted and assurance 

has been provided that no masks of this nature are in use at SCH. 

 HSE continue to publish various e-Bulletins, and weekly digests. These can provide 

useful help and advice. There has been a noticeable reduction in the amount Covid-

19 related information as the country is now in the ‘Living with Covid’ phase. Bulletins 

issued have included: 

 Working safely at height, including safe use of step ladders. 

 Preventing slips, trips and falls. 

 Managing Homeworkers Safety. 

 HSE carried out construction site inspections throughout June 2022. The HSE health 

inspection initiative focused on the respiratory risks to construction workers from 

exposure to dust.  The initiative ran from 6th June – 1st July 2022 and aimed to support 

industry by raising awareness of health issues in relation to dust exposure to improve 

the long-term health of those working in construction.    

 HSE has issued updated advice regarding new mothers and pregnant women. An 

individual risk assessment must now be carried out for them. This should not change 

the SMBC and SCH approach, as this already requires managers to undertake an Page 142
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individual risk assessment that covers the employees’ specific needs when they 

inform managers in writing that they: 

 are pregnant 

 have given birth in the last 6 months, or 

 are breastfeeding. 

 HSE have updated webpages that provide advice on talking to workers and protecting 

them from common risks like working at height and lifting heavy loads. You can find 

guidance on rest and breastfeeding at work, as well as details of when pregnant 

workers and new mothers can work at night. There is dedicated advice for workers 

themselves and HSE have also produced a video with practical advice on how to keep 

pregnant workers and new mothers safe.  

 The HSE consultation has now closed on the post implementation review of the Gas 

Safety (Installation and Use) (Amendment) Regulations (2018) Regulation 36 - Duties 

of Landlords. A wide range of stakeholders from the housing, and gas installation and 

maintenance sectors have provided feedback so that the HSE can ensure the 

regulations are meeting industry needs effectively. The Gas Safety (Installation and 

Use) Regulations (GSIUR) 1998 deal with the safe installation, maintenance and use 

of gas systems, including gas fittings, appliances and flues, mainly in domestic and 

commercial premises.  

 The 2018 Amendments came into force in April 2018. The main objective and 

intended effect of the amendments to regulation 36(a) and 36(3) were to allow 

flexibility in the timing of landlord’s gas safety checks and prevent any unnecessary 

shortening of the annual gas safety check cycle. This allowed landlords to carry out 

gas safety checks on their properties up to two calendar months before the expiry 

date of their current safety check but retain the original deadline date. 

5. Living with Covid-19 update 

 The country has now moved to the ‘Living with Covid’ phase of the pandemic. 

However, cases of Covid-19 are still relatively high and personal caution is advised. 

 Staff should be encouraged to work from home where they have any cold and/or flu 

symptoms, especially as free rapid lateral flow tests ceased to be freely available on 

31st March 2022. Staff should continue to be encouraged to get all their vaccinations, 

including any Booster vaccinations. 
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 Further updates will only be provided if the current situation changes, or new advice 

is issued. SMBC have published useful updates on their intranet. 

6. Building and Resident Safety 

 The government is introducing new building safety reforms in the wake of the Grenfell 

Tower fire. HSE is now the new Building Safety Regulator (BSR) as part of these 

reforms. Building control professionals and private sector building control 

organisations will have to register with BSR. Registration will open October 2023.  

 The BSR is currently working on what the competences for Building Control 

professionals will be and how people will have to show the right skills, knowledge, 

experience and behaviours to get onto the register. Options being considered include: 

 completing the Building Safety Competence Foundation assessment 

 academic qualifications 

 NVQs 

 experience on the job 

 The BSR expect that building professionals will need continued professional 

development (CPD) to maintain their future registrations. Early drafts of some of our 

registration products have been published. There will be a public consultation on them 

in summer 2022. Building safety reforms - Health and Safety Executive - Citizen 

Space (hse.gov.uk) 

 The Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (Amendment) Regulations 2022 regulations 

will come into force on 1st October 2022. These amend the 2015 regulations to require 

landlords to install smoke alarms and carbon monoxide detectors in homes with gas 

boilers and fires.  

7. Building Safety Act Update 

 The Building Safety Bill has now become The Building Safety Act as of 28th April 2022. 

In summary, the new Building Safety Act will bring in a number of measures intended 

to make buildings and residents safer. They include the formation of a new Building 

Safety Regulator within HSE, whose role is to enforce a more stringent regulatory 

regime for buildings of 18m and over, as well as overseeing safety and standards in 

buildings of all heights. Appendix 1 provides a useful update from Barbour on the 

Building Safety Act. 
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8. Grenfell Tower Inquiry 

 June 14th, 2022, saw the fifth anniversary of the Grenfell Tower fire where sadly 72 

people died. The Grenfell Tower Inquiry continues. The inquiry has its own website 

for updates at  https://www.grenfelltowerinquiry.org.uk/ 

9. Fire Safety Act 

 Sections 1 (premises to which the Fire Safety Order FSO applies) and 3 (risk-based 

guidance about the discharge of duties under the FSO) of the Fire Safety Act 2021 

commenced on 16 May 2022. 

 The Fire Safety Act 2021 amends the FSO to clarify that, in buildings with two or more 

sets of domestic premises, the FSO applies to these two elements: 

 the structure and external walls of the building, including cladding, balconies and 

windows and 

 all doors between the domestic premises and the common parts (e.g. entrance 

doors to individual flats which open on to common parts) 

 The effect of the Act will be to require fire risk assessments of buildings with two or 

more sets of domestic premises to be updated to take account of structure, external 

walls and doors, as described above, if they have not already done so. Appendix 2 

provides a useful update from Barbour on Fire Safety legislation reforms. 

10. Fire Safety (England) Regulations 2022 

 The Fire Safety (England) Regulations 2022 introduce new duties under the Fire 

Safety Order for building owners or managers (responsible persons). It is intended 

that these regulations come into force on 23rd January 2023 and will implement a 

number of recommendations from phase one of the Grenfell Tower Inquiry. The 

graphic below provides a useful summary of the requirements contained in the 

regulations. 

 The above Regulations did not implement the requirement for PEEPs (Personal 

Emergency Evacuation Plans) and evacuation plans. These were originally a 

recommendation from the Inquiry. The Government ran a separate consultation on 

the issue of PEEPs between 8th June and 19th July 2021. The PEEPs consultation 

has made clear the substantial difficulties of mandating PEEPs in high-rise residential 

buildings. The Government recognise that this is an important issue and so they are 

consulting on an alternative solution. For further details on this consultation please 
Page 145
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follow this link. This predominantly affects buildings without a ‘stay put’ fire 

evacuation strategy.  

 The Inquiry recommendation on evacuation plans has a clear link with the issue of 

PEEPs and therefore the Government intend to deal with evacuation from high-rise, 

and other residential buildings, as a single issue. Responsible persons will be required 

to provide residents with fire safety instructions which set out how they should respond 

to a fire and a reminder of their building’s existing evacuation strategy. 

Fire Safety (England) Regulations 2022 at a glance 

 

11. Building Safety Implementation Plan (SCH) 

 Progress has been made on the development of the Building Safety 

Implementation Plan for SCH. The plan will be monitored by several different boards 

and groups as part of the overall governance arrangements in place across SCH and 

SMBC. The interim Executive Director of Asset Management and Development has 

prepared a separate report for SCH Board outlining further details. 
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12. The Home Standard Duty  

 Data on compliance with the Home Standard Duty for this quarter is included in 

Appendix 3. 

13. Health, Safety & Risk Service - SMBC 

 The SMBC Health, Safety and Risk Service continue to provide health and safety 

support to SCH. During this reporting period this has included: 

 Drafting a manager self-assessment checklist that is to be completed by Senior 

Leadership Team SLT managers by 1st July 2022. This will enable managers to 

identify gaps in their management of health and safety. The information will be 

used to populate a health and safety plan for occupational health and safety. 

 Finalising a revised health and safety policy for SCH. It is planned to launch this 

in July 2022. 

 Planning has started re the formation of three task and finish groups for 

Occupational Health and Safety issues, including Risk Assessment, PPE 

provision and manual handling. These groups aim to address common audit 

findings across SCH. 

 Supporting the SCH Task and Finish Group in looking at information sharing of 

vulnerable residents for emergency evacuation purposes in line with planned 

Government proposals.  

 Continuing to provide support to the Estates Management Team and the 

Responsive Repairs Team and other teams on their health and safety 

improvement journey, including: 

o The ongoing review of risk assessments being inputted onto the Assure 

system. 

o Providing ad-hoc health and safety advice, including creating a community 

garden and lone working advice. 

o Providing support re health and safety training needs and training matrices 

for Responsive Repairs staff.  

 Attending the Building and Resident Safety monthly meetings as well as the 

quarterly Occupational Health and Safety Group. 
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 Attending the West Midlands Social Housing Group meeting. 

 An updated policy tracker has now been issued based on the revised health and 

safety governance arrangements within SCH and will be reviewed at the Building 

and Resident and Occupational Health and Safety Groups.  

 Ongoing support and advice on various health and safety related topics and input 

into revised governance arrangements.   

14. Health and Safety Management Audits 

 Planned audits have been undertaken and reports provided to senior management 

for the Stores and Logistics Team and Saxon Court. Some areas of good practice 

included a positive can-do attitude towards resolving any health and safety issues 

found at both sites, a good level of documentation to evidence measures in place, and 

overall, both areas audited were very tidy and well managed. However, a common 

area requiring improvement in both audits was not having up to date and/or reviewed 

risk assessments in place. 

 Ongoing support and advice is being provided to both teams to assist them with 

completing their actions identified during the audits, in particular supporting with the 

process of updating their risk assessments and inputting them onto the online 

reporting system, Assure. 

 Workplace inspections are planned in July 2022 for Endeavour House and 

Chapelhouse Hub. Community Centres inspections are to follow these. The inspection 

process focuses on the identification and evaluation of health and safety hazards in 

the workplace environment. 

15. Assure Health and Safety Management System 

 Incidents reported via the Assure system continue to be reviewed to ensure incidents 

are investigated and that performance data provided is accurate. Information provided 

is slowly improving. This has been helped through the Health, Safety & Risk Service’s 

continued support, bespoke guidance and training to managers. There are also 

Assure system briefing sessions available to staff. 

16. Accident/Incident Reporting Analysis Q1 2022/23 

 There were 26 incidents during this quarter. A detailed breakdown is appended to this 

report in Appendix 4. 

Page 148



   
  
 

 

 There was one lost time RIDDOR reportable incident this quarter to an employee. This 

involved a Stores employee aggravating an existing medical condition whilst 

unblocking the compactor. 

 There was an incident involving the attempted theft of an employee’s scooter as he 

was riding it around the north of the Borough, whilst at work. The employee was badly 

shaken, but unhurt. 

17. Social Housing Accident Benchmarking 

 To provide a comparison of accident data across housing associations and other local 

authority registered providers, a benchmarking exercise was undertaken with 

members of the West Midlands Social Housing Group. This was a request from the 

SCH Board as part of their forward plan. 

 Responses were received from four organisations (Birmingham City Council, Dudley 

Metropolitan Borough Council, Bromford Housing and Trident Housing Association). 

A summary of this data is appended to this report in Appendix 5. A full breakdown 

document has also been produced and it is recommended that the Occupational 

Health and Safety and Building and Resident Safety Groups carry out work to analyse 

this data further and make recommendations as appropriate. 

 Consideration should also be given to repeat this exercise in the future, considering 

data from a wider list of housing associations to make further comparisons. 

18. Equality and Diversity Implications 

 Equality and diversity are routinely considered by SCH when dealing with health and 

safety issues, for example when inspecting communal areas so that corridors and 

pathways are clear to ensure safety for people with mobility issues.  

 

 

 

REPORT AUTHORS: Jane Carter, Senior Health and Safety Advisor 

    SMBC Health, Safety & Risk Service 

    jane.carter@solihull.gov.uk 

     

Mark Wills, Health, Safety & Risk Manager 

    SMBC Health, Safety & Risk Service 

    mark.wills@solihull.gov.uk 
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Legislation Update
May 2022 

The Building Safety Act 2022
On 28 April 2022, the Building Safety Bill received Royal Assent to 
become the Building Safety Act 2022. 

After months of debate and amendment, the Bill completed all the par-

liamentary stages in both Houses and has become an Act of Parliament. 

Described as ‘an important milestone’, the 264 page Act aims to pave the 

way for major change in the way residential buildings are constructed and 

maintained in the UK while protecting the rights of leaseholders. It fol-

lows the 2017 Grenfell Tower disaster and the consequential independent 

Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety by Dame Judith Hackitt.

The Health and Safety Executive (HSE), as the Building Safety Regulator 

(BSR), will build a more rigorous and robust regulatory regime for high-

rise buildings in England. Peter Baker, Chief Inspector of Buildings said: 

“The Building Safety Act introduces tough new measures for the safety 

and quality of buildings which will be enforced by the new independent 

regulator being established in HSE.

“I call on everyone involved in the design, construction and management 

of buildings in England to now step up, get ready for the changes, and 

work together to drive the necessary culture change to protect people and 

deliver safe and good quality buildings”.

While many of the provisions will not come into force for some months 

yet—requiring secondary legislation to be published—below is a round-up 

of some of the key areas of the Act.

“I call on everyone involved 
in the design, construction 
and management of buildings 
in England to protect people 
and deliver safe and good 
quality buildings”
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From October 2023, building 
owners will assume responsibility 
for fire and safety risks

Building Safety Regulator (BSR)

The BSR (sections 2–30) will have three main functions:

• overseeing the safety and standards of all buildings

• helping and encouraging the built environment industry and 

building control professionals to improve their competence

• leading implementation of the new regulatory framework for high-

rise buildings.

The BSR will independently oversee building control bodies (BCBs) and 

their professionals.

Chief Inspector of Buildings 

Peter Baker is the Chief Inspector of Buildings at the HSE and 

responsible for assembling and leading the BSR. He has explained 

that significant change in the industry will become obvious from April 

2023, when buildings will need to be registered with the BSR and new 

building-control standards will arrive.

From October 2023, building owners will assume responsibility for fire 

and safety risks, with the BSR then “able to flex our muscles as a regu-

lator in ensuring that building owners actually deliver their responsibili-

ties”, he said. The building gateway system will follow, with the industry 

“on notice to produce their certificate applications and safety cases”, 

from around April 2024.

Which buildings will be regulated?

The BSR will regulate high-rise buildings. These are buildings with 

seven or more storeys or that are 18 metres or higher, and either:

• have at least 2 residential units

• are hospitals or care homes (during design and construction).

Enforcement

When it comes to enforcement (sections 22–24), the BSR will have the 

power to enforce compliance with building regulations and will seek to 

target enforcement activity at cases where action is needed. It says it 

will work closely with existing regulators such as local authorities and 

fire and rescue authorities. 

The BSR will have the authority to prosecute individuals of corporate 

bodies (who have contravened building regulations) and other individu-

als / bodies who have defined roles and duties under the Act.

Committees

The BSR will also have to establish and maintain the following specific 

committees:

• Residents’ Panel

• Industry Competence Committee

• Building Advisory Committee.
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Dutyholders

The Act requires that all dutyholders are 

competent. This means that the individu-

als appointed to hold these regulated 

positions must possess the necessary 

knowledge, skills and experience in or-

der to carry out their roles. Dutyholders 

(section 34) are those persons and 

organisations who commission, design 

and undertake building work to which 

building regulations apply. For example:

• Client

• Principal Designer

• Designers

• Principal Contractor

• Contractors.

Construction Products Regulator

A Construction Products Regulator will also be established. This will be a national regulator, 

set up by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC), and estab-

lished within the Office for Product Safety and Standards (OPSS). It will work with the BSR 

and Trading Standards to encourage and enforce compliance.

It will have powers to remove dangerous products from the market and take action against 

those who do not comply with the regulations. Where manufacturers are found to have 

non-compliant product on the UK market, the intention is for the regulator to have the power 

to recall those products, to require that they be withdrawn from the market, and to issue 

civil penalties, including fines. Where a criminal offence has been committed under the new 

construction product regulations, sanctions will include fines, imprisonment or both.

The regulator will also have the ability to conduct its own product-testing when investigating 

concerns.

A Construction Products Regulator 
will have powers to remove 
dangerous products from the market
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Accountable Person

Part 4 (Section 72) of the Act identifies new dutyholders—‘Accountable Persons’ (APs)—for resi-

dential high-rise buildings (HRBs). This will be the organisation or person who owns or has respon-

sibility for the building. It may also be an organisation or person who is responsible for maintaining 

the common parts of a building, for example corridors or lobbies.

The AP will usually be an organisation or business but could also be an individual. For a building 

with just one Accountable Person, that person will automatically become the Principal Accountable 

Person for that building. Where there are multiple APs for a building, one person will be designat-

ed as the Principal Accountable Person (either the building owner or the person responsible as  

per above).

Accountable Person responsibilities include:

• registering the building and applying for a Building Assurance Certificate

• carrying out a risk assessment of higher-risk buildings as soon as possible

• taking all reasonable steps to prevent building safety risks materialising and reduce the 

severity of any incident 

• developing and maintaining a safety case and submitting a Safety Case Report to the 

Building Safety Regulator

• producing a residents’ engagement strategy promoting ‘the participation of relevant persons 

in the making of building safety decisions’

• providing prescribed information

• setting up a complaints system

• taking the lead responsibility for coordinating the golden thread of safety information for the building, keeping the golden thread updated and 

ensuring it is accurate and accessible.

It will be the duty of 
the people responsible 
for a building to put 
in place and maintain 
a golden thread of 
information

Golden Thread

There is a requirement under the Act 

for a ‘golden thread’ of information to be 

maintained at all times to demonstrate 

that a building is compliant with the 

appropriate building regulations, during 

the construction phase. This also seeks 

to identify, understand, manage and 

mitigate ongoing building safety risks 

throughout the building’s lifecycle. 

It will be the duty of the people respon-

sible for a building to put in place and 

maintain a golden thread of information. 

The golden thread needs to be created 

before building work starts and the 

golden thread must be kept updated 

throughout the design and construction 

process.

Specific requirements for the golden 

thread will be set out in secondary 

legislation.
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Information and documents

Gateways

Three gateways are established at key stages in design and construc-

tion, introducing new requirements during construction, that will apply to 

higher-risk buildings:

• Planning Gateway one—at the planning application stage (does 

not form part of the Building Safety Act)

• Gateway two—before building work starts

• Gateway three—when building work is completed.

Gateways two and three will provide rigorous inspection of building 

regulations requirements, ensuring that building safety is considered at 

each stage of design and construction. These must be passed before a 

development can proceed.

Registration and certification

As part of the new building safety regime, a system of checks on high-

rise residential buildings will be introduced. These checks will be carried 

out by the Building Safety Regulator.

All occupied high-rise residential buildings will need to be registered 

with the regulator. The regulator will publish the information from 

registration in a national register of high-rise residential buildings.

Those responsible for high-rise residential buildings will need to apply 

to the regulator for a Building Assessment Certificate (sections 76 to 

82). The Building Assessment Certificate will be displayed within the 

building where it can be seen by residents. An application for a Building 

Assessment Certificate must be accompanied by supporting documen-

tation, including a copy of the most recent safety case report for the 

building, information demonstrating compliance by each AP, and a copy 

of any residents’ engagement strategy.

Safety case

The aim of the safety case regime is to ensure that those responsible 

for buildings (the Accountable Persons) deliver a continuous preventa-

tive and proactive approach to managing building safety risks.

All in scope high-rise residential buildings that are at least 18 metres in 

height or at least 7 storeys, will have to develop and maintain a safety 

case and submit a Safety Case Report to the Building Safety Regulator 

(sections 85). The Principal Accountable Person will be responsible for 

ensuring the Safety Case Report is complete and updated when neces-

sary and submitted to the Building Safety Regulator for assessment.

To build a Safety Case, Accountable Persons will be required to identify 

and assess building safety risks and take reasonable steps to ensure 

those risks are reduced and controlled to a proportionate level on an 

ongoing basis.

Mandatory occurrence reporting 

A requirement for mandatory reporting to the new Building Safety 

Regulator of fire and structural safety occurrences which could cause a 

significant risk to life safety is set out (section 87).

Information to support residents’ engagement

The Principal Accountable Person must produce a strategy that 

promotes the participation of residents in the decision-making process 

about the building safety risks in their building. 

Three gateways are established 
at key stages in design and 
construction
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Residents

Those managing or owning higher-risk buildings will be required to put in place resident 

engagement strategies which will allow residents to obtain information and be consulted about 

matters and decisions affecting the safety of their building (section 91).

Relevant persons means residents of the higher-risk building aged 16 or over, and owners of 

residential units in the building.

Safety-related obligations for residents of higher-risk buildings are set out (sections 95–96), and 

where residents fall short of their obligations the Accountable Person can pursue compliance 

through the county courts.

The Building Safety Regulator must establish a committee known as the ‘Residents’ Panel’ 

(section 11), giving residents a voice in the work of the regulator. The Residents’ Panel may 

include non-resident owners as well as residents, given their direct interest.

The Principal Accountable Person will be responsible for ensuring Accountable Persons have a 

clear and effective building safety complaints process for residents.

The strategy must include information 

about:

• the information that will be provided 

to relevant persons about decisions 

relating to the management of the 

building

• the aspects of those decisions that 

relevant persons will be consulted 

about

• the arrangements for obtaining 

and taking account of the views of 

relevant persons

• how the appropriateness of methods 

for promoting participation will be 

measured and kept under review.

The Building Safety Regulator 
must establish a committee 
known as the ‘Residents’ 
Panel’,giving residents a voice in 
the work of the regulator

Page 157



8LEGISLATION UPDATE MAY 2022

Fire Safety Clause 156

Clause 156 of the Act makes amendments to the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (FSO) that seek to strengthen fire safety require-

ments for non-domestic premises, which include the common parts of high-rise residential buildings subject to the new regime. The FSO places fire 

safety duties on the Responsible Person (RP) who has control of these premises so that the RP (amongst other things):

• record their fire risk assessment in full

• ensure that they do not appoint a person to assist them in making 

or reviewing a fire risk assessment unless the person is competent

• record the identity of any person appointed by the RP to assist 

them—with making or reviewing an assessment under Article 9

• record their fire safety arrangements

• take reasonable steps to ascertain whether there are any other 

RPs that share or have duties in respect of the premises

• inform the other RPs concerned of their name; an address in the 

United Kingdom at which they, or someone acting on their behalf, 

will accept notices and other documents; and the part of the prem-

ises for which they consider themselves to be an RP, and keep a 

record of that information

• when an RP (the outgoing RP) ceases to be an RP and another 

person becomes the RP, the outgoing RP must give the incoming 

RP any relevant fire safety information they hold. The RP must 

keep records of relevant fire safety information in order to do so. 

This provision contains a regulation making power enabling the 

Secretary of State to extend the list of relevant fire safety informa-

tion that must be provided and to include details of the times when, 

and the form in which, all of the information must be provided.

Further amendments will be made, including an increase in the level of 

fines available to the courts to the maximum level (unlimited), for the of-

fences of impersonating a fire safety inspector and non-compliance with 

requirements imposed by an inspector and in relation to the installation 

of luminous tube signs.

The Fire Safety clause is intended to:

• increase transparency of regulated activities through the recording 

and sharing of fire safety information, including with residents

• encourage competence in those appointed to undertake fire risk 

assessments, including the fire risk assessor sector

• proportionately align the FSO to the building safety regime

• support greater compliance with, and effective enforcement of, 

FSO requirements.

The FSO applies to all non-domestic premises in England and in Wales 

where it is a devolved matter, including workplace buildings and the 

common parts of buildings containing two or more sets of domestic 

premises.

The Responsible Person (RP)
must record their fire safety 
arrangements
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Disclaimer

Legislation updates are provided by Barbour for general guidance on matters of interest. In making these documents available to a general and diverse audience it is not possible to  
anticipate the requirements or the hazards of any particular subscriber’s business. Users are therefore advised to carefully evaluate the contents and adapt the legislation updates to suit the 
requirements of each situation or activity. Barbour does not accept any liability whatsoever for injury, damage or other losses which may arise from reliance on this information and the use 
of these documents.

Copyright of these documents remains with Barbour and whilst subscribers are permitted to make use of them for their own purposes, permission is not granted for resale of the intellectual 
property to third parties.

Building Safety Manager—removed 

The establishment of a new legal role of Building Safety Manager, to 

provide a single point of responsibility and which was one of Dame 

Judith Hackitt’s key recommendations, was dropped during the passage 

of the Bill through Parliament. It was included in the draft Bill but was 

deleted on 22 March following evidence that it would mean substantial 

extra cost for leaseholders.

Transition plan

Despite the Bill now becoming law, many of the provisions will not come 

into force until twelve to eighteen months from the date of Royal Assent, 

requiring the formation of secondary legislation and to prepare the 

industry for the new regime. In some areas, consultation with industry 

will be required. In July 2021, the Government published an estimated 

transition plan of the main regime. This may change in the coming 

months but gives a general idea of the timeframes in mind. 

Secondary legislation

Secondary legislation will provide much of the detail of the provisions 

put forward by the Building Safety Act. The DLUHC will be responsible 

for establishing most of the secondary legislation. The assumption is 

that full powers will come into force within 12–18 months of the Bill 

receiving Royal Assent. 

From debate to change

The Building Safety Act 2022 now being enshrined in law has been described as a final “wake up and smell the coffee” moment for the 

building industry—described as such by Dame Judith Hackett. The focus now, she says, has shifted from debate to how change will happen, 

as quickly and as effectively as possible. 
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ABOUT BARBOUR EHS: HOW CAN WE HELP YOU?

Keeping your organisation compliant is a time-consuming—but essential—process. When researching health, safety and environmental laws and 

regulations, how do you know that you are looking at the latest versions? Does the legislation even apply to your business? And how do you keep up 

to date with upcoming legislation changes, consultations and draft legislation?

Barbour EHS is here to help you cut through the information overload and get straight to what matters.

Barbour provides a simplified, all-in-one solution to help you remain compliant with your health, safety and environmental obligations. Our Service 

brings you guidance, content and legislation from over 800 trusted and official industry sources to help you filter down to what applies to you. 

Bookmarking features and content alerts mean you’ll never miss an important update. 

Legislation is supported by summaries to help you quickly establish which laws apply to you, and Barbour’s fully editable suite of resources for use 

within your business and amongst your teams provide guidance and information on over 250 key topics. Our Service can help you stay efficient, 

compliant, and up to date—we help you get the right information to the decision-makers within your business.

No other service provides both the legislation library and the communication tool, enabling us to provide you with a fully comprehensive and unrivalled 

service.

FEATURES INCLUDE:

Daily updates: Our complete library of content and legislation is updated daily. You get advanced warning of what is coming out in the future and 

alerts when it changes.

Legal registers: Creating a legal register is a job in its own right—so we’ve done the legwork for you. Build your legal register with our pre-populated 

facility.

Legislation summaries: These summaries simplify important legislation, explaining how it affects you and your business. Importantly, these summa-

ries tell you exactly what is required to be compliant and detail legislation which is amended. 

Weekly current awareness briefing: Providing a comprehensive round-up of industry news, reports and prosecutions to keep you up to date with 

relevant developments.

Training tools: Take your pick from easy-to-read guides, handouts, videos, editable tools and ready-made training documents to easily influence your 

organisation’s culture and train your teams.

GET IN TOUCH

With different modules and product areas available, we can work out a bespoke package that suits your needs. Get in touch with our team today or 

book a free demo to discover a solution that fits you and your company’s requirements: tel: 0845 300 0241 or email: enquiries@barbour-ehs.com or 

visit the website: www.barbour-ehs.com

Save time, remain compliant, trust Barbour.
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Reforming Fire Safety 
 
In May, the government announced comprehensive plans for the fire reform agenda and introduced a 
package of fire safety measures. Amongst the announcement came the commencement of the Fire Safety 
Act, the introduction of the Fire Safety Regulations 2022, a series of informative factsheets, and 
consultations seeking views to finalise plans for further changes. Taken together, this is about: 
 
• implementing a package of measures to improve fire safety 

• driving forward reform of the Fire and Rescue Service with the launch of the Fire Reform White Paper 
and consultation  

• improving transparency and engaging the public. 

 
All of this comes on the back of recommendations from the Grenfell Tower Inquiry Phase 1 report. With so 
much information to digest, below we set out an overview of this important content. 
 
 

Commencement of The Fire Safety Act 2021 
 
The Fire Safety Act 2021 was commenced in full on 16 May 2022. This clarifies that structure, external walls 
and flat entrance doors of blocks of flats are within scope of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 
(the Fire Safety Order) and ensure that they are included in that building’s fire risk assessment. 
 
The Fire Safety Act clarifies the scope of the Fire Safety Order (FSO) to make clear it applies to the structure, 
external walls (including cladding and balconies) and individual flat entrance doors between domestic 
premises and the common parts of a multi-occupied residential building. 
 
The Responsible Person must consider these parts when conducting fire risk assessments. 
 
 

Fire Safety Act Factsheets 
 
Information on commencement of Sections 1 and 3 of the Fire Safety Act 
 
This factsheet is intended to provide information about the Fire Safety Act to Responsible Persons and other 
interested parties on commencement of sections 1 and 3 of the Fire Safety Act. Sections 1 and 3 of the Fire 
Safety Act commenced on 16 May 2022. 
 
Section 1 clarifies that where a building contains two or more sets of domestic premises the Responsible 
Person must take account of structure, external walls and flat entrance doors in a fire risk assessment. The 
Fire Safety Act amends article 6 of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order Act 2005 (FSO) in this regard. 
 
Section 3 makes clear that if a Responsible Person has followed the article 50 commencement guidance, 
which can also include use of the Fire Risk Assessment Prioritisation Tool, then they may then be able to use 
evidence of this compliance to demonstrate that they have met with their obligations under the Fire Safety 
Order (specifically the elements clarified by the Fire Safety Act). If a Responsible Person has not complied 
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with the guidance or the prioritisation tool, they may need to provide alternative evidence of how they have 
complied with this aspect of their FSO obligations. 
 
Fire Risk Assessment Prioritisation Tool 
 
Section one of the Fire Safety Act amends the FSO to clarify that fire risk assessments for all multi-occupied 
residential buildings should be updated to include structure, external walls, and flat entrance doors. 
 
A new Fire Risk Assessment Prioritisation Tool is made available from commencement of sections 1 and 3 of 
the Fire Safety Act. The prioritisation tool is an online tool designed to support Responsible Persons to 
develop a prioritisation strategy for updating their fire risk assessments following commencement of section 
1 of the Fire Safety Act. 
 
The prioritisation tool is not designed to be a risk rating tool to determine whether a building is safe or 
unsafe. It is not a replacement for a fire risk assessment. 
 
The prioritisation tool should only be used by Responsible Persons. This is very important as only Responsible 
Persons have the legal obligation under the FSO to carry out the fire risk assessment. 
 
Fire Safety Act 2021 factsheet: Information for lenders 
 
Before the Act, there was ambiguity as to whether the external walls and flat entrance doors of a multi-
occupied residential building should be included in the fire risk assessment for the building required under 
the FSO. 
 
The Fire Safety Act clarifies that the FSO applies to the structure, external walls (including balconies, doors 
and windows) and flat entrance doors in multi-occupied residential buildings with two or more sets of 
domestic premises. 
 
The Act will require Responsible Persons of multi-occupied residential buildings with two or more sets of 
domestic premises to update their fire risk assessment to include an assessment of the building’s structure, 
external walls, and flat entrance doors. In some cases, a Responsible Person will be able to update the fire 
risk assessment themselves, however where the update requires an assessment of materials that make up a 
building’s external wall system the Responsible Person may need to contract a suitably competent fire risk 
assessor to undertake that assessment for them. 
 
 

The Fire Safety (Regulations) 2022 
 
The Fire Safety (England) Regulations 2022 will implement the majority of the recommendations made by 
the Grenfell Tower Inquiry in its Phase 1 report which required a change in the law. 
 
The Regulations seek to improve the fire safety of blocks of flats. They apply to Responsible Persons of high-
rise and other multi-occupied residential buildings and are of interest to the Fire and Rescue Service. A 
Responsible Person is defined in Article 3(b)(i) of the Fire Safety Order 2005.  
 
The Regulations include a definition of what is meant by a “high-rise residential building” (Regulation 3). The 
definition will align with that used in the Building Safety Act 2022 for a “higher risk building” – one that is at 
least 18 metres in height or has seven or more storeys.  
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In order to allow Responsible Persons and the Fire and Rescue Service time to prepare and for supporting 
guidance to be published on the new duties imposed by the Regulations, the Regulations come into force on 
23 January 2023. 
 
For high-rise residential buildings (a multi-occupied residential building at least 18 metres in height or 7 or 
more storeys), responsible persons must: 
 
• share electronically with their local fire and rescue service (FRS) information about the building’s 

external wall system and provide the FRS with electronic copies of floor plans and building plans for the 
building 

• keep hard copies of the building’s floor plans, in addition to a single page orientation plan of the 
building, and the name and UK contact details of the responsible person in a secure information box 
which is accessible by firefighters 

• install wayfinding signage in all high-rise buildings which is visible in low light conditions 

• establish a minimum of monthly checks on lifts which are for the use of firefighters in high-rise 
residential buildings and on essential pieces of firefighting equipment 

• inform the FRS if a lift used by firefighters or one of the pieces of firefighting equipment is out of order 
for longer than 24 hours. 

 
For multi-occupied residential buildings over 11 metres in height, responsible persons must: 
 
• undertake quarterly checks on all communal fire doors and annual checks on flat entrance doors. 

 
In all multi-occupied residential buildings, responsible persons must: 
 
• provide residents with relevant fire safety instructions and information about the importance of fire 

doors. 
 
 

Fire Safety (Regulations) 2022 Factsheets 
 
Seven factsheets have been published by the Home Office to explain the provisions set out in the 
Regulations. The factsheets are as follows: 
 
• Fact sheet: Secure information box (regulation 4) 

• Fact sheet: Design and materials of external walls (regulation 5) 

• Fact sheet: Floor plans and building plan (regulation 6) 

• Fact sheet: Lifts and essential fire-fighting equipment (regulation 7) 

• Fact sheet: Wayfinding signage (regulation 8) 

• Fact sheet: Information to residents (regulation 9) 

• Fact sheet: Fire doors (regulation 10) 
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To summarise, in high-rise residential buildings, responsible persons will be required to address: 
 
• Information Boxes: install and maintain a secure information box in their building. This box must 

contain the name and contact details of the Responsible Person and hard copies of the building floor 
plans. 

• External Wall Systems: provide to their local Fire and Rescue Service information about the design and 
materials of a high-rise building’s external wall system and to inform the Fire and Rescue Service of any 
material changes to these walls. Also, they will be required to provide information in relation to the level 
of risk that the design and materials of the external wall structure gives rise to and any mitigating steps 
taken. 

• Floor and Building Plans: provide their local Fire and Rescue Service with up-to-date electronic building 
floor plans and to place a hard copy of these plans, alongside a single page building plan which identifies 
key firefighting equipment, in a secure information box on site. 

• Lifts and Essential Fire-Fighting Equipment: undertake monthly checks on the operation of lifts 
intended for use by firefighters, and evacuation lifts in their building and check the functionality of other 
key pieces of firefighting equipment. They will also be required to report any defective lifts or 
equipment to their local Fire and Rescue Service as soon as possible after detection if the fault cannot 
be fixed within 24 hours, and to record the outcome of checks and make them available to residents. 

• Wayfinding Signage: to install signage visible in low light or smoky conditions that identify flat and floor 
numbers in the stairwells of relevant buildings. 

 
In all multi-occupied residential buildings with two or more sets of domestic premises, responsible persons 
will be required to: 
 
• Fire Safety Instructions: provide relevant fire safety instructions to their residents, which will include 

instructions on how to report a fire and any other instruction which sets out what a resident must do 
once a fire has occurred, based on the evacuation strategy for the building. 

• Fire Door Information: provide residents with information relating to the importance of fire doors in fire 
safety. 

 
In residential buildings with storeys over 11 metres in height, responsible persons will be required to: 
 
• Fire Doors: undertake annual checks of flat entrance doors and quarterly checks of all fire doors in the 

common parts. 
 
An overview factsheet is also available, which aims to provide information about the Regulations to residents 
and other interested parties. 
 
 

Personal Emergency Evacuation Plans (PEEPs) consultation response 
 
The Personal Emergency Evacuation Plans (PEEPs) consultation ran from 8 June to 19 July 2021. The 
government has published its response to the feedback from the consultation. The responses show that 
whilst respondents are strongly in favour of any measures that improve the fire safety of residents who are 
unable to self-evacuate in an emergency situation, there are serious concerns over the consequences of 
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PEEPs being introduced as proposed in this consultation. This means there will substantial difficulties 
mandating PEEPs in high-rise residential buildings. 
 
The government has therefore developed new proposals to address this and to improve safety for those 
vulnerable people living in the highest risk buildings – Emergency Evacuation Information Sharing +.  
 
 

Emergency Evacuation Information Sharing 
 
This consultation follows on from the PEEPs consultation, which raised significant issues covering three broad 
areas – practicality, proportionality and safety. The new EEIS+ consultation seeks views on alternative 
proposals to support the fire safety of residents who would need support to evacuate in an emergency. 
 
The proposals set out relate to residential buildings only and do not seek to change the existing 
arrangements, duties and responsibilities in commercial premises.  
 
The following proposals are set out: 
 
• defining the building evacuation strategy 

• identification of those needing support to evacuate 

• person-centred Fire Risk Assessment checklist 

• sharing information with local Fire & Rescue Service 

• the Fire & Rescue Service access and use of this information in the event of a fire. 

 
It is stressed that the EEIS+ proposal does not rule out the possibility of PEEPs (or similar) being put in place 
where the Responsible Person and resident agree that this is practical, proportionate and safe. The 
consultation period ends on 10 August 2022. 
 
 

Fire Reform White Paper and Consultation 
 
The Fire Reform White Paper and consultation seeks to introduce system-wide reform to strengthen fire and 
rescue services across England. The proposals are set out under three key themes: people; professionalism; 
and governance. The consultation closes on 26 July 2022. 
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 Project: Building Safety Compliance V1.0 

Home Standard – Key Compliance Framework 

 

Sponsor: Mike Brymer Project Lead: Faye Williams Date: 22/23 QTR 1 

Home Standard – Current Performance (QTR 1) 

Compliance 
Activity 

Total Number of 
required 

Inspections 

Number out of 
compliance 

Overall Compliance 
performance 

Gas Safety 
Servicing 

8160 11 99.87% 

Annual Fire Risk 
Assessments 

38 0 100.00% 

Low Rise Fire Risk 
Assessments 

683 0 100.00% 

Asbestos 
Inspections 

701 0 100.00% 

Legionella 
Monitoring 

57 0 100.00% 

Passenger Lifts 
(LOLER) 

76# 0 100.00% 

Electrical 
Inspections - 
Communal 

701 0 100.00% 

*Electrical 
Inspections - 
Residential 

9774 165 98.31% 

Other than those considered under exception reporting there were no 
significant issues with building safety compliance performance. 
 
*Non regulatory electrical inspections 165 out of compliance at Q1 (234 at Q4) 
with 22 properties have never had an electrical inspection (28 at Q4) 
# this number has been reduced by one – the lift relates to Endeavour House 
(SCH) and not a residential building.  

Background 
To comply with the Home Standard, all social landlords and 
Registered Providers have a legal obligation to ensure that their 
properties comply with health and safety requirements. 
SCH are committed to working towards to a zero approach to non-
compliance and to ensure all Legislative and British Standards are 
adhered to. 

Building Safety Update  
One of the key requirements of the Building Safety Act is to have an overall Building Safety Engagement Strategy for all of the 37 high risk buildings as well 
as an individual Building Safety Engagement Plan for each of the high risk blocks. Arrangements have been made to carry out engagements session to 
produce these arrangements during quarter 2, with the first session taking place W/C 11th July 2022.  Officers from the Engagement Team, Safer Homes and 
Neighbourhood Services will be on site at each location to obtain resident feedback relating to how we will provide mandatory and other safety information for 
each block and building safety activity.  This will entail co-designing with residents the delivery of building safety activity and work in the blocks and their 
homes and how residents can report issues and concerns. It will also include information requirements for the West Midlands Fire and Rescue Service as 
required under the Fire Safety Act.  
 
Sessions have been held with key stakeholders and Housemark to produce the Building Safety Implementation Plan. The purpose of the Plan is to hold a 
single information source on the key activities that are planned to be carried out to ensure that residents are safe in their homes. Longer term actions included 
in the Building Safety Improvement Plan are incorporated as well as legislative dates as determined by the Building Safety Act, the Asset Management 
Strategy and SCH Delivery plan. Governance arrangements have been agreed for corporate oversight which include the SCH Building and Resident Safety 
Group, the SMBC Building Safety Group and from an SCH Board perspective via the newly formed Building Safety Task & Finish Group. 
 
Fire Safety 
SCH have assessed the position against the recently released Fire Safety Guidance that has been introduced under article 24 of the Regulatory Reform (Fire 
Safety) Order 2005 (Fire Safety Order). Most of the requirements are in place and work is progressing to implement the remaining requirements. The 
assessment will be shared with WMFS for an advisory perspective, with WMFS confirming that they are supportive of the overall approach being progressed. 
Progress and oversight will be will be managed by the SCH Building & Resident Safety Group.  SCH have responded to the Emergency Evacuation 
Information Sharing Consultation, primarily this consultation is for organisations that have a simultaneous evacuation policy in place in the event of a fire. 
Solihull has a ‘Stay Put’ Policy in the event of a fire rather than a simultaneous evacuation policy which mirrors the national Fire Service position. However, 
SCH will be developing an Evacuation Plan in the event that the Fire Service determine to evacuate a high rise block when they are in attendance for a fire.  
 
Gas Safety 
At the end of Q1 there were 11 properties out of compliance. Three of those have since had their service completed. The remaining properties have all had 
multiple and ongoing attempts to gain access to complete the service. Five of the properties are progressing through the legal route, with one awaiting a court 
date, and SMBC Legal Team liaising with a second case. The remaining three properties are being progressed by Neighbourhood Services with support from 
specialist supportive agencies due to complex or sensitive nature of each case.  The Gas Safety Policy review has been completed and documents approved 
at Building and Resident Safety Group in June 2022. These will now progress to the SCH Safety Leadership Team for final approval. 
 
Electrical Safety 
There has been a further improvement in performance at the end of Q1, compared to the previous quarter. Continued communication and engagement with 
customers along with joint collaborative working with internal teams and external agencies is maintaining the continuing improvement in performance. The 28 
properties that had not received an Electrical Inspection at the end of Q4 2021/22 have reduced to 22 for Q1. The overall amount of overdue electrical 
inspections has reduced by a further 29% from 234 (Q4) to 165 (Q1).  A consultation by Government has been announced to make 5 Year Electrical 
Inspections for social housing mandatory. Solihull is already in line with the proposed legislation, and this should hopefully further assist with providing the 
same legal enforcement actions as currently available for Gas Safe. 
 
Asbestos 
The contract for Asbestos Surveying and Analysis is currently being re-tendered, with an expected tender outcome by October 2022.  Associated risks in line 
with the procurement process have been identified and these are being monitored with mitigation actions in place to achieve a stable transition into the new 
contract term.  UKATA level 2 awareness training has been completed over 10 sessions capturing 114 members of staff.  Asbestos Operational Training has 
been developed and is being imported into Learning Pool to be rolled out to those applicable staff specified by job role within the Policy. 
 
Legionella 
Water Hygiene Risk Assessments are to be conducted over the next Quarter in line with the required legislative review period.  Monthly monitoring continues 
to be completed in line with guidance.  Any resulting remedial actions following completion of the Risk Assessments will be logged and monitored through 
Open Housing and Insight reporting to provide the necessary oversight.   
 
Lifts 
SMBC Contractor, Ashdale Engineering, have conducted all inspections as specified by the Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 
(LOLER) within the required frequencies. There are two outstanding remedial repairs that relate two sound cards in two separate lifts but it has been 
confirmed that all safety related aspects of the equipment are operating satisfactorily. The Sound cards have been replaced in July.  
 
Structural Surveys 
The Board agreed to the funding of Structural Surveys for the 37 High Rise Blocks from SCH Reserves at its last meeting. Officers are currently working to 
finalise procurement arrangements as agreed. It is likely that the mobilisation of the surveys will take during September / October 2022. The project is likely to 
be for a duration of 18 / 24 months. A timetable for the mobilisation is currently being finalised and it is intended for the works to be co-ordinated with the 
Building Safety Projects. This will allow for continuity with the overall approach to the resident engagement strategy. 
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Incident/Accident/Near Miss 

Reporting Statistics

Quarter 1 2022/23

April – June 2022

1
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Type of Incident Recorded Definition of Incident

Accidents

• Any unplanned event that results in injury or ill health to 

employees and tenants, where SCH has responsibility 

for cause of accident.

Near Miss Events

• Any unplanned event that did not result in injury, illness 

or damage but had the potential to do so whether or not 

as a result of compensating action.

Violent / Abusive / 

Behavioural Incidents

• Any incident in which a person is abused or threatened 

either physically, verbally or in writing or assaulted in 

circumstances relating to their work.

• Any incident involving the behaviour of an adult or 

customer in a social housing or care setting where an 

employee is injured.

Diagnosed Occupational 

Diseases

• Specified Diagnosed Occupational Diseases 

(Reportable under RIDDOR) contracted directly through 

work related activities.

Fire or Property Related 

Incidents

• Any fire or property related incidents including security, 

vandalism, collapse or failure of building structure or 

equipment damage. 

• The exposure of hazardous substances / materials 

under COSHH (The Control of Substances Hazardous 

to Health Regulations) including asbestos or legionella.

Environmental Incidents

• Any incident which solely impacts on the environment. 

This includes discharge, drainage or damage to flora or 

fauna and spillages.

Introduction

The following statistics comprise of work related incidents to employees and tenant related

incidents reported to Solihull Community Housing (SCH) between 1st April and 30th June

2022 (Q1 2022-2023).

An accident, incident, or near miss event to an employee is considered to be ‘work-related’ if 

any of the following played a significant role;

• the way the work was carried out;

• any machinery, plant, substances or equipment used for the work or

• the condition of the site or premises where the incident occurred.

The statistics include accidents, incidents and near misses involving tenants where;

• a property defect or circumstance was the contributory factor to an injury or near miss and 

this was the landlords (SCH) responsibility to resolve. 

Certain types of incident are reportable to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) under the 

Reporting of injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrence Regulations (RIDDOR).

Incidents is a collective term and are categorised into 6 categories. These are described in 

the table below:

2
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Q1 2022/23 has seen a decrease in the number of incidents (26) so far.

Total number of Incidents reported by quarter 
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The current 12 month rolling period sees incident rates normalise in relation to the same time 

in the previous 12 month rolling period. This is due to England emerging from the first 

national lockdown and the easing of restrictions.

Timeline of COVID-19 Restrictions:

1st National Lockdown: March – June 2020

Minimal Restrictions: July – September 2020

Restrictions Reimposed: September – October 2020

2nd National Lockdown: November – December 2020

Tiered system introduced: December 2020

3rd National Lockdown: January – March 2021

End of Lockdown: March – July 2021

Total number of Incidents reported by month 
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5

Total number of Incidents by Type and Person Involved 
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Occupational Health 
and Safety

Incident Statistics Quarter 1 

April – June 2022
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7

Employee/Agency and Other Incidents

The above charts shows a breakdown of employee/agency and other incidents 
by Directorate/Service Area/Team this Quarter.  A total of 11.

6

5

Number of Incidents Per Directorate

Asset Management & Business Development Housing & Communities (SCH)

Employee/Agency/Other Incidents:

Responsive Repairs 2

Estate Management 2

Compliance 2

Estate Assistants 1

Stores 1

Neighbourhood Services
Income Collection Team

1

Tenancy Sustainment Team 1

Asset Management &
Business Development

1

2 2 2

1 1 1 1 1
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Employee/agency and Other Incident Breakdown

8
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9

Employee/agency Incident Breakdown

The above charts shows a breakdown of employee incidents by cause this 
Quarter.  A total of 5. The breakdown below includes agency and others.

Contact With Sharp 
Object; 1

Manual 
Handling Injury; 

1

Physical assault ; 1

Moving, Flying Or 
Falling Object; 1

Security/Access; 1
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Employee/Agency Staff Summary Notes

Near Miss Reports

There were 3 staff related reported near misses this Quarter. 

Near miss reporting is to be encouraged to help prevent accidents by 

removing a potential cause before it can cause an accident.

Abusive Incidents

There were 3 reported incidents of violence and abusive behaviour to 

staff. 

Theft Incidents

There was 1 attempted hijacking attempt reported where an SCH staff 

member was targeted by motorcycle thieves.

RIDDOR Reportable

There was 1 staff related RIDDOR reportable incident this Quarter for a 

work related absence over 7 days.

10

Note: the following is a summary list of significant incidents and 

accompanying management responses. 

Not all incidents recorded in the statistics are listed in this 

summary.
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Employee/Agency Staff - Incidents Summary 

11

No: Date: Service Area: Type of 

Incident:

Summary: Management Response:

1 6/4/22 Estate 

Management 

Team 

(Contractor)

Harassment A male tenant initiated a 

conversation with a female 

contract cleaner in the ground 

floor communal area of 

Newnham House. The tenant 

referenced a previous arrest 

for sexual assault and passed 

a bag containing a crystal 

type substance to the 

contractor. The contractor felt 

uncomfortable with the 

content of the conversation. 

The tenant attempted to leave 

with the cleaner but she 

stopped at Birkbeck House 

until he had left. The tenant is 

known to SCH and the police.

Female operative has swapped 

work locations with a male 

operative. The female operative 

declined to take matters further.

2 6/4/22 Responsive 

Repairs 

(Contractors)

Near Miss A Wettons contract operative 

collecting refuse sacks, was 

almost stuck in the leg by a 

hypodermic needle that was 

sticking out of the sack.

Contractor supplied operatives 

with sharps resistant clothing.

3 11/4/22 Responsive 

Repairs

Accident Employee caught hand on 

first aid box whilst retrieving 

items from their van.

Lack of care no further action 

required.

4 22/4/22 Stores Accident The employee was on a 

phased return to work 

following wrist surgery and 

was clearing a blockage from 

the compactor when the 

blockage jerked back jolting 

his wrist and injuring it. The 

employee was signed off work 

resulting in 43 days lost.

Procedures were followed and 

there have been no other similar 

injuries. A RIDDOR report was 

submitted for over 7 days 

absence.

An occupational health report 

and musculoskeletal 

physiotherapy appointment were 

conducted and he findings have 

been implemented with an 

individual risk assessment. 

5 26/4/22 Asset 

Management & 

Business 

Development

Accident Contractor slipped off side 

door step of van while 

reaching up for materials 

falling onto tool chest injuring 

torso.

This is a contractor incident and 

no response was required.

6

&

7

10/5/22 Compliance Abuse While repairing a boiler fault a 

Dodds contractor was subject 

to verbal and racial abuse 

from the female tenant. The 

tenant became aggressive 

and the contractors left. 

Contractor did not cause the 

incident. No further response 

required.

Page 179



Employee/Agency Staff - Incidents Summary 

12

No: Date: Service Area: Type of 

Incident:

Summary: Management Response:

8 18/5/22 Estate 

Assistants

Near Miss SCH employee was sitting in their 

van at the compactor at Chapel 

House Depot. Fridges were being 

collected by an external agency 

when there was a loud bang and 

the van moved slightly. The 

employee did not check his van at 

the time and subsequently 

discovered a dent later. CCTV 

was checked and a  fridge was 

observed falling into the van.

CCTV footage was requested 

for evidential purposed and 

potential insurance claim and 

the Fleet Management Team 

were notified.

9 18/5/22 Neighbourhood 

Services 

Income 

Collection Team

Violent 

Incident

SCH employee was visiting 

tenants in arrears on their scooter 

when they were overtaken and 

surrounded by 3 motorbikes. The 

motorcyclists attempted to hijack 

the moving scooter. Employee 

managed to escape, returned to 

Endeavour house and called the 

police. The employee later left to 

go home and the same group then 

spotted the employee again and 

chased them for the second time. 

The employee managed to 

escape for the second time. The 

employee sustained a cut, grazing 

and bruising to their leg. They 

have since disposed of their 

scooter to prevent a recurrence.

This appears to have been an 

isolated incident. Employee was 

offered an EAP referral but 

declined.

10 15/6/22 Responsive 

Repairs

Accident Agency operative strained back 

while lifting a heavy load into a 

property.

Operative advised to carry out 

dynamic risk assessment and 

request assistance as required. 

A more robust induction is 

required for Agency/New 

starters incl. manual handling, 

working at height, asbestos 

awareness, Slips, trips and 

falls. COSHH, identifying 

hazards and risks and PPE. 

This also needs to be delivered 

to existing SCH operatives.

11 22/6/22 Tenancy 

Sustainment 

Team

Near Miss Employee jointly carried out a 

normal tenant property support 

visit with an external support 

worker. Findings were reported 

back to probation and other 

support services when it was 

discovered the tenant had been 

arrested the previous night for 

possession of a firearm and 

indecent exposure. No notification 

of this was given before the visit.

No visit to take place until 

probation confirm it is safe.

Individual risk assessments to 

be put in place for high risk 

tenants.

Liaise with Police/probation/ 

SIAS & neighbourhood services 

before agreeing to rough 

sleeper tenancy.

End visit if it feels 

uncomfortable.

Always use reliance fob.
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Building and 
Resident Safety

Incident Statistics Quarter 1 

April – June 2022
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Resident Safety - Tenant Incidents

14

• There were 15 tenant incidents, 11 accidents, no RIDDOR reportable incidents.

• There were 2 fire incidents reported onto Assure as a trial of the system. These 

were caused by: ignition of high rise refuse chute blockage activating bin store 

sprinklers and a vulnerable tenant cooking fire, both resulting in fire service 

attendance.

The non work related medical condition accident refers to a tenant who fell due to a 

medical condition. 

5

22

1

1

1

1

1

Tenant Accident by Type

Fell On The Same Level

Hit By A Moving, Flying Or Falling
Object

Moving, Flying Or Falling Object

Contact With Sharp Object

Fire

Non-work related medical condition

Accidental during play

Hit Something Fixed Or Stationary

11

2 2

Incident Breakdown
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Resident Safety Summary Notes

Near Miss Reports

There were two near misses reported during Quarter 1 2022/23. One 

related to failure of equipment and the other to a falling bath tile.

Near miss reporting is to be encouraged to help prevent accidents by 

removing a potential cause before it can cause an accident.

Abusive Incidents

There were no reported incidence of violence and abusive behaviour 

towards tenants.

Tenant Accidents 

Most tenants accidents this Quarter 1 2022 continue to involve a slip, trip 

or fall of some description. One involved a wet staircase, one was as a 

result of broken floor tiles and the rest were all outdoors. 

RIDDOR Reportable

There were no RIDDOR reportable incident this quarter.

Fire or Property Related Incidents 

There were 2 Fire Incidents reported on Assure this Quarter. This is a 

test to check if the Assure system is configured correctly for these 

incidents. Further work is needed on property address information.

15

Note: The following is a summary list of significant incidents 

and accompanying management responses. 

Not all incidents recorded in the statistics are listed in this 

summary.
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Resident Safety - Tenant Incidents Summary  

No Date Service 

Area

Type of 

Incident

Summary Management Response

1 4/4/22 Accident Tenant slipped down stairs. 

Tenant alleged stairs were 

wet and later went to hospital 

but no treatment was offered.

Estates officer visited site within 

15 minutes of incident and a spill 

was noted but not where tenant is 

alleged to have fallen. Warning 

signs were put out.

2 5/4/22 Accident Part of the flashing on the 

extension fell and hit Tenant 

on the head. No injury.

Awaiting a response.

3 20/4/22 Accident Tenant sock caught on 

missing and split kitchen 

floor tiles resulting in a fall 

and finger injury.

Tenant refused a repair a few 

days prior to the incident, 

stating they wanted the whole 

floor replacing. Inspection by 

team leader booked and repair 

will be raised

4 20/4/22 Accident Tenant neighbours were 

sitting in the garden when 

another tenant came out, 

tripped and fell hitting their 

face on the washing line pole 

and breaking their glasses.

Tenant sustained cuts to 

face, nose, arms, bruising to 

eyes and bruising to foot. 

Paramedics were called but 

cancelled due to wait time.

From images taken ground was 

very uneven and one area 

appeared to have sunk.

Inspection needed to ascertain 

whether any works are required 

to reinstate the tarmacked area 

in the rear communal area.

Carry out more detailed 

inspections of communal areas 

to assess potential trip hazards 

and to report when necessary. 

Use trip hazard gauge tool to 

ensure trip hazards are no more 

than 20mm deep. 

5 10/5/22 Accident Tenant turned over ankle and 

fell injuring ankle and hip.

No investigation undertaken.

Record closed as unable to 

determine cause of fall and 

injury.

6 10/5/22 Accident Tenants daughter fell in hole 

in communal area and broke 

ankle.

Block visited and communal 

area inspected. No obvious 

holes as they were hidden by 

grass.

Contractor arranged to make 

holes safe.

Undertake toolbox talk with 

EA’s to re-iterate importance of 

monitoring communal grassed 

areas. Monitoring form 

amended to include grassed 

areas.

Grounds maintenance 

contractor asked to report 

obvious holes during works.

16
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Resident Safety - Tenant Incidents Summary 

No Date Service 

Area

Type of 

Incident

Summary Management Response

7 17/1/22 Accident Tenants infant son was 

walking in the hallway, lost 

his balance and hit head on 

the surface mounted socket.

Son lost consciousness 

ambulance attend gave him 

oxygen and took him to 

hospital 

Plug socket was in good condition 

and placement was correct. Child 

is 17 months old and unstable on 

his feet.

Socket removed and blanking plate 

fitted to put parents minds at rest.

8 21/5/22 Accident New tenant cleaning around 

toilet cut hand on old soil 

pipe left around toilet.  New 

plastic put in but old one not 

completely removed and 

has jagged edge

Repair to the w/c was not identified 

during the initial void survey.

No operatives working on the 

property identified any issues 

regarding the w/c.

Further attention to be focussed in 

these areas in the future.

Greater attention required when 

making these types of repairs -

toolbox talk to be rolled out to all 

plumbers and multi's

9 30/5/22 Near 

Miss

Bath handle broke whilst 

using to exit bath

Unable to speak to customer 

therefore unable to investigate 

near miss.

Unsure if it is a near miss or wear 

and tear.

10 2/6/22 Accident Tenant fell on wobbly back 

step resulting in bruising.

Repair team attended and 

discovered a 3mm wobble.

Slab secured temporarily. 

Permanent repair carried out with 

non slip slab.

11 5/6/22 Near 

Miss

Loose tile fell off while 

bathing child.

Order raised for check and repair

12 14/6/22 Accident Resident was driving 

motorised scooter through 

communal doors into garden 

when doors closed banging 

into their arm causing 

bruising. 

External door was wedged open to 

allow residents access and it 

became dislodged due to resident 

causing door to close.

Permanent opening solution 

installed so that wedges are no 

longer required.

13 25/6/22 Accident Tenant had a dizzy spell, fell 

and hit her head on a table. 

Relatives had to force entry 

to assist.

Incident not work related but 

caused by a medical condition.

Welfare visit arranged.

17
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Resident Safety - Fire Incidents: Test of Assure system

No Date Property 

Type

Type of 

Incident

Summary Management Response

1 27/4/22 High 

Rise

Fire Duty manager was called 

to fire at Bedford House. 

Fire Brigade were already 

in attendance.

Bin sprinkler had activated 

following a blockage in the 

rubbish chute on the 4th 

Floor being set alight.

Fire was contained to bin 

chute and no other areas 

were affected. A tenant had 

reported the incident.

Fire crew extinguished fire 

and cleared the blockage 

and the chute and full 

check of the block was 

undertaken.

The fire was not severe 

enough to activate the bin 

chute dampers. 

The cause was more than 

likely deliberate but cannot 

be proven.

Neighbourhood Services informed 

about potential deliberate act by a 

resident, however insufficient 

evidence to act. 

Notification and reminders of safe 

use of bin chutes communicated to 

residents via news briefs.

Fire integrity tradesman attended 

following day and carried out full 

inspection. Some repairs were 

carried out.

Consider installing further CCTV 

cameras within high rise buildings 

to cover all areas.

Evaluate the condition of the 

linings to the chutes using a 

specialist contractor

Capital Programmes to be put in 

place to have all our high rise 

chutes re-aligned, bin rooms 

refurbished, replacement chute 

hoppers with wider openings

Educating the residents what can 

be placed down the chute, remind 

residents that smoking is 

prohibited in communal areas 

through social media outlets etc.

Actions created.

2 30/6/22 Fire A vulnerable resident 

knocked a cereal box onto 

the electric cooker causing 

a small fire and generating 

a lot of smoke. No damage 

was caused.

The property was quite 

dirty and the fire brigade 

had to remove bags of 

rubbish from the property.

Managers attended and fire was 

out and smoke dissipated but smell 

lingered. Windows were opened to 

allow cross ventilation for 

dissipation of smoke smell.

Welfare visit requested for tenant.

18

Resident Safety - Property Damage Incidents

No Date Service Area Type of 

Incident

Summary Management Response
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Year: Period: Name of Council, Housing Association or ALMO: Type of Organisation:

Total Number of 

Employees

(Head Count):

RIDDOR Reportable 

Employee Accidents:

Abuse/Violence to 

Employees, include 

verbal:

Total Employee 

Accidents:

Percentage of 

Employees Involved in 

Accidents:

All types of Accidents 

to Tenants/Residents:
Notes:

2020 January - December BCC Principal Contractor 5488 6 8 28 0.51% 6

2021 January - December BCC Principal Contractor  6651 3 4 27 0.41% 2

2020 January - December Bromford Housing Association 1759 5 44 65 3.70% 213

2021 January - December Bromford Housing Association 1759 4 39 66 3.75% 213

2020 January - December Dudley MBC Local Authority 859 4 28 37 4.31% 4

2021 January - December Dudley MBC Local Authority 859 5 29 33 3.84% 4

2020 January - December Solihull Community Housing ALMO 287 3 12 40 13.94% 17 ASSURE was only used from July

2021 January - December Solihull Community Housing ALMO 307 10 6 40 13.03% 12 Higher rate of RIDDORS due to COVID

2020 January - December Trident Housing Association 
Registered Housing 

Association
825 0 1 9 1.09% 2

2021 January - December Trident Housing Association 
Registered Housing 

Association
820 2 2 12 1.46% 7

Social Housing 
Accident Benchmarking 

BCC Bromford Dudley MBC
Solihull Community

Housing
Trident Housing

Association

2020 0.51% 3.70% 4.31% 13.94% 1.09%

2021 0.41% 3.75% 3.84% 13.03% 1.46%
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING 

BOARD MEETING 25 JULY 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF CUSTOMER SERVICE 
TRANSFORMATION & BUSINESS SUPPORT 

 

Performance Exception Report 
 

1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To give an update on performance against key performance indicators (KPIs) 

at the end of the first quarter 2022/23 where targets have not been met. 
 
2. Recommendation – Items for Noting / Approval 
 
2.1 The Board is recommended to: 
 

(i) NOTE those indicators, and the associated narrative, where the 
target performance has not been achieved. 

     
3. Performance Summary 
 
3.1 This report details achievement against the Delivery Plan KPIs where targets 

have not been met at end of year quarter 1 2022/23.  
 

3.2 For 2022/23 there are 34 KPIs. An overview of all indicators is attached as 
appendix A. For the period to the end of quarter 1, there were:  
 

     Trend 

 
 
 
 

Target is being met 

 

 
 
 
 

Performance is within the tolerance range 

 

 
 
 
 

Target is not being met 

 

 
 

3.3 Improvements have been made against: 
 

 WR2 – benefits awarded: although this remains red, the restoration of 
Oracle has resulted in a significant improvement and the amount of 
benefits awarded is now only 4% below the profiled year-to-date target. 

16 

11 
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 AM1(b) – satisfactory electrical installation: very small incremental 
increases continue, with the proportion of properties with satisfactory 
certification rising from 98.05% in April to 98.39% at the end of June. 

 WB1 – minor works completed on time: 100% completion in June has 
pushed the year-to-date performance to just under target, 97.92% 
compared with 98%. 

 CR36 – contact centre response: good performance has been 
maintained throughout May and June, with average response time 
falling again to 186 seconds, compared with target of 270. 

 
4. Performance Exceptions 
 
4.1 WR2 – benefits awarded due to Money Advice Team intervention 
 

 
 

Early results this year were well behind the profiled target. However, 
subsequent months’ performance have been much stronger. At the end of the 
first quarter, total benefits awarded is just behind the year-to-date target, 
which is positive, given the increased challenge compared with last year. 

 
4.2 NS38 – harm reduction resulting from ASB intervention 
 

Data was not available at the time of writing, so a verbal update will be 
provided at the Board meeting. 

 
4.3 WB20 – percentage of customers supported to remain at home independently 
 

Performance in April was just over 95%. However, in May, this fell to around 
77%, due to a number of respondents saying they were unsure as they had 
yet to use the service. Consequently, performance for the year to the end of 
May is at 85.4%. The issue in May has highlighted potential issues with the 
methodology, which is being reviewed and has meant June results are not yet 
available. 

 

£0

£200,000

£400,000

£600,000

£800,000

£1,000,000

£1,200,000

£1,400,000

£1,600,000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2022/23 Cumulative target 2021/22

Page 190



4.4 AM1(a) – percentage of properties with a valid gas certificate 
 

Performance remains largely unchanged during the quarter, with 11 
properties unable to be accessed for a variety of reasons: 

  

Appointment scheduled for early July 1 

Initiating legal action 7 

Legal action on hold (with SMBC) 1 

On hold due to sensitivities (e.g. hospitalisation) 2 

 
4.5 AM20 – average days to complete response repairs 
 

The position with regard to repairs completion continues to appear to 
deteriorate, with the year-to-date figure being 17.95 days. The steady 
increase is a result of an increasing number of historic jobs being completed: 
 

 April May June 

Average days to 
complete repair 

13.42 days 17.78 days 22.77 days 

 
This position is likely to deteriorate further before it improves as many of the 
historic outstanding jobs were originally logged some weeks or months ago. 
 
The second table shows how the underlying picture is actually improving, with 
jobs raised in the last quarter being completed, on average, within 7.64 days, 
only slightly above the target of 7.50 days. 

 

Period job logged 
Jobs completed 
Apr 22 to date 

Average working 
days to complete 

All 7,444 17.32 

Jul 21 to date 7,429 16.83 

Oct 21 to date 7,272 12.96 

Jan 22 to date 7,087 9.72 

Apr 22 to date 5,982 7.64 

 
At the time of writing, there were 411 historic (logged up until the end of April 
2022) jobs outstanding. Of those, just over 300 are scheduled for completion 
in July/August. Consequently the backlog should be cleared by October and 
the team will be able to focus on current work only. From October, therefore, 
there should be a gradual improvement in this indicator. 
 
Housemark was commissioned to undertake an end-to-end audit of repairs to 
provide assurance about the robustness of the process and the data 
management. This has highlighted a number of recommendations, which form 
an improvement plan that is being progressed. More details about the review 
will be reported to the Housing Operations Committee. 
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4.6 VL13 – void rent loss 
 

As outlined in the chief executive’s report, a small working group has been 
formed to develop recommendations to improve voids performance. The 
group will report its initial recommendations to the Housing Operations 
Committee in September. A short summary has been developed, which 
provides a more detailed analysis of current void performance. This is 
attached as appendix B. 

 
4.7 CR5 – short-term staff absence (average days per FTE – rolling 12 months) 
 

There was a further small increase in short-term absence during June, 
although this sits within the context of a slightly improved overall position (i.e. 
including long-term absence). 
 

April May June 

4.62 days 4.66 days 4.76 days 

 
New measures have been introduced, both to provide support to employees 
but also ensure the absence management policy is robustly applied. This 
includes fortnightly monitoring by the Executive Leadership Team, to ensure 
management support meetings take place in a timely fashion. 

 
5. Financial Implications 

 
5.1 There are no specific cost implications arising from this information report. 

The costs of delivering services are covered by the annual budget setting 
process, although failure to collect rent due in the long term may have an 
impact on ability to deliver services. 
 

6. Equality and Diversity Implications 
 

6.1 There are no equalities implications arising from this report.  
 
7. Risk Management Implications 

 
7.1 The risks arising from failing to meet specific targets such as not collecting 

income are included within the general risk management framework. 
 

8. Value for Money and Efficiency Considerations/Implications 
 

8.1 The expectation of the Council is that SCH should continue to deliver 
excellent services whilst delivering efficiencies. 

 
9. Tenant Involvement/Consultation 

 
9.1 There has been no specific consultation in relation to this report; however, the 

SCHAPE panel will consider the summary of performance. 
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10. Consistent with Strategic Vision 
 

10.1 The report is consistent with the refreshed strategic vision for 2020 to 2025. 
 
 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR:  Steve Abrahams 
      Performance Improvement Officer 
       0121 779 8875 
           stephenabrahams@solihull.gov.uk 
 

    Martyn Sargeant 
Executive Director – Customer Service, Transformation 
and Business Support 

    0121 704 8667 
    martynsargeant@solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk  
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Ref Housing & Communities Target YTD Result 

NS1a Percentage of rent collected of rent due  99.00% 101.82% 

NS2 Percentage of leaseholder service charges collected  99.00% 98.60% 

NS4 Percentage of rent paid by digital means including Direct Debit  82.00% 80.45% 

WR2 Benefits awarded due to Money Advice Team intervention £385,124 £370,911.60 

WR15 Current tenant arrears as % of rent debit  3.00%  3.77% 

NS9 Percentage of flatted blocks passing cleaning inspection  98.00%  96.54% 

NS10 Percentage of estate inspections completed  98.00%  100.32% 

NS38 Harm reduction resulting from ASB intervention 80.00% 66.67% 

NS21 Tenancy sustainment rate of introductory tenancies 90.00% 99.94% 

HO1 Average stay in temporary accommodation (all) - days  112  89 

HO3a Average stay in temporary accommodation families (Budget hotels) - days  15 21 

HO5 Percentage of homeless approaches where prevention or relief achieved  55.00%  51.87% 

WB20 Percentage of customers supported with independence to remain at home 95.00% 85.42% 

Directorate Performance Summary: 

Housing & Communities 
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Ref Asset Management & Development Target YTD Result 

AM1a Percentage of properties with valid gas certificate 100.00% 99.87% 

AM1b Percentage of properties with satisfactory EICR 100.00% 98.39% 

AM1c Percentage of non domestic assets covered by valid FRA 100.00% 100.00% 

AM1d Percentage of known asbestos locations re-inspected  (communal areas) 100.00% 100.00% 

AM1e Percentage of water installations covered by risk assessment 100.00% 100.00% 

AM1f Percentage of communal lifts that require examination (LOLER) 100.00% 100.00% 

AM4 Percentage of appointments kept -Response repairs 98.00% 98.46% 

AM7 Percentage of repairs completed right first time 95.00% 95.86% 

AM17 Average number of repairs per property 0.63 0.27 

AM20 Average number of days to complete repairs 7.50 17.95 

WB1 Percentage of Minor adaptation works completed on time 98.00% 97.92% 

WB2 Percentage of Major adaptation works completed on time 90.00% 100.00% 

VL13 Percentage of rent loss due to voids 0.90% 1.85% 

Directorate Performance Summary: 

Asset Management & Development 
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Ref Customer Service & Business Support  Target YTD Result 

CR2 Overall satisfaction (transactional) 85.00% 86.36% 

CR31 Overall satisfaction (STAR perceptional) 78.00% 76.00% 

AM19 Satisfaction with responsive repairs 90.00% 90.73% 

CR1 Percentage of complaints resolved at stage 1 97.00% 95.24% 

CR34 Complaints resolved in timescale 90.00% 96.81% 

CR28 Percentage of tenants using customer portal 40.00% 36.30% 

CR36 Contact centre ASA 270 seconds 186 

CR5 Short term staff sickness days 4.00 4.68 

Directorate Performance Summary: 

Customer Service & Business Support 
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Title: Supplementary detail on voids performance 
  

Author: Steve Abrahams, Performance Improvement Officer 
  

Date: 18 June 2022 

 
 
Void rent loss (VL13) stood at 1.85% at the end of the first quarter 2022/23. This continues 
a trend of small increases month on month, and remains well adrift of the target of 0.90% 
The definition for voids includes properties being held for disposal whilst they remain within 
the HRA (for SCH, this is primarily at the Kingshurst and Lakeside redevelopment sites). 
 
The table below summarises the position in more detail, breaking down the voids by type: 
 

Void type April May June 

Lettable:    

  - General need 24 34 17 

  - Adapted 11 11 10 

  - Difficult to let (general) 20 25 24 

  - Difficult to let (supported housing) 25 24 23 

SUBTOTAL: 80 94 74 

Not available to let:    

  - Awaiting/under repair 53 32 47 

  - Structural 3 3 3 

  - Buy back 2 1 2 

SUBTOTAL: 58 36 52 

Unlettable:    

  - Demolition/development/sale 38 37 40 

  
TOTALS: 

 
176 

 
167 

 
166 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Briefing note 
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A key element of reducing void rent loss is shortening the period that it takes to prepare a 
property for occupation (including both remedial works and the relet process). The graph 
below shows the average time taken: 
 

 
 
Graph 2 shows the number of voids occurring in each month and the number being relet 
during the same period. In order to improve the rent loss position, for a period of time it is 
necessary to let more properties each month than become available: 
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING 

HOUSING OPERATIONS COMMITTEE 

Chair’s Report from the Meeting held on 23 May 2022 

Recommendation for Full Board:  

The Board is asked to: 

(i) Note the matters considered by the Committee. 

 

Board Members present at the meeting: Chris Williams (chair); David Bell; Louise 

Tubbs; April Halpin; Richard Hyde; Jenny Fletcher 

Apologies: Dave Pinwell and Surjit Balu 

Officers present:   Fiona Hughes; Martyn Sargeant; Mike Brymer; Carol Trappett; 

Andy Duke; Ed Roper; Mary Moroney; Barbara Griffiths.  

 

Summary of Committee Meeting: 

1. RESIDENT ENGAGEMENT PROGRESS REPORT 

 

We celebrated confirmation of TPAS accreditation. SCH comfortably passed the 

bar required to seek accreditation and the Committee was grateful of the 

approach taken to learn and seek feedback from TPAS over a period of time so 

that the accreditation process was used as an ongoing feedback opportunity to 

help strengthen our resident engagement.  

 

TPAS were complimentary in their report and SCH staff have welcomed the 

areas for improvement. A lot of the recommendations are around communicating 

more about the engagement we have and telling residents what we are doing 

with what we are learning and co-creating with residents. 

 

The Committee was really pleased that SCH is looking at a potential tenant 

conference. It will take a lot to pull this off, but the benefit will be significant. 

 

As Committee chair, I feel that resident engagement has been one of the real 

standout success stories for SCH over the past three years. The change has 

been transformative. Staff and the Board are working very differently with tenants 

and resident feedback as a result of the leadership shown. It is clear we have 

strong leadership in the staff team in this area. 

 

2. ENERGY AND SUSTAINABILITY ENVORONMENTAL STRATEGY  
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The agenda item was specifically to review a draft plan for reduction of carbon 

emissions in SCH’s own operations (so emissions arising from offices, staff, 

business as usual etc) but no plan was ready. Progress in this area falls 

significantly short of what had been anticipated. There is a new commitment to 

bring the report to the very next Committee meeting, which will help us catch up 

on our commitments to Solihull Council in this area. 

Positives however included some LADS2 funding to improve energy efficiency of 

some of our homes towards our desire for a wider retrofit scheme.  

3. NEW BUILD DEVELOPMENT PROGRESS REPORT  

The Committee was pleased to note planning approval for five properties at 

Anglesey Avenue (Smith’s Wood) and planning applications almost ready to 

submit for Lakeside (Kingshurst), Campden Green and Daylesford Road 

(Lyndon). These developments will be net zero carbon developments. 

4. MOBYSOFT RENTSENSE PROGRESS UPDATE  

We received an early progress update on the rollout of the Mobysoft software to 

change the way SCH monitors rent arrears. Carol Trappett gave us an excellent 

explanation of how the system uses analytics to predict who might fall into 

arrears in the future based on their behaviours around payments to date. The 

earlier intervention in the cases that staff are prompted to is intended to help 

reduce arrears in the long term.   

From the ‘go live’ date, SCH has moved from fortnightly to weekly monitoring of 

accounts and the team are working with 97% of the accounts recommended by 

the Mobysoft analytics.  

Staff are pleased with the system, although one Board member questioned why 

we are not yet seeing a financial benefit through use of the system. Currently 

SCH is tracking exactly as expected based on Mobysoft’s pre-sales prediction 

and the financial benefit in terms of arrears should be seen later in the year. 

 

5. DISREPAIR DAMP AND MOULD  

SCH, like many other landlords, is facing a fast-increasing number of legal claims 

for disrepair related to damp and mould. The cost is significant to SCH. 

The Housing Ombudsman issued a report ‘It’s not lifestyle’. The Ombudsman 

Service are taking a zero-tolerance approach to complaints about damp and 

mould with the expectation that the landlord should fully explain why the issues 

are associated with lifestyle. Decent Homes 2 is likely to focus on damp and 

mould and the thermal efficiency of properties. 
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There is no ‘silver bullet’ to this issue. However, SCH is intending to manage this 

through a more proactive and customer centred approach with the introduction of 

the customer services team within MST. The team are tasked to carry out 7-day 

visits around damp and mould, including leaks. The plan moving forward is to 

recognise where we are responsible to consider compensation directly rather 

than only where legal representation has been received. 

 

6. PERFORMANCE UPDATE 

Performance had been reviewed by Full Board just ahead of the Committee 

meeting. While pleased to see fewer red indicators, void performance is still 

lagging despite the additional investment. The void picture remains complicated 

and a further void report will come to the next Committee meeting. 

7. DELIVERY PLAN FEEDBACK 

The Committee reviewed feedback received by Solihull Council representatives 

including Scrutiny and Cabinet on the SCH Delivery Plan 2022-23. While there 

was a lot of encouraging feedback, the key area for further work is on tackling 

climate change. Solihull Council requested that the SCH plan is more aligned 

with the Council’s ambitions and climate change plan. 

 

 

Chris Williams 

Chair of Housing Operations Committee  

10 July 2022 
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING 

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE 

CHAIR’S REPORT FROM THE MEETING HELD ON 27 JUNE 2022 

Recommendation for Full Board:  

The Board is asked to:– 

(i) Approve   the Statutory Accounts for 2021/22 

(ii) Delegate  authority to the Chair of the Board, Chair of Audit & Risk  

Committee and Chief Executive to sign the accounts 

(iii) Delegate   authority to the Chair of the Board to sign the letter of  

Representation on behalf of the Board 

(iv) Note  the actions taken by the Committee 

 

Board Members present at the meeting: Nigel Page (Chair), David Bell, Jenny 

Fletcher 

In Attendance: Richard Hyde 

Officers present: Fiona Hughes, Sam Gilbert, Martyn Sargeant, Mike Brymer, Zoe 
Covington, Jahnavi Jagadish, Mark Wills, Anna Spencer-Gray (RSM UK Audit LLP), 
Mary Moroney, Barbara Griffiths (Minutes)  
 
Apologies: Karen Cranley  
 

Summary of Committee Meeting: 

1. Statutory Accounts: We received the statutory accounts for 2021/22 and 
agreed to recommend that full board approve and sign the accounts at their 
meeting in July.  We agreed to ask Board to delegate authority to the Chair to 
sign the letter of representation to accompany the accounts. 

 
2. External Audit Plan: We received and noted the report of the External Auditor.  

There were no significant concerns raised by the Auditor.  

 

3. Annual Governance Statement: We reviewed the Annual Governance 

Statement and noted that there were no significant governance concerns.  We 

noted the action plan which will be monitored quarterly by ELT and twice a year a 

report will be presented to Audit & Risk Committee to ensure full compliance. 
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4. Risk Management: We reviewed the corporate risk register which sets out two 

new risks for assessment:-  Management around failure to meet compliance 

responsibilities around building safety and customer services. There are also two 

further risks where the risk level have increased and those are also within asset 

management. These are concerns around reactive repairs and value for money 

and capital works budget. 

 

5. Procurement Report: We noted that although the Procurement Service had 

achieved a Level 2 assurance at the last Internal Audit it was good practice to 

present to continue to receive a regular update at Committee.  We received an 

update on SMBC’s progress with the retendering of two Strategic Partnering 

Contracts which SCH had been involved with in order for SCH to access the 

contracts to deliver services. The response from potential contractors had been 

poor and the Council had decided to extend the current contracts until 2024 as 

the construction market is volatile at present. 

 
 

6. Monitoring Report of Internal Audit Work 2021/22: We received the regular 
update on work of the Internal Audit team and noted the Level 3 Assurance for 
Housing Repairs and for Fire Safety.  An Audit memorandum was issued in 
respect of Contract Management advising that there is still some work to be 
completed.  The Committee approved the Internal Audit Plan for 2022/23. 

 
7. Response to the Internal Audit of Contract Management: We noted the 

ongoing work to implement the audit recommendations which includes an online 

portal for all information relating to contract management to be easily accessed 

by contract managers.  ELT have oversight of the action plan and contracts of 

£50k and above have been incorporated into ELT meetings.  

 
  

8. Response to the Internal Audit of Repairs Service: We noted that there are 

several recommendations from the audit report that still require progress and that 

it has been a challenging year for the response repairs service in terms of 

attendance and recruitment.  There is now some stability within the management 

structure following the successful recruitment of a team manager. Improvements 

to the post inspection process have been delayed because of not having 

sufficient staff.  A locally monitored KPI has been introduced as has targets within 

PDR for individuals. The process will be underpinned within the new Response 

Repairs policy. 

 

9. Response to the Internal Audit of Fire Safety: Despite the good work noted in 

relation to Fire Safety, the issue which led to the level 3 assurance was in relation 
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to dry risers within high rise blocks. There are two parts to this, lack of 

appropriate documentation and the capability of contractors.  Staff had carried 

out the required checks and put forward recommendations but there was a lack 

of paperwork. Staff should have escalated the issues they were having with 

contractors through the management hierarchy, but failed to do so.  Lessons 

have been learnt by the team.  The contractor has also been replaced. There was 

a problem with outstanding remedial works, including to the valves, and 

outstanding certifications however verbal assurance has been provided by both 

staff and contractors that the outstanding remedial works did not render the dry 

riser equipment inoperable.. We now have an arrangement that if the equipment 

is not working it would be escalated immediately.  

 

10. Response to the Internal Audit of PDR’s: There is no planned follow up audit 

this year for the PDR process but an internal review exercise will be carried out in 

the Autumn to see how the latest round of PDR’s went. This will take account of 

the quality of the documentation and test how well embedded the process is 

across SCH. A written report will be brought back next year with more meaningful 

data. 

 

 

 

 

Nigel Page 

Chair of Audit & Risk Committee  

4 July 2022 
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Chair’s Introduction 
31 March 2022 

 

   

 
Throughout this time SCH continued to maintain focus on service delivery and achieving the 2020 – 2025 
Strategic Aims: 
 

 Creating Homes 

 More than Bricks and Mortar 

 Strengthening Communities 

 Excellent Customer Services 

 Passion in People 

The year has seen some significant developments that impact on the work we do and one of these is Building 
Safety. I am pleased to see our four-year programme to fit sprinklers into the High Rise Residential Buildings 
began in earnest during the year and will provide residents who live in them a greater level of safety.   

This year has seen us complete two more new housing developments in Solihull and Shirley, providing 22 new 
homes. Both sites provide much needed affordable housing in those areas. This follows on from our sites at 
Willow Way, Faulkner Road and Brackleys Way, all completed late last year. We were particularly pleased that 
the Faulkner Road development received national recognition for its approach to low carbon design and 
sustainability. 

As well as completed sites we have continued to make progress with the next phase of our development 
pipeline which will provide 51 new homes. In addition, we have been working closely with colleagues at SMBC, 
planning for the future regeneration of Kingshurst village centre. This is a particularly exciting project for us 
that will provide new affordable homes as well as community, health and retail facilities. 

Once again, I am proud to say thank-you to our staff for their hard work and compassion throughout 2021/22 
and their unwavering support for tenants, leaseholders and each other.  

 

The following pages detail the outturn position and some of the achievements for 2021/22. 

 

Richard Hyde 

Chair 

Xx xxxx 2022 

  

As the Chair of Solihull Community Housing (SCH), this is the fourth set of 
accounts I have introduced and 2021/22 has again been a year significantly 
affected by the impact of the Coronavirus pandemic. I am proud of how SCH 
have continued to respond to this challenge and our working relationship with 
Solihull Council (SMBC) has continued to grow and develop particularly with 
SCH working together with SMBC in the response to Coronavirus for the 
residents of Solihull. 
 
 
As in 2020/21 the Executive Leadership Team (ELT) have again had to 
reprioritise work plans to provide the continuing resources to ensure that we 
provide appropriate support to the most vulnerable of our tenants and 
leaseholders.   
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Strategic Report 
31 March 2022 

The Company sets out below its strategic report which aims to provide the reader of the accounts with a range 
of information that includes:- 

 Context for related financial statements 
 Insight into entity’s business model, main objectives and strategy 
 Descriptions of the principal risks the entity faces and how they affect future prospects 
 Analysis of past performance 
 Signposting to complementary information 

BACKGROUND 

While the global pandemic is not over, 2021-2022 saw the country begin to emerge from the constraints 
imposed to protect the public and ease pressure on the NHS. On 19 July 2021, the Government removed most 
restrictions in England and subsequently set out an ‘Autumn and Winter Plan’ for managing the virus over the 
winter months. A new variant of the virus, Omicron, increased the prevalence of the disease and prompted the 
re-introduction of some measures aimed at slowing the rate of transmission, including working from home. The 
vaccine and booster programmes, self-isolation and testing regimes, and the fact that Omicron was generally 
found to be less severe, meant that hospitalisation rates were lower than in previous waves. In February 2022, 
the government published ‘Covid -19 response: living with Covid-19’, which set out how England will move into 
a new phase of managing the virus. The path that the virus will take is not certain, but SCH has and will 
continue to navigate the challenges created by Covid-19, seeking to deliver high quality core services and 
continuous improvement in line with the Strategic Vision 2020-2025. 

In terms of meeting housing need, demand for social housing in Solihull remains high as home ownership and 
private renting is unaffordable for many people.  Making the best use of existing housing, developing affordable 
new homes and preventing homelessness are key activities in managing this mismatch between demand and 
supply. Solihull has an ageing population and providing suitable homes and services to meet the needs of 
older and disabled people is increasingly important. 

From 1 April 2021 an average rent increase (excluding service charges) of 1.5% was applied for HRA stock.  
In 2021/22 the actual number of Right to Buy sales was 53. This was more than the number budgeted for 
within the HRA of 51 properties.  

2021/22 was the second year of the SCH Strategic Vision 2020-2025: 'Creating better homes and thriving 
communities which is underpinned by annual Delivery Plans. The 2021/22 Delivery Plan set out the strategic 
and operational priorities for the year, many of which were concerned with embedding and maturing the 
initiatives introduced in 2020/21.  Improving the customer experience to achieve greater satisfaction as well 
as a commitment to increasing customer engagement were key areas of focus. Other priorities included a 
continued emphasis on building safety, progressing major capital projects to install sprinklers systems and 
work to spandrel panels in high rise buildings. Joint work with the Council to grow the social housing stock and 
address the climate change emergency continued. SCH teams were supported to achieve improved wellbeing, 
performance and service excellence, while embedding blended ways of working. 

SCH strive to deliver core housing management functions to a high standard. Work continued to achieve 
prudent investment in the housing stock and deliver effective responsive repairs, income collection and estate 
management services. Delivering services and collaborating with the Council and other partners to reduce 
homelessness and tackle anti-social behaviour as well as leading on or contributing to wider multi-agency 
initiatives. 

At the national level, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government was rebranded to become 
the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. An extensive white paper was published in 
February, setting out how the government intends to reduce geographic economic, social and health 
inequalities through 12 policy objectives, all of which have a target end date of 2030. 

SCH continued to prepare for the future implementation of the measures set out in the social housing white 
paper and the building safety bill. The Domestic Abuse Act was enacted in April 2021 and SCH contributed to 
work to ensure that the Council was able to meet its obligations under the Act, including to provide support to 
those in domestic abuse safe accommodation. Housing specific requirements to protect the security of tenure  
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Strategic Report 
31 March 2022 
(continued) 

of victims of domestic abuse and apply automatic priority need status in homelessness situations were also 
implemented. 

GOVERNANCE 

Good governance is essential for SCH to achieve its objectives and drive improvement as well as to maintain 
legal, regulatory and ethical standards. This will become even more important with the strengthening of 
regulatory standards. SCH is governed by a Board and three committees which report into it: Audit and Risk 
Committee; Housing Operations Committee; and Human Resources, Equalities and Remuneration 
Committee. 

During the course of 2021/22, the SCH Board approved an action plan to achieve compliance against the 
National Federation of Housing Code of Governance and the SCH corporate risks were reviewed and 
refreshed. Throughout 2021/22, work continued with our Council colleagues to maintain robust and effective 
financial monitoring processes. 

ANNUAL PERFORMANCE 

SCH sets out its delivery priorities in its Annual Delivery Plan. For 2021/22, these priorities are organised as 
Strategic Objectives which relate to the Strategic Aims set out in the SCH Strategic Vision. Each Strategic 
Objective has linked work packages and individual delivery milestones. A set of Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs) is included in the Delivery Plan. 

Continuous service improvement still underpins everything SCH does, and service performance and delivery 
is monitored rigorously.  A comprehensive performance monitoring framework is in place and progress against 
key performance indicators and the Delivery Plan priorities is reported to the SCH Board on a quarterly basis. 
The Council oversees SCH performance by means of a Quarterly Monitoring Board, which is chaired by the 
Deputy Leader of the Council.  The Delivery Plan is an integral part of the performance monitoring and service 
improvement process because it details how SCH will deploy the available resources in the most effective way 
to deliver the priority outcomes for the coming year.  During 2021/22 Performance & Partnership Group 
meetings were established with the Council to review aspects of service delivery. 

Performance outcomes against Delivery Plan priorities and KPIs are set out below for each service area. 

 

ASSET MANAGEMENT AND DEVELOPMENT 

Strategic Aim: Creating Homes 
 
Strategic Objectives: 

Strategic objective 1: Data driven approach to manage our stock portfolio in a proactive, green and 
environmentally sustainable way 

Achieving a deeper understanding of the condition of the housing stock and how it is performing to meet current 
needs, as well as its sustainability to meet anticipated needs, is critical to inform investment decisions. Good 
progress was made with the development of a new 10-year joint Asset Management Strategy (AMS) between 
SCH and Solihull MBC. A productive stakeholder workshop was held in mid-March, with a draft strategy 
scheduled for consideration by the SCH Board in May 2022. The strategy will incorporate the shared 
commitment and ambition in relation to environmental sustainability and carbon reduction through both the 
existing housing stock and new build 

SCH received the Regional Housing Association or Landlord of the Year award in the 2021 West Midlands 
Energy Efficiency Awards. The development of seven new net zero carbon bungalows demonstrated the 
commitment to create a net zero future for the borough. 
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Strategic Report 

31 March 2022 
(continued) 

Strategic objective 2: Ensure our homes are safe 

Work continued on the installation of sprinklers in high rise buildings during the year. Taking into account the 
2021 British Standard, a revised overall programme plans for completion of the project during the summer of 
2023. 

An external review of the Asset Management Service resulted in a comprehensive improvement plan. A six-
month review of the plan reported that good progress had been made. This work will continue into 2022/23 
and links with amended SCH governance arrangements for health and safety, effective from April 2022.   

Strategic objective 3: Optimise the value and impact of the property maintenance service 

The provision of an efficient, cost effective and customer focussed repairs service is a core service and a key 
commitment for SCH. There has been a positive increase in transactional customer satisfaction during this 
financial year.  Work has also commenced in developing a performance dashboard that can be used 
operationally to target on improving timely operational delivery. 

Strategic objective 4: Growth in social housing in partnership with Solihull Council 

SCH continues to work with the Council to utilise opportunities for stock growth. Two sites delivering 22 shared 
ownership homes completed in the year, with a development programme of a further 23 net zero homes across 
four sites. Work also continued with the Council to bring forward a supported housing scheme in north Solihull 
and to develop a housing scheme for the Kingshurst Village Centre. 

Key performance indicators 

Access for gas servicing was hampered in some cases by complex circumstances requiring legal or sensitive 
housing management interventions. All are proactively managed. 
 
Average void re-let time was 36 days (target 18 days). Much improved performance in March saw a decrease 
in void relet time to 22 days (from 34 in February). However, the high level of refusals for some properties 
prevented further improvement to end of year figures overall. There were 137 more lettings compared with 
2020/21. 
 
Performance on the average time taken to complete repairs was impacted by Covid. Repairs paused because 
of Covid have been completed but paused days are counted in the calculation. Peer comparison indicated that 
average times across the sector increased. 
 
The percentage of major adaptation works completed on time was out of target. However, there was continued 
improvement in March with all 38 completions on time, 84 completions in Quarter 4 with only one late. The low 
number of completions make the target difficult to achieve with just one late completion resulting in the target 
being missed. 
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Strategic Report 

31 March 2022 
(continued) 

 

Asset Management and Development 

KPI ref KPI Description Target Actual 

AM1 Percentage of properties with valid gas certificate 100.00% 99.88% 

AM2 Percentage of repair jobs completed in timescale - All repairs 99.00% 99.14% 

AM3 Percentage of appointments made - Response repairs 98.00% 99.06% 

AM4 Percentage of appointments kept - Response repairs 98.00% 98.99% 

AM7 Percentage of repairs completed right first time 95.00% 96.03% 

AM17 Average number of repairs per property 2.50 1.44 

AM20             Average time taken to complete a repair - days                     7.5 10.73 

VL1 Average re-let time of voids – days 18 36 

VL13 Percentage of rent loss due to voids 0.90% 1.72% 

VL16 Number of lettable voids 85 129 

WB1 Percentage of Minor adaptation works completed on time 99.00% 99.02% 

WB2 Percentage of Major adaptation works completed on time 99.00% 84.74% 
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(continued) 

 

HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 

Strategic Aim: More than Bricks and Mortar 
Strategic Objectives 

Strategic objective 1: Delivering excellent core housing management services that are integrated and 
highly visible 

A review of the Neighbourhood Services team commenced in November, after a period of research. This work 
will continue into 2022/23. 

Mobysoft Rentsense went live in December 2021. This system is helping SCH target arrears cases through a 
prioritised caseload, promoting efficiencies by recommending tenants for contact at the right time. 

A new cleaning contract progressed to the final stages of the procurement process with commencement in the 
early part of the new financial year. 

Strategic objective 2: Enhanced service offers to support our wider customer base to achieve positive 
outcomes 

All services and partner activities resumed at Saxon Court during the year and plans are in place for 2022/23 
to introduce Health and Wellbeing sessions 

A review is planned for 2022/23 to determine SCH's Independent Living Services offer, 

Strategic objective 3: Reducing homelessness and risk of homelessness across the borough 

The Housing Options team structure was altered to expand the remit of the temporary accommodation and 
Solihome teams. This included using Rough Sleeper's Initiative funding to fund an Accommodation Finding 
Assistant for 12 months.  

Homelessness Prevention Grant funding will continue in 2022/23, enabling the Housing Options Team to 
continue to fund 8 posts. 

The temporary accommodation portfolio was diversified by taking on an additional three Private Sector Leasing 
(PSL) units and the team continued to work closely with nightly rental and supported accommodation providers. 
However, the nightly rental and supported accommodation providers struggled to increase their portfolios due 
to the stagnant nature of the private sector. 

Strategic objective 4: Working collaboratively with partners and stakeholders to create resilient and 
thriving communities 

As a key housing provider, we are committed to creating resilient and thriving communities. Our role in local 
neighbourhoods and estates extends much further than the homes we manage. 

SCH supported and contributed to the Solihull MBC Strategic Environmental Contract (SEC) review, with the 
new contract commencing in April 2022.  

Work progressed with the Council to design and implement a revised tenure neutral anti-social behaviour 
service and this work will continue into 2022/23. 

Key performance indicators  

The percentage of rent collected of rent due was 97.95%. There was a successful spring rent campaign but, 
overall, performance fell short of the 98% by £23,424. Rent Arrears reduced by just under £284k over the rent-
free week which improved the overall arrears position significantly.  
 
The cumulative reduction in arrears due to Money Advice Team intervention was £659,541. The rent-free week 
also helped to improve this KPI which had already been achieved the previous month.  
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(continued) 
 

The average stay in temporary accommodation (all) exceeded the target. The average stay in budget 
hotel accommodation target was met in January and February 2022, but quarterly performance (Q4) 
was missed due to two complex cases requiring disabled adaptations. The percentage of homeless 
approaches where prevention or relief was achieved exceeded the 50% target. 
 
The percentage of estate inspections completed exceeded target. 
 
March 2022 saw the highest number of new customers joining the Wellbeing service during the year 
(49 in total with 45 of these being self-funders). However, this is offset against an unusually high 
number of cancellations, some of these being generated as a result of the annual price increase in 
rent/wellbeing service charge letters being received. 
 

 

Housing and Communities  

KPI ref KPI Description Target Actual 

NS1 Percentage of rent collected of rent due 98.00% 97.95% 

NS2 Percentage of leaseholder service charges collected 99.00%   99.20% 
 

NS4 Percentage of rent paid by digital means including Direct Debit 80.00% 80.54% 

WR3 Reduction in arrears due to Money Advice Team intervention £550,000 £659,541 

WR15 Current tenant arrears as % of rent debit 3.5 3.40 

NS9 Percentage of flatted blocks passing cleaning inspection 98.00% 97.81% 

NS10 Percentage of estate inspections completed 98.00% 98.91% 

HO1 Average stay in temporary accommodation (all) - days 112 92 

HO3 Average stay in temporary accommodation (Budget hotels) – 
days 

10 22 

HO5 Percentage of homeless approaches where prevention or relief 
achieved 

50.00% 51.84% 

WB20 Net gain in paying Wellbeing service users 108 33 
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(continued) 

CUSTOMER AND BUSINESS SUPPORT 

Strategic Aim: Passion in People 

Strategic objective 1: Implement a Community Engagement roadmap to empower customers and 
involve them in the heart of decision making and further support thriving communities 

During 2021/22 the Engagement team won the ‘Most Innovative Approach to Resident Involvement’ category 
at the national Housing Digital Innovation Awards. This recognised our innovative approach to creating 
engagement opportunities such as the SCHape Panel, Virtual Improvement Panel and Building Safety 
Advocates. 

The SCH Engagement team also continued to work towards TPAS accreditation with a positive outcome 
anticipated in early 2022/23.  

Work continued throughout the year to further support and develop Locality Working. Also of particular note 
was the successful work of the SCH Employment Support Officer in assisting customers to secure employment 
or training opportunities.   

Strategic objective 2: Delivering services for customers in the way they want and reduce customer 
effort 

The Contact Centre Improvement plan was integrated into ‘business as usual’ activity, providing for weekly 
reports to review efficiencies and performance. Quality monitoring was aligned where applicable to the SMBC 
approach. Further service improvements have been set out in the 2022/23 SCH Delivery Plan.  

Strategic objective 3: Continuously improving services and processes through customer insight 

Early in the year, SCH established a data partnership with an independent and external organisation to 
measure customer satisfaction with a range of SCH services. This enables SCH to report an externally verified 
level of overall customer satisfaction with SCH services. In addition, a quarterly survey tracks the level of wider 
satisfaction with SCH overall.  

Real-time Dashboards are now available to managers and service leads to monitor satisfaction, react in a 
much timelier way to fluctuations and assess the impact of improvement measures. This allows SCH to 
measure the quality of service delivery for customers more comprehensively than ever before and have the 
most mature insight data to date. 

In February, the Board approved the Workflow project in principle and preparatory work began, in particular 
focusing on existing system and process mapping.  

Strategic objective 4: Embedding a clear approach to supporting vulnerable customers across all SCH 
services 

The SCH Inclusive Services Register was launched in the December, which allows SCH to tailor its service 

responses to the individual needs of customers where this is needed. 

SCH also committed to work towards Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance accreditation in 2022/23. 

Strategic objective 5: Supporting and developing our staff 

Throughout the year SCH continued to work towards the objectives and projects set out in the People Strategy. 
Focussing on wellbeing and employee engagement, a new employee engagement survey was introduced 
using a ‘net promoter score’ methodology to help with more in-depth organisational understanding. The SCH 
Staff Engagement Group was tasked to lead on work to develop wellbeing initiatives for employees. 

Other key activities included further development of flexible working through the blended ways of working 
project and work towards achieving foundation status under the Thrive at Work programme in early 2022/23. 
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Strategic Report 
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(continued) 

Finance, Governance and Risk 

The SCH Board approved an action plan to achieve compliance against the National Housing Federation Code 
of Governance. 

Revised governance arrangements for managing health and safety in SCH were agreed and will begin in April 
2022. Health and safety will fall into two distinct areas: occupational health and safety (covering employees 
and workplace issues) and building and resident safety (covering customers, tenants and residential buildings). 
Both groups will report into a strategic health and safety leadership group, comprising of ELT and Heads of 
Service.  

With regard to the management of risk, SCH corporate risks were reviewed and revised. 

Key performance indicators 

In November 2021, the SCH Board approved a recommendation to transition service specific Customer 

Satisfaction measures to two, overall satisfaction measures (transactional and STAR perceptional) for SCH 

for the remainder of the financial year. 

Owing to the implementation of a new CRM system, it was not possible to continue to provide reliable data on 
the previously reported CR11 (enquiries resolved at first point of contact – Contact Centre). 

Short term sickness absence increased to 4.23 days per employee. 

Complaints resolved in timescale was outside the target but there was continued improvement in March with 
all 19 stage one complaints resolved within timescale. 

 

Customer Service and Business Support  

KPI ref KPI Description Target Actual 

CR2 Overall satisfaction (transactional) 85.00% 88.37% 

CR31 Overall satisfaction (STAR perceptional) 78% 78.35% 

CR1 Percentage of complaints resolved at stage 1 97.00% 98.57% 

CR5 Short term staff sickness days 4.00 4.23 

CR28 Percentage of tenants using customer portal 20.00% 36.00% 

CR32 Employee engagement 8.5 6.95 

CR34 Complaints resolved in timescale 90.00% 79.54% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 220



Solihull Community Housing Limited                                                   Company No. 04462630 

 

11 

 

Strategic Report 
31 March 2022 
(continued) 

 

FUTURE CONSIDERATIONS 

A number of reviews commissioned to provide an organisational ‘health check’ identified some key areas for 
improvement, particularly around productivity, data, systems, policies and processes. They also reinforced 
feedback from our own surveys concerning fragmentation of customer journeys and gaps in communications 
with service users. Key corporate priorities have been established to address these fundamental areas for 
improvement: 
 

• Improve data and systems 
• Deliver an improved customer experience 
• Develop the SCH people offer 

 
Service specific priorities include: 
 
Asset Management and Development: 

 Asset Management Strategy Implementation and long-term planning  
 Building Safety  
 Kingshurst Village Centre Regeneration and Housing Development  
 Sustainability and minimising the SCH carbon footprint 

 
Housing and Communities: 

 Tenure neutral ASB service redesign  
 Wellbeing service delivery and use of DFG  
 Prevention of homelessness 

Customer Service and Business Support: 

 Customer engagement and co-design of services  
 People Strategy and staff support, development and wellbeing  
 Business process mapping and workflow design  
 Embedding effective blended ways of working 
 

PRINCIPAL RISKS 

 Potential resurgence of Covid-19 variants impacting on: 
 Repairs  
 Income collection rates 
 Homelessness presentations 
 Void performance and loss of rental income 
 Impact on contractors / supply chains 

 

 Readiness to deliver on fire and building safety obligations and requirements emerging from social 
housing regulation legislation 

 Responding to the challenges created by the rising cost of living 
 

All of these issues will be considered within the SCH risk management process and reviewed on a regular 
basis. 
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Strategic Report 
31 March 2022 
(continued) 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

The Revenue Management Fee, paid by the Council increased from £18.712m in 2020/21, to £19.771m in 
2021/22, as well as a capital programme of £21.568m (2020/21: £17.989m).   

The financial performance (separating out the impacts of IAS19 – Pensions and taxation) against budget and 
the previous year can be summarised as follows: 

 2021/22 Actual 2021/22 Budget 2020/21 Actual 
 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Revenue    

Income 24,404 23,503 22,401 

Expenditure (25,320) (23,327) (23,172) 

(Deficit)/ Surplus  (916) 176 (771) 

Capital    

Income 22,837 25,095 18,979 

Expenditure (22,837) (25,095) (18,979) 

Surplus - - - 

Combined    

Income 47,241 48,598 41,380 

Expenditure (48,157) (48,422) (42,151) 

(Deficit)/ Surplus before tax and 
pension adjustments 

(916) 176 (771) 

Corporation tax (1) - (10) 

Revaluation gain - - 442 

IAS19 Pension adjustments (3,254) - (1,515) 

(Loss)/ Gain per Income Statement (4,171) 176 (1,854) 
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Strategic Report 
31 March 2022 
(continued) 

SCH STRATEGIC VISION: CREATING BETTER HOMES AND THRIVING COMMUNITIES 
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Strategic Report 
31 March 2022 
(continued) 

SCH STRATEGIC AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
Approval 

The Strategic Report was 
approved by the Board on the xx 
June 2022 and signed on its 
behalf by: 

 

Promoting the success of the company 

The companies Act 2006 provides: a director of a company must act in the way that he considers, in good 
faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members and 
stakeholders as a whole, and in doing so have regard (amongst other matters) to: 

 the likely consequence of any decision in the long term 

 the interests of the company’s employees 

 the need to foster the company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others 

 the impact of the company’s operations on the community and the environment 

 the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct 

 the need to act fairly as between members and stakeholders of the company. 
 

The adherence to these principles has been demonstrated throughout this strategic report within the 
company’s strategic aims and objectives. 

Managing the stock portfolio in a proactive, green and 
holistic way 

Ensuring our homes and customers are safe 

Excellent delivery of core services 

Build new environmentally sustainable homes 

Passion in People 

 
Excellent Customer 

Service 

Strengthening 
Communities 

 
More than Bricks 

and Mortar 

 

 

 

Homes 

Strategic Aims 
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Richard Hyde  

Chair 

xx June 2022 
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Report of the Directors  

31 March 2022 

The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activity of the Company is the management and maintenance of Council social housing stock 
and other related activities. 

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF OFFICERS 

The Directors and Chief Officers of the Company during the year and subsequently are set out on page 1.  

SCH also has the following Committees who have responsibility for specific areas: 

 Audit and Risk Committee  

 Human Resources & Remuneration Committee  

 Housing Operations Committee  

EMPLOYEES 

SCH recognises the importance of its dedicated employees and has introduced a new blended approach to 
working following the Covid pandemic. This has enabled a clear programme of communication and 
engagement with all staff including the cascade of Core Brief, regular face to face and virtual team briefs, an 
extensive intranet site as well as team meetings and briefings to continue.  There are also clear lines of 
communication and reporting. Procedures are well documented for staff to raise any concerns and issues. 
Positive relationships with recognised trade unions (UNITE and UNISON) are in place with regular meetings 
to discuss changes and new policies that affect staff. 

SCH is an equal opportunities employer and it is the purpose of the Recruitment and Selection Policy and the 
Code of Practice to ensure that SCH selects the most suitable person for the job based on merit, regardless 
of gender, ethnicity, sexuality, disability, age or religious belief. During any selection process, reasonable 
adjustments are made for people with disabilities. Prior to the process, disabled candidates are contacted to 
ascertain if there are any specific requirements or adjustments needed. Applicants with a disability who meet 
the essential criteria for a post must be offered an interview (Disability Confident Scheme).  

SCH’s commitment extends to people having equal access to development, as set out in its Learning and 
Development Policy. This includes ensuring staff working part time or particular shift patterns are also able to 
receive development that accommodates/considers their needs wherever possible. We ensure that staff who 
do not have day to day access to computers are not disadvantaged.  Staff are given notice of the learning and 
development available and allocated dedicated work time to carry out any necessary training. The take up of 
learning and development opportunities is monitored to ensure there are no hidden gender, race or disability 
barriers to access. 

A new staff appraisal system introduced in 2019 is embedded and SCH has invested in a staff development 
programme known as Passion in People for all staff to extend their skills and behaviours to better serve our 
customers. Progress has managed to continue throughout the year with the use of virtual tools such as video 
conferencing, on-line information and learning.  

Our staff recognised the Covid pandemic has had an impact on the lives of our customers and this was a 
significant priority to us. We have worked hard to protect our most vulnerable customers during this time and 
our staff have acted above and beyond in trying to tackle the increased challenges our customers face such 
as homelessness, domestic violence and protecting those that are clinically extremely vulnerable.   

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS 

The Directors and Chief Officers who were in office on the date of approval of these statements have 
confirmed, as far as they are aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are 
unaware. Each of the Directors and Chief Officers have confirmed that they have taken all the steps that they 
ought to have taken as Directors or Chief Officers in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that it has been communicated to the auditors. 
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Report of the Directors 
31 March 2021 

(continued)  

AUDITORS 

Following an external tender process RSM UK Audit LLP have been confirmed as auditor for the Company for 
an initial period of 3 years (up until 31 December 2022). 

STRATEGIC REPORT 

The Company has chosen in accordance with S414C(ii) of the Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and 
Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013 to set out in the Company’s Strategic Report information required by 
schedule 7 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 
within the Directors’ Report. 

 

 
QUALIFYING THIRD PARTY INDEMNITY PROVISIONS 

The Company has made qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its directors during the 
year, these provisions remain in force at the reporting date.  

APPROVAL 

The report of the Directors was approved by the Board on the                          2022 and signed on its behalf 
by: 

 
 
 
 
Richard Hyde  
Chair 
       xxxxx                         2022 
 

Page 227



Solihull Community Housing Limited                                                   Company No. 04462630 

 

18 
 

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial 
Statements 

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year.  The directors have 
elected under company law to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted International 
Accounting Standards. 

The financial statements are required by law and UK-adopted International Accounting Standards to present 
fairly the financial position and performance of the company. The Companies Act 2006 provides in relation to 
such financial statements that references in the relevant part of that Act to financial statements giving a true 
and fair view are references to their achieving a fair presentation. 

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that 
period.  

 In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to: 

a) select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

b) make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

c) state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted International Accounting 
Standards; 

d) prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that 
the company will continue in business. 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
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Annual Governance Statement 
31 March 2022 
 
INTRODUCTION 

The SCH Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for establishing and maintaining a system of 
governance, risk management and internal control to review the company’s effectiveness and protect and 
make the best use of public funds.  

The Board consists of 10 members and three committees, namely the Audit and Risk, Housing Operations 
and Human Resources, Equalities and Remuneration committees, which are responsible for the strategic 
governance of the company.  

This Annual Governance Statement covers SCH’s significant corporate systems, processes and controls, 
including in particular those designed to ensure that:  

 Laws and regulations are complied with.  

 Policies are implemented in practice and required processes are adhered to.  

 High quality services are delivered efficiently and effectively.  

 The company’s values and ethical standards are met.  

 Performance and financial statements and other published information are reliable.  

 Human, financial and other resources are managed efficiently and effectively.  

The Annual Governance Statement is reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee prior to its approval by the 
Board. Once approved, it is signed by the Chair and the Chief Executive before being published on SCH’s 
website. 

 
THE GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

The SCH governance framework comprises the policies, systems and processes that SCH is directed and 
controlled by. The SCH values of Honesty, Excellence, Achieving together, Respect and Transparency 
underpin the framework and all the activities undertaken by the organisation. The framework also ensures that 
there are proactive processes for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks faced by the company. 
These systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives, and to provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.  

In addition to having a robust governance framework in place, SCH seeks to continuously refine and monitor 
the effectiveness of its governance arrangements and assurance.  To further this approach, the SCH Board 
adopted the National Housing Federation Code of Governance in September 2021 and has developed an 
action plan to achieve full compliance with the code. The National Housing Federation is the trade body for 
Registered Social Landlords rather than ALMOs (trade body National Federation of ALMOs) and therefore 
some of the requirements of the Code do not apply to SCH. 

As a wholly-owned subsidiary of Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council, SCH is guided by the governance 
principles set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework for Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 
(2016).  Given below are some key highlights of how SCH delivers its governance commitments in line with 
the principles of the Framework:  
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Annual Governance Statement 

31 March 2022 

(continued) 

Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law. 

 Regulatory compliance to the Financial Conduct Authority regulations.  

 Regulatory compliance with the requirements of Companies House.  

 Compliance with the gas certification authority, Gas Safe.  

 Compliance with the Housing Ombudsman Code of Guidance.  

 Processes are in place to ensure we comply with the Right To Repair legislation and that adequate reporting 
and records are maintained in line with the Habitable Homes Legislation.  

 Anti-fraud and corruption policies provide clear guidance and procedures for reporting conflicts of interest and 
the receipt of gifts and hospitality, including a mandatory annual declaration of interests by all staff and SCH 
Board Members. At the start of every SCH Board and Committee meeting members are asked to declare any 
interests arising from items on the agenda.  

 A code of conduct for employees, including a disciplinary policy to enable individual cases to be resolved fairly, 
consistently and in a timely manner.  

 A code of conduct for contractors to protect the interests of SCH tenants and leaseholders for whom SCH 
provides services, and protect contractors who deliver those services on behalf of SCH. The code includes 
guidance on not only conduct, safeguarding and confidentiality, but also provides clear direction on diversity 
and inclusion.  

 Standing Orders incorporating Rules for Contract and Financial Regulations reviewed annually and made 
available for all staff on the intranet.  
 

Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 

Engagement with SCH customers and staff:  

  A third of the SCH board membership are tenants/ leaseholders 

 Multiple channels of communication have been developed, including regular business bulletins sent out via 
email with key updates and information.  

 The customer engagement framework includes virtual improvement panel, SCHape panel and building safety 
advocates. The outcomes of this engagement shape the Delivery Plan.  

 Quarterly keep on track meetings between all senior management teams and line managers. 

 The Executive Leadership Team has oversight of significant contracts, performance and contractor satisfaction  

 HR, Equalities and Remuneration committee reviews the results of the staff satisfaction surveys and receives 
reports at each meeting on staff wellbeing and absence trends  

SCH as part of its ongoing engagement with SMBC maintains accountability in the following ways:  

 Quarterly ALMO monitoring meetings with SMBC and SCH to monitor performance, delivery plan and risk 
management.  

 Annual delivery plan agreed with the Council goes through SMBC scrutiny process and then SMBC cabinet 
decision-making.  

 Rolling 5 year management agreement agreed by the Council.  

 Participation in the Strategic Housing board and Building safety group with SMBC colleagues.  

 New 10 year joint Asset Management Strategy (AMS) between SCH and SMBC 
 

A new external contractor was appointed (Acuity) to undertake transactional and STAR quarterly tracker 
surveys. 13 areas are now subject to transactional surveys with 4922 surveys completed in 2021/22. The area 
covered are: response repairs (90.01%), new tenants (81.94%), ASB case handling (69.23%), contact centre 
call handling (86.17%), housing options (69.85%), capital works (91.87%), safer homes (96.89%), aids& 
adaptations (95.39%), compliant handing (31.82%), money advice (83.33%), sprinkler installation (93.24%), 
well-being (95.65%) and estate services (83.33%). 12 surveys are undertaken on a monthly basis with estate 
services being conducted on a quarterly basis. In addition to running the 13 surveys we report overall 
satisfaction (transactional) based on an amalgamation of the individual service area results. 
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Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits  

 Use of biomass in the high rises for heating and hot water in alignment to SMBC objectives.  

 Housing Operations committee reviews services and has oversight of the energy sustainability and 
environmental strategies, and receives an annual forestry report on the maintenance of trees on land managed 
by SCH.  

 The SCH delivery plan has been developed against a backdrop of capturing the context of the changing housing 
sector with a key influence being the learning following Grenfell alongside the housing white paper and the 
proactivity of the Housing Ombudsman Service. 

Baseline data collated for the existing housing stock by a specialist company confirms that:  

 The average energy performance rating for the whole stock is 70.7, equivalent to EPC Band C. 

 There will be significant challenges around achieving net zero in some of the system built construction types 
managed by SCH. 

As a result of the baseline study findings, SCH has approved a new strategy to deliver net zero emissions, to adopt: 

 an interim target to get all homes to EPC Band C by 2030. 

 a fabric-first approaches combined with renewable technologies. 

 super-insulated build systems with better energy performance and air tightness. 

 

SCH has developed a Business Sustainability Plan to achieve the 2030 target by -  

 quantifying our existing carbon emissions for business operations. 

 measuring the impact on carbon emissions through new blended ways of working. 

 agreeing a short term strategy with the Council for electric vehicles, focusing on expanding charging 
infrastructure as a priority. 

 Working to support the Council in the delivery of its Natural Capital Strategy 
 

Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes  

Interventions aimed at better customer experience and outcomes:  

 Customer Experience Improvement Panel (CEIP) is made up of heads of service and senior managers who 
meet monthly to review data from customer feedback, which leads to improvement projects. Recently, this has 
included actions on repairs, ASB, customer contact and complaints.  

 Social media trends are used to inform customer experience and interaction, for example using customer 
registration at SCH portal to access self-help and usage to determine further action to improve customer 
experience.  

 Complaint handling training including compliance with new Housing Ombudsman Code of Guidance delivered 
to all teams.  

 Use of Inclusive Services Register (ISR) to  ensure that the services we provide are tailored to the needs of the 
resident, rather than making assumptions based on a resident’s particular circumstances, leading to more fair 
and equitable access for all residents. 

 Third-party review of Asset Management has identified further action to improve quality of the data and 
interrogation of systems to provide assurance , this is now formalised into an action plan. 

 Real-time dashboards are now available to managers and service leads to monitor satisfaction, enabling them 
to react in a more timely way to fluctuations and assess the impact of improvement measures. A summary of 
the results is captured in the ‘Voice of the Customer’ (VOC) report. 

 
Interventions aimed at improving staff and stakeholder outcomes: 

 A framework of management meetings including Executive Leadership Team and Senior Leadership Teams 
that take account of improving staff and customer outcomes.  

 Frontline managers group is a cross-functional group to improve communication and consistent messaging.  

 Developed well-constructed policies around blended ways of working and learning to adapt to post-pandemic 
challenges. 
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Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it 

 Formal recruitment, retention, training and development policies for staff that incorporate annual appraisals of 
performance against targets that are consistent with the Delivery Plan and corporate objectives.  

 SCH has a training plan covering both mandatory and optional training for all staff, which includes regular 
refresher training on key areas such as Protecting Information, Data Protection, Equalities and Inclusion and 
Safeguarding.  

 1-2-1 mentoring for managers to support better performance management.  

 Access to webinars on various subjects to support learning.  

Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective accountability  

 Board reports are available for the public to view on the SCH website.  

 Statutory accounts are published on the website.  

 Finance publishes expenditure over £250.  

 Public sector equality duty statement published on the website.  

 Publish the gender pay gap report annually.  

 Compliance with the Freedom of Information framework.  

 Performance information including average wait times for different types of accommodation published on the 
website.  

 Compliance with the Housing Ombudsman Code of Guidance published on the website.  

 Information presented in accessible formats.  

Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management  

 Complete review and refresh of the company’s Corporate Risk Register (and supporting service Risk Registers) 
has been undertaken. The registers detail the identified risks and the mitigating actions in place to deal with 
them, as well as clearly defined management responsibilities for their identification, evaluation and control.  

 As a part of SCH’s risk management approach the Audit and Risk Committee monitors the effective 
development and operation of risk management and considers compliance with the Risk Management Policy 
and Procedure. Annual report is presented to full Board on risk management in June each year.  

 A formal programme of internal audit work, carried out by officers independent of the Executive Leadership 
Team reports review processes and internal control; the recommendations are agreed by the Executive 
Leadership Team and are considered in detail by the Audit & Risk Committee.  

 Financial monitoring goes to the SCH Board on a quarterly basis so that all members take responsibility for 
financial oversight.  

 Quarterly financial monitoring reports to the Board to highlight any anticipated unplanned significant 
expenditure.  

 

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS 

SCH undertakes an annual review of the effectiveness of its governance framework, including the system of 
internal control. The outcomes of the review are considered by the Chief Executive with support from the 
relevant officers, as well as the Audit and Risk Committee and the Chair. Once approved, the Annual 
Governance Statement is published alongside the Statement of Accounts. 

 
ASSURANCE FROM MANAGEMENT 

All Executive Directors have provided assurance that they are satisfied that staff within their sphere of control 
are compliant with the governance framework including Standing Orders, Rules for Contract, Financial 
Regulations, Health and Safety and Risk Management.  

Each senior manager has also completed an individual self-assessment of their own area of control, 
highlighting any areas of concern or requiring further action to strengthen the control measures to safeguard 
company assets. Following this process, a detailed action plan has been developed, to further strengthen 
areas where Executive Directors highlighted any gaps in the control measures. 
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Annual Governance Statement 

31 March 2022 

(continued) 

OTHER INTERNAL ASSURANCE 

Audit Services   

Internal Audit reviews were carried out remotely throughout the year in accordance with the annual internal 
audit plan, and recommendations for improvement were made and shared with ELT and the Audit and Risk 
Committee. Implementation of audit recommendations was tracked using an online recommendation tracking 
system and delays in implementation were escalated to senior management and reported to the Audit and 
Risk Committee. 

There were no serious concerns identified during the audit reviews.  
 
Risk Management  

Responsibility for the strategic oversight of risk lies with the Audit & Risk Committee, with the Chair of the 
Committee taking responsibility for reporting any issues of concern to the SCH Board. Responsibility for 
operational risk management is owned by the Executive Leadership Team. The corporate and operational risk 
registers are monitored by both the Executive Leadership Team and the Audit & Risk Committee on a quarterly 
basis. There is also an annual risk management report presented to the full Board. 

The registers detail the identified risks and the mitigating actions in place to deal with them, as well as clearly 
defined management responsibilities for their identification, evaluation and control. 

A complete refresh of the corporate and operational risk registers was undertaken during the year to ensure 
that risks are aligned to corporate priorities. The risk refresh process included consultation with key 
stakeholders (board members, managers and partners) through a survey to capture the risks to the 
organization and then multiple risk workshops to define the risks and mitigations at both strategic and 
operational levels. 

Performance Management  

There are robust strategic and business planning processes which have included contributions from staff at all 
levels. An agreed suite of performance indicators (both local and national) is in place at team and corporate 
level and these are monitored through regular reporting to management and the SCH Board, as well as by the 
council on a quarterly basis. Further reporting also takes place against the delivery plan, in respect of 
objectives, targets and outcomes. 

Data integrity has been identified as a key corporate focus area and detailed interventions and actions plans 
have been put in place to improve the quality of data captured as well as linking multiple data systems to 
enable easy integration of data to inform better decision-making. 

The Board has oversight of the skills mix of its membership and reviews this regularly, tailoring recruitment 
accordingly. The Board members go through annual appraisals of their own contribution and bi-annual 360 
degree feedback is provided to enable a high-performing board. 

Information Governance  

SCH’s approach to information governance is underpinned by policy, guidance and training. This includes a 
full suite of policies based upon the information security standard BS ISO/IEC 27002:2013 and mandatory 
GDPR and Protecting Information training courses which all employees must complete (refresher every 2 
years). There are clear management and accountability structures in place, which are outlined in the 
Information Governance Framework. 

The SCH Governance Team works closely with the SMBC Information Governance Team to ensure full 
compliance with Freedom of Information and data protection requirements. Oversight of the internal 
governance arrangements is provided by both the Executive Leadership Team and Board, any failure to 
comply with statutory compliance with Companies House or Financial Conduct Authority would result in 
notifications from the relevant authorities.  

All data breaches were reported and investigated and signed off by the relevant Executive Director. Learning 
points were identified from breaches, including staff being reminded of the need to be vigilant to avoid data 
breaches caused due to human error. 
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Annual Governance Statement 

31 March 2022 

(continued) 

Financial Management  

SCH’s Standing Orders, Rules for Contracts and Financial Regulations are agreed annually by the Board (last 
update on 7 Jun 2021).  This document incorporates legal requirements and reflects CIPFA guidance. SCH 
continues to report its budget and savings proposals via SMBC’s Budget Strategy Group to ensure Council 
oversight and challenge of potential changes. 

There is a robust financial monitoring process to identify non-compliance. Where this occurs, such as a forecast 
overspend, there are clear rules for escalation in place. Any forecast overspend is reported to the SCH Board 
through a quarterly financial monitoring report and a solution is recommended and agreed. 

There was a forecast year-end overspend identified in September 2021 as a result of service recovery from 
Covid (for example, voids, temporary accommodation, backlog on repairs). Mitigating actions were put in place 
and one-off funding agreed. By quarter 4 the forecast was a small underspend by the year-end. 

During 2021/22 it was identified that an agreed price increase for tenants provided with biomass heating 
agreed earlier in the financial year had not been implemented. This was reported to SCH Board in November 
2021, and the price increases actioned. 

The 2022/23 budget-setting process also identified areas of financial pressure and solutions have been put in 
place to ensure a balanced budget. 

Procurement  

Procurement services are provided to SCH by the council. Systems are in place for compliance with the SCH 
Standing Orders, Rules for Contract and Financial Regulations.  

Spend monitoring outcomes are reported on an on-going basis to senior management and/or the Audit and 
Risk Committee, to ensure appropriate levels of challenge within the monitoring process. All procurement 
approval documents are now reviewed by ELT to maintain tighter financial controls.  

A Procurement page has been created on the intranet with online approval processes for justification of needs 
before entering into any contract or purchasing agreement. Key risks have been recorded in the Procurement 
risk registers and are managed according to the risk profile.  

Equalities Framework  

SCH complies with the Equality Act 2010. Systems for monitoring and assessing compliance are supported 
by an extensive range of measures, including an Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Policy, Fair Treatment 
Assessments in key services and making SCH an inclusive service provider by tailoring services to meet 
individual needs and circumstances wherever possible through a dedicated Inclusive Services Register. 
Equality and Diversity training in mandatory for new employees. Reports to the Board and Committees include 
due regard to equalities as appropriate. 

SCH demonstrates performance on equality, diversity and inclusion by: 

 Annually publishing information about the diversity of its workforce and gender pay gap information. 

 Annually publishing its approach to meeting customer needs under the Public Sector Equality Duty 
reporting arrangements. 

 Signing up to the government’s Disability Confident Employer Scheme (Level 1). 

 Publicising major festivals and international days and celebrating diversity evets.  

SCH has had no prosecutions or enforcement notices issued against it for breach of the Equality Act 2010. 

  

Page 234



Solihull Community Housing Limited                                                   Company No. 04462630 

 

25 

 

Annual Governance Statement 

31 March 2022 

(continued) 

Health and Safety  

Health and safety performance reports are presented on a regular basis to the Executive Management Team 
and the SCH Full Board. The reports provide an overview of key performance, including the number of reported 
accidents/incidents, commentary on key aspects of health and safety including legislative updates. As such, 
the reports confirmed that: 

 Health and safety arrangements are in place within SCH, but with some areas of improvement required. 

 There have been no regulatory interventions or enforcement action taken against the SCH in the last 
year. 

A review of the Asset Management Service undertaken in this financial year identified improvements that 
needed to be made from a health and safety perspective. A plan has now been produced to address this, 
which will form part of a new building safety implementation plan for the upcoming Building Safety Reforms. 

A review of health and safety governance arrangements had also taken place to help improve the management 
of health and safety throughout the organisation, resulting in a recommendation and action plan to manage 
health and safety in two distinct areas - occupational health and safety and building/resident safety). 

Assurance from Customers (Complaints and compliments) and Ombudsman Complaints    

The Housing Ombudsman Code of Guidance for complaint handling was introduced during 2020/21 and a 
self-assessment against the Code was completed as required and reported to Board in November 2020 and 
December 2021.  Work has now started to comply with the new code issued in April 2022. 

Systems are in place for monthly monitoring of complaint handling compliance and follow up and the Executive 
Directors have monthly reports on complaints within their service areas. 

All complaints are monitored by the Governance Team and any issues escalated to the relevant Executive 
Director. 

Complaints and compliments: 

SCH received 265 formal complaints and 196 compliments during 2021-22.  The majority of complaints were 
resolved at stage 1 of the complaints process with only 6 progressing to stage 2. 

ASSURANCE FROM EXTERNAL INSPECTIONS 

External Audit  

The last “Audit Findings” report issued by RSM UK Audit LLP was presented to Audit and Risk Committee on 
27 June 2022. The report was positive, did not identify any control weaknesses and made no recommendations 
for management to consider.  

RSM confirmed that in their opinion, the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2022 and of its loss for 
the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.  
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Annual Governance Statement 

31 March 2022 

(continued) 

CONCLUSION AND EVALUATION 

As Chair and Chief Executive, we have been advised on the results of the review of the effectiveness of SCH’s 
governance framework. Our overall assessment is that this Annual Governance Statement is a balanced 
reflection of the governance environment and the arrangements continue to be regarded as fit for purpose in 
accordance with the governance framework.  

We are also satisfied that over the coming year, SCH will have recruited successfully to the two vacant 
independent board member posts to further strengthen our strategic leadership. We also commit to 
implementing any outstanding actions identified as part of this annual review of governance.  

 
 

 

 

 

Richard Hyde    F. Hughes 
Chair     Chief Executive 
 
                                           2022 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Solihull 
Community Housing Limited 
 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Solihull Community Housing Limited (the ‘company’) for the year 
ended 31 March 2022 which comprise Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in 
Equity, Balance Sheet, Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and UK-adopted International Accounting Standards. 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2022 and of its loss for 
the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted International Accounting Standards; 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.   
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in 
the relevant sections of this report. 
 
Other information 

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information 
contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent 
material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in 
the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
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 the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and  

 the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 
 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course 
of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report. 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or 

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 
 
Responsibilities of directors 

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 18, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 
 
The extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 

Irregularities are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations.  The objectives of our audit are to 
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding compliance with laws and regulations that have a direct 
effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, to perform audit 
procedures to help identify instances of non-compliance with other laws and regulations that may have a 
material effect on the financial statements, and to respond appropriately to identified or suspected non-
compliance with laws and regulations identified during the audit.   

In relation to fraud, the objectives of our audit are to identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of 
the financial statements due to fraud, to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the assessed 
risks of material misstatement due to fraud through designing and implementing appropriate responses and to 
respond appropriately to fraud or suspected fraud identified during the audit.   
However, it is the primary responsibility of management, with the oversight of those charged with governance, 
to ensure that the entity's operations are conducted in accordance with the provisions of laws and regulations 
and for the prevention and detection of fraud. 

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud, the audit 
engagement team:  

 obtained an understanding of the nature of the industry and sector, including the legal and regulatory 
framework that the company operates in and how the company is complying with the legal and 
regulatory framework; 

 inquired of management, and those charged with governance, about their own identification and 
assessment of the risks of irregularities, including any known actual, suspected or alleged instances 
of fraud; 
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 discussed matters about non-compliance with laws and regulations and how fraud might occur 
including assessment of how and where the financial statements may be susceptible to fraud. 

As a result of these procedures we consider the most significant laws and regulations that have a direct impact 
on the financial statements are IFRS/UK-adopted IAS, the Companies Act 2006 and tax compliance 
regulations. We performed audit procedures to detect non-compliances which may have a material impact on 
the financial statements which included reviewing financial statement disclosures. 

The most significant laws and regulations that have an indirect impact on the financial statements are those in 
relation to building maintenance.  We performed audit procedures to inquire of management and those charged 
with governance whether the company is in compliance with these law and regulations. 
The audit engagement team identified the risk of management override of controls as the area where the 
financial statements were most susceptible to material misstatement due to fraud.  Audit procedures 
performed included but were not limited to testing manual journal entries and other adjustments and  

evaluating the business rationale in relation to significant, unusual transactions and transactions entered into 
outside the normal course of business. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of 
our auditor’s report. 
 
Use of our report  

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company 
and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
ANNA SPENCER-GRAY (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of RSM UK Audit LLP, Statutory Auditor  
Chartered Accountants 
St Philips Point  
Temple Row  
Birmingham  
B2 5AF 
 
Date 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

for the year ended 31 March 2022 

   Note 2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

REVENUE 1  47,241  41,380 

Operating expenses 3 (50,912)  (43,362) 

     

LOSS FROM OPERATIONS  (3,671)  (1,982) 

Finance costs 4/16 (499)  (304) 

     

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION  (4,170)  (2,286) 

Income Tax expense 6  (1)  (10) 

LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14 (4,171)  (2,296) 

 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, NET OF TAX 

Actuarial gain/ (loss) on defined benefit obligations 17  11,051  (8,145) 

Gain on property revaluation 8 -  442 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 6,880  (9,999) 

       

The loss from operations for the year arises from the Company's continuing operations (note 3). 

The loss for the year is entirely attributable to its sole member (note 13). 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

for the year ended 31 March 2022 

  Note  
Total Equity & 

Reserves 

    £’000 

BALANCE AT 1 April 2020    (1,589) 

     

Loss for the financial year to 31 March 2021   (1,854) 

Actuarial loss relating to the pension scheme  17  (8,145) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR   (9,999) 

     

BALANCE AT 31 March 2021     (11,588) 

     

Loss for the financial year to 31 March 2022   (4,171) 

Actuarial gain relating to the pension scheme 17   11,051 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR   6,880 

     

BALANCE AT 31 March 2022    (4,708) 
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Balance Sheet 
  

at 31 March 2022 

   Note 2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

ASSETS     

NON CURRENT ASSETS     

Property, plant and equipment 8  2,274  2,312 

Right of use assets 16 782  1,070 

CURRENT ASSETS     

Inventories 9  104  94 

Trade and other receivables 10 3,530  2,825 

Cash and cash equivalents 15 11,479  10,937 

TOTAL ASSETS   18,169  17,238 

       

LIABILITIES 

CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Trade and other payables 11 (7,550)  (5,296) 

Current tax liabilities 6  (1)  (10) 

Lease liabilities 16 (345)  (356) 

Borrowings 7/12 (37)  (35) 

    (7,933)  (5,697) 

       

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Borrowings 7/12 (411)  (448) 

Lease liabilities 16 (446)  (719) 

Retirement benefit net obligations 17  (14,087)  (21,884) 

Other non-current financial liabilities 7/11 -  (78) 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   (22,877)  (28,826) 

                       

NET LIABILITIES   (4,708)  (11,588) 

       

EQUITY – Attributable to parent     

Retained earnings 14  (4,708)  (11,588) 

TOTAL EQUITY – ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBER   (4,708)  (11,588) 

         

The financial statements on pages 30 to 55 were approved by the Board and authorised for issue on                
                             2022 and are signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
    

 

 

 

Mr Richard Hyde Mr Nigel Page 

Chair Chair of Audit and Risk Committee 
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Statement of Cash Flows 

for the year ended 31 March 2022 

   Note 2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES      

Cash inflow/ (outflow) from operations 15  1,087  (886) 

Interest paid 4  (33)  (37) 

Corporation tax paid  (10)  (13) 

NET CASH GENERATED/ (USED) IN OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES 

 1,044  (936) 

        

INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 8 (81)  - 

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (81)  - 

       

FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

Repayments of borrowings 12 (35)  (34) 

Repayment of lease liabilities 16 (386)  (353) 

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (421)  (387) 

       

NET INCREASE/ (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS 

 542  (1,323) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF 
YEAR 

 10,937  12,260 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 15  11,479  10,937 
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Significant Accounting Policies 
31 March 2022 

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis other than the revaluation of freehold 
properties.  The principal accounting policies are set out below.  The financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations as endorsed by the European Union ("IFRS") and the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. 

GOING CONCERN 

The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Strategic Report sets details of the delivery 
plan and the five-year Strategic Vision which is the basis on which the directors have been able to make this 
assumption. This includes consideration of the trading activities of the Company along with the five-year rolling 
Management Agreement signed on 24 April 2015.  The Council, at the Full Cabinet meeting on 10 February 
2022, approved the roll-over of this agreement for the period 2022/23 to 2026/27. The Company also has 
sufficient cash reserves available should it be required to draw upon them. 

Due consideration has been given to the current Covid-19 pandemic and it is acknowledged that at the outset 
services were impacted with staff redeployed to support the Company’s response to this global 
pandemic.  Throughout the various lockdown periods services have been reassessed to ensure safe delivery, 
however, the company is now providing all services, albeit in a continuing Covid-19 safe manner.  The Council 
has provided the Company with a letter of support that confirms the Council has no plans to request repayment 
of the outstanding creditor balance in the period to the end of July 2023. This added to the ongoing unaffected 
level of revenue management fee for 2022/23 reinforces the accounts being prepared on a going concern 
basis. 

REVENUE 

Revenue consists of the invoiced value (excluding VAT) for goods and services supplied. The revenue taken 
to the Income Statement reflects the Company's right to consideration in exchange for performance. 

Revenue is recognised when revenue and associated costs can be measured reliably and future economic 
benefits are probable. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for 
goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales related 
taxes. 

Revenue from services is recognised on a time-apportioned basis by reference to the provision of services 
set out in the Management Agreement, applicable Service Level Agreement or contract for services. 

Sales of goods or property are recognised when goods are delivered and title has passed. Delivery occurs 
when the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer. 

PROPERTY 

Housing properties were initially recorded at cost less any identified impairment loss until the date of the first 
revaluation which took place on 31 March 2016. All Housing properties are now included within the accounts 
at Existing Use Value (Social Housing). 

Completed properties are then subject to a full re-valuation every 5 years by an independent valuer who is a 
member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors - the market values for the properties being then 
adjusted to Existing Use Value - Social Housing (EUV-SH).   

This method applies a reduction to the market value of the property in order to reflect the service potential of 
the asset in its delivery of social housing objectives.  The percentage reduction applicable to the assets is that 
defined by the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government.  Where a change in the percentage 
applied to arrive at the EUV-SH value is considered to result in a material change in the value of the Company's 
assets, this change will be applied immediately as a desktop exercise, even where a full revaluation is not yet 
due.   

The change in the EUV-SH percentage itself is assumed not to materially change the underlying value of the 
property.   

Any amounts arising as a result of revaluation, exceeding the historical cost, are credited to the revaluation 
reserve. 

Page 244



Solihull Community Housing Limited                                                   Company No. 04462630 

 

35 

 

Significant Accounting Policies 
31 March 2022 

(continued) 

DEPRECIATION 

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost or revalued amount of an asset, less its estimated residual 
value, over the useful economic life of that asset.  Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method at 
rates set out below. A full year's depreciation is charged in the year of acquisition and no depreciation in the 
year of disposal. 
 
Freehold Land and Assets in the Course of Construction are not depreciated. 
In accordance with International Accounting Standard 16 (IAS16), SCH's housing properties are split into their 
underlying components as defined by the BCIS "Component Life Survey" and each component is depreciated 
separately. SCH uses the following components with useful lives as shown: 
•   Substructure (over 50 years) 
•   Superstructure (over 50 years) 
•   Internal Finishes (over 40 years) 
•   Fittings (over 15 years) 
•   Services (over 25 years) 
•   External works (over 35 years) 
 
HOUSING PROPERTIES  

Depreciation is calculated on each component of the asset so as to write off the cost, less its estimated residual 
value, over the lower of 50 years or the useful economic life of each component. The useful economic life is 
determined separately for each development. 

Revaluation gains and losses are applied across land and structure as appropriate. 

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its property assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).  
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the 
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately, 
unless the relevant asset is carried at a re-valued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried 
above historical cost, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

SHARED OWNERSHIP PROPERTIES 

Properties acquired or constructed for re-sale are recorded as a current asset (within Inventories) at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises materials, direct labour and direct development overheads. 
Net realisable value is based on estimated sales price after allowing for all further costs of completion and 
disposal.  

Where a property is acquired for re-sale on shared ownership terms, the proportion of the asset related to the 
first “tranche” for sale is recorded as a current asset (as set out above) until it is sold, the balance is held as a 
non-current asset within Housing Properties and depreciated accordingly. The non-current asset element is 
revalued in line with the accounting policy (for Property) set out above. Revenue from the initial first “tranche” 
sales of shared ownership properties is recognised as revenue. Sales of subsequent tranches are recognised 
as the disposal of a non-current asset, with the profit or loss on disposal being credited to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 
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Significant Accounting Policies 
31 March 2022 

(continued) 

GOVERNMENT GRANTS 

Grants in respect of revenue activities are credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the same 
period as the expenditure to which they relate, once reasonable assurance has been gained that the Company 
will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the funds will be received.  

The Company adopts the revaluation model for its housing properties and any related income from government 
grants is, therefore recognised by crediting the grant to revenue under the performance model. 

Government grants released on sale of a property may be repayable but are normally available to be recycled 
are credited to a Recycled Capital Grant Fund and included in the Balance Sheet as a liability, where applicable. 

OTHER GRANTS 

Grants received from non-government sources are recognised using the performance model. A grant which 
does not impose specified future performance conditions is recognised as revenue when the grant proceeds 
are received or receivable. A grant that imposes specified future performance-related conditions on the 
Company is recognised only when these conditions are met. A grant received before the revenue recognition 
criteria are satisfied is recognised as deferred income and included as a liability in the Balance Sheet.

INVENTORIES (excluding Shared ownership properties) 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated value in use. Cost comprises direct material costs 
and (where applicable), direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the 
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the First in First Out (FIFO) method. 

LEASES 

IFRS 16 is the Lease Accounting Standard that came into effect from April 2019. The adoption of this new 
Standard has resulted in SCH recognising a right-of-use asset and related lease liability in connection with all 
former operating leases with the exception of those leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months 
from the date of initial application. 
 
The new standard has been applied using the cumulative catch-up approach with the right-of-use asset under 
leases being measured at an amount equal to the lease liability. This new standard includes an optional 
exemption that can be applied on transition, meaning that leases previously accounted for as an operating 
lease with a remaining term of less than 12 months can be accounted for on a straight-line basis over the 
remaining lease term.   
 
Depreciation has been applied to right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from date of transition for existing 
leases or lease commencement date for leases entered into within the current financial year. 
 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company has become a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 
Financial assets 

Receivables:  Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables and are initially recognised 
at fair value.  They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest method less 
any provision for impairment.  
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Significant Accounting Policies 
31 March 2022 

(continued) 

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
 
A provision for impairment is made where, in the opinion of the Directors, there is a reasonable likelihood that 
amounts will not be recovered in accordance with the original terms of the agreement. The level of the provision 
depends on the nature of the debt and the customer’s payment history. The carrying value of the receivable is 
reduced through the use of an allowance account and any impairment loss is recognised in the Income 
Statement. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents/liquid resources:  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in 
hand and other short-term deposits held by the Company with maturities of less than three months. 

Bank overdrafts are presented within current liabilities. 

Investments:  Short-term investments, comprising short term deposits with maturities of three months or more, 
are stated at cost and classified as current assets. 
 
Borrowings: Interest bearing loans and overdrafts are recorded initially at their fair value, net of direct 
transaction costs.  Such instruments are subsequently carried at their amortised cost and finance charges, 
including premiums payable on settlement or redemption, are recognised in the Income Statement over the 
term of the instrument using an effective rate of interest. 

Payables:  Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. 
 
TAXATION 

The relationship between the Company and its parent undertaking has been recognised as non-trading in 
nature. Consequently, any activities that the Company carries on with its parent under its Management 
Agreement are not liable to corporation tax. 

Where the Company has trading income from outside its parent Company, this may be liable to Corporation 
Tax. The tax payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from accounting profit as 
reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Company's liability for current tax is measured using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the reporting date. The tax expense represents the sum of the current tax expense and deferred tax 
expense. 

 
DEFERRED TAXATION 

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as more likely than not that they will be 
recovered. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods when the timing differences 
are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and law enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet 
date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 

Where law or accounting standards require gains and losses to be recognised in the Statement of Changes in 
Equity, the related taxation is also taken directly to the Statement of Changes in Equity in due course. 

At the reporting date, the Company has a potential deferred tax asset in respect of the pensions deficit of  
£14,087,000. No deferred tax asset has been recognised as it is not considered probable that there will be 
future taxable profits available. 
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Significant Accounting Policies 
31 March 2022 

(continued) 
 

PENSIONS 

All permanent employees of the Company are entitled to join the local government "defined benefit" pension 
scheme, the West Midlands Pension Fund, which is administered by Wolverhampton City Council and provides 
members with defined benefits, related to pay and service. During the year, the Company paid an employer's 
contribution rate of 16.0% (2021: 16.0%) into the fund in addition to meeting all pension payments relating to 
added years benefits awarded during the year, together with any related increases. 

In accordance with lAS 19 "Employee benefits" revised, the service cost of the pension provision relating to 
the period, together with the cost of any benefits relating to past service, and the administration cost is charged 
to the Income Statement. A net interest charge on the defined benefit liability based on the discount rate at the 
start of the year is included in the Income Statement under "Finance costs". 

The difference between the fair value of the assets of the scheme and the present value of the accrued pension 
liabilities is shown as an asset or liability on the balance sheet net of any deferred tax. Any difference between 
the expected return on assets and that actually achieved is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income along with differences arising from experience or assumption (financial and demographic) changes. 

Through its defined benefit pension scheme the company is exposed to a number of risks, the most notable 
being: 

 Investment risk. The Fund holds investment in asset classes, such as equities, which have volatile 
market values and while these assets are expected to provide real returns over the long-term, the 
short-term volatility can require additional funding to be required if a deficit emerges;  

 Interest rate risk. The Fund’s liabilities are assessed using market yields on high quality corporate 
bonds to discount future liability cashflows. As the Fund holds assets such as equities the value of 
the assets and liabilities may not fluctuate in the same way;  

 Inflation risk. All of the benefits under the Fund are linked to inflation and so deficits may emerge to 
the extent that the assets are not linked to inflation; and  

 Longevity risk. In the event that the members live longer than assumed a deficit will emerge in the 
Fund. There are also other demographic risks.  

 
Further information on pension arrangements is set out in Note 17 to the accounts. 

 

STANDARDS ADOPTED EARLY BY THE COMPANY 

 

The Company has not adopted any standards or interpretations early in either the current or the preceding 
financial year. 

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements the following Standards and Interpretations which 
have not been applied in these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective: 

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current – effective 2023 

Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors – effective 2023 

None of these standards are expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
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Areas of Judgement and Risk Management 
31 March 2022 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND AREAS OF JUDGEMENT 
The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future that are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The resulting accounting estimates and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the 
related actual results. 

The Strategic Report set out on pages 3 to 15 of these accounts sets out a commentary on the current and 
future trading activities of the Company as well as the key risks underlying its operations. The evidence 
gathered in this exercise forms a key element of the Directors’ assessment of whether SCH continues to be a 
going concern. 

The estimates (and related assumptions) that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are in relation to the pension scheme and the property revaluations. 
The detailed assumptions in relation to the pension scheme are set out in Note 17 to the accounts. Solihull 
Community Housing's ("SCH") parent, Solihull Council confirms on an annual basis that they expect SCH to 
make best endeavours to maintain a fully funded scheme by complying with any guidance issued by the 
actuary with regard to contribution levels. In line with the Company's accounting policies its property portfolio 
is revalued every five years. The first such revaluation took place on 31 March 2016 with the most recent full 
revaluation taking place on 31 March 2021. Details are set out in Note 8 to the accounts. 

 
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
The Board of SCH is responsible for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the 
Company. The Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee jointly champions risk management (including the 
management of financial risks) throughout SCH on an ongoing basis together with the Chief Financial Officer 

The Chief Executive and SCH's Executive Management Team (EMT) are collectively responsible for managing 
strategic risks as well as being responsible for managing operational risks in their individual areas of 
responsibility. 

SCH maintains a Corporate Risk register and each Executive Director maintains a supporting Service Risk 
Register. A series of workshops have been held this year to rebuild these risk registers from the ground up.  
These registers set out the identified risks and the mitigating actions in place to deal with these risks, as well 
as clearly defined management responsibilities for their identification, evaluation and control. The Executive 
Leadership Team (ELT) carry out quarterly formal reviews of the registers and report the strategic risks to the 
Board twice a year. 

Monitoring exposure to financial risks forms a key part of SCH's overall risk management processes. The 
Annual Governance Statement set out on pages 19 to 26 of these accounts sets out a more detailed 
explanation of SCH's approach to the management of both financial and operational risk. 

 
Liquidity Risk and Credit Risk 
SCH's objective is to meet its liabilities as they fall due whilst maintaining sufficient funds to enable the 
Company to react to unexpected changes in market conditions. 

The Company is largely dependent on its largest customer, Solihull Council. The Capital and Revenue 
Management Fees and income from Service Level Agreements from Solihull Council represent 94% (2020: 
96%) of SCH's income and are receivable monthly in advance. SCH is dependent on Management Fee income 
in order to maintain the necessary cash flow to operate effectively. 

Solihull Community Housing is exposed to liquidity risk principally in the event that the Council were to 
experience cash flow difficulties in paying the management fee monthly. Despite the recent Coronavirus 
pandemic and the impact this has had to the Council’s revenue finances, it is still considered by the Board that 
the likelihood of this risk arising is remote. 

The Company's maximum exposure to credit risk, gross of any collateral held, relating to its financial assets is 
equivalent to their carrying value. All financial assets have a fair value which is equal to their carrying value. 
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Areas of Judgement and Risk Management 
31 March 2022 

(continued) 

Liquidity Risk and Credit Risk (continued) 

Credit risk predominantly arises from trade receivables of the Company's total 2021 financial assets, 
£2,743,655 (2021: £1,942,123) is owed to the Company by Solihull Council and the SCH Board therefore also 
consider that the likelihood of this risk arising is remote.  The remainder are cash/cash equivalents and 
amounts due from third parties. Other trade receivables are limited in value. 

SCH has joint banking arrangements with Solihull Council but the Company's arrangements reflect its 
independence (e.g. a separate bank account, bank mandate and signatories). 

Solihull Council carries out Treasury Management on behalf of SCH under a Service Level Agreement (SLA). 
Surplus funds for both Solihull Council and SCH are pooled and deposited overnight and on longer 
arrangements, under a formal agreement between the two parties.  The resulting interest is credited to the 
Council's Housing Revenue Account (HRA), and thus supplements the Management Fee payable to SCH. 

Interest rate risk 

SCH's interest rate risk is limited to the following areas: 

 The rate that the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) earns on its balances - which directly affects the 
management fee payable to SCH (see above). 

 Solihull Council's Consolidated Rate of Interest (CRI) on the loan to finance SCH's developments and 
Planned Preventative Maintenance programme 

All the Company's 2022 and 2021 Financial Assets are non-interest bearing. 

All the Company's 2022 and 2021 Trade and Other Payables are non-interest bearing.  The interest rates 
applicable to the Company's 2022 and 2021 Borrowings are set out in Note 12 to these accounts, where these 
amounts are analysed by interest type. 

Capital Management 

The Company's main objective when managing capital is to ensure that it maintains sufficient capital to ensure 
that the Council's tenants continue to receive an excellent housing management service from the Company. 
The level of management fee agreed with the Council annually in respect of the Management Agreement and 
the Company's level of operating efficiency are the principal determinants of the level of equity that the 
Company is able to retain. As a Company limited by guarantee, the only equity capital of the Company is 
represented by its retained earnings reserves. 

The Company's level of debt is not significant. "Net debt" is defined as including short and long-term borrowings 
(including overdrafts and lease obligations) net of cash and cash equivalents and represents net positive funds 
of £10,240,000 at 31 March 2022 (2021: £9,379,000). 

The Company does not have any externally imposed capital requirements and has not made any changes to 
its capital management during the year. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2022 

1.  REVENUE 

Sales were made wholly in the United Kingdom and derived from the Company's principal activity of housing 
management, including rental of properties.  

2.  SEGMENT INFORMATION       

IFRS8 requires the provision of segmental information for the Company on the basis of information reported 
internally to the chief operating decision-maker for decision-making purposes.  The Company considers that the 
role of chief operating decision-maker is performed by the Company's Board of Directors and all results are 
reported as a single segment. 

       

3.  PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 

Loss/ profit from operations is stated after charging:  2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

Inventories     

 - cost of inventory recognised as an expense  865  876 

     

Depreciation of owned property, plant and equipment  52  42 

Depreciation of leased assets    389  353 

Auditor's fees:     

 - audit services  28  26 

 - taxation  2  2 

Rentals under operating leases  2  2 

 
 

      

The following table analyses the nature of expenses:  2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

Staff costs 5  14,612  12,638 

Asset management  28,693  24,030 

Housing management  4,574  3,594 

Corporate services  3,033  3,100 

Total expenditure                  50,912  43,362 

 

4.   FINANCE COSTS  2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

Interest on net pension liability  17  (466)  (267) 

Prudential borrowing interest  (20)  (22) 

Interest on lease liabilities 16 (13)  (15) 

    (499)  (304) 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2022 

(continued)       

 

5.   STAFF COSTS  
2022 
No 

 
2021 
No 

The average monthly number of persons employed by the Company during the 
year was: 

   

Non-executive Directors  9  9 

Executive Management Team  4  4 

Housing and Communities  124  122 

Assets and Development  123  107 

Procurement  2  3 

Customer Service Transformation and Business Support  61  54 

    323  299 

 

Staff costs, including directors:   2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

Wages and salaries  8,753  8,404 

Social security costs  836  769 

Other pension costs  4,078  2,684 

Modernisation and redundancy costs  66  54 

Sub-total employed staff costs    13,733  11,191 

Agency costs  879  727 

Total staff costs    14,612  12,638 

       

Remuneration of key management personnel: 
The remuneration of the non-Executive directors and the Executive Management Team of the Company in 
aggregate is as follows: 

 2022 
£’000 

 2022 
Average per 

full time 
equivalent 

 2021 
£’000 

 2021 
 Average 

per full time 
equivalent 

Short term employee benefits 
(Pay & Employers NI) 

545  136  481  120 

Post employment benefits 
(Employers Pension) 

63  16  64  16 

 608  152  545  136 

 

The role of the Chief Financial Officer in SCH is undertaken by the Council’s Assistant Director of Finance and 
Property Services and spends approximately 50% of her time on SCH business. This 50% costs the Council 
£62,361 (2021: £60,326). This is not included within the staffing details above as the role forms part of an overall 
Service Level Agreement (SLA) paid by SCH to the Council at a total cost of £1,238,670 (2021: £1,217,380). The 
SLA provides the company with support services for Finance, Human Resources, Information Technology, Health 
and Safety and Equalities. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2022 

(continued) 

5.   STAFF COSTS (continued) 

The directors are defined as being the members of the Solihull Community Housing Board. 

During 2020/21 the Chair of the Board received remuneration of £8,000 (2020/21: £8,000). 

No other directors received any emoluments but all Board Members were entitled to reimbursement of incidental 
expenses incurred when attending Board meetings and other formal events in their capacity as Board members. 

 

6.   INCOME TAX EXPENSE  2022  2021 

ANALYSIS OF CHARGE IN YEAR  £'000  £'000 

Current Tax:     

UK – Current year  1  10 

Adjustment in respect of prior year  -  0 

    1   10 

       

Current tax reconciliation:  2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

        

(Loss) before tax  (4,170)  (1,844) 

Depreciation    441  395 

IAS19 adjustments:       

   - Other finance income    466  267 

   - Past and present service costs    4,034  2,651 

    771  1,469 

       

 

 
 
 

      

  2022  2021 

  £'000  £'000 

Tax at the standard rate of corporation tax 19% (2021: 19%)  146  279 

Effect of non-trading activities with member not subject to corporation tax (145)  (269) 

    1  10 

       

Where the Company has income related to trading outside of the council, this is taxable.  During the reporting 
year income from the ownership and management of the company's own developments and from the company's 
'Better Places' service were subject to Corporation Tax.  A taxable profit of £5,000 arose in the year and is 
reflected in these statements (2021: £56,000). 

On the basis that we are not expecting to sell the housing properties owned by the Company, no allowance has 
been made within these financial statements for deferred taxation as a result of revaluations of housing properties 
undertaken (last revaluation: 31 March 2021).   Any such sales would only be taxable if sold to a party other than 
the Council. 

 

Page 253



Solihull Community Housing Limited                                                   Company No. 04462630 

 

44 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 March 2022 

(continued) 

7.   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

    2022  2021 

Assets at amortised cost:    £'000  £'000 

Current financial assets       

Trade and other receivables   10 3,147  2,201 

        

Liabilities at amortised cost:    2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

Current financial liabilities       

Trade and other payables   11 7,202  5,061 

Borrowings     12  37   35 

    7,239  5,096 

       

Non-current financial liabilities       

Borrowings   12  411  448 

Retentions on construction projects   11 -  78 

Total other financial liabilities       7,650   5,622 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2022 

(continued) 

7.   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

MATURITY ANALYSIS     

Financial Assets     
The table below analyses the Company’s financial assets which are considered to be readily saleable or are 
expected to generate cash inflows to meet cash outflows on financial liabilities. 

  2022  2021 

  £'000  £'000 

Within 6 Months     

Trade and other receivables 10 3,147  2,201 

     

Financial Liabilities     

The table below analyses the Company’s financial liabilities on a contractual gross undiscounted cash flow basis 
into maturity groupings based on amounts outstanding at 31 March 2022 up to the contractual maturity date: 

       

    2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

Within 6 Months       

Trade and other payables   11 7,142  5,049 

Borrowings   12 37  35 

6 Months to 1 Year       
Payables due 6 months to 1 year: 
retentions on construction projects    60  12 

1 to 5 Years       

Payables due >1 year: retentions on construction projects  -  78 

Borrowings   12 411  448 

Total                    7,650   5,622 

       

The Company would normally expect that sufficient cash is generated in the operating cycle to meet the 
contractual cash flows as disclosed above through effective cash management. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements      

for the year ended 31 March 2022      

(continued)      

8.   PROPERTY      

 
Freehold 

Land 
Completed Properties 

available for letting 
 Total 

  Rented 
Shared 

Ownership 
  

 £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 

Valuation:      

At 1 April 2020 691 1,416 188  2,295 

Gain on revaluation 79 313 50  442 

At 31 March 2021 770 1,729 238  2,737 

Additions - - 81  81 

Loss on revaluation - - (67)  (67) 

At 31 March 2022 770 1,729 252  2,751 

 

Accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment losses: 

At 1 April 2020 - (334) (49)  (383) 

Charged in the year - (37) (5)  (42) 

At 31 March 2021 - (371) (54)  (425) 

Charged in the year - (45) (7)  (52) 

At 31 March 2022 - (416) (61)  (477) 

      

Net book value:      

At 31 March 2022 770 1,313 191  2,274 

At 31 March 2021 770 1,358 184  2312 

At 31 March 2020 691 1,082 139  1,912 

      

The depreciation expense of £52,000 (2021: £42,000) and the revaluation loss of £67,000 (2021: £nil) have been 
charged to operating expenses within the Income Statement. 

In line with our accounting policy, all properties owned by Solihull Community Housing were subject to a full 
revaluation at 31 March 2021 which resulted in a revaluation gain of £442,000. As the value of these assets does 
not exceed historical cost the revaluation gain has been recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

The next full revaluation of these properties is due in 2025/26, in line with the current accounting policy. 
 
SCH received a total of £781,000 of Social Housing Grant towards the development of these properties; this 
sum was recognised as income in 2015/16 in line with the first full revaluation. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements      

for the year ended 31 March 2022      

(continued)      

8.   PROPERTY (continued)     

Had the Company adopted the Cost Model the carrying value of the assets would be as follows: 
 

 
Freehold 

Land 
Completed Properties 

available for letting 
 

Total 
 

  Rented 
Shared 

Ownership 
  

 £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 

Historic Cost 613 1,806 163  2,582 

Accumulated Depreciation at 31 March 2022 - (580) (55)  (635) 

Net Book Value Cost Model at 31 March 2022 616 1,226 108  1,947 

     

     

9.   INVENTORIES  2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

Raw materials and consumables  104  94 

    104  94 

       

Raw materials and consumables set out above are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The 
replacement cost of the above stocks would not be significantly different from the values stated. 

 
 

    

10.   TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

Trade receivables    2,740  1,907 

Other receivables including rent    790  645 

Other tax and social security    -  273 

                    3,530  2,825 

The average credit period taken on provision of services is 11 days (2021: 17 days). 

An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable debtors of £174,000 (2021: £83,000).  This allowance 
has been based on the knowledge of the financial circumstances of individual customers at year-end. 

The following table provides an analysis of trade and other receivables that were past due at 31 March but not 
impaired.  The Company believes that these balances are ultimately recoverable based on a review of past 
payment history and the current financial status of the customers. 

       
    2022  2021 

    £’000  £'000 

Up to 3 months    144  236 

Up to 6 months    -  105 

Greater than 6 months    4  9 

    148  350 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

 for the year ended 31 March 2022 

(continued) 
10.   TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 

  2022  2021 

The movement in the allowance account was as follows:  £'000  £'000 

Opening balance as at 1 April  82  70 

Provision for receivables impairment  95  22 

Receivables written off during the year  (10)  - 

Unused amounts reversed  (4)  (10) 

Closing balance as at 31 March   163   82 

       

At the year end all trade and other receivables were denominated in sterling. 
      

11.   TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES     

    2022  2021 

  £'000  £'000 

Amounts payable relating to invoiced amounts  3,683  1,488 

Accruals and deferred income  3,013  3,077 

Other tax and social security  346  201 

Other creditors  508  530 

Current trade and other payables  7,550  5,296 

Non-current other creditors: retentions on construction projects  -  78 

Total trade and other payables  7,550  5,374 

       

Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The 
average credit period taken for trade purchases is 16 days (2021: 13 days). 

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value. 

At the year end all trade and other payables were denominated in sterling. 

       

12.   BORROWINGS 

    2022  2021 

Less than 1 year    £'000  £'000 

Prudential borrowing from SMBC    37  35 

Greater than 1 year       

Prudential borrowing from SMBC    411  448 

    448  483 

       

Interest Rate Summary    2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

Floating rate    448  483 

    448  483 
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Notes to the Financial Statements   

for the year ended 31 March 2022      

(continued)      

12.   BORROWINGS (continued) 

A floating rate loan from Solihull Council to finance SCH's development of properties for rent and shared 
ownership - £448,000 (2021: £483,000).  This is a floating rate loan repayable over 22 years from 2010/11 to 
2031/32.  Interest is charged at the Council's Consolidated rate of Interest (CRI).  The loan is secured on the 
developed properties. 

 

13.   COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE 

The Company is limited by guarantee, incorporated in the United Kingdom, and is governed by its Memorandum 
and Articles of Association.  The guarantor is its sole member, Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council, (see note 
18) as listed in the Company's Register of Members.  The liabilities in respect of the guarantee are set out in the 
Memorandum of Association and are limited to £1 per member of the Company. 

       

14.   RESERVES  2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

Retained Earnings       

At 1 April    (11,588)  (1,589) 

Retained loss for the year    (4,171)  (1,854) 

Actuarial gain/ (loss)    10,665  (8,145) 

Total Equity and Reserves    (5,094)  (11,588) 

       
Reserves consist of a retained earning reserve which is used to recognise the cumulative profit and loss net of 
any distributions for future specific activities and the pension reserve which is used to record the current pension 
fund deficit. 

       

15.   CASHFLOWS  2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash inflow/ (outflow) from operating activities 

Operating loss before tax   (3,671)  (1,540) 

Depreciation and amortisation  441  395 

Loss/ (gain) on revaluation of fixed assets  67  (442) 

Pension contributions paid in period  (1,285)  (1,211) 

Pension contributions charged in the period  4,074  2,697 

(Increase)/ Decrease in inventories  (10)  68 

Increase in debtors  (705)  (41) 

Increase/ (Decrease) in creditors  2,176  (812) 

Net cash inflow/ (outflow) from operating activities                  1,087  (886) 

       

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS     

Cash and cash equivalents represent:  2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

Cash at bank and in hand  11,479  10,937 

    11,479  10,937 
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Notes to the Financial Statements    

for the year ended 31 March 2022      

(continued)      

16.   COMMITMENTS UNDER LEASES 

       

Right-of-use assets 
 

  
Land and 
buildings 

Plant and 
machinery 

 
Total 

 

   £’000 £’000  £’000 

Balance at 1 April 2021   49 1,021  1,070 

Depreciation charge for the year   (39) (350)  (389) 

Lease modifications recognised in year  - 101  101 

Balance at 31 March 2022   10 772  782 

       

       

  
Land and 
buildings 

Land and 
buildings 

Plant and 
machinery 

 
Plant and 

machinery 

  2022 2021 2022  2021 

Total value of lease commitments  £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 

Expiry of lease:      

Within 1 year  10 40 345  329 

Between 2-5 years  - 10 451  722 

After 5 years  - - -  - 

Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 March 
2022 

10 50 796  1,051 

      

Lease liabilities included in the statement of 
financial position at 31 March 2022 

10 50 781  1,025 

Current 10 40 335  316 

Non-current - 10 446  709 

 

 

Amounts recognised in statement of comprehensive income 2022 
 £’000 

Interest on lease liabilities 13 

Expenses relating to short-term leases 2 

 - 

 

Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows 2022 

 £’000 

Total cash outflow for leases 386 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2022 

(continued) 

17.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 

The most recent actuarial valuations of plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation were 
carried out as at 31 March 2022 for the purposes of the IAS 19 valuation for inclusion in these financial statements 
prepared by Hymans Robertson LLP, a registered actuary engaged by West Midlands Pension Fund. The 
present values of the defined benefit obligation, the related current service cost and past service cost were 
measured using the projected unit method. 

    2022  2021 

Key assumptions used:    %  % 

Discount rate    2.70  2.00 

Future salary increases    4.20  3.80 

Future pension increases    3.20  2.80 

CPI increases    3.20  2.80 

       

Mortality rate assumptions are based on publicly available data in the UK.  

The average life expectancy for a pensioner retiring at 65 on the reporting date 
is: 

2022  2021 

Male    86  87 

Female    89  89 

       

The average life expectancy for a pensioner retiring at 65, aged 45 at the 
reporting date: 

2022  2021 

Male    88  88 

Female    90  91 

 

The sensitivity of the overall pension liability to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is: 

 Change in Assumption  Overall Impact on Liability 

Discount rate Increase by 0.1 %  Decrease (£1,762,000) 

Short term salary increase Increase by 0.1%  Increase £180,000 

Pension growth rate Increase by 0.1 %   Increase £1,567,000 

Rate of mortality Increase by 1 year   Increase £3,929,000 

       

Amounts recognised in profit or loss in respect of this defined benefit scheme are as follows: 

    2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

Current service cost    4,034  2,651 

Net interest on liability     466  267 

Administration cost    40  46 

Total operating charge     4,539  2,964 

  

Of the charge for the year: £4,074,000 has been charged to operating costs (2021: £2,697,000); 

 £466,000 has been charged to finance costs (2021: £267,000). 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2022 

(continued) 

17.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued) 

Actuarial gains and losses are reported as other comprehensive income and expense: 

 Gain recognised is £11,051,000 (2021: loss of £8,145,000); 

 Cumulative expense is £269,000 (2021: £11,320,000). 

The actual return on scheme assets was a gain of £6,757,000 (2021: £12,522,000). 

 

The amounts included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Company's obligation in respect of the defined 
benefit retirement scheme are: 

    2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

Fair value of scheme assets  84,139  77,428 

Present value of defined benefit contributions   (98,226)   (99,312) 

Liability recognised in the Balance Sheet   (14,087)   (21,884) 

       

     

Movements in the liability recognised in the Balance Sheet in the 
current period:  2022  2021 

       £'000  £'000 

At 1 April    (21,884)  (11,986) 

Current service cost including curtailments   (4,034)  (2,651) 

Interest cost    (2,012)  (1,794) 

Remeasurement arising from changes in financial assumptions  5,846  (19,140) 

Expected return on scheme assets    1,547  1,527 

Actuarial gains    5,205  10,995 

Administration expenses    (40)  (46) 

Employer contributions    1,285  1,211 

At 31 March    (14,087)  (21,884) 

       

Movement in the present value of defined benefit obligations in the current 
period: 

2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

At 1 April    99,312  76,964 

Current service cost including curtailments  4,034  2,651 

Administration expenses    40  0 

Interest cost    2,012  1,794 

Remeasurement arising from changes in financial assumptions  (5,846)  (19,140) 

Contributions by plan participants    533  489 

Benefits paid    (1,859)  (1,726) 

At 31 March    98,226  99,312 
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Notes to the Financial Statements                              

for the year ended 31 March 2022    

(continued)    

17.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)    

Movement in the fair value of scheme assets in the current period: 2022  2021 

    £'000  £'000 

At 1 April    77,428  64,978 

Expected return on scheme assets    1,547  1,527 

Actuarial gains/ (losses)    5,205  10,995 

Administration expenses    -  (46) 

Employer contributions    1,285  1,211 

Employee contributions    533  489 

Benefits paid    (1,859)  (1,726) 

At 31 March    84,139  77,428 

 
Analysis of the scheme assets and the expected rate of return at the reporting date:   

  Expected return Fair value of assets 

  % % £'000  £'000 

  2022 2021 2022  2021 

Equity instruments  2.7 2.0 45,376  45,615 

Debt instruments  2.7 2.0 18,895  10,685 

Property  2.7 2.0 6,035  5,594 

Alternatives  2.7 2.0 10,529  10,906 

Cash  2.7 2.0 3,304  4,628 

    2.7 2.0 84,139   77,428 

       

Since 2016 the overall rate of return on scheme assets is calculated with reference to the overall discount rate.  
These were previously determined by reference to relevant indices. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements     

for the year ended 31 March 2022     

(continued)     

17.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)    

The five year history of experience adjustments are as follows:    

At 31 March: 
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Fair value of plan assets  84,139 77,428 64,978 65,393 63,219 

Present value of defined obligation (98,226) (99,312) (76,964) (80,133) (77,624) 

Deficit in the plan (14,087) (21,884) (11,986) (14,740) (14,405) 

      

Re-measurement on Assets 5,205 10,995 (1,829) 731 (1,664) 

Experience adjustments arising on 
plan liabilities 

(212)  929 185 - - 

Gain/ (loss) on financial assumptions 5,496 (17,965) 8,017 (3,520) 3,640 

Gain/(loss) on demographic 
assumptions 

562 (2,104) (2,104) 4,427 - 

Total Actuarial gain/ (loss) for year 11,051 (8,145) 4,269 1,638 1,976 

 
The estimated amounts of contributions expected to be paid to the scheme during the financial year ending 31 
March 2023 is £1,293,000. 

 
18.   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Company’s parent and ultimate parent is Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council.  Their consolidated Financial 
Statements are available from Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council, The Council House Complex, Manor 
Square, Solihull, B91 3QB. 

Solihull Community Housing Limited is an Arm’s Length Management Organisation with a contract from the 
ultimate parent (Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council) which passes on responsibility for the management and 
maintenance of the Council’s homes and other related buildings. 

    2022  2021 

During the year the Company:    £'000  £'000 

   - supplied goods and services to SMBC   44,569  39,780 

   - purchased goods and services from SMBC   3,134  3,550 

At 31 March       

   - included in year-end Debtors owed by SMBC   2,744  1,942 

   - included in year-end Creditors owing to SMBC   (374)  (598) 

   - included in year-end Borrowings owing to SMBC  (448)  (483) 

   - included in year-end Deferred Income from SMBC  -  (27) 

   - Net balance due from SMBC    1,922  834 

       

Included in the above figures is a loan from Solihull Council to fund SCH's own development of properties for rent 
and shared ownership.  Further details are set out in note 12.  The loan is secured against the assets that it was 
used to develop.  As at 31 March 2022 the balance outstanding was £448,000 (2021: £483,000).  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2022 

(continued) 

18.   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 

Apart from this loan the amounts outstanding that are recorded in the accounts are unsecured, carry or bear no 
interest and will be settled in cash.  No provisions have been made for doubtful debts in respect of the amounts 
owed by related parties. 

During the year the company also purchased goods or services from the below companies. Fletcher Property 
Rentals Limited and Housemark Limited have current Directors who are also serving Board members of SCH, 
Savills (UK) Limited occasionally procure the services of a Current Board Member. 

       
 

    2022  2021 
 

      Restated * 

Fletcher Property Rentals Limited    £'000  £'000 
 

 - purchased goods or services    44  39 

       

Housemark Limited       

- purchased goods or services    101  48 

       

Savills (UK) Limited       

- purchased goods or services *   37  194 

      

At 31 March      

- included in year-end Debtors   1  18 

- included in year-end Creditors *   (14)  (49) 

 
 *  Figures for 2020/21 have been restated to include transactions with Savills (UK) Limited 

 

 

19.   CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 

At 31 March 2022 the Company had no capital expenditure commitments (2021: £nil) 

 

20.   CONTINGENT LIABILITY 

Until 31 March 2018, the Company acted as an agent for Severn Trent Water collecting water charges due from 
tenants and receives a commission payment for doing so - this contract has now ended. There is currently a case 
underway in London (Jones v London Borough of Southwark) where a judgement has been made that the Council 
was acting as a water reseller rather than an agent. Where an organisation is classed as a water reseller the 
organisation would be subject to the Water Re-Sale Order 2006, which restricts the amount a purchaser of water 
can charge when reselling water to the end-customer, effectively only allowing for modest administration charges 
to be passed on. 

Any challenge would be strongly defended by the Company and the Council and as such the Company has 
accepted the Local Government Associations (LGAs) offer of support and advice as part of a combined approach 
on behalf of a number of organisations. 

No allowance has been made in these financial statements for potential costs resulting from any such legal 
challenge as, not only does the Company believe that the commission income equates to a reasonable 
administration charge, but the Council has also provided a letter of support confirming that any such losses, as a 
result of a court judgement, would be funded from the Council’s Housing Revenue Account. 
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RSM UK Audit LLP 
Temple Row 
Birmingham 
B2 5AF 
 
25 July 2022 
 
Dear Audit Engagement Partner of Solihull Community Housing Limited 
 
AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2022 
 
This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of 
Solihull Community Housing Limited for the year ended 31 March 2022 for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework.  The financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and UK-adopted 
International Accounting Standards.      
 
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief, and having made appropriate enquiries of 
other directors and officials of Solihull Community Housing Limited:  
 
Financial Statements  

1. We acknowledge and have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit 
engagement dated 25 May 2022, for ensuring that the company maintains adequate 
accounting records and for the preparation and presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework, in particular the financial 
statements give a true and fair view in accordance therewith. 

 
2. We confirm that the methods, significant assumptions and the data used in making 

accounting estimates and the related disclosures are appropriate in the context of the 
applicable financial reporting framework.   
 

3. Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and 
disclosed in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. In particular, where 
required by the applicable financial reporting framework, full disclosure is made in the 
financial statements of: 

a. any advances and credits granted by the company to directors and guarantees of any 
kind entered into on behalf of the directors; 

b. the identity of the party which controls and (if different) the party which ultimately 
controls the company, if any; 

c. transactions and balances with related parties including: 

 the nature of the related party relationship; 

 the amount of the transactions; 

 the amount of outstanding balances and: 
- their terms and conditions, including whether they are secured, and the 

nature of the consideration to be provided in settlement; and 
- details of any guarantees given or received; 

 provisions for uncollectible receivables related to the amount of outstanding 
balances; 

 the expense recognised during the period in respect of bad or doubtful debts due 
from related parties; and 

 any other information about the transactions, outstanding balances and 
commitments necessary for an understanding of the potential effect of the 
relationship on the financial statements. 

d. key management personnel compensation. 
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4. Full disclosure is made in the financial statements of: 
a. outstanding capital commitments contracted for at the balance sheet date; 
b. all contingent liabilities including details of pending litigation and material claims 

against the company; 
c. all guarantees or warranties or other financial commitments. 

 
5. We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or classification of 

assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements. 
 

6. There have been no events or conditions (e.g. loss of key customer, supplier or member of 
staff, change in credit terms offered by suppliers, breaches of bank or other covenants, 
changes in banking or insurance arrangements or facilities) since the balance sheet date that 
would impact on the ability of the company to continue as a going concern. Should such 
events or conditions occur prior to your signature of the audit report we will advise you 
immediately.  Except as already incorporated into our cash flow and profit forecasts we have 
no plans or intentions that would impact on the ability of the company to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

7. With regards to our going concern assessment we confirm that our future plans are as 
follows:  
 
We confirm that our operations will be kept under review, we do not currently intend to 
change the nature, scale or focus of our operations due to our ongoing agreement with 
Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council which we anticipate will be relatively unaffected by the 
recession. 
 
We confirm that we have evaluated the feasibility of the matters referred to above and 
consider the plans to be achievable. 
 

8. We confirm that our going concern assessment covers the period ending 31 July 2023. 
 

9. All events occurring subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the 
applicable financial reporting framework require adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted 
or disclosed. Should such further material events occur prior to your signature of the audit 
report we will advise you accordingly. 
 

10. The effects of uncorrected misstatements (whether arising from differences in amount, 
classification, presentation or disclosure of a reported financial statement item and the 
amount, classification, presentation or disclosure that is required for the item to be in 
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework) are immaterial, both individually 
and in the aggregate, to the financial statements as a whole. A list of the uncorrected 
misstatements including those in relation to disclosures is attached to this representation 
letter. 
 

Information Provided  
1. As agreed in the terms of engagement, we have provided you with:  

a. Access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of 
the financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;  

b. Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; 
and  

c. Unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it 
necessary to obtain audit evidence.  

 
2. We confirm that all transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are 

reflected in the financial statements.  
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3. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial 
statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.  
 

4. We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are 
aware of and that affects the entity and involves:  

 Management;  

 Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or  

 Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 
 

5. We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, 
affecting the entity’s financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, 
analysts, regulators or others. 
 

6. We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-
compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing 
financial statements.  We have also notified you of the actual or contingent consequences 
which may arise from such non-compliance, including any potential effects on the company’s 
ability to conduct its business. 
 

7. We have disclosed to you the identity of the company’s related parties and all the related 
party relationships and transactions of which we are aware. 
 

8. We have disclosed to you details of all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose 
effect should be considered when preparing the financial statements. 
 

9. We confirm that we have disclosed to you details of all banking and financing arrangements 
including related contracts and hedging products. 
 

10. We confirm that we have informed you of all tax avoidance schemes used by the company. 
 

11. We confirm that as far as we are aware: 

 no services have been provided to us or our affiliated entities by RSM network firms 
and their related entities that we have not already informed you of; 

 no gifts, hospitality, favours, donations or sponsorship have been exchanged 
between us or our affiliated entities and RSM network firms and their related entities 
that we have not already informed you of; 

 no employment relationships exist between us or our affiliated entities and partners or 
employees of RSM network firms and their related entities we have not already 
informed you of; and 

 no other business or personal relationships exist between us or our affiliated entities 
and RSM network firms and their related entities we have not already informed you 
of.  

 
We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control 
to prevent and detect fraud and error and we believe we have appropriately fulfilled those 
responsibilities. 
 
To assist the auditor in complying with ISA (UK) 720 The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Other 
Information, we confirm that we have informed you of all the documents that will be communicated to 
the shareholders with the annual report. 
 
We confirm that we have taken all the steps that we ought to have taken as directors in order to make 
ourselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been communicated to 
the auditors. We confirm that, as far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 
the auditors are unaware. 
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We confirm that the above representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and 
staff with relevant knowledge and experience (and, where appropriate, of inspection of supporting 
documentation) sufficient to satisfy ourselves that we can properly make each of the above 
representations to you. 
 
The contents of this letter were considered and approved by the board at its meeting on 25 July 2022 
 
Yours faithfully 
Signed on behalf of the board of Solihull Community Housing Limited 
 

 
Director 

 
Date 25 July 2022 
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Executive Summary 

 

This report summarises our key findings in connection 

with the audit of the financial statements of Solihull 

Community Housing in respect of the year ended 31 

March 2022. 

The scope of our work was communicated to you via 

our Audit Plan document. We believe that the audit 

approach adopted will provide those charged with 

governance with the required confidence that a 

thorough and robust audit has been carried out. 

Our audit work is substantially complete and subject to 

the successful resolution of outstanding matters, we 

anticipate issuing an unmodified audit opinion on the 

group’s financial statements in line with the agreed 

timetable. 

 
Outstanding items to be 

resolved: 

• Awaiting receipt of third-party pension 

investment manager report to confirm 

scheme assets (requested from WMPF). 

 

 
Risks and approach 

We have carried out testing as planned on the risks 

identified during planning and draw your attention to 

the following key points for discussion: 

 Management override of internal controls; 

 Going concern viability; 

 Agreement of intercompany transactions and 

balances with the Council; and 

 Accounting for pension costs. 
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Final materiality 

Materiality was determined based on a percentage of total expenditure for the year. 

 

Unadjusted audit misstatements 

We have not identified any potential audit misstatements. 
 
 

Disclosure misstatements and omissions 

The following key disclosure items have not been adjusted by management: 

 None 
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Risks identified at the planning stage 

Risk Description Response Findings 

Management 
override of 
internal controls 

As management are separate from those 
charged with governance, we are required to 
consider the possibility of material 
misstatements in the financial statements 
resulting from management override of controls. 

We will: 

1. Significant journal entries will be reviewed to confirm they 

represent genuine adjustments. 

2. Where accounting policies are subject to estimation or 

judgement, the estimate will be reviewed to ensure it has 

been prepared on a reasonable basis. 

3. The business and control environment will be reviewed 

with management to identify areas of control weakness. 

Where weaknesses are identified in the control 

environment, reliance will not be placed upon tests of 

those controls. 

4. We will review the reports produced by the Company’s 

internal auditors and consider all matters relevant to the 

control environment established by the Company, its 

management and directors and review the Company’s 

risk assessment covering this area. 

1. We have reviewed significant journal entries with no 

matters to report. 

 

2. No issues noted in respect of accounting policies or 

related estimates or judgements. 

 

3. Our review did not identify any significant control 

weaknesses 

 

4. We have reviewed internal audit reports received to date, 

and management’s risk assessment and, where relevant, 

we have factored these into the audit approach we have 

adopted.  
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Going concern 
viability 

The directors have a responsibility to ensure 
that there is sufficient evidence that the 
Company remains a going concern and that the 
financial statements are properly prepared on 
this basis. It is essential that we have sufficient 
time to build such efforts into the performance of 
our audit engagement. It may be necessary for 
you to defer your reporting deadlines to ensure 
our quality audit is not compromised and to 
allow management time to reassess any 

judgements and estimates as necessary. 

1. Review the Company’s budgets and cash flow 

forecasts for the period of a minimum of one year from 

date of approval of the financial statements. 

2. Obtain confirmation that Solihull Metropolitan Borough 

Council (‘the Council’) is not aware of any intention to, or 

reason why, it might terminate the Management 

Agreement or otherwise impact the viability of the 

Company. Confirmation will be obtained via receipt of a 

letter of support from the Council. 

1. The Company’s budget for the next financial year has 

been reviewed. This does not contain a formal cash flow 

forecast, or a forecast balance sheet; however, based on the 

position of the Company at 31 March 2022, this is not 

expected to cause an issue in view of the long-term nature of 

the Management Agreement and the anticipated receipt of 

revenue and capital management fee monthly throughout the 

forecast period. 

2. A Letter of Support has been received from the Council. 

This confirms that the rolling agreement will continue to roll 

forward as part of the Council’s budget-setting process. The 

SCH Directors have a formal duty to consider the period to 

July 2023 (as a minimum) for going concern purposes. 

Based on the information above, management’s assessment 

is that the entity is a going concern for at least 12 months 

from the signing of the balance sheet. We concur with 
managements assessment. 

Agreement of 
intercompany 
transactions and 
balances with the 
Council 

There is a risk that certain transactions between 
the Company and the Council may not be 
documented in a manner that clearly determines 
the appropriate accounting treatment, 
particularly in distinguishing which party is 

acting as an agent or principal. 

1. Review the accounting treatment of any such 

transactions identified 

2. Obtain direct confirmation from the Council of the 

management fee, SLAs and reverse SLAs for the year 

3. Review reconciliations performed over inter-entity 

balances. 

1. We have not identified any issues with the accounting 

treatment of transactions with the council. 

 

2. Direct confirmation was obtained from the Council, all 

balances agreed directly. 

3. No issues have been identified with reconciliations of 

inter-entity balances during the year. 
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Accounting for 
pension costs 

The requirements of IAS 19 (revised) in 
accounting for pension costs must be followed 
and the responsibility for the use of appropriate 
assumptions rests with the directors of the 
Company. 

1. Obtain and review the instructions provided to the 

actuary to confirm compliance with the requirements of 

IAS 19 (revised) 

2. Specifically consider how the actuary has dealt with the 

impact (if any) of Guaranteed Minimum Pensions (GMP) 

Equalisation 

3. Review of the actuary’s report and supporting 

assumptions and ensure that the pension liability is 

accounted for and disclosures made in line with IAS 19 

(revised). 

1. The communication with the actuary in the year has been 

reviewed and there are no significant matters arising. 

 

2. Confirmation has been obtained from the actuary that 

there is no adjustment required in relation to GMP 

Equalisation. 

 

3. The pension liability and associated disclosures have 

been accounted for in line with IAS 19 with no issues to 

report.  

 

4. We have enlisted the services of an independent actuarial 
consultant to confirm the reasonableness of the assumptions 
used by Hymans Robertson LLP when undertaking the year 
end valuation of the pension fund.  All assumptions within 
the report were found to be within their expected ranges. 
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Recommendations on controls                                                              

No recommendations on internal controls came to our attention during the course of our audit work. This does not constitute a comprehensive statement of all internal control matters or of all 
improvements which may be made and has addressed only those matters which have come to our attention as a result of the audit procedures performed. An audit is not designed to identify all 
matters that may be relevant to you and accordingly the audit does not ordinarily identify all such matters. 
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Other matters to be reported

Management judgements and accounting estimates 

The following areas are considered to be the principal accounting estimates. The graphic 

below visually represents the impact (lower or higher) on the financial statements of a change 

in management’s estimate. In overview, a reasonably possible change in estimate that has a 

low impact means that such a change will have limited impact on the financial statements. 

Conversely a reasonably possible change that has a higher impact, means that such a 

change can have a significant impact. 
 

Estimates Low 
impact 

 
High 

impact 

Defined benefit scheme assumptions   ⚫  

Valuation of property  ⚫  

 

Representations requested 

We will not be seeking specific representations in addition to those which we request on all 

audit assignments (http://www.rsmuk.com/standard-representations)   
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Update on matters 

communicated at the planning 

stage 

Matter 
communicated 

Update 

Fees We confirm that the fees charged during the year in respect of services performed are consistent with those contained within our Audit Plan submitted to you 

Additional fees £0 

Independence 

In accordance with International Standard on Auditing (UK) 260 “Communication with those charged with governance”, there are no changes to the details of 
relationships between RSM UK Audit LLP including its related entities and persons in a position to influence the conduct or outcome of the audit and Solihull 
Community Housing and its connected parties that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, integrity and objectivity and the related 
safeguards from those disclosed in the Audit Plan. 

This report has been prepared for the sole use of Solihull Community Housing and must not be disclosed 

to any third party, or quoted or referred to, without our written consent. No responsibility is assumed to 

any other person in respect of this report. 
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Communication of audit matters to those charged with 

governance 

Our communication plan Audit  
plan 

Audit 
findings 

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those charged with governance ⚫  

Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit, form, timing, materiality and 
expected general content of communications including significant risks and key audit 
matters 

⚫  

Confirmation of independence and objectivity ⚫ ⚫ 

Significant matters in relation to going concern (if any)  ⚫ 

Views about significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including accounting 
policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures (if any) 

 ⚫ 

Significant findings from the audit  ⚫ 

Significant matters and issues arising during the audit and written representations that have 
been sought 

 ⚫ 

Significant difficulties encountered during the audit (if any)  ⚫ 

Unadjusted accounting misstatements and material financial statement disclosure omissions  ⚫ 

Expected modifications to the auditor’s report, or emphasis of matter (if any)  ⚫ 

 
 

 

 

ISA (UK) 260, as well as other ISAs (UK), prescribes 

matters which we are required to communicate with 

those charged with governance, and which we set 

out in the table here. 

The Audit Plan outlined our audit strategy and plan to 

deliver the audit, while the Audit Findings presents 

key issues, findings and other matters arising from 

the audit, together with an explanation as to how 

these have been resolved. 

 

Respective responsibilities 

As auditor we are responsible for performing the 

audit in accordance with ISAs (UK), which is directed 

towards forming and expressing an opinion on the 

financial statements that have been prepared by 

management with the oversight of those charged with 

governance.  

The audit of the financial statements does not relieve 

management or those charged with governance of 

their responsibilities. 
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Financial statement disclosures 

During the course of our audit, we reviewed the adequacy of the disclosures contained within the financial statements and their compliance with both relevant accounting standards and the 

requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

The following disclosure matters were brought to your attention and subsequently adjusted/not adjusted in the revised financial statements. 
 

U
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None 
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None 
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Financial reporting updates

Important updates 

The following financial reporting updates have been issued since we presented our audit plan 

which will be relevant to you. 

A full list of financial reporting updates can be found by clicking the link below: 

 

 

Keep up to date on the latest news and legislation changes by 

signing up to receive our alerts and newsletters. 
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RSM UK Audit LLP 

St Philips Point 

Temple Row 

Birmingham 

West Midlands 

B2 5AF 

United Kingdom 

T  +44 (0)121 214 3100 

rsmuk.com 

Our Report is prepared solely for the confidential use of Solihull Community Housing and solely for the purpose of explaining the scope of the audit, our proposed audit 

approach, and to highlight the key risks that we will be focusing our audit work upon, forming part of the ongoing communications we are required to make under 

International Standard on Auditing (UK and Ireland) 260 – Communication of audit matters with those charged with governance. Therefore, the report may not, without 

our express written permission, be relied upon by Solihull Community Housing for any other purpose whatsoever, be referred to in whole or in part in any other external 

document or made available (in whole or in part) or communicated to any other party. RSM UK Audit LLP neither owes nor accepts any duty to any other party who may 

receive our Report and specifically disclaims any liability for any loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature, which is caused by their reliance on our Report. 

The UK group of companies and LLPs trading as RSM is a member of the RSM network. RSM is the trading name used by the members of the RSM network. Each 

member of the RSM network is an independent accounting and consulting firm each of which practises in its own right. The RSM network is not itself a separate legal 

entity of any description in any jurisdiction.  

The RSM network is administered by RSM International Limited, a company registered in England and Wales (company number 4040598) whose registered office is at 

50 Cannon Street, London EC4N 6JJ. The brand and trademark RSM and other intellectual property rights used by members of the network are owned by RSM 

International Association, an association governed by article 60 et seq of the Civil Code of Switzerland whose seat is in Zug. 

RSM UK Corporate Finance LLP, RSM UK Restructuring Advisory LLP, RSM UK Risk Assurance Services LLP, RSM UK Tax and Advisory Services LLP, RSM UK Audit 

LLP, RSM UK Consulting LLP, RSM Northern Ireland (UK) Limited and RSM UK Tax and Accounting Limited are not authorised under the Financial Services and 

Markets Act 2000 but we are able in certain circumstances to offer a limited range of investment services because we are licensed by the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in England and Wales. We can provide these investment services if they are an incidental part of the professional services we have been engaged to 

provide. RSM UK Legal LLP is authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority, reference number 626317, to undertake reserved and non-reserved legal 

activities. It is not authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 but is able in certain circumstances to offer a limited range of investment services 

because it is authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority and may provide investment services if they are an incidental part of the professional 

services that it has been engaged to provide. Before accepting an engagement, contact with the existing accountant will be made to request information on any matters 

of which, in the existing accountant’s opinion, the firm needs to be aware before deciding whether to accept the engagement. 

© 2022 RSM UK Group LLP, all rights reserved 
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING 

HUMAN RESOURCES, EQUALITIES & REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

Chair’s Report from the Meeting held on 11 July 2022 

Recommendation for Full Board:  

The Board is asked to: 

(i) Note the matters considered by the Committee. 

 

Board Members present at the meeting:  Jenny Fletcher (Chair); Richard Hyde; 

Nigel Page; Louise Tubbs; Chris Williams  

Officers present:   Fiona Hughes; Martyn Sargeant; Emma Birch; Niku Mawby; 

Mary Moroney; Barbara Griffiths.  

 

Summary of Committee Meeting: 

1.  EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR UPDATE 

We received updates on: 

Personal Development Reviews (PDRs) - completed in March 2022 and we noted 

that 94% of employees are performing at the minimum satisfactory level with 75% of 

staff achieving the highest level for at least one of the two criteria (achieving 

objectives and behaviours). 

Mandatory Training – records have now been transferred to Learning Pool and a 

new schedule of mandatory training produced.  Staff have been given a deadline of 

the end of September to complete the mandatory modules and managers have until 

the end of March 2023 to complete the additional suite of management specific 

training. 

Board Recruitment – we noted the work to refresh the Board membership including 

the appointment of two new Council nominees and two independent members.  

Recruitment of a new tenant member is ongoing. 

Board Member Induction – we reviewed the proposed plan for the induction of new 

members and suggested including opportunities to meet with tenants and carry out 

estate walkabouts. 

Chief Executive’s Appraisal – we noted that the Chair had conducted the appraisal in 

June with objectives for 2022/23 being aligned to the Delivery Plan. 

 

Page 291

Agenda Item 15



 

2. PEOPLE STRATEGY PRIORITIES 2022/23 

We noted the proposed priorities for the coming year and in particular the need to 

address concerns around recruitment.  We were pleased to note the proposals to 

offer coaching to staff.  We requested that a further report on recruitment comes to 

the next Committee meeting.   

3. EMPLOYEE WELLBEING 

In particular we noted the sickness levels that had increased to 12.97 days lost per 

employee up to end of May 2022.  However, we were advised that absence levels 

stabilised in June and there was a slight decrease. We noted the decision to align 

job evaluation of senior roles (grades I and above) with the Council scheme. 

4. EQUALITY & DIVERSITY STRATEGY 2022-24 

We were pleased to note the plans to embed an equality-focussed approach in both 

frontline service delivery and management operations.  There are five overarching 

aims of the strategy: 

 Leadership of the organisation 

 Understanding our residents and communities 

 Reflecting the local community  

 Hearing the voice of the customer 

 Being transparent and proactive   

 

5. BOARD MEMBER APPRAISALS 

We approved arrangements for individual Board member appraisals for those with 

longer than six months service and agreed that in view of the significant number of 

new Board members we will not hold the whole Board effectiveness review this year.  

We approved the nomination of Nigel Page and Louise Tubbs to assist SMBC with 

the appraisal of the Chair of the Board.  

 

 

 

 

Jenny Fletcher 

Chair of Human Resources, Equalities & Remuneration Committee  

12 July 2022 
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING 

BOARD MEETING MONDAY 25 JULY 2022 

REPORT OF THE INTERIM EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF ASSET MANAGEMENT 

AND DEVELOPMENT 

ASSET MANAGEMENT STRATEGY  

 

1. Purpose of Report 
 

1.1  To provide Board members with the latest version of the Asset Management 
Strategy for information. 

2. Recommendation – Item for Information 

2.1 The Board is recommended to: 
 

(i) NOTE  the Asset Management Strategy    
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 The Asset Management Strategy has been presented to Board on 21 
February 2022 and 3 May 2022 for discussion and comments. 

 
3.2 The version attached at appendix A is now being discussed through SMBC 

processes including Strategic Housing Board, Economic Development and 
Managed Growth Scrutiny Board, Corporate Leadership Team and Cabinet. 

  
3.3 It is the intention for the Asset Management Strategy to be presented to 

Scrutiny Committee in November prior to presentation to the Council’s 
Cabinet in December 2022. 

 
3.4  Board will be advised of further updates on progress through to SMBC 

approval as appropriate. 
 
4.    Financial Implications 

4.1   
 

5.  Equality and Diversity Implications 

5.1   

6. Risk Management Implications 

6.1  
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7. Value for Money and Efficiency Considerations/Implications 
 
7.1  
 
8. Tenant Engagement/Consultation 
 
8.1 

 

9. Future Strategic Vision 
 
9.1  
 
 
 
REPORT AUTHOR:  Mike Brymer 

Interim Executive Director of Asset Management & 
Development 
michaelbrymer@solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk 
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Asset Management Strategy 2023 – 

2033   

“Homes fit for the future” 
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Introduction 

SCH and Solihull Council have adopted a strategic approach to asset 

management. This approach is forward-looking and is focussed on making best 

use of resources to meet the future needs of our customers. We want to 

improve both the quality and desirability of homes while ensuring all 

investment delivers good value for money. 

We are in a phase of rapid change with a review of national standards (Decent Homes 

Standard), new duties to ensure customers are safe with a particular focus on our high-rise 

schemes and ambitious plans to improve the energy efficiency of our homes and achieve 

net zero carbon emissions in Solihull by 2041. 

Our Asset Management Strategy is based on a good understanding of stock condition and 

relative asset performance that we will use to drive our investment plans and support 

evidence-based decision-making. 

Our Strategy will be underpinned by robust governance and performance reporting 

arrangements. Our customers will play also key role in shaping our future standards and 

services and holding us to account for performance and decisions for example, through our 

SCHape Panel. 
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Drivers for change 

There is more focus on and wider expectations of the social housing sector 

than ever before. The challenges we face will fundamentally reshape what we 

do and how we will deliver strategic asset management services in the future. 

Some of the key ‘drivers for change’ affecting how we deliver asset management in the 

future are set out below. 

 
The ‘drivers for change’ include: 

• National focus on ensuring customers are safe in their homes and 
neighbourhood 
 

• Targets to ensure all homes to meet energy performance Band C by 2030 and 
to meet stretch targets for homes to be net zero carbon in Solihull by 2041 

 

• Increased focus on housing quality - disrepair, damp and mould  
 

• Greater emphasis on placing the customer at the centre of service delivery 
through a culture of openness, respect and accountability 

 

• The need to increase housing supply to meet local demand 
 

• Greater focus on the importance of communities and neighbourhoods - 
including green space, external areas and communal areas 

 

• Focus on ensuring reliable and accurate data is used to support evidence-based 
decision-making 
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Managing the housing stock 

Solihull Community Housing (SCH) is an Arm’s Length Management 

Organisation (ALMO), wholly owned by Solihull Council and set up in 2004 to 

manage housing services on their behalf. 

Our relationship with the Council is defined by a Management Agreement which specifies 

the services that SCH will deliver and how performance is monitored and reviewed. 

We manage just fewer than 10,000 tenanted homes and some 1,200 leasehold properties, 

together with approximately 5,250 garages and a small number of shared ownership 

properties. 

 
 

Over two thirds of the homes managed by SCH are located in the north of the Borough with 

particular concentrations in Chelmsley Wood, Kingshurst & Fordbridge and Smith’s Wood.  

 
Our housing stock comprises: 

• 65% of homes are between 50 and 60 years old with a high proportion built 
using non-traditional techniques - not built of brick or stone - that allowed them 
to be mass produced quickly 
 

• Half of our homes are houses and bungalows with another half flats and 
maisonettes 

• There are 37 high-rise blocks providing over 1,900 flats in the north of the 
Borough  
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• 40% of our homes have one bedroom, around 30% have two bedrooms and just 
over 25% have 3 bedrooms 
 

 

  
Size of property Type of property 
  

 
Year of construction 
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Solihull 
Solihull has an estimated population of 218,967 people (2021), growing at around 7 per cent 

in the last decade – lower than the national average of 9 per cent. 

Population growth is driven by a combination of in-migration and natural change which is 

the difference between births and deaths. 

A significant trend in Solihull’s demographic change is its ageing population. Between 1998 

and today the number of people aged 65 and over increased by 40 per cent from 16 per 

cent to 21.5 per cent of the population. 

Population projections suggest the population over 65 will grow faster than any other age 

group. By 2040 over 65s could make up over a quarter of Solihull’s population.  

During the same period, the number of people over the age of 90 is projected to double to 

comprise some 4,500 people. These trends have significant implications for the delivery of 

housing services. 

Solihull is one of the least deprived areas in the West Midlands with average incomes above 

the UK average. However, incomes are unequal across Solihull Soand the area is relatively 

polarised between large parts of the Borough that experience minimal deprivation and a 

concentration of neighbourhoods in the north which experience severe deprivation. 

 

Solihull Index of Multiple Deprivation 
 

There are 20 neighbourhoods among the bottom 20 per cent most deprived areas in 

England. Indeed, 16 neighbourhoods are among the most deprived 10 per cent. These 

neighbourhoods reflect those areas with the greatest concentration of SCH managed stock. 
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The main drivers of deprivation are unemployment, poor educational attainment, low 

income and relatively high levels of crime. 

Solihull has one of the largest gaps in the country between the Life Expectancy of those 

living in the most and least deprived neighbourhoods. On average someone in the least 

deprived neighbourhoods can expect to live to 89.4 years while in the most deprived it is 

72.9. 

There are good strategic road and rail links which makes access to services relatively easy. 

Much of the area also benefits from a high-quality living environment – two thirds is 

designated as Green Belt. However, this does create pressure on identifying land available 

for development. 

 

Solihull housing tenure 
 

There are around 86,000 dwellings in Solihull. 74 per cent of homes are owner-occupied - 

significantly higher than the UK average of 65 per cent. The average house price in Solihull is 

£372,000 meaning house price to earnings ratio of 8.2 (2020) – the highest in the West 

Midlands.  

For the many that cannot afford to buy there is relatively limited choice of rented 

accommodation. The size of the private rented sector accounts for just 10 per cent of the 

stock compared with the all-England average of 17 per cent.  

Social renting accounts for just 15 per cent of all homes – again below the national average 

of around 17.5 per cent. This leads to high housing demand – there were 2,800 households 

on Solihull’s housing waiting list in 2020/21 – equivalent to 3 households for every SCH 

home let. 

The Solihull Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment identifies an overall 

additional need for 578 affordable homes to rent per annum across most areas of Solihull. 
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Importantly, the analysis identified a surplus of affordable housing to rent in North Solihull 

(Chelmsley Wood, Kingshurst and Fordbridge and Smith’s Wood wards).  

The analysis concludes that the scale of need means the Council is justified in seeking to 

secure as much affordable housing as viability allows. 
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Performance of our stock 

SCH carried out a strategic assessment of asset performance in 2020. This 

analysis combined data from across the organisation with an assessment of 

homes and neighbourhoods to produce a relative grading of our homes in over 

1,500 ‘neighbourhoods’. 

This has identified some significant differences in key areas such as income from rent and 

service charges and expenditure on capital works, day-to-day repairs and housing 

management costs.  

Analysis also shows that some areas experience higher turnover of tenancies and lower 

levels of customer satisfaction. 

 

Asset performance analysis 2020 
 

The graph above plots the overall ‘quality’ (horizontal axis) against the relative financial 

performance (vertical axis – per unit per annum profit/loss).  

Assets have been placed into groups known as Asset Classes A, B and C depending on their 

performance.  

Over 50 per cent of homes are Class A - these perform well and are likely to be sustainable 

in the long-term. A further 30 per cent of stock (Class B) perform satisfactorily but will be 

monitored to ensure that our work or investment in the ‘home’ and ‘place’ will help 

improve performance. 
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The remaining 18 per cent or 2,411 homes in 265 schemes perform relatively poorly in 

terms of overall quality and financial performance (Class C).  

SCH will review all Class C properties to identify actions to either improve their 

‘performance’ or where necessary conduct a detailed option appraisal. This process will 

begin with larger category C schemes (52 have over 5 units – 370 homes in total) and will 

involve a series of practical steps that can be applied to individual properties, schemes or 

whole estates. 

 

The option appraisal process will explore all options to improve ‘performance’ for example, 

investment to improve the quality and desirability of homes or neighbourhood-based 

interventions such as environmental improvements or targeted approaches to improve 

safety and security.  

Where an asset is identified as not sustainable or no longer fit-for-purpose, SCH and Solihull 

Council will identify an alternative course of action such as remodelling, redevelopment, 

disposal, changing tenure, customer group or the approach to housing management. 
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Customer views 

Throughout this strategy we have sought to reflect the views and aspirations of 

our customers. We undertook an extensive consultation exercise and have 

used the feedback to inform the strategy. 

The headline message from customers is the need to ensure that homes are safe – this is an 

even higher priority for residents following the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Customers also want homes that are kept in good repair, wind and watertight and have up-

to-date facilities such as kitchens and bathrooms. 

Many customers – particularly those aged 65 and over - highlighted the importance of their 

home being flexible and adaptable. Homes that are adaptable can support people to be 

independent for longer and reduce demands on other services.  

Younger customers (under 35) have different priorities focussing more on safety and 

ensuring homes are in good repair and wind and watertight. Importantly, 4 out of 5 younger 

customers highlighted the importance of accessing well-kept and safe green and open 

space. 

There is a different emphasis on investment priorities by customers living on our estates in 

South Solihull compared with those living in North Solihull (Chelmsley Wood, Kingshurst and 

Fordbridge and Smith’s Wood). 

Customers particularly in North Solihull also value investment to improve safety and security 

of their home and neighbourhood. Residents in South Solihull value well-kept green and 

open space. 

There is an increasing focus on energy efficiency and our impact on the environment. With 

spiralling fuel costs many customers understandably worry about the cost of running their 

home. This was a particular issue among customers living in high-rise blocks. 

Ensuring homes are in good repair is a higher priority for new customers (under two years) 

and longstanding customers who have been SCH residents for over 20 years. 

The different views of our customers means we need to be flexible in our approach to 

investment and develop different solutions across our properties, property types and 

neighbourhoods.  
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Our Asset Management Strategic Objectives 

In developing our Asset Management Strategy, we have used insight and 

intelligence about our homes and, how we manage them.  

Importantly, we have also sought out the views of our customers to arrive at 

eight strategic objectives that set out how we will deliver our vision of 

‘creating better homes and thriving communities.’  

Taken together, these objectives will ensure we will focus on doing the right 

things in the right way to make a real difference to the lives of people in 

Solihull. 

1. Investing intelligently in our homes 

2. Ensuring safe, high-quality homes 

3. Supporting the Council’s net zero plans by investing in ‘greening’ our 

homes  

4. Ensuring high-rise living is ‘fit for the future’ 

5. Providing safe and attractive neighbourhoods that support thriving 

communities  

6. Building new affordable and sustainable homes 

7. Ensuring customer engagement in shaping our future services 

8. Building a fantastic team  
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1. Investing intelligently in our homes 

We know that each investment has an ‘opportunity cost’ – spending on one 

thing means we must go without another. A key priority for SCH is therefore to 

ensure all investment is targeted to achieve good value for money.  

SCH has an improving understanding of stock condition and a good understanding of 

relative asset performance. 

We aim to complete around 2,000 stock condition surveys each year to help us drive our 

investment plans and decision-making. 

We recognise the need across SCH to further strengthen our systems and to make better 

use of ‘business intelligence.’ We also want to embed a robust approach to data 

management. 

For poor quality or poorly performing assets we will conduct a detailed option appraisal. 

This approach will involve a series of practical steps that can be applied to individual 

properties, schemes or whole estates.  

The option appraisal process will explore the options to improve ‘performance.’ Where an 

asset is identified as not sustainable or no longer fit-for-purpose, we will identify an 

alternative course of action such as remodelling, redevelopment or disposal. 

 
To deliver our work in this area we will: 

• Intelligently invest sufficient resources to ensure our homes are safe, in good 
condition and are ‘desirable’ both now and in the future (by reflecting the ‘things 
that matter’ to customers) 
 

• Embed a robust approach to data management covering all compliance activities, 
performance indicators and stock condition data - the fundamental 'building block’ 
of intelligent investment 
 

• Improve our systems and use of ‘business intelligence’ to ensure we invest 
intelligently - proactively managing disrepair, damp and mould and reducing our 
day-to-day spending (with a particular focus on empty homes and reducing repairs 
during the first 2 years of tenancies) 
 

• Undertake option appraisals of our poorly performing stock  
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2. Ensuring safe, high-quality homes 

Ensuring homes are safe and high-quality is paramount for SCH, the Council 

and our customers.  

Feedback from our customers has highlighted the need to ensure that homes are safe – this 

is an even higher priority for residents following COVID-19 pandemic. 

SCH undertakes routine programmes to ensure homes are safe and in good condition. For 

example, each year we undertake over 8,000 gas services and almost 2,000 electrical tests. 

SCH will remain ‘agile’ and invest sufficiently in forward-looking standards that are 

responsive to changes in national standards and customer expectations. 

Customers want their homes to be kept in good repair and have up-to-date facilities such as 

kitchens and bathrooms. SCH will adopt a transparent and auditable process for dealing 

effectively with damp and disrepair issues. 

Many customers highlighted the importance of their home being flexible and adaptable. 

Indeed, for almost 9 out of 10 customers aged 65 and over this was a high priority.  

 

SCH recognise that homes that are adaptable and accessible can support customers to 

remain living safely and independently for longer and reduce demands on other services. 

We will integrate simple changes in line with the ‘Lifetime Homes’ standard into all new 

development and investment plans. 
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We will id an annual budget to support our home improvement team to help customers 

who develop a disability with adaptations. And our Safe and Sound service also helps to 

facilitate independence at home. 

All new homes will be designed to be adaptable. We will also explore how we can improve 

the design and accessibility of our homes to better reflect the future needs of our customers 

in our day-to-day work. 

  
To deliver our work in this area we will: 

• Ensure there are transparent and auditable processes to ensure homes are safe 
and in good condition  
 

• Ensure sufficient investment to provide a high-quality standard of home that:  
o responds to changes in legislation, customer expectations and rising 

investment costs  
o are recognised as Decent Homes to live in  
o are safe and meet consumer standards 

 

• Set targets to improve customer satisfaction with our homes 
 

• Improve the accessibility of our homes to meet the ‘lifetime’ needs of our 
customers 
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3. Supporting net zero plans by investing in ‘greening’ 

our homes 

Our homes are central to how we contribute to Solihull Council’s ambitious 

plans to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2041. 

Our customer consultation highlighted an increased focus on energy efficiency and its 

impact on the environment among our customers. Energy efficiency is rated on a scale 

between Band A (very good) and G (very poor). The average rating for UK homes is currently 

Band D.  

SCH know that for many customers the cost of running their home is a key concern. National 

research has identified over half of residents living in social housing with poor energy 

efficiency (Band D or below) are likely to be in fuel poverty. 

In response we have developed an Energy and Environmental Sustainability Strategy that 

drives our investment in the ‘greening’ of our homes – reducing carbon emissions and 

tackling fuel poverty. This will include a range of ‘retrofit’ measures – this means installing 

or replacing parts of the home to reduce carbon and make it more energy-efficient. 

 
Our retrofit challenge 

• Current average SAP: 70.7 

 

• The projected cost (all based on 2021/22 prices) of meeting Band C target in all 

homes is £10,723,000  

 

• Cost to retrofit properties to meet net zero carbon target by 2041 is £234m (£12m 

per year)  

 

• Average property cost to meet net zero carbon target: £23,600 

 
 

SCH has a very diverse property portfolio. Positively, almost three quarters (72.5%) of our 

homes are already in Band C or above. However, over 2,700 homes are in Band D with a 

small number below.  

Some homes in Band D can be improved through relatively simple retrofit measures such as 

loft insulation top-up, low energy lighting or through planned investment in heating or 

window replacement.  

Page 311



 

 

18  solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk 
 

 

However, achieving net zero carbon across all our homes presents a huge challenge – 

particularly for our non-traditional stock – those mass produced and not built of traditional 

brick or stone. 

There are broadly two approaches to delivering net zero carbon for existing homes: whole 

house (also called ‘deep retrofit’) or phased. The measures remain the same, the difference 

is the approach and time taken to complete.  

SCH will develop a retrofit ‘fabric first’ phased programme. This means improving the 

energy efficiency of walls, floors, roofs, windows and doors to reduce heating loss and 

provide warmer homes, improved thermal comfort (the feeling of being warm), lower fuel 

bills and improved ventilation. Improvements will also support the reduction of damp and 

mould. 

 
To deliver our work in this area we will: 

• Develop a flexible, phased approach to energy efficiency investment  
 

• Ensure our approach to data management allows us to capture, analyse and 
report on progress towards our targets  
 

• Deliver an £11million energy efficiency programme so that all properties are Band 
C by 2030 - initial focus on retrofit of the building fabric, smart controls and 
renewables 
 

• Seek out external funding opportunities to support the delivery of our Energy and 
Environmental Sustainability Strategy  
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4. Ensuring high-rise living is ‘fit for the future’ 

Our customer consultation highlighted the different emphasis placed on 

investment priorities among customers living in the 1,900 homes in our 37 

high-rise schemes.  

Customers living in high-rise accommodation placed a higher priority on building safety, 

safety and security in their home and neighbourhood, energy efficiency and ensuring their 

homes is in good repair. 

The profile of customers living in the high-rise schemes is very different to the customer 

population as a whole. Customers are more likely to be younger (almost 1 in 5 are under 25) 

with an average age of 43 compared with an SCH average of 53. Over 20 per cent of 

customers moved in to their home in the last two years. And typically we can expect 

customers to ask for more repairs and to live in their home for 4 years less than the SCH 

average of 12.4 years.  

 

The blocks are typical of 1960s Radburn urban design with open plan housing estates 

arranged around parking courtyards, and small green spaces.  

All the blocks have benefitted from work to improve their safety and energy efficiency. The 

32 non-traditional blocks have had external wall insulation and the 5 traditional brick tower 

blocks have benefitted from cavity wall insulation. All the blocks have benefitted from 

significant investment in fire safety measures.  

We will complete all building safety works including the installation of sprinklers and 

replacement of cladding panels by 2024. We will also carry out full structural surveys of the 

blocks over the next five years. 
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However, the blocks present challenges in terms of quality and desirability with high future 

investment needs and ongoing repair costs. In addition, we experience difficulties in terms 

of demand and tenancy sustainment with high levels of turnover. 

Indeed, our strategic assessment of asset performance identified that 32 of the blocks with 

1,598 homes fall into Class C - poorly performing assets. The remaining 5 blocks containing 

299 homes were identified as Class B – satisfactory performance but requiring monitoring. 

SCH and Solihull Council have new duties to ensure that our high-rise schemes are safe. All 

landlords must identify an ‘Accountable Person’ responsible for ensuring the safety of their 

buildings. They in turn must appoint a senior manager (Head of Building Safety) to oversee 

the day-to-day management of building safety. 

Over the life of this strategy SCH will undertake option appraisals on our blocks to ensure 

they are sustainable and ‘fit for the future’ over the longer-term.  

SCH will also develop a new high-rise standard. This will shape how we will deliver a 

cohesive approach to housing management with specific health and safety requirements 

and actions to improve the quality and desirability of homes including heating, safety and 

security measures. This will help guide the work of the new Head of Building Safety. 

 

 
To deliver our work in this area we will: 
 

• Develop an overarching strategy for Building Safety Management to the high-rise 
blocks  
 

• Complete the Building Safety Capital Works Programmes by 2025 
 

• Develop sustainable heating solutions for the blocks as part of our net zero plans  
 

• Develop a bespoke investment standard for our high-rise buildings  
 

• Conduct detailed option appraisals based on survey result on all poor performing 
blocks to ensure they are ‘fit for the future’ 
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5. Providing safe and attractive neighbourhoods that 

support thriving communities  

SCH recognise that our homes are ‘more than ‘bricks and mortar.’ The COVID-

19 pandemic has made many of us more aware of the importance of our 

neighbourhoods and communities on physical and mental wellbeing. 

People want to live in places that are attractive and where they feel safe. For many the 

ability to easily access green and open space is also important. This was particularly 

important to customers aged under 35 - 80 per cent of whom identified this as an important 

priority. 

SCH’s teams are active ‘on the patch’ supporting the local community and taking a lead role 

in addressing anti-social behaviour issues including graffiti and fly-tipping.  

We will use our well-developed approach to neighbourhood inspections and our customer 

engagement to promote partnership working with customers, the Council and other 

organisations to improve safety and security and enhance the quality and attractiveness of 

our neighbourhoods. 

We manage approximately 4,600 garages across Solihull with an annual income of around 

£1.1 million. Looking forward our aim is to maintain occupancy of our garages and to 

maximise rental income that can reinvested in improving the quality of our garages. 

We want to invest in our garages to ensure they are attractive, secure and well-maintained 

and contribute positively to our neighbourhoods. We will explore providing additional 

facilities including Electric Vehicle charging points. 

We have a number of ‘difficult to let garages’ where there is no demand, or the garage is no 

longer fit-for-purpose due to its size or condition.  

Our primary focus will be to develop new affordable homes on sites identified as difficult to 

let or on the 950 ‘pads’ where garages have previously been demolished.  

Where there is a need, we will look at providing additional ‘open’ car parking. However, we 

are keen to identify opportunities to add to Solihull’s green infrastructure. For example, by 

planting trees or creating allotments and community gardens. This will deliver wider 

community benefits by adding amenity and supporting biodiversity. 

 

 

 
To deliver our work in this area we will: 

• Invest in improving the useability and attractiveness of local open space for both 
recreation and amenity use  
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• Ensure garages are secure and well-maintained and contribute positively to our 
neighbourhoods working in partnership with our Thriving Community Locality 
groups 
 

• Encourage residents to be good neighbours  
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6. Building new affordable and sustainable homes 

Building new affordable and environmentally sustainable homes is key to 

ensuring we remain financially strong and meet the housing needs and 

aspirations of our existing and future customers. 

Solihull faces a high level of housing need and pressure to identify land suitable for 

development. Through active asset management of our existing homes we can support the 

grow social housing by developing new homes. 

 
Our option appraisal process will explore options for redevelopment of homes or in a small 

number of cases garage sites that are not sustainable or no longer fit-for-purpose. 

In some cases, there may be opportunities for redeveloping existing homes at a higher 

density particularly where this can contribute positively to the regeneration of estates. We 

also recognise that some mixed-tenure development may provide a means to deliver more 

affordable housing and support inclusive and thriving communities. 

There may also be some smaller sites including garage sites, under-used, surplus or 

brownfield land where individuals and communities could build their own homes develop 

'custom built' homes. This can help meet local housing needs and deliver wider community 

benefits. 

SCH will also increase our focus on stock acquisition to help meet housing need or where it 

delivers wider community benefits. 

 

 
To deliver our work in this area we will: 
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• Support and develop regeneration schemes to support and create thriving 
communities within Kingshurst and Chelmsley Wood  
 

• Carry out more stock acquisition to meet housing need and deliver community 
benefits 
 

• Maximise opportunities for building new homes through the Council’s corporate 
assets including under-used, surplus or brownfield land 
 

• Make better use of existing stock for example, building new homes to replace 
poorly performing stock or where practicable garages  
 

• Explore mixed-tenure development as a means of maximising the delivery of 
affordable housing and supporting inclusive and thriving communities 
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7. Ensuring customer engagement in shaping our 

future services  

In developing our Asset Management Strategy, we have sought to listen to and 

act on customers views. This this is just the start.  

Looking forward we know that the future sustainability of homes is dependent on them 

being ‘attractive’ to customers. That is why we want to co-design standards that focus on 

“what customers want.” 

While customer views vary depending on age, type of property and where people live, there 

is a strong consensus around the priorities that homes should be safe, in good repair, wind 

and watertight with up-to-date facilities such as kitchens and bathrooms. 

We want to provide all customers with a range of ways to engage with us and have their say 

in the delivery of this strategy. 

We will work with our SCHape Panel and Customer Advocates to embed tenant engagement 

as an integral part of our approach to asset management. The customer will be at the heart 

of our key processes from service planning to delivery.  

We will involve customers in decision-making on investment at a local level to ensure we 

address local concerns and priorities.  

 
 

We will also seek out tenant feedback to provide us with a ‘reality check’ on the 

performance and quality of services.  

Active tenant involvement can also play a valuable part in supporting service improvement 

for example, in understanding and responding to the needs of different groups such as new 

and younger customers. 

Our SCHape Panel will also play a key role in shaping our services and holding us to account 

for performance and decisions. 
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We want to incentivise and ‘reward’ actions and behaviours that support us in being more 

efficient. For example, this could include maintaining tenancies, keeping homes in good 

repair or ‘downsizing’ from an under-occupied home. 

We will work with customers to develop a ‘reward’ scheme to recognise positive actions and 

behaviours and devise a menu of ‘rewards’ that customers will value. 

 
To deliver our work in this area we will: 

• Embed customer engagement at the heart of the service delivery through our 
policies and practice  
 

• Carry out reviews of new customers experience of our services with the support of 
our SCHape Panel 
 

• Involve customers in ‘piloting’ and promoting the success of new technologies and 
approaches for example, heating and ventilation systems and renewables 
 

• Work with customers to develop a ‘reward’ scheme to recognise and incentivise 
actions and behaviours’ that support us in being more efficient and encourage 
greater ownership/ investment in their home and neighbourhood  
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8. Building a fantastic team  

To deliver this Strategy and better outcomes for our customers and 

communities we need to build a fantastic team who are well trained, 

supported and motivated. 

Our People Strategy – “Passion in People” recognises the need to invest in our people and to 

create a culture where people are empowered to make decisions, learn from their own 

experiences and be accountable for their actions. 

We will review our structures and costs of our asset management service to ensure it is ‘fit 

for purpose,’ adequately resourced and represents good value for money. 

To build a sustainable workforce we will regularly review the knowledge and skills we need 

and develop a workforce plan to address current or future skills ‘gaps.’ 

Over the life of this strategy we will also consider the optimum balance between in-house 

and external contractor delivery - comparing our in-house Maintenance Services Team 

(MST) against the ‘best in class’ external contractors. 

We will also work closely with the MST and external contractors to ensure that our people 

embrace equality, diversity and inclusion in everything we do.  

We will also seek to maximise social value outcomes such as the direct employment of local 

people and apprenticeships, formal training and work experience through our investment 

programmes 

 
To deliver our work in this area we will: 

• Contribute to the SCH People Offer and our Passion in People Strategy 
 

• Recruit, retain and develop people with the knowledge, skills, competencies and 
behaviours we need  
 

• Embed a learning culture where people are empowered to take accountability for 
their decisions and proactively learn from their own experiences and manage their 
own development 
 

• Benchmark the structure and costs of our asset management service to ensure it is 
‘fit for purpose,’ adequately resourced and represents good value for money 
 

• Maximise social value outcomes through our DLO and contractor partners for 
example by creating training and apprenticeship opportunities  

 

  

Page 321



 

 

28  solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk 
 

 

Delivering our plans 

Leadership and Governance 

SCH and Solihull Council have jointly developed this strategy. It is a  key 

strategic document for both organisations that reflects our ambitions to 

deliver against our shared priorities and meet both legal and regulatory 

requirements. 

We have introduced a robust Governance Framework (shown below) to ensure 

transparency and accountability in what and how we deliver this strategy.  

There are two interconnected governance reporting pathways. This provides clear oversight 

and a high level of scrutiny on our performance, resourcing and the delivery of the actions 

identified in this strategy. To help with this SCH will develop a rolling three-year investment 

plan. 
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING 

BOARD MEETING   MONDAY 25 JULY 2022 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

SMBC HOUSING STRATEGY  

 

1. Purpose of Report 
 

1.1  The SMBC draft Housing Strategy is being shared with the SCH Board for 
information. 

2. Recommendation – Item for Information 

2.1 The Board is recommended to: 
 

(i) NOTE  the draft SMBC Housing Strategy    
 
 

3. Background 
 

3.1  The SMBC Housing Strategy, which is attached as appendix A, sets out a 
strategic approach to the provision of housing in its broadest sense including 
its key role in place-making. 

 
3.2 The SMBC Housing Strategy aligns with the strategic intent of SCH including 

in particular the SMBC / SCH Asset Management Strategy which of course 
specifically covers the council housing stock owned by SMBC and managed 
by SCH. 

 
3.3  The SMBC Housing Strategy will be open for consultation during September 

and October 2022 and the final draft for consultation will be circulated to 
Board members to enable Board members to respond to the consultation as 
they wish. 

 
3.4  The SMBC Housing Strategy is being circulated to Board at this stage for 

information. 
 

4.    Financial Implications 

4.1  There are no direct financial implications arising from this report which is a 
Council Strategy document shared for information. 
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5.  Equality and Diversity Implications 

5.1 The final version of the SMBC Housing Strategy will include a Fair Treatment 

Assessment and the strategy does take account of the needs of the diverse 

community.  

 
REPORT AUTHOR:  Fiona Hughes 
    Chief Executive 
    fionahughes@solihullcommunityhousing.org.uk 
    Tel: 0121 779 8812 
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STRATEGIC HOUSING BOARD 

26 May 2022 

Housing Strategy Update 

1. Purpose 

 

The purpose of this report is to, 

 

1. Agree the timeline for report to Cabinet, consultation and Scrutiny Board 

2. Review progress for development of the draft Housing Strategy & Delivery Plan 

3. Note approach taken to section of the Strategy on ‘Thriving Communities’ 

4. Agree approach to briefing the CPH Climate Change, Planning and Housing on 30 

May. 

 

2. Update  

 

Timeline 

 

2.1 The timeline proposed is, 

 

 Cabinet: 8 September 2022 – Report draft Strategy; approval to consult 

 Consultation period: 12 September – 7 November (8 weeks) 

 Economic Development & Managed Growth Scrutiny Board: 17 November 

2022 (subject to Scrutiny Board agreeing this in their 2022/23 Workplan) 

 Cabinet 8 December 2022 – This final stage may not be required depending 

on any delegations provided for in the September decision.  

2.2 At the March meeting I mentioned a 12-week consultation but have amended this 

to 8. This provides sufficient length and fits with the proposed Scrutiny meeting 

date. 

Draft Housing Strategy & Delivery Plan 

 

2.3 10-Year Housing Strategy – Board members are reminded that this is a 

commitment in the refreshed Council Plan. The draft Strategy is aiming to define 

appropriate housing related ‘ambitions’ and capture those areas where Housing 

Strategy can make the greatest impact.  

 

2.4 The initial draft text of the Strategy was reported to Board in March and I am 

currently revising the document in the light of comments received. The final draft 

Strategy will be brought to the Board meeting on 18 July. 

 

2.5 My suggestion is that members of the Board can then provide comments to me 

by 12 August on both the Strategy text and the Delivery Plan.   

 

2.6 The draft Strategy shared with Board in March made important references to the 

new Solihull Local Plan as many of the proposed policies in it are very important 

for the Housing Strategy (e.g. housing standards relating to accessibility and 

energy demand/carbon reduction; housing for older and disabled people; health 

and wellbeing).  
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2.7 An additional Hearing session is to be arranged for early July which is likely to 

mean the Inspectors report will not be received before the Housing Strategy is 

reported to September Cabinet. Taking this into account, the revised draft 

Housing Strategy will take out references that might be seen as ‘leading’ or 

presumptuous. More Local Plan detail will hopefully be able to be added after the 

8-week consultation period.   

 

‘Thriving Communities & Wellbeing’ 

 

2.8 With regard to the draft Strategy shared in March, one of the more challenging 

sections is the one titled ‘Thriving Communities and Wellbeing’. This is seeking 

to identify the role of housing in the wider context - creating places where people 

choose to live and invest. This brings into its scope, 

 

 Locality Working (North – East – West) 

 Voluntary and community sector 

 Infrastructure 

 Social determinants of health 

 Integrated Care Strategy 

 Role of housing management in promoting strong communities 

 How housing contributes to the Council’s ‘offer’ to communities. 

 

Board members are asked to confirm that this is an appropriate scope for this 

section. 

 

2.9 3-Year Delivery Plan – I am working with colleagues in the ‘officer group’ on an 

individual basis to compile the final draft version. Again, this will be reported to 

Board on 18 July. As stated above, final comments to be made on this by 12 

August. 

 

Cabinet Member Briefing  

 

2.10 A briefing session has been arranged with Councillor Mackiewicz for 30 May.  

 

2.11 This will, 

 

 Referring back to the Council Plan, explain why we are developing a Housing 

Strategy and Delivery Plan 

 Confirm that this is a Council strategy with the main audience being external 

partners, elected Members and Council Directorates 

 Summarise key points including the draft vision, document structure and 

Delivery Plan format – see Appendix 1 below 

 Emphasise main areas where the Strategy can help make a difference: older 

people, private rented sector and sustainable warmth 

 Agree arrangements for a briefing in August. 
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3. Recommendation  
 

SHB is asked to comment on any of the points in this report.  
 

 

John Pitcher 

23.5.22 
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APPENDIX 1 

 

Housing Strategy – Content & Scope 

 

Structure Main Areas In Scope 

Foreword 

  

1. Introduction and Purpose 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Solihull Strategic Context 

 

 

3.Thriving Communities and   

Wellbeing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Meeting Local Housing Needs 

Through New Development  

 

 

 

5.Tackling Climate Change 

 

 

 

 

6. Making Best Use of Existing 

Housing 

 

 

 

 

7. Meeting the Housing Needs of 

Older People 

 

 

 

8. Helping People with Additional 

Care and Support Needs 

 

9. Implementing the Housing Strategy 

 

Councillor Mackiewicz 

 

Proposed Vision: “Everyone in the 

Borough is able to access housing at the 

point of need and has opportunities to 

create sustainable homes in thriving 

communities”. 

 

Brief summary of relevant local, regional 

and national strategies 

 

Localities; Locality Working (North – East 

– West); Voluntary and community sector; 

Infrastructure; Social determinants of 

health; Integrated Care Strategy; housing 

management promoting strong 

communities; how housing contributes to 

the Council’s ‘offer’ to communities. 

 

Accelerating housing delivery; meeting 

local needs; low cost home ownership; 

Build to Rent social rent; self-build; 

community-led housing 

 

Retrofit; building new to net zero; 

community engagement; evidence and 

targeting; building trusted supplier 

capacity; fuel poverty 

 

Home ownership; tackling empty homes; 

private rented sector (including HMOs, 

‘selective licencing’ and ‘supported 

exempt accommodation’), social rented 

(asset management and lettings) 

 

Demographic pressure; ‘in-situ’ 

assistance; ‘downsizing’ and specialist 

provision 

 

Low-income households; homelessness 

and rough sleeping; younger adults with 

disabilities; former armed forces 

 

Governance; delivery and monitoring; risk 

management 
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Appendices 

 

1. Fair Treatment Assessment 

2. Delivery Plan 2023-2025 

 

Evidence 

Glossary 

 

 

Delivery Plan – Proposed Format 

 

Key Things to Do  Component 
Activities & 
Timescales 

What does 
success look 
like? 
(Strategic 
Outcome) 

Indicators 
(Delivery 
Focused) 

Risks 
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SOLIHULL COMMUNITY HOUSING 
 

BOARD MEETING: 25 JULY 2022 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 

FINANCIAL OUTTURN 2021/22 
 

1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To update the Board on the financial outturn for 2021/22 for capital and 

revenue within SCH and for the HRA. 
 

2. Recommendation – Item for Noting  
 

2.1 The Board is asked to: 
 

(i) NOTE the revenue and capital outturn for SCH for 2021/22 
 

(ii) NOTE the age of outstanding Accounts Receivable Debt 
 

(iii) NOTE the HRA outturn for 2021/22 
 

(iv) NOTE the end of year reserves position 
 
(v) NOTE the utilisation of £0.945million previously approved use of SCH 

reserves 
 

(vi) APPROVE the utilisation of £70k use of the earmarked Restructure 
Reserve (paragraph 9.8) 
 

3. General Financial Performance 2021/22  
 
3.1 The end of year Financial Dashboard is attached at Appendix A and 

summarises the draft revenue and capital financial performance for the 
year ending 31 March 2022. Individual service details regarding the 
variances for the total Revenue adverse variance of £79k and the 
£2.266million (9.5%) underspend on Capital are attached at Appendix B.   

 
3.2 In addition, SCH manages the Private Sector Adaptations capital 

programme funded from the Council’s General Fund and this was £8k 
overspent (0.6%).  
 

4. Revenue Financial Performance 2021/22  
 

4.1 The year’s financial performance was affected by service recovery from 
the Covid pandemic and a number of budgets saw additional costs as a 
result.  On 27 September 2021 the SCH Board approved one-off use of 
reserves of up to £930k, in order to meet these extraordinary pressures. 
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The final outturn position includes £780k use of reserves towards the 
pressures identified, £150k less than the total approved. 
 

4.2 Other emerging themes with a financial impact in 2021/22 that are likely 
to continue into 2022/23 include:- 
 

4.3 Delays in recruitment resulting in a net £85k staff savings after offsetting 
agency costs to cover. However, staff sickness returned to higher levels 
during the year and the impact of Covid absences in some areas such 
as maintenance and repairs also needed to have agency cover. 
 

4.4 Spend on supplies and services started to see an impact from the cost 
of living inflation with increased costs in materials, utilities, goods and 
services being slightly more than budgeted. This is likely to see a greater 
impact into 2022/23. 
 

4.5 The unbudgeted compensation for complaints and the associated legal 
costs have been increasing year-on-year and totalled £162k in 2021/22 
(compared to £60k in 2020/21). These include 17 full settlement claims 
and 23 partially paid. There were 43 open claims from 2021/22 and 
previous years carried forward and these are continuing to increase into 
2022/23. 
 

4.6 Right to Buy (RTB) sales were slightly higher than budgeted at 53 
property sales compared to a budgeted income for 45 property sales. 
This will have a slight detrimental impact on rent assumptions for 
2022/23.  
 

4.7 The £397k approved contribution from reserves to address a backlog in 
voids was fully utilised. However, due to an increase in numbers during 
the year the additional spend contained the numbers from growing 
further and were unable to reduce the flow and number of days. The void 
average job cost at year end was £3,032.35, which is £814.82 (21.2%) 
less than the 2020/21 actual cost but £525.92 (21.0%) more than the last 
predominantly pre-Covid financial year of 2019/20. 
 

4.8 The void garage rate has remained consistent with the 2020/21 position 
(33.0%) at 33.1% compared to a budgeted 30.5%. It is recommended 
this level is reviewed for 2023/24 budget setting.   
 

4.9 SCH own 100 properties and the accounting for these properties is ring-
fenced within SCH. The end of year position was a net cost of £143k 
compared to a net income of £101k in 2020/21.  It is recommended that 
further analysis of SCH owned properties is undertaken for 2023/24 
budget setting. 

 
4.10 Reduced costs for the facility management of SCH buildings and 

associated costs resulting from the impact on usage as a result of staff 
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working from home. This will be reviewed as to whether this level of 
savings can be sustainable for the future. 

 
5. Age of Outstanding Accounts Receivable Debt 

5.1 Appendix A shows £20k outstanding accounts receivable debt (non-rent) 
over 90 days old as at 31 March 2022. Of this sum £16k relates to 
invoices raised to Severn Trent Water for sewer baiting undertaken by 
Better Places over a 2-year period. There continues to be 
correspondence with Severn Trent Water to arrange payment of this 
invoice. The remaining aged debt over 90 days relates to various 
invoices of minor value. 

 
6. Housing Capital Performance 

6.1 Details and explanations of capital schemes are shown at Appendix B 
with most HRA capital schemes underspending against budget. 
Reasons for programme delivery slippage are also detailed in Appendix 
B.  
 

6.2 There is a total carry forward of £1.993million and £273k net savings 
which include two overspending items - £315k on Adaptations and £187k 
on additional property acquisitions.  All requests for HRA capital carry 
forwards were submitted to the Council and approved by Full Cabinet on 
16 June 2022. 

 
7. Housing Capital Outturn - Funding 
 
7.1 The table overpage details the actual capital funding sources used in 

2021/22, compared to the budgeted amounts.  The delay on the 
Spandrel replacement programme resulted in a reduced use of HRA 
Borrowing (£1.250million). An increased use of the High-Rise sprinklers 
reserve £963k reflects the increase in spend from the allocated budget 
due to the project being ahead of the original planned schedule. The use 
of main capital programme funding is reduced by (£1.712million) in line 
with the underspends highlighted within the general capital programme.  
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Source 

Allocation 
2021/22 
Budget 

Revised 
2021/22 
Budget 

Actual 
Outturn 
2021/22 

£’000s £’000s £’000s 

Contribution re Future Capital Investment 
(revenue reserve) 

2,665  889  988  

Main programme funding 
14,326  13,792  12,080  

(formerly Major Repairs Reserve) 

Right to Buy Receipts  
1,110  742  555  

(including 1-4-1 receipts) 

Homes England Grants 1,229  253  357  

HRA Borrowing 6,856  1,600  350  

High Rise Sprinklers Reserve 2,897  4,451  5,414  

Shared Ownership Receipts 1,793  1,727  1,592  

Other Contributions 0  380  232  

Total 30,876  23,834  21,568  

 
 
7.2 At the start of 2022/23, there is £61.954million capital funding available.  

Of this total sum, £33.868million was approved on 10 February 2022 by 
the Full Cabinet for the 2022/23 housing capital programme budget.  
Following the approval of the end of year net capital carry forwards of 
£1.993million by Full Cabinet on 16 June 2022, the capital budget has 
been revised to £35.861million and is detailed in the table overpage. This 
leaves £26.093million available for future investment.   
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As per Approved 
Capital Budget 

2022/23 

Updated Funding at 
31-Mar-22 

Source 
Available Allocation Available Allocation 

£m £m £m £m 

Funding for Main HRA Capital Programme: 

Main programme funding 

14.472 13.165 12.551 11.516 (formerly Major Repairs 
Allowance)  1 

Use of HRA Reserves for Retrofit 
of High Rise Sprinklers  2 

5.638 3.895 6.280 6.280 

HRA Borrowing for replacement 
of High Rise Spandrel Panels  3 

7.157 7.157 8.414 8.414 

Funding for Stock Growth Programme: 

Use of HRA Reserves for DIY 
Shared Ownership Scheme 

1.000 1.000 1.000 1.000 

Homes England Grants 1.318 1.318 0.976 0.976 

Shared Ownership Sale Receipts 1.545 0.066 0.055 0.055 

Unapplied RTB Receipts 8.273 4.550 12.735 4.700 

Use of HRA Reserves for 
Property Acquisitions 1.523 1.523 1.336 1.336 

(including 1-4-1 receipts) 

HRA Borrowing towards New 
Developments 

18.614 1.194 18.607 1.584 

Total Council Housing 59.540 33.868 61.954 35.861 

 
1 The reduced funding both available and allocated within the Main 

programme funding follows a reserve transfer of £3.159million from the 
MRA into the High-Rise sprinkler reserve in 2022/23. 

2 The increased use of the High-Rise sprinkler reserve includes the 
additional allocation from the MRA (per point 1). 

3 The increased requirement for use of borrowing for replacement of High-
Rise Spandrel Panels is in line with the carry forward noted in paragraph 
6.2 above. 
 

8. Private and Public Sector Adaptations Capital Programme – 
Expenditure and Funding 

8.1 All adaptations undertaken are commissioned through the Council and 
where the requirements are for HRA properties, the funding comes 
through the HRA. Private sector adaptations were delivered close to 
budget with an overspend on Major works and an almost equal 
underspend on Minor works. The joint project between Adult Care & 
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Support and SCH to increase referrals and workload has impacted and 
improved the outturn with the number of referrals carried forward 
significantly reduced. 

 
8.2 The Private Sector Adaptations (branded as Solihull Independent Living 

– SIL) capital outturn was £1,269k which was £8k over budget. The table 
below shows the final year-end position year on year for the number of 
private sector adaptations delivered and the costs. 

 

Completions 2019-2020 2020-21 2021-22 

 No £’000 No £’000 No £’000 

Private Sector 
Adaptations 

(Major) 

128 842 112 874 188 1,107 

Private Sector 
(Minor Works) 

1,657 181 842 115 1,183 161  

Private sector DFG allocated not completed 26 in 2021-22 (58 in 2020-21). 
 
 

8.3 At the December meeting Cabinet approved a carry forward of £450k for 
the public sector adaptations programme due to the reduced level of 
activity at the start of the financial year. However, an upturn in demand 
as well as increase in construction costs has resulted in a year-end 
overspend against the reduced budget.  This has enabled the completion 
of major adaptations works at 171 properties.  The final carry forward 
requests for 2021/22 have been offset by this overspend which 
effectively reverses £315k of the earlier mid-year approval. 

 
8.4 The table below shows the final year-end position year on year for the 

number of public sector adaptations delivered and the costs. There has 
been a significant improvement in the amount of minor works delivered 
and a significant increase in the scale, scope and cost of major 
adaptations. Five major adaptations were delivered ahead of schedule 
in 2021/22 and works carried forward have significantly reduced from 
last year’s figures resulting in improved waiting times. 

 

Completions 2019-2020 2020-21 2021-22 

 No £ No £ No £ 

Public Sector 
Adaptations 

(Major) 

187 £751,000 159 £760,000 171 1,265,550 

Public Sector 
(Minor Works) 

533 £83,000 330 £76,000 760 114,647 

Public sector DFG allocated not completed 21 in 2021-22 (54 in 2020-21) 
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9. HRA Outturn 
 
9.1 Appendix C sets out the final Housing Revenue Account (HRA) for 

2021/22. The overall HRA outturn was a deficit of £6.231million against 
a budgeted deficit of £570k (i.e. £5.661million worse than budget). 

 
9.2 The variance between the budget and actual outturn can be explained 

below: 
 

HRA Outturn compared with Budget £’000s £’000s Notes 

Budgeted Deficit   570    

        

INCOME       

Reduced Dwelling Rent Income  333      

Reduced Leaseholder Service Charges  
(inc. Planned Preventative Maintenance) 

137      

Reduced Garage rents 60      

Reduced Other Income 38      

sub-total Income Reduction   568    

        

EXPENDITURE - General       

Reduced Depreciation (1,024)     

Reduced Contribution to Debt Impairment (Bad Debt 

Provision) 
(502)     

Reduced Interest payable (314)     

Reduced Other Expenditure (33)     

Sub-total Expenditure Reduction   (1,873)   

Sub-total HRA Deficit before use of reserves  (735)  

        

ADD: Increased Use of Reserves for Capital Spend   6,713    

ADD: Increased Use of Reserves for Revenue Spend   253    

Final HRA Deficit 2021/22   6,231    

 
9.3 The key reasons for the variations are as follows: 

a) HRA income was £568k less than expected, mainly due to £333k less 
dwelling rents income predominantly as a result of higher voids than 
budgeted, £137k less income from Leaseholders for planned 
maintenance works and £60k less Garage rent income from 
continued high levels of voids. 

b) The depreciation charge to the HRA is £1.024million less than 
budgeted reflecting the capital underspending in year. 

c) The required contribution to the HRA Debt Impairment Allowance 
(previously Bad Debt Provision) is £502k less than budgeted due to 
lower than expected levels of current tenant arrears. 
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d) Interest charges are £314k less than budgeted due to delays to the 
expected levels of borrowing for Spandrel replacement and new build 
projects. 

e) The contribution from revenue reserves to fund capital expenditure is 
an extra £6.713million more than budget.  This is due mainly to 
£5.400million use of the High-Rise Sprinklers Revenue Reserve, an 
additional £980k use of the Future Capital Expenditure Reserve to 
provide 60% match funding for acquisitions made utilising RTB 1-4-
1 receipts and £902k contribution to the Oracle Cloud project. 

f) The contribution from revenue reserves to fund revenue expenditure 
is £253k greater than budget due to the use of the Welfare Reform 
reserve to finance temporary posts within money advice/ 
employment and skills and the Income collection Rent Sense 
software.  
 

Reserves 
 

9.4 There are reserves held by both the Council HRA and by SCH. Any use 
of HRA reserves will require Council approval.  

 
9.5 Appendix D sets out the final HRA reserves position for Revenue and 

Capital with a net decrease in HRA Revenue Reserves of £6.231million.  
This can be briefly summarised below: 

 

HRA Revenue Reserves movement 2021/22 £’000s 

Opening HRA reserves (16,115) 

Revenue surplus in year (1,318) 

Use of Reserves 7,549  

Closing HRA Revenue Reserves (9,884) 

 
9.6 Included in this balance is the Minimum Working Balance of 

£2.000million the Council has approved with their External Auditors. In 
addition to the Revenue HRA Reserves of £9.884million, there are also 
HRA Capital Reserves that have a net increase of £1.849million 
summarised as follows: 
 

HRA Capital Reserves £’000s 

Unused Major Repairs Reserve (2,545) 

Unused RTB Receipts (12,940) 

High Rise Sprinklers Reserve (2,587) 

Total HRA Capital Reserves Per Appendix C (18,072) 
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9.7 The net impact of the £79k adverse variance position, compared with the 
budgeted £176k surplus results in a net reserve contribution of £97k. In 
addition, during the 2021/22 year, SCH Board had committed to use 
£1.015million of SCH Reserves as detailed in Appendix E.  
 

SCH Reserves (excluding pension reserve) £’000s 

B/fwd from 2020/21 (10,297) 

Surplus for 2021/22 (97) 

Approved use of Reserves towards post-Covid service 
recovery 

780 

Other approved use of Reserves 165 

Use of Restructure Reserve (subject to approval) 70 

Total SCH Reserves c/fwd to 2022/23 (9,379) 

 
9.8 During 2021/22 SCH incurred £70k of exit costs due to the early 

departure of staff, the Board is requested to approve use of the 
Restructure Reserve to fund this expenditure. 
 

9.9 As agreed previously with SCH’s External Auditors, the minimum 
reserves balance for SCH should be £1.500million resulting in a SCH 
revenue reserve balance of £7.879million.  Of this balance, the SCH 
Board has previously approved the earmarking of sums totalling 
£3.188million to be used to fund future specific activities.  In addition to 
which there is a request to use £1.506million to support the 
implementation of the workflow system, which has been agreed in 
principle, subject to further Board approvals.  This leaves an 
uncommitted SCH Reserves balance of £3.185million available for future 
decisions on its use. Details of the movements of SCH Reserves are 
attached at Appendix E. 

 
10. Final statutory accounts and impact of Pensions IAS 19 
 
10.1 The SCH statutory accounts reflect the requirements of IFRS in full 

including the requirements of IAS19 in relation to pensions.   
 

10.2 In the accounts the components of the change in the pension fund 
surplus or deficit are broken down into a number of different elements 
including contributions, actuarial surplus / deficit and the return made on 
the investment of assets.  Some of the required entries are made through 
the current year revenue account and some are made through reserves. 
 

10.3 The IAS19 deficit as at 31 March 2022 has been calculated as a deficit 
of £14.087million against an opening deficit of £21.889million – a 
decrease of £7.802million. The main reasons for the pension fund deficit 
are a combination of past assumptions about the value of pension 
scheme assets and liabilities.  These include assumptions about the 
number of contributing employees, their life expectancy, and most 
importantly future returns on the pension fund’s assets (investments).  
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10.4 Every three years the Pension Fund undertake a revaluation, which can 

cause material fluctuations (see table below). The latest Triennial 
valuation based on 31 March 2019 information has taken effect from 
2020/21 until 2022/23. The table below shows the valuation values from 
2012/13 until 2021/22 and demonstrates the volatility.  

 

Year 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

£'000s 13,644  7,114 12,517 11,709 14,792 14,406  14,740 11,986 21,889 14,087 

 

 
 
10.5 Overall the impact of accounting for pensions on the 2021/22 financial 

accounts is as follows: 

 2019/20 
Accounts  

2020/21 
Accounts  

2021/22 
Accounts  

 £’000s £’000s £’000s 

Reported Deficit in year 286 543 918 

Revaluation gain 0 (442) 0 

IAS19 adjustments – revenue account 1,515 1,753 3,253 

Deficit in year after IAS19 1,801 1,854 4,171 

IAS19 adjustment – Remeasurement (gain)/loss (4,269) 8,145 (11,051) 

Total recognised (Surplus)/ Deficit in year  (2,468) 9,999 6,880 

Opening reserves Deficit 4,056 1,588 2,172 

Closing reserves Deficit 1,588 11,587 4,708 

Represented by:    

SCH Revenue reserves (10,398) (10,297) (9,379) 

Closing IAS19 deficit 11,986 21,884 14,087 

 1,588 11,587 4,708 
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11. Statutory Accounts and Audit 
 
11.1 The external audit has now been completed and there were no 

significant issues arising from the audit.  The external auditors presented 
their formal management report to the Audit and Risk Committee on 27 
June 2022. 
 

11.2 The accounts are also presented on this agenda to the SCH Board 
meeting for approval as a separate agenda item. 

 
12. Financial implications 
 
12.1 The variances within the report identify a number of items of spend that 

will be further reviewed as part of the 2023/24 budget preparation as will 
the refresh of assumptions for:- 

 Rents 

 Inflation  

 Staff pay – cost of living increases 

 Debt impairment 

 Voids 
 

12.2 In addition, there are a number of projects that are in progress that are 
likely to impact on the 2022/23 financial position and future budgets. 
These include: - 

 Additional investment into Building Safety to address new 
legislative requirements for the Council will impact on the SCH 
Management Fee. 

 Progression of the Workflow project is likely to lead to the need for 
a significant investment in future transformational work the scale of 
which is currently unknown. 

 Intelligence from the Asset Management reviews on strategy and 
investment in carbon-saving programmes are likely to result in 
additional investment. 

 Investment in specialist software to support improvements in rent 
collection and targeted financial support to vulnerable tenants. 

 Implementation of a Smarter Ways of Working project will impact 
on investment in IT, potential modifications to accommodation and 
Organisational Development for staff. 

 Investment into Digital Transformation across SCH. 
 
13. Equality and Diversity Implications 
 
13.1 None arising specifically from this report. 
 
14. Risk Management Implications 
 
14.1 Financial monitoring and reporting of the financial outturn is a key 

element of the management of risk for any organisation. 
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15. Value for Money and Efficiency Considerations/Implications 
 
15.1 None specifically arising from this report. 
 
16. Tenant Involvement/Consultation 
 
16.1 None. 
 

 
 
REPORT AUTHORS: Samantha Gilbert                    Karen Cranley 
 Chief Financial Officer        Finance Manager 
 Tel: 0121 704 6278         0121 704 6421 
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Appendix A

Financial Dashboard as at Mar-22 - Period 12

Part 1: Revenue Position

Annual Budget £000
Outturn 

£000

Variance 

£000

Quarter 3 Forecast 

Variance 

£000

Movement from 

Quarter 3 

£000

2,433 2,349 (84) (35) (49)

5,456 5,628 172 110 62 

9,562 9,632 70 99 (29)

86 94 8 5 3 

3,109 2,986 (123) (100) (23)

20,646 20,689 43 79 (36)
(19,807) (19,771) 36 0 36 

839 918 79 79 0

Part 2. Capital Expenditure

Annual Budget

£000

Outturn 

£000

Variance 

£000

Quarter 3 Forecast 

Variance 

£000

(Carry forward)/ 

Early Spend 

Requests £000

9,997 8,210 (1,787) 0 (1,635)

2,655 2,265 (390) 0 (410)

1,181 1,394 213 0 (25)

269 182 (87) 0 (83)

0 0 0 0 0 

3,140 3,017 (123) 0 (40)

1,518 1,384 (134) 0 (115)

4,009 3,736 (273) 0 0 

1,065 1,380 315 0 315 

0 0 0 0 0 

Adaptations Mid-year Review: Budget reduced by (£450k) carry forward into 2022/23.

Cabinet Approved 16-Jun-22: Overspend of £315k requires reduction to the approved carry forward.

Solihull Independent Living Expenditure is forecast to outturn £1,269k.  The overspend of +£8k is offset by a reduction in the income received from the 

Council to bring the forecast outturn to break even.

Cyclical Capital Maintenance Underspends on Low Rise enveloping (£95k) and Sheltered Schemes (£40k); part offset by overspend on Cyclical Maintenance 

+£12k.

Mid-year Review: Budget reduced by (£60k) carry forward into 2022/23 for Sheltered Schemes.

Cabinet Approved 16-Jun-22: Further carry forward to for Sheltered Schemes (£40k).

Programme Management and 

ICT

Underspends on ICT Capital (£115k) and Programme Management (£19k).

Mid-year Review: Budget reduced by (£42k) carry forward into 2022/23 for ICT Capital projects.

Cabinet Approved 16-Jun-22: Further carry forward for ICT Capital (£115k).

New Build Underspend on Kingshurst Village Centre Project (£158k) - no HRA spend required this FY.

Further underspends on new build developments (£205k).

Property Acquisitions net overspend +£90k: Due to Base acquisitions programme overspend +£162k and Bromford acquisition 

fees +£25k; part offset by underspend on Next Steps/ Rough Sleepers Accommodation Programme acquisitions (£97k).

Mid-year Review: Budget reduced by (£4.872m) carry forward into 2022/23 for Lakeside (£2.578m), Property acquisitions 

(£1.294m) and DIY Shared Ownership (£1.000m).

Cabinet Approved 16-Jun-22: Carry forwards for residual costs of small homes schemes (£203k), less early spend for Property 

acquisitions +£187k and Lakeside +£16k.

Environment and Estates Underspends on Tarmac & Resurfacing (£83k) and Environmental projects (£4k).

Cabinet Approved 16-Jun-22: Carry forward for Tarmac & resurfacing (£83k).

Crime and Security

Capital Classification Explanation of forecast variance / Explanation for movement in variance from previous quarter

Health, Safety and Legal 

Obligations

Underspends on Spandrel replacement (£1.257m), High Rise Sprinklers (£337k), Structural works (£191k) and Other schemes 

net (£2k).

Mid-year Review: Budgets reduced by carry forwards on Spandrel replacement (£3.654m), offset by early spend on High Rise 

Sprinklers project +£1.554m.

Cabinet Approved 16-Jun-22: Carry forwards for Spandrel replacement (£1.257m), High Rise Sprinklers project (£337k), 

Electrical sub-mains (£27k) and Structural works (£14k).Climate and Energy Underspends on Low Rise Overcladding (£214k), Boiler installations (£166k) and Other schemes net (£11k).

Cabinet Approved 16-Jun-22: Carry forwards for Low Rise Overcladding (£214k), Boiler Installations (£165k) and Biomass Plant 

replacement (£31k).

TOTAL Gross Budget of (£176k) surplus, add £1.015million approved use of Reserves

Asset Management Outturn

Overspends on Day to Day Repairs £221k, Voids £60k, partly offset by Development (£45k), Stores (£41k), Electrical testing 

(£37k), Feasibility (£35k), H&S Water Risks (£26k) and other net underspends of (£27k).

Movement

Improved outturn positions in Home Improvement Agency (£40k), Development (£18k), Biomass (£15k) and Safer Homes 

(£15k); worsened positions within Day to Day and Void Repairs +£29k, net payroll +£25k and other net minor movements 

+£5k.

Procurement Outturn

Overspend due to a forecast shortfall of income. A rebate is normally received for use of the London Housing Consortium 

framework, however the framework was not used in 2020/21.

Movement

£2k Apprentice Income not due until 2022/23, £1k other net overspends

Customer Transformation & 

Business Support

Outturn

Underspends on IT Licences of (£53k), Endeavour House (£47k), Communications (£30k), Coppice Way (£30k) and other minor 

net underspends (£7k); partly offset by overspends within Policy & Performance £44k.

Movement

Underspends on ICT Licences (£32k), reduced costs Coppice Way (£13k) and other net underspends of (£14k); part offset by 

additional training costs +£21k, net payroll movement +£15k .

Capital Maintenance and 

Improvements

Overspends on Kitchens & Bathrooms +£193k and Pitched Roofing works +£46k; part offset by underspend on flat roofing 

works (£25k).

Cabinet Approved 16-Jun-22: Carry forward for Flat Roofs (£25k).

Service Area Explanation of forecast variance / Explanation for movement in variance from previous period

Chief Executive Outturn

Net underspends within on Central Administration of (£85k).

Movement

No staff conference in 21/22 (£20k), underspend on legal charges (£18k) and other minor movements (£12k).

Note: Increased budget assumes Board approval of use of Restructure Reserves towards costs of Early Leavers +£70k.

Housing & Communities Outturn

Overspends on SCH Developments of £134k, Wellbeing of £69k, Temporary Accommodation £59k, PSL £24k, 

partly offset by underspends on Money Advice Team (£53k), Income Collection (£32k), Rent Control (£19k) and other net 

underspends of (£11k).

Movement

Overspends on SCH Developments of +£103k, PSL £33k, £11k Laundry Service  and other minor movements +£1k; partly offset 

by movements on net payroll (£53k) and Wellbeing (£34k).

Services sub-total
Management fee Outturn

Less spend on Welfare Reform funded posts resulting in less draw down via management fee +£36k.
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Financial Dashboard as at Mar-22 - Period 12

23,834 21,568 (2,266) 0 (1,993)

Part 3. 1-4-1 Receipts

Cumulative 

Required Spend

Cumulative Actual 

Spend to P09
Spend Required

Cumulative 

Purchases

Match Funding 

Required
Received To be spent by £ £ £ Required ¹ £

2016/17 2021/22 368,516 1,078,000
2017/18 2022/23 516,503
2018/19 2023/24 1,143,429 65,429 1 98,144 

2019/20

Part 4. Reserves

(1,500) 0 0 0 (1,500)

(1,711) 715 240 130 (626)

(1,178) 255 0 0 (923)

(5,908) (52) 1,726 1,253 (2,981)

(10,297) 918 1,966 1,383 (6,030)

Balance 31/03/2021

£000

Actual 

(contributions)/ 

Use 2021/22

£000

Forecast use 

2022/23 

£000

Forecast use 

2023/24 

£000

Forecast Balance 

31/03/24

£000

(5,083) (279) 231 (536) (5,667)

(1,660) 253 444 300 (663)

(212) 0 0 0 (212)

(3,212) 843 1,270 (271) (1,370)

(5,948) 5,414 534 0 0 

(16,115) 6,231 2,479 (507) (7,912)
(2,094) (451) 1,510 214 (821)

(2,587) 0 2,587 0 0 

(11,542) (1,343) 6,781 (1,897) (8,001)

0 (55) 55 0 0 

(16,223) (1,849) 10,933 (1,683) (8,822)
(32,338) 4,382 13,412 (2,190) (16,734)

`

Part 5. Age of Outstanding Accounts Receivable Debts

Current Quarter      Previous Quarter

Part 6: Rent Collection

£43,000,722

£42,117,284

£42,461,908

97.95%

99.19%

Part 7. Debt Impairment

Total HRA Debt £
Impairment 

Required £
SCH Arrears

3,633,734 2,844,690 31-Mar-21

3,578,643 2,732,831 31-Mar-22

(111,859)
409,996

298,137
775,000Budget available for contribution to Debt Impairment Budget available for contribution to Debt Impairment 11,700 

Add: Net Write offs YTD Add: Net Write offs YTD 0 

TOTAL CHARGE TO DEBT IMPAIRMENT  TOTAL CHARGE TO DEBT IMPAIRMENT 28,979 

31-Mar-22 152,338 140,740 

Increase/Decrease Increase/Decrease 28,979 

Percentage rent collected of rent due

Percentage rent collected of rent due excl. arrears b/fwd

HRA Arrears Total SCH Debt £
 Impairment Required 

£ 
31-Mar-21 126,669 111,761 

HRA Income SCH income of  rent due £175,316

Rent Roll SCH Collection percentage 99.57%

HRA Income SCH Income
Overall Income Due SCH Rents collectable @ Mar-22 £176,066

Capital Receipts Unapplied Shared Ownership receipts allocated to new build spend when possible.

sub-total HRA Capital Reserves
TOTAL HRA RESERVES

Major Repairs Reserve Spend includes £5.351m allocated to increased cost of High Rise Sprinklers retrofit.

High Rise Sprinklers Reserve

RTB Receipts Reserves 22/23: Includes £3.6m Bromford Phase 2 acquisition and £4.700m towards KHVC redevelopment - 

housing element, will require rephasing as progressed.

Earmarked: Capital investment Top-up annually through HRA budget, use includes acquisitions funding £2.479m and DIY Shared 

Ownership Scheme £1.000m

High Rise Sprinklers Reserve

sub-total HRA Revenue Reserves

Working Balances (minimum £2m) 21/22: £639k HRA surplus, less £360k additional contribution to HRA Cloud project.

Welfare Reform / HRA Balances Use (3 years) includes £350k towards HRA Debt Impairment (£175k not used 21/22), £353k for 

Mobysoft system, £294k for agreed temporary WRR-funded posts.

Earmarked: Regeneration

General Reserve Forecast use includes High Rise structural surveys £1.392m, Workflow project £1.004m, Home Options 

Office further £290k, 

TOTAL SCH RESERVES

Housing Revenue Account Reserves  

(held by SMBC)
Comments

Comments

Minimum Working Balance

Budget Strategy Reserve (BSR) 21/22 use of BSR: £397k Voids, £20k Digital Transformation; £100k Apprenticeships, £60k Stock 

Condition Survey, £17k Asset Management Review, £48k Waste Contract, £34k Budget Hotels, £20k 

Fire Protection Servicing costs, £19k Fire Risk Assessments.

BSR: Restructure costs 21/22 use: £160k Pay Award, £12k Fire Safety Posts , £13k Voids, £70k Early Leaver.

Cumulative 1-4-1 Receipts

No RTB receipts from 2019/20 onwards have been identified as required for use as 1-4-1 spend.

¹ Based on average purchase price of £200,000  (21/22 average £215k/property)

From April 2021 the Pooling regulations changed to allow 5 years to spend the 1-4-1 receipts and to increase proportion of receipts that can fund 

properties from 30% to 40%. These changes have been reflected in the above Dashboard.

Further properties have been identified for possible acquisition this financial year, potentially using a further £196k of the 1-4-1 receipts balance.

Solihull Community Housing Reserves
Balance 31/03/2021

£000

Actual 

(contributions)/ 

Use 2021/22

£000

Forecast use 

2022/23 

£000

Forecast use 

2023/24 

£000

Forecast Balance 

31/03/24

£000

  TOTAL
 Total net value of carry forwards approved by Cabinet (9-Dec-21) of (£7.042m), further carry forwards 

approved 16-Jun-22 within the Council's Outturn Report to Cabinet of (£1.993m).
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1. Revenue Outturn Detail 
 
The table below sets out a summary by Service Area of the outturn compared 
with the annual budget.  

 

Revenue (excluding IAS19) 2021/22  
Budget 

Actual 
Outturn 

Variance 
to Budget 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 

Central Services & Performance 
Management 

3,994  3,906  (88) 

Housing Options 592  703  111  

Housing Management 252  256  4  

Rent Collection & Money Advice 970  867  (103) 

Contact Centre 738  719  (19) 

Neighbourhood Services 3,763  3,780  17  

SCH Owned Developments (120) 23  143  

MST Management 88  (26) (114) 

Day to Day Repairs 2,976  3,196  220  

Void Repairs 2,394  2,454  60  

Compliance 2,452  2,361  (91) 

Asset Management Support Services 1,616  1,621  5  

Asset Management Capitalised Projects 36  27  (9) 

Governance & Facilities Management 809  708  (101) 

Procurement 86  94  8  

Sub Total Expenditure 20,646  20,689  43  

Revenue Management fee (19,807) (19,771) 36  

Budgeted Surplus 176  176  0  

Use of Reserves (1,015) (1,015) 0  

Net Revenue Position 0  79  79  

 
 

1.1 Central Services & Performance Management: underspend of (£88k). 
Predominantly due to reduced annual leave and flexi leave owed to 
employees at year end (£75k) and reduced ICT licence costs (£52k); 
part offset by additional consultancy costs +£46k. Other minor net 
underspends of (£7k). 
 

1.2 Housing Options: overspend of +£111k. Mainly due to increased costs 
of utilities & furniture within Temporary Accommodation (including PSL) 
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of +£66k and a shortfall in Wellbeing Income +£54k.  Other minor net 
underspends of (£9k). 

On 27 September 2021 the SCH Board approved the use of up to £57k 
for the net additional cost of Budget Hotels as a consequence of the 
delay in void availability post-Covid.  The outturn position includes £34k 
spend for this purpose (£23k less than approved). 
 
Housing Management: minor net overspend of +£4k. 

 
1.3 Rent Collection & Money Advice: underspend of (£103k).  Predominantly 

due to net staff vacancies of (£67k), net underspends on court and 
warrant fees of (£30k) as minimal court cases or warrants actioned in the 
year and increased Right to Buy (RTB) administration income from 53 
property sales in 2021/22 compared to a budgeted income for 45 
property sales (£10k); part offset by increased valuation fees +£7k. other 
minor net underspends (£3k). 
 

1.4 It was agreed at the Board meeting on 20 May 2019 that regular updates 
of void garages would be included within the quarterly financial reports. 
Table 2 below compares the current void rate to the 2020/21 void 
position and the budget.   
 
Table 2 

 
1.5 Contact Centre: underspend of (£19k); where (£26k) relates to staff 

vacancies throughout the year.  Other minor net overspends of +£7k. 
 

1.6 Neighbourhood Services: overspend of +£17k. Mainly due to increased 
communal electricity costs +£28k, emptying of Cesspools +£15k and the 
CCTV monitoring contract +£14k; part offset by reduced cleaning costs of 
(£23k) and net pay underspends of (£12k).  Other minor net underspends 
of (£5k). 

 
1.7 On 27 September 2021 the SCH Board approved the use of up to £18k 

for the cost of an additional Fixed Term Tenancy Sustainment Officer to 
assist with letting the backlog of voids.  The outturn position includes £13k 
spend for this purpose (£5k less than approved). 

 
 

2020/21 
Year-end 

2021/22 
Budget 

2021/22 

Actual 

33.0% 30.5% 33.1% 
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1.8 At present there are 34 properties connected to the cesspool service of 
which SCH is responsible for the invoicing of the 5 that remain in Council 
ownership. One of Asset Management’s Project Managers is currently 
liaising with Severn Trent Water to determine if these properties can be 
connected to the main sewer system and at what cost. These assets are 
on regular maintenance programmes whilst we work with the water 
authorities to have the pumping stations adopted, which we are hoping 
to achieve by the end of 2023. 
 

1.9 SCH Owned Developments: overspend of +£143k.  The variance 
includes a technical adjustment of +£67k for the loss on revaluation of a 
shared ownership property at 137-139 Warwick Road which SCH bought 
back during the year. This property is currently being remarketed and 
there will be a capital receipt in 2022/23 once a shared-ownership sale 
is completed. There are further adverse variances on depreciation of 
+£26k, contribution to the bad debt provision +£14k, communal repairs 
costs +£12k and reduced income +£12k.  Other minor net overspends 
+£12k.  
 
It is recommended that further analysis of SCH owned properties is 
undertaken for 2023/24 budget setting. 
 

1.10 MST Management: underspend of (£114k).  Mainly due to staff 
vacancies (net of recharges) of (£61k), underspend on the feasibility 
budget (£38k) and an improved Better Places net trading surplus (£15k). 

 
1.11 Day to Day Repairs: overspend of +£220k.  The main adverse variances 

to budget include complaints compensation & associated legal costs of 
+£162k due to the full settlement or part payment of 40 disrepair claim 
payments, net pay overspends of +£122k due to increased agency costs 
to cover staff absence (as a consequence of the national skill shortage 
pay rates have also increased), additional cost of Internal works such as 
plastering and damp works +£62k (half of which relates to two significant 
repairs works that may be recovered from insurance) and increased 
materials costs of +£51k reflecting the continued increase in supply 
chain costs.  These overspends are partly offset by insurance 
reimbursements (£59k); and spend less than budget for Asbestos 
removal (£37k), Drainage (£28k), internal trading with Better Places 
(£24k) and other building costs within Standby (£21k).  Other minor net 
variances (£8k). 
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1.12 The DTD actual average jobs cost at year end was £111.42, which is 
£1.29 (1.1%) less than last year’s actual cost but £17.75 (18.9%) more 
than the last predominantly pre-Covid financial year of 2019/20. This is 
due to the prolonged impact of COVID-19 on staff attendance and 
increased supply chain prices as well as other reasons for high levels of 
staff absence within the service. Given the staff sickness levels, 
additional costs were incurred for temporary / agency staff to ensure the 
continuity of service levels. 

 

 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Day to Day 
Repairs costs 

38,031 jobs @ 
£93.67 

£3.562million 

30,459 jobs @ 
£112.71 

£3.433million 

33,046 jobs @ 
£111.42 

£3.682million 

 
1.13 Void Repairs: overspend of +£60k.  Primarily relating to additional spend 

with Better Places for damp & mould and void clearances +£65k and 
Council tax +£85k.  Part offset by reduced materials spend of (£76k) 
(resulting from more works being subcontracted) and reduced salary 
recharges (£14k). 

1.14 The Void actual average job cost at year end was £3,032.35, which is 
£814.82 (21.2%) less than the 2020/21 actual cost but £525.92 (21.0%) 
more than the last predominantly pre-Covid financial year of 2019/20. 
This is due to a high number of void properties being received in the first 
5 months of the financial year which required additional subcontractor 
resource to support in the context of high levels of absence / vacant 
establishment posts. Contractor costs have increased reflecting the 
national construction position including with Dodd Group for electrical 
and gas safety works. There are also increased costs relating to 
Temporary Accommodation as the length of stay for residents has 
increased in this area to offset spend with hotel accommodation. 

On 27 September 2021 the SCH Board approved the use of up to £397k 
for the cost of additional void repairs numbers during the recovery from 
Covid.  The outturn position includes this amount as spent in full. 
 

 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Void Repairs 
costs 

928 jobs @ 
£2,506.43 

£2.326million 

655 jobs @ 
£3,847.17 

£2.520million 

997 jobs @ 
£3,032.35 

£3.023million 
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1.15 Compliance: underspend of (£91k). Mainly due to underspends on Lift 

repairs (£55k), Electrical testing (£36k) and Water risks (£26k); partly 
offset by overspends of +£42k on Gas Day to Day contract, due in the 
main to an 12% increase in job numbers.  Other minor net underspends 
(£16k). 

On 27 September 2021 the SCH Board approved the use of up to £130k 
for the additional cost of measures to comply with Building and Fire 
Safety legislation including increased servicing and risk assessments.  
The outturn position includes £51k spend for this purpose (£79k less 
than approved). 

 
1.16 Asset Management Support Services: overspend of +£5k, where +£27k 

relates to Biomass due to increased costs for pellets, electricity and call 
outs. Other overspends within this area are within Fleet Management 
+£26k and Stock condition surveys +£18k.  Net staff vacancies of (£53k) 
during the year within the Stores, Administration and Scheduling teams.  
Other minor net underspend (£13k). 

On 27 September 2021 the SCH Board approved the use of up to £168k 
for the additional costs of Waste disposal as a result of increased void 
jobs during the recovery from Covid, completion of Stock condition 
surveys and external evaluation of the Asset management service.  The 
outturn position includes £125k spend for these purposes (£43k less 
than approved). 
 

1.17 Asset Management Capitalised Projects: minor net underspend of (£9k).  
 

1.18 Governance & Facilities Management: underspend of (£101k).  Mainly 
due to Endeavour House (£35k) and Coppice Way (£30k) across 
premises costs primarily as an impact of the continuation of staff working 
from home, reduced spend within Board Administration (£18k) and 
additional income from letting within Kingshurst Area Office (£18k). 
 

1.19 Procurement: overspend of +£8k due to reduced rebate income +£7k 
and professional fees +£1k. 
 

2. Age of Outstanding Accounts Receivable Debt 

2.1 Appendix A shows £20k outstanding accounts receivable debt (non-rent) 
over 90 days old as at 31 March 2022. Of this sum £16k relates to 
invoices raised to Severn Trent Water for sewer baiting. There continues 
to be correspondence with Severn Trent Water to arrange payment of 
this invoice. The remaining aged debt over 90 days relates to various 
invoices of minor value. 
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3. Housing Capital Outturn – Expenditure 

3.1 The 2021/22 capital outturn was £21.568million (£2.266million 
underspent against budget). The table below gives further details with 
brief explanations provided in the paragraphs that follow. Capital spend 
on adaptations is covered in section 8.  

 

Capital Variance   Carry 
Forwards 

(Saving)/ 
Cost 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Approved Budget   30,876      

Approved amendments at mid-year review:        

New Build Developments and 
Acquisitions 

(4,872)       

Stock Improvements (2,652)       

Additional budgets approved: New 
Build Developments and Acquisitions 

530        

Funding Released (48)       

Final Approved Budget   23,834      

          

Less: Underspends         

Replacement of Spandrel panels (1,257)   (1,257)   

Climate and Energy (390)   (410) 20  

Stock Growth – New Build (363)   (187) (176) 

Retro fitting Sprinklers (337)   (337)   

Health, Safety and legal Obligations (193)   (41) (152) 

Programme Management and ICT (134)   (115) (19) 

Cyclical Maintenance and Envelope 
Works 

(123)   (40) (83) 

Environment & Estates  (87)   (83) (4) 

          

Add: Overspends         

Public Sector Adaptations 315    315    

Maintenance & Improvements 213    (25) 238  

Stock Growth - Property Acquisitions 90    187 (97) 

          

Actual Outturn Capital Programme   21,568  (1,993) (273) 
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3.1 Health & Safety – Replacement of Spandrel Panels: underspend of 

(£1.257million) which has been approved by Cabinet to be carried forward into 
2022/23.  In December 2020 Cabinet agreed an update to the capital 
programme to undertake the replacement of Spandrel Panels for 16 high-rise 
buildings. The total cost of investment approved was £8.757million to be spent 
over 2 years and funded through additional prudential borrowing.  Spend in the 
year amounted to £343k against the budget of £1.600million due to preliminary 
work to agree appropriate designs in order to secure planning and building 
control approvals. 
 

3.2 Climate and Energy: underspend of (£390k).  Underspends on Low Rise 
overcladding of (£214k) due to changes in the timeline to ensure grant funding 
requirements are responded to, as well as undertaking additional retrofitting 
surveys and supply chain negotiations. Boiler & Heating system upgrades of 
(£165k) as a result of an extension in timescales determined by Local Authority 
Delivery Scheme for decarbonisation works and Biomass Plant replacement 
(£31k) have been approved by Cabinet to be carried forward into 2022/23.  
Minor overspends on Window replacements +£20k have been offset by other 
variances within the capital programme. 
 

3.3 Stock Growth – New Build Developments: Underspend of (£363k).  New Build 
development sites have been completed over the last 2 years at Faulkner Road, 
Wagon Lane, Brackleys Way, Halifax Road and Willow Way, ending in total net 
underspends on contingency budgets and a carry forward of £187k has been 
approved in the event of any unexpected post completion costs arising in 
2022/23. 

 
3.4 Health & Safety - High Rise Sprinklers: underspend of (£337k) which has been 

approved by Cabinet to be carried forward into 2022/23.  In March 2020 Cabinet 
agreed an update to the capital programme to undertake the retrofitting of 
sprinklers to 37 high-rise buildings. The total cost of investment required was to 
be £9.500million over 4 years, funded through the use of HRA reserves and 
working balances. Following revisions to the British sprinkler standard in July 
2021 additional costs of £1.694million were identified to fully comply and 
approved by Cabinet in November 2021. The change in British Standard has 
had an impact on the timescales of the programme with a revised completion 
date in Quarter 2 of 2023/24. Spend of £5.414million has been incurred on the 
project in 2021/22 against the approved budget of £5.751million and it is 
forecast the total project cost will be contained within the revised total project 
budget.  

 
3.5 Health & Safety – Other: underspend of (£193k) predominantly on Structural 

works and Electrical sub mains works, of which £41k has been approved by 
Cabinet to be carried forward into 2022/23. 
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3.6 Programme Management and ICT: underspend of (£134k). A carry forward of 
£115k into 2022/23 has been approved by Cabinet towards ICT capital 
programmes primarily to implement ICT improvements following the Asset 
Management service review and towards additional equipment to support 
Blended Ways of Working. 
 

3.7 Cyclical Maintenance and Envelope Scheme: underspend of (£123k).  Due 
mainly to underspend on Low Rise enveloping (£95k); part offset by a minor 
overspend on Cyclical maintenance +£12k. A further underspend on Sheltered 
schemes of (£40k) has been approved by Cabinet to be carried forward to 
complete the works at St Johns Close, Knowle.  
 

3.8 Environment and Estates: underspend of (£87k).  Mainly due to an underspend 
on Resurfacing works (£83k) which has been approved by Cabinet to be carried 
forward for works at Wolseley Close (provision of 24 new parking spaces).  
Other minor underspend of (£4k). 
 

3.9 Maintenance and Improvements: overspend of +£213k.  Mainly due to an 
overspend on Kitchens +£193k due to high volume of kitchens and bathrooms 
replacements in void properties in addition to the committed planned 
programme of replacements.  The carry forward of the underspend on flat 
roofing works of (£25k) has been approved for the completion of the 2021/22 
programme. The overspend on pitched roofing works programme of +£45k has 
been offset against other underspends within the capital programme.   
 

3.10 Stock Growth – Property Acquisitions: Overspend of +£90k. The core property 
acquisitions programme is overspent by +£162k due to the identification of 
additional appropriate purchase opportunities. Local authorities are required to 
spend any RTB 1-4-1 receipts within a five-year period. Following this year’s 
acquisition programme, the remaining balance of 1-4-1 receipts carried forward 
is £66k, which we anticipate will be utilised during 2022/23 well ahead of the 
2023/24 deadline.  

In addition, further costs were incurred on professional fees in preparation for 
the acquisition of properties from Bromford Housing +£25k, which completed 
on 4 April 2022. These overspends were partly offset by underspends on the 
Next Steps and Rough Sleepers Accommodation Programmes (£97k) due to 
lower property purchase costs than anticipated. 
 

3.11 All requests for HRA capital carry forwards were submitted to the Council and 
approved by Full Cabinet on 16 June 2022. 
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Actual Original Actual 

Outturn Estimate Outturn Variation

2020/21 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22

£000's £000's £000's £000's

INCOME

(41,214) DWELLING -RENTS (42,058) (41,725) 333 

(1,162) NON-DWELLING RENTS (1,213) (1,153) 60 

(2,042) CHARGES FOR SERVICES & FACILITIES (2,277) (2,102) 175 

(44,418) sub-total Income (45,548) (44,980) 568 

EXPENDITURE

18,670 MANAGEMENT FEE 19,548 19,771 223 

3,219 CLIENT COSTS 3,418 3,359 (59)

21,889 sub-total 22,966 23,130 164 

11,366  DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION 13,539 12,515 (1,024)

117  REVALUATION (GAIN) /LOSSES OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS 0 (1) (1)

70 DEBT MANAGEMENT  COSTS 57 67 10 

32 MOVEMENT IN THE ALLOWANCE FOR BAD DEBTS 800 298 (502)

33,474 sub-total Gross Expenditure 37,362 36,009 (1,353)

(10,944) NET COST OF SERVICES (8,186) (8,971) (785)

122 HRA SERVICES SHARE OF CORPORATE AND DEMOCRATIC CORE 153 153 0 

(10,822) NET COST OF HRA SERVICES (8,033) (8,818) (785)

HRA SHARE OF OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

(1,137) (GAIN)/ LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF HRA NON-CURRENT ASSETS 0 (1,071) (1,071)

7,236 INTEREST PAYABLE 7,538 7,224 (314)

(69) INTEREST &  INVESTMENT INCOME (150) (28) 122 

(21) INCOME, EXPENDITURE AND CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (13) (14) (1)

(341) CAPITAL GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS 0 (357) (357)

(5,154) (SURPLUS) OR DEFICIT ON HRA SERVICES (658) (3,064) (2,406)

Actual Original Actual 

Outturn Estimate Outturn Variation

2020/21 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22

£000's £000's £000's £000's

(5,154) (SURPLUS) OR DEFICIT ON HRA SERVICES (658) (3,064) (2,406)

836 TRANSFERS TO/ (FROM) MAJOR REPAIRS RESERVE - amount in excess of depreciation 0 16 16 

1,139 VOLUNTARY SET ASIDE FOR DEBT REPAYMENT 582 509 (73)

1,502 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE FUNDED BY THE HRA 582 7,295 6,713 

(117) REVALUATION GAINS/ (LOSSES) ON PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 0 1 1 

341 CAPITAL GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS APPLIED 0 357 357 

1,158 CASH SALE PROCEEDS LESS AMOUNTS OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS WRITTEN OFF ON DISPOSAL 0 1,070 1,070 

46 OTHER ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING BASIS AND FUNDING BASIS UNDER STATUTE 64 47 (17)

4,905 TOTAL ADJUSTMENTS 1,228 9,295 8,067 

(249) (INCREASE)/DECREASE IN HRA BALANCE 570 6,231 5,661 

(15,866) BALANCE BROUGHT FORWARD (16,115) (16,115) 0 

(249) (SURPLUS)/DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR 570 6,231 5,661 

(16,115) BALANCE CARRIED FORWARD (15,545) (9,884) 5,661 

Actual Original Actual 

Outturn Estimate Outturn Variation

2020/21 2021/22 2021/22 2021/22

£000's £000's £000's £000's

(1,813) OPERATIONAL SURPLUS (12) (1,318) (1,306)

1,502 USE OF REVENUE RESERVES TO SUPPORT CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 582 7,295 6,713 

62 USE OF REVENUE RESERVES TO SUPPORT REVENUE EXPENDITURE 0 254 254 

(249) (INCREASE)/DECREASE IN HRA BALANCE 570 6,231 5,661 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

MOVEMENT ON THE HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT STATEMENT

SUMMARY OF MOVEMENT IN HRA REVENUE RESERVE BALANCES
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Appendix D

Balance Contributions Transfers Use Balance

At 1/4/21 21/22 21/22 21/22 At 31/3/22 EARMARKED AVAILABLE
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Minimum Working Balance

Minimum to be retained (2,000) (2,000) (2,000) 0 

Additional working balances:

2018/19 HRA Surplus (473) 360 (113) (113) 0 

2019/20 HRA Surplus (729) (729) (118) (611)

2020/21 HRA Surplus (1,881) (1,881) 0.00 (1,881)

2021/22 HRA Surplus (1,318) 679 (639) 0.00 (639)

sub-total Working Balances (5,083) (1,318) 1,039 0 (5,362) (2,231) (3,131)

Post 2004 Committed Balances

Welfare Reform Reserve (1,660) 254 (1,406) (929) (477)

Post 2004 Earmarked Balances

Regeneration (212) (212) (212) 0 

Enabling fund re: Homelessness Initiatives (100) (100) (100) 0 

Contribution re Future Capital Investment (2,570) (679) 980 (2,269) (2,269) 0 

HRA Contribution to Oracle Cloud Project (542) (360) 902 0 0 0 

High Rise Sprinklers Reserve (Revenue) (5,948) 5,413 (535) (534) (1)

sub-total Earmarked Reserves (9,372) 0 (1,039) 7,295 (3,116) (3,115) (1)

TOTAL  HRA REVENUE BALANCES (16,115) (1,318) 0 7,549 (9,884) (6,275) (3,609)

Balance Contributions Transfers Use Balance

At 1/4/21 21/22 21/22 21/22 At 31/3/22 EARMARKED FREE
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

HRA Major Repairs Reserve (2,094) (12,531) 12,080 (2,545) (1,750) (795)

HRA Capital Receipts Unapplied

HRA Capital Receipts Unapplied (RTB) (11,542) (1,906) 563 (12,885) (8,678) (4,207)

HRA Shared Ownership Receipts unapplied 0 (1,647) 1,592 (55) (55) 0 

(11,542) (3,553) 0 2,155 (12,940) (8,733) (4,207)

High Rise Sprinklers Reserve (Capital) (2,587) (2,587) (2,587) 0 

TOTAL HRA CAPITAL FUNDS (16,223) (16,084) 0 14,235 (18,072) (13,070) (5,002)

TOTAL  ALL RESERVES (32,338) (17,402) 0 21,784 (27,956) (19,345) (8,611)

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

2021/22 - RESERVES STATEMENT

Revenue

Capital

CLOSING BALANCE

CLOSING BALANCE
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SCH Reserves Statement Appendix E

£'000s £'000s Board 

Approval

Reserves Available b/fwd from 2020/21 (10,297)

Outurn Surplus for 2021/22 (97)

Use of Reserves towards post-Covid Service recovery (of £930k 

approved)

780 27-Sep-21

Support Apprenticeship Scheme 100 30-Apr-18

Use of Restructure Reserve for Early exit costs (subject to approval) 70 25-Jul-22
(pending)

Home Options - Co-location modifications, Coppice Way dilapidations 

and Abortive costs

45 03-May-22

Funding of Digital Transformation Team (year 1) 20 07-Jun-21

1,015 

Reserves available c/fwd to 2021/22 (9,379)

Earmarked

Minimum Working Balance 1,500 

Workflow System  (subject to approval) 1,506 14-Feb-22
(In principle)

Budget Strategy Reserve:

Structural Surveys - High Rise Blocks 1,392 03-May-22

Earmarked Budget Strategy Reserve for Restructure costs 923 Use approved 

case by case

Home Options - Co-location modifications, Coppice Way dilapidations 

and Abortive costs

290 03-May-22

Digital Transformation Team 280 07-Jun-21

Annual smoothing of 4-year Budget cycle 176 29-Nov-21

Support Apprenticeship Scheme 90 30-Apr-18

PSL Reserve from annual surplus 37 20-May-19

sub-total Earmarked use of Budget Strategy Reserve 3,188 

Reserves left unallocated (3,185)
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Full Board 

Forward Plan 

 

Monday 25 July 2022    

  Quarter 1 2022/23 Performance Exception Report Martyn 
Sargeant 

  Quarter 1 2022/23 Health and Safety Report Mark Wills 

  Quarter 4 2021/22 Financial Monitoring Sam Gilbert 

  Chair’s Report from Human Resources, Equalities and 
Remuneration Committee on 11 July 2022 

Jenny Fletcher 

  Chair’s Report from Housing Operations Committee on 23 
May 2022 

Chris Williams 

  Chair’s Report from Audit & Risk Committee on 27 June 2022 Nigel Page 

  Building Safety (Task & Finish /Implementation Plan) Mike Brymer 

  Standing Orders Review  Sam Gilbert 
/Mary 
Moroney 

  Asset Management Strategy (approval) Mike Brymer 

 

Tuesday 8 November 2022   

  Quarter 2 2022/23 Performance Exception Report Martyn 
Sargeant 

  Quarter 2 2022/23 Health and Safety Report Mark Wills 

  Quarter 2 2022/23 Financial Monitoring Sam Gilbert 

  Chair’s Report from Audit and Risk Committee on 10 October 
2022 

Nigel Page 

  Chair’s Report from Human Resources, Equalities and 
Remuneration Committee on 17 October 2022 

Jenny Fletcher 

  Chair’s Report from Housing Operations Committee on 12 
September 2022 

Chris Williams 

  SMBC Housing Strategy (Information) Mary 
Morrissey 

    

 
Regular Items (every meeting): 

• Minutes of Previous Meeting 
• Action Log 
• Chairs’ reports from Committee Meetings   

 
Quarterly Reports: 

• Performance (Exception Reporting) 
• Financial Monitoring 
• Health & Safety Report (including data on accidents) 

 
 

Date produced – 16 May 2022 
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